State of California

Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019

BETTY T. YEE

California State Controller’s Office






STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COMPREHENSIVE

ANNUAL
FINANCIAL REPORT

For the Fiscal Year Ended
June 30, 2019

Prepared by
The Office of the State Controller

BETTY T. YEE

California State Controller







Contents

INTRODUCTORY SECTION

California State Controller’s Transmittal Letter ...........coccvieviriiiniiiiniiniiiieccceceeen
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting........c..cccccecvevvevcniicneencnnne.
Principal Officials of the State of California ..........cccooeeviiniiiiniiniinee
Organization Chart of the State of California...........ccccceveiiiiiiiiniiiiccecen

FINANCIAL SECTION

Independent AUdItor’s REPOTL......ccueruiiriiiiiiiiiieieeiee ettt

Management’s Discussion and ANaLYSIS.........cecuererruirieniiiierienieieeeene ettt

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

StAtEMENT OF INET POSTEION ...ttt e e e e eee e e e e e e e e e e earreaaeeeeenees

STALEINENT OF A CTIVITIES ..o e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeeeeaaesasesesanannnns
FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Balance Sheet — Governmental FUNAS «..o..eeeeeeeeee e eeeeeeae s

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to
the Statement Of NEt POSITION ...uueeeeeeieeieeeee e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeaaes

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances —
Governmental FUNAS.........cooiiiiiiiiiie e

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in
Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities ....................

Statement of Net Position — Proprietary Funds...........coceeviiniiiiniiniinininiccniceceee,

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position —
Proprietary FUNAS.......cccuviiiiiieiee ettt

Statement of Cash Flows — Proprietary Funds..........cccoooovieeiiiiieiiieiiieeeeeeeeeeee e

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position — Fiduciary Funds and
Similar Component UNILS .......ceevvieriiiieiiiiieeiieeriieesieeesteeesteeeiteeeireesieeesreeeseneeenes

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position — Fiduciary Funds and
Similar CompPonent UNIES .......ccuerieriiriiiriinieeieetenieeienetesie ettt

DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statement of Net Position — Discretely Presented Component Units —
ENterpriSe ACHIVILY ..c.ueruiiriieiirieitieteeiteste ettt ettt sttt

Statement of Activities — Discretely Presented Component Units —
ENerPriSE ACIVILY ..veieeiiieiiieeiiie ettt ettt et e et e e st e e et e e sbeeesaneeeenseeennes

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Notes to the Financial Statements — INAEX.....ooooveeeemmeeee e

Notes to the FINanCIal StateIMENTS . ....covuummmneeee ettt e e e e e e e ereearaaeees



State of California Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios — PERF and
Single-Employer Plans.........ccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiceenceeeeeee e

Schedule of State Pension Contributions — PERF and Single-Employer Plans.................

Schedule of the State’s Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability and Schedule of
the State’s Contributions — CalSTRS .......coiiiiiiiiiiiceececee

Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios — Retiree Health
Benefits Program ........cc.cocuoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiccecee e

Schedule of OPEB Contributions — Retiree Health Benefits Program............c.cccoceeeeee.

Infrastructure Assets Using the Modified Approach............ccceveevinieniininicnenicnecnieene.

Budgetary Comparison Schedule — General Fund and Major Special
ReveNUE FUNAS......oouiiiiiiiii e

Reconciliation of Budgetary Basis Fund Balances of the General Fund and
Major Special Revenue Funds to GAAP Basis Fund Balances..........c.ccccceeeeienee

Notes to the Required Supplementary Information ............ccceeeeeevieniiiiieniieeiieneeeee

COMBINING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES -
NONMAJOR AND OTHER FUNDS

Nonmajor Governmental Funds................coccooiiiiiiiiiiieee e
Combining Balance Sheet..........cccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances .........
Budgetary Comparison Schedule — Nonmajor Governmental Funds............ccocceeieeneenne
Internal Service FUNAS ..ot
Combining Statement 0f Net POSItION .......ccceoiiiiiiiiniiniiiiiceccecececece e
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position..........
Combining Statement of Cash FIOWS ........ccccoooiiiiiiiiiiniiicccece e
Nonmajor Enterprise FUnds ...
Combining Statement 0f Net POSItION .......ccceeiiiiiiiiiiiniiiciceccecececece e
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position..........
Combining Statement of Cash FIOWS ........ccccoociiiiiiiiiiniiieceeeceeeen
Private Purpose Trust Funds ...
Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net POSION ......c.cccoieviiriiniiiniinicniciceececcneeeeene

Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position.........c.ccccceeeerienericniennenne.

Fiduciary Funds and Similar Component Units — Pension and Other
Employee Benefit Trust Funds...............cccoooiiiiiiiiiiieeeee e,

Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net POSItION ........c.cceviieiiiiiiiiiieieeeieecie e
Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net PosSition...........ccceevvveerciieeniieeenieenns
AGENCY FUNAS ...t e et e e e s e e e saaeees
Combining Statement of Fiduciary Assets and Liabilities.........cccceevvveeriiiiniieeniiecnieeens

Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Assets and Liabilities..........ccccccceeernenns



Contents

Nonmajor Component UNIES...........cooooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeieeeeeiee et e e 281
Combining Statement of Net POSIHION .....c..eieiiieeiiieeiiieciieeieeeeeeeee e 282
Combining Statement Of ACHVILICS ....cvvieriieeeiieeiiee ettt eeeesaee e beeesvee e 286
STATISTICAL SECTION
Financial Tremds. ..........coooiiiiiiiiii et 291
Schedule of Net Position by COmMPONENL..........cccuvieriieeriieeiieeeiee et eveeeeveeesvee e 292
Schedule of Changes in Net POSIHION.........ccccuiiiiiiieiiieeite ettt 294
Schedule of Fund Balances — Governmental Funds ..........cccccooooiiiiiiiiiniiiiiiee, 298
Schedule of Changes in Fund Balances — Governmental Funds ...........cccccoeveevciiiennenn. 300
Revenue CaPACIEY........cc.ooiiiiiiiiiieeeeee e et e e e e e st e e et eeeennes 303
Schedule of Revenue Base.........oouiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiceeee e 304
Schedule of Revenue Payers by Income Level/Industry ..........cccveeeieeeiiieniieeniieeeieeens 308
Schedule of Personal Income Tax Rates..........coceeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieicceee e 310
DEDt CAPACILY ..o et e e et e e et ee e e st e e e e e aaeeeeenes 313
Schedule of Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type.....c.ccevvveeiiieeiiieeiieeieeeee e 314
Schedule of Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding............cccccveeeeveenciieenciieenieeenns 316
Schedule of General Obligation Bonds Outstanding............ccceeecveeeviieeiieenciieeecie e 318
Schedule of Pledged Revenue COVEIage .........coovuvieriieeiiieeiiieeieeeeeeeieeeevee e veeeevee e 319
Demographic and Economic Information .................c..ocoiiiiie, 323
Schedule of Demographic and Economic Indicators...........cccveevveeeriieecieesieeeiie e 324
Schedule of Employment by INAUSLIY........coooiiiiiiiiieciieciieceeceeeeeee e 326
Operating Information ...t 327
Schedule of Full-time Equivalent State Employees by Function .............cccccveeviiieenieenn. 328
Schedule of Operating Indicators by FUNCtion ...........cccccveeviiieiiiieiiiecieecee e 330
Schedule of Capital Asset Statistics by FUNCtion...........ccceeevvieeiiiieiiieeieecieceee e 334

ACKNOWICAZIMENLS. ....ccouiiiiiiiieciie ettt ettt et e et e e st e e ebeeesaeeesaeeensaeesssaeensseeensseennns 338



State of California Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

This page intentionally left blank



Introductory Section
- 1]



BETTY T. YEE

California State Controller




California State Controller

October 23, 2020
To the Citizens, Governor, and Members of the Legislature of the State of California:

I am pleased to submit the State of California’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR)
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. This report meets the requirements of Government Code
section 12460 for an annual report prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States and contains information to help readers gain a reasonable
understanding of the state’s financial activities.

California’s economic recovery and expansion continued through the fiscal year ended

June 30, 2019. The state ended the year with General Fund revenues of $140.5 billion, a $4.9
billion increase over the previous fiscal year. Revenues exceeded expenses by $15.0 billion for
the primary government. In addition, the General Fund maintained a cash balance of $5.4 billion
at June 30, 2019, compared to a cash balance of $5.5 billion at June 30, 2018.

Beginning in March 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in dramatic changes to the daily
lives of California’s residents and businesses, and sudden severe economic consequences for the
State. In addition, the 2020 wildfire season has been one of the most destructive on record.
Budget policies that paid down liabilities and built cash reserves during the previous years of
surplus placed the state in a favorable position to address the economic challenges that lie ahead.
I commend the swift action taken by the Governor and the Legislature to address the estimated
$54.3 billion deficit in the adopted 2020-21 Budget by reducing spending, revising tax policy to
increase revenues, shifting costs and borrowings, and effectively utilizing federal assistance.

I extend my sincere gratitude to all state government agencies for their support and cooperation
in submitting the required information for the CAFR. Thank you to the California State Auditor
and her staff for maintaining the highest standards of professionalism in ensuring the

accountability of the state’s finances. Finally, I wish to thank my entire team for their skill, effort,
and dedication in completing this complex financial report.

Sincerely,
Original signed by

BETTY T. YEE
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Report Overview

The State’s management assumes responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, and fairness of information
presented in the CAFR, including all disclosures, based upon a comprehensive framework of internal
controls established for this purpose. The internal control structure is designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatements. The objective of
these controls is to ensure compliance with legal provisions embodied in the annual appropriated budget
approved by the Legislature and Governor.

The California State Auditor has issued an unmodified opinion on the financial statements for the year
ended June 30, 2019, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.

The State of California also is required to undergo an annual single audit in conformity with the provisions
of the United States Office of Management and Budget’s Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local
Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. This report is issued separately.

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditor’s report
and contains an introduction, overview, and analysis of the financial statements. The MD&A also contains
information regarding California’s economy for the year ended June 30,2019, and its economic
performance as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020. The MD&A complements this transmittal letter
and should be read in conjunction with it.

Profile of the State of California

The State of California was admitted to the Union on September 9, 1850. The State’s population, as of
2019, is estimated to be almost 40 million residents. The State’s government is divided into three branches:
Executive, Legislative, and Judicial. Executive power is vested in the Governor. Other members of the
Executive branch include the Lieutenant Governor, Attorney General, Secretary of State, State Treasurer,
State Controller, Insurance Commissioner, and the State Superintendent of Public Instruction. All officers
of the Executive branch are elected to a four-year term. The Legislative branch of government is the State’s
law-making authority and is made up of two houses: the Senate and the Assembly. The Judicial branch is
charged with interpreting the laws of the State. It provides settlement of disputes between parties in
controversy, determines the guilt or innocence of those accused of violating laws, and protects the rights
of Californians.

California’s government includes control agencies that help to regulate internal governmental operations.
The State Controller’s Office, the State’s independent fiscal watchdog, ensures that the State’s budget is
spent properly, offers fiscal guidance to local governments, reports on the State’s financial position, and
uncovers fraud and abuse of taxpayer dollars. The Department of Finance, part of the Executive branch of
government, establishes fiscal policies to carry out the State’s programs and serves as the Governor’s chief
fiscal policy advisor. The California State Auditor promotes the efficient and effective management of
public funds through independent evaluations of state and local governments.

The State of California provides a wide range of services to its citizens, including social, health, and human
services; kindergarten through 12" grade (K-12) and higher education; transportation; business, consumer
services, and housing; corrections and rehabilitation programs; and other general government services. The
State also is financially accountable for legally separate entities (component units) that provide and support
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post-secondary education programs; provide financing for low and moderate income housing and other
public needs; promote agricultural activities; and provide financial assistance to public agencies and small
businesses. The State, through its related organizations (organizations for which the primary government
is not financially accountable), provides services such as the operation of the statewide energy transmission
grid; earthquake insurance for homeowners and renters; workers’ compensation insurance; health insurance
for individuals, families, and employees of small businesses; financing for pollution control facilities, and
foracquiring, constructing, and equipping health facilities; and loans to students attending public and private
nonprofit colleges and universities. The financial information of these institutions is not included in the
State’s financial statements.

The State Legislature approves an annual budget that contains estimates of revenues and expenditures for
the ensuing fiscal year. This budget is the result of negotiations between the Governor and the Legislature.
The State Controller’s Office is statutorily responsible for controlling revenues due the primary government
and for expenditures of each appropriation contained in the budget. The State’s annual budget is submitted
by the Governor no later than January 10 preceding the beginning of the fiscal year on July 1, and must be
approved by the Legislature by June 15 each year. This annual budget serves as the foundation for the
State’s financial planning and control. Additional information on the budgetary basis of accounting can be
found in Note 2, Budgetary and Legal Compliance, in the Budgetary Comparison Schedule at the end of
the nonmajor governmental funds combining statements, and in the Required Supplementary Information
section of the CAFR that follows the Notes to the Financial Statements.

Overview of the State’s Economy

California’s economy, the largest among the 50 states, accounted for 14.6% of the U.S. Gross Domestic
Product (GDP) in 2019 and was ranked fifth largest in the world (in terms of GDP) at the end of the year.
The sectors of the California’s diverse economy include high technology, trade, entertainment,
manufacturing, government, tourism, construction, and services. California’s GDP totaled over $3.1 trillion
at fiscal year-end, and, as the nation’s leader in agricultural production, the State’s farming operations
generated over $50.0 billion in cash receipts for the 2018 crop year. In 2019, California exported
$173.3 billion in products; its three largest export markets are Mexico ($27.8 billion), Canada
($16.6 billion), and China ($15.9 billion). California’s six largest exports are computer and electronic
products, transportation equipment, machinery (except electrical), miscellaneous manufactured
commodities, agricultural products, and chemicals. California also enjoys one of the finest and most diverse
collections of natural, cultural, and recreational resources in the nation. California’s travel and tourism
industry generated revenues of $144.9 billion, and state and local tax revenues of $12.2 billion in 2019.

Budget Outlook

Fiscal Year 2019-20

The Governor’s enacted 2019-20 Budget assumed continued economic growth in the short term. While
noting the significant improvement in the State’s finances over the last eight years, the Budget emphasized
continued saving, addressing structural liabilities, and preparing for future economic uncertainty. The
enacted Budget projected General Fund revenues of $143.8 billion after a $2.2 billion transfer to the Budget
Stabilization Account (BSA), the State’s rainy day fund. Priorities of the Governor included the planned
suspension of certain program expansions on December 31,2021, elimination of debt, reduction of unfunded
retirement liabilities, and continued building of reserves.
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Fiscal Year 2020-21

With the occurrence of the COVID-19 pandemic, the State is confronted with a sudden general fund budget
deficit of $54.3 billion. On June 26, 2020, the State enacted the 2020-21 Budget Act. The Budget’s solutions
to eliminate the deficit include the use of reserves; internal borrowing, transfers, and deferrals; temporary
tax changes; anticipated federal relief funds; canceled program expansions; lower health and human services
caseload costs; and additional spending cuts to take effect if federal relief funds are not provided. By the
end of fiscal year 2020-21, the Budget projects a reduction in total reserves to $10.7 billion—3$8.3 billion
in the Budget Stabilization Account (BSA), the State’s rainy day fund, $2.6 billion in the Special Fund for
Economic Uncertainties (SFEU), a COVID Reserve deficit balance of $716 million, and $450 million in
the Safety Net Reserve (SNR).

The 2020-21 Budget projects General Fund revenue of $137.7 billion ($139.7 billion after transfers) and
expenditures of $133.9 billion. The Budget shows decreased revenue from personal income taxes and sales
and use taxes, and increased revenue from corporation taxes. Personal income taxes contribute the majority
of General Fund revenue at 56% ($77.6 billion), sales and use taxes contribute 15% ($20.6 billion), and
corporation taxes contribute 12.0% ($16.5 billion).

Long-term Financial Planning

Long-term financial planning issues and initiatives that will affect the State’s long-term financial goals
include:

* The COVID-19 pandemic is expected to impact the State’s finances for the next several years. The
2020-21 Budget estimates personal income tax revenues to decline from $94.8 billion in the previous
fiscal year to $76.8 billion, and sales and use tax revenues to decline from $24.9 billion in the
previous fiscal year to $20.6 billion. These revenues are projected to recover beginning in fiscal
year 2023-24, with personal income tax and sales and use tax revenues rising to $87.7 and $25.4
billion, respectively.

» As part of the enacted fiscal year 2020-21 Budget, the State negotiated annual salary reductions of
approximately 10% with its employee bargaining units, for a savings of $2.8 billion.

* Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, the State authorized a $3.0 billion supplemental contribution at
the end of fiscal year 2018-19 to reduce its net pension liabilities, of which $2.5 billion was paid.
The State subsequently redirected the supplemental payment to offset its annual required pension
contributions by applying $100 million to its fiscal year 2019-20 required contribution, and the
remaining $2.4 billion to its required contributions for the following two years. The 2020-21 Budget
eliminated the remaining unpaid supplemental contribution of $500 million also suspended a
planned defined benefit annual rate increase to the California State Teachers’ Retirement System.

» (California continues to face a lengthening fire season and catastrophic wildfires. While the 2019
fire season was relatively mild, with just under 260,000 acres burned, the 2020 fire season has
already seen over 4 million acres burned through the beginning of October.
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Awards

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the State of California for its
comprehensive annual financial report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. In order to be awarded a
Certificate of Achievement, a government must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized
comprehensive annual financial report. This report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting
principles and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievementis valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current comprehensive

annual financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s requirements and we
are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate.
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Elaine M. Howle State Auditor

Independent Auditor’s Report

THE GOVERNOR AND THE LEGISLATURE OF THE
STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the State of California, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and
the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the State of California’s basic
financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not
audit the financial statements of the following:

Government-wide Financial Statements

« Certain governmental funds that, in the aggregate, represent less than two percent of the assets and
deferred outflows, and less than one percent of the revenues of the governmental activities.

« Certain enterprise funds that, in the aggregate, represent 74 percent of the assets and deferred outflows,
and 51 percent of the revenues of the business-type activities.

+ The University of California and the California Housing Finance Agency that represent 93 percent of the
assets and deferred outflows, and 94 percent of the revenues of the discretely presented component units.

Fund Financial Statements

+ The following major enterprise funds: Electric Power fund, Water Resources fund, State Lottery fund, and
California State University fund.

+ The Golden State Tobacco Securitization Corporation, the Public Building Construction, the Public
Employees’ Retirement, the State Teachers’ Retirement, the State Water Pollution Control Revolving,
the Safe Drinking Water State Revolving, and the 1943 Veterans Farm and Home Building funds, that
represent 85 percent of the assets and deferred outflows, and 49 percent of the additions, revenues and
other financing sources of the aggregate remaining fund information.

+ The discretely presented component units noted above.

621 Capitol Mall, Suite 1200 | Sacramento, CA 95814 | 916.445.0255 | 916.327.0019 fax | www.auditor.ca.gov



The related financial statements were audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us,
and our opinions, insofar as they relate to the amounts included for those funds and entities, are based
solely on the reports of the other auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained
in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The financial statements of the Golden State
Tobacco Securitization Corporation, the Public Building Construction fund, the State Lottery fund, the
1943 Veterans Farm and Home Building fund, and the Campus Foundations of the University of California,
which represent 12 percent of the university’s total assets and deferred outflows of resources and 4 percent
of its revenues, were not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements referred
to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the State of California, as of June 30, 2019, and the
respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that management’s
discussion and analysis, and other required supplementary information as listed in the table of contents,
be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers
it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We and the other auditors have applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods
of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses
to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the
basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide
any assurance.



Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the State of California’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining financial
statements and schedules of nonmajor and other funds, and statistical section are presented for purposes
of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The combining financial statements and schedules of nonmajor and other funds are the responsibility of
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves,
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America by us and other auditors. In our opinion, based on our audit, the procedures performed
as described above, and the reports of other auditors, the combining financial statements and schedules
of nonmajor and other funds are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial
statements as a whole.

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in
the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we will issue a separate report on our consideration
of the State of California’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, and other matters. The purpose
of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the State of
California’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the State of California’s
internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
e Tt

MICHAEL S. TILDEN, CPA
Deputy State Auditor

October 23, 2020



Management s Discussion and Analysis

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis is required supplementary information to the State
of California’s financial statements. It describes and analyzes the financial position of the State, providing
an overview of the State’s activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. We encourage readers to
consider the information that we present here in conjunction with the information presented in the
Controller’s transmittal letter at the front of this report and in the State’s financial statements and notes,
which follow this section.

Financial Highlights — Primary Government
Government-wide Highlights

California’s revenues continued to increase during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, capping a decade
of economic expansion for the State. Although the State experienced an increase in general revenues of
$11.2 billion (6.9%) for fiscal year 2018-19, the growth rate decreased from the 9.7% growth experienced
in fiscal year 2017-18. In response to signs of slowing growth, the administration maintained its focus on
paying down liabilities and building reserves. Expenses and transfers for the State’s governmental activities
increased by $16.8 billion (6.1%) and were less than total revenues received, resulting in a $14.4 billion
increase in the governmental activities’ net position, as restated. Total revenues and transfers for the State’s
business-type activities also surpassed expenses by $681 million in fiscal year 2018-19.

Net Position—The primary government ended fiscal year 2018-19 with a net deficit position of $56.0 billion,
an improvement of $15.1 billion (21.2%) over the previous year, as restated. The total net deficit position
is reduced by $114.8 billion for net investment in capital assets and by $54.3 billion for restricted net
position, yielding a negative unrestricted net position of $225.1 billion. Restricted net position is dedicated
for specified uses and is not available to fund current activities. More than 79.1%, or $178.1 billion, of the
negative $225.1 billion consists of unfunded, employee-related, long-term liabilities (net pension liability,
net OPEB liability, and compensated absences) that are recognized as soon as an obligation occurs, even
though payment will occur over many future periods. In addition, the State’s outstanding bonded debt
consists of $64.6 billion to build capital assets of school districts and other local governmental entities.
Bonded debt reduces the State’s unrestricted net position; however, local governments, not the State, own
the capital assets that would normally offset this reduction.

Fund Highlights

Governmental Funds — As of June 30, 2019, the primary government’s governmental funds reported a
combined ending fund balance of $54.9 billion, an increase of $9.6 billion over the prior fiscal year, as
restated. The unrestricted fund balance, comprised of committed, assigned, and unassigned balances, was
$12.5 billion, an increase of $2.8 billion from the prior fiscal year’s balance of $9.7 billion. The
nonspendable and restricted fund balances were $1.2 billion and $41.2 billion, respectively.

Proprietary Funds — As of June 30, 2019, the primary government’s proprietary funds reported a combined
ending net deficit position of $3.4 billion, an increase of $560 million over the prior fiscal year, as restated.
The total net position is reduced by $3.1 billion for net investment in capital assets, expendable restrictions
of $13.1 billion, and nonexpendable restrictions of $2 million, yielding a negative unrestricted net position
of $19.6 billion.
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Noncurrent Assets and Liabilities

As of June 30, 2019, the primary government’s noncurrent assets totaled $172.3 billion, of which
$148.3 billion is related to capital assets. State highway infrastructure assets of $78.4 billion represent the
largest portion of the State’s capital assets.

The primary government’s noncurrent liabilities totaled $293.4 billion, which consists of $178.1 billion in
unfunded employee-related future obligations, $75.6 billion in general obligation bonds, $28.2 billion in
revenue bonds, and $11.5 billion in other noncurrent liabilities. During fiscal year 2018-19, the primary
government’s noncurrent liabilities decreased by $14.1 billion (4.6%) over the previously reported
noncurrent liabilities. The most significant changes were decreases of $8.1 billion in net pension liability
and $5.1 billion in net OPEB liability, and a decrease of $1.7 billion in bonded debt.

Overview of the Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis is an introduction to the section presenting the State’s basic financial statements,
which includes four components: (1) government-wide financial statements, (2) fund financial statements,
(3) discretely presented component units financial statements, and (4) notes to the financial statements.
This report also contains required supplementary information, and combining financial statements and
schedules intended to furnish additional detail that supports the basic financial statements.

Government-wide Financial Statements

Government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the State’s
finances. The government-wide financial statements do not include fiduciary programs and activities of
the primary government and component units because fiduciary resources are not available to support state
programs.

The statements provide both short-term and long-term information about the State’s financial position to
help readers assess the State’s economic condition at the end of the fiscal year. These statements are prepared
using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, similar to methods
used by most businesses. These statements take into account all revenues and expenses connected with the
fiscal year, regardless of when the State received or paid the cash. The government-wide financial statements
include two statements: the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities.

* The Statement of Net Position presents all of the State’s financial and capital resources in a format in
which assets and deferred outflows of resources equal liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, plus
net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position indicate whether the financial position
of the State is improving or deteriorating.

* The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the State’s net position changed during
the most recent fiscal year. The State reports changes in net position as soon as the event giving rise to
the change occurs, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. Thus, this statement reports
revenues and expenses for some items that will result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g.,
uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave). This statement also presents a comparison
between direct expenses and program revenues for each function of the State.



Management s Discussion and Analysis

The government-wide financial statements separate into different columns the three types of state programs
and activities—governmental activities, business-type activities, and component units.

*  Governmental activities are mostly supported by taxes, such as personal income and sales and use taxes,
and intergovernmental revenues, primarily federal grants. Most services and expenses normally
associated with state government fall into this activity category, including general government;
education (public K—12 schools and institutions of higher education); health and human services; natural
resources and environmental protection; business, consumer services, and housing; transportation;
corrections and rehabilitation; and interest on long-term debt.

* Business-type activities typically recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and
charges to external users of goods and services. The business-type activities of the State of California
include providing unemployment insurance programs, providing housing loans to California veterans,
providing water to local water districts, providing services to California State University students,
selling California State Lottery tickets, and selling electric power. These activities are conducted with
minimal financial assistance from the governmental activities or general revenues of the State.

*  Component units are organizations that are legally separate from the State, but for which the State is
financially accountable, or whose relationship with the State is so significant that their exclusion would
cause the State’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. Various types of component units
are presented; all are legally separate. However, blended component units function as part of the State’s
operations. Fiduciary component units are primarily the resources and operations of the California
Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) and the California State Teachers’ Retirement
System. Discretely presented component units contain some form of accountability either from or to
the State.

Most component units prepare their own separately issued financial statements. For information regarding
obtaining the financial statements of the individual component units, refer to Note 1A, Reporting Entity.

Fund Financial Statements

The State of California, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and
demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal and contractual requirements. A fund is a grouping of
related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific
activities or objectives. All of the funds of the State may be divided into three categories: governmental
funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.

* Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions that are reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-
wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on short-term inflows and
outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of
the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s short-term financing
requirements. This approach is known as the flow of current financial resources measurement focus
and the modified accrual basis of accounting. These governmental fund statements provide a detailed
short-term view of the State’s finances, enabling readers to determine whether adequate financial
resources exist to meet the State’s current needs.
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Because governmental fund financial statements provide a narrower focus than do government-wide
financial statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing
so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s short-term financing decisions.
Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures,
and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate comparison between governmental funds
and governmental activities. Primary differences between the government-wide and fund-based statements
relate to noncurrent assets, such as land and buildings, and noncurrent liabilities, such as bonded debt and
amounts owed for net pension liability, compensated absences, and capital lease obligations. These amounts
are reported in the government-wide statements but not in the fund-based statements.

* Proprietary funds show activities that operate more like those found in the private sector. The State of
California has two proprietary fund types—enterprise funds and internal service funds.

o Enterprise funds record activities for which a fee is charged to external users; they are presented
as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements.

o [Internal service funds accumulate and allocate costs internally among the State’s various functions.
For example, internal service funds provide public buildings construction, information technology,
printing, fleet management, and architectural services primarily for state departments. As a result,
their activity is considered governmental.

* Fiduciary funds account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the State. Fiduciary funds
and the activities of fiduciary component units are not reflected in the government-wide financial
statements because the resources of these funds are not available to support state programs. The
accounting used for fiduciary funds and similar component units is similar to that used for trusts.

Discretely Presented Component Units Financial Statements

The State has financial accountability for discretely presented component units, which have certain
independent qualities and operate in a similar manner to private sector businesses. The activities of the
discretely presented component units are classified as enterprise activities.

Notes to the Financial Statements

The notes to the financial statements in this publication provide additional information that is essential for
a full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes
to the financial statements, which describe particular accounts in more detail, immediately follow the
discretely presented component units financial statements.

Required Supplementary Information

A section of required supplementary information follows the notes to the basic financial statements in this
publication. This section includes several schedules of information for the State’s pension and OPEB plans
and the State’s contributions to those plans; information on infrastructure assets based on the modified
approach; a budgetary comparison schedule; and a reconciliation of the budgetary basis and the GAAP
basis fund balances for the major governmental funds presented in the governmental fund financial
statements.

8
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Combining Financial Statements and Schedules

The Combining Financial Statements and Schedules — Nonmajor and Other Funds section presents
combining statements that provide separate financial statements for nonmajor governmental funds,
nonmajor proprietary funds, fiduciary funds, and nonmajor component units as supplementary information.
The basic financial statements present only summary information for these activities.

Government-wide Financial Analysis
Net Position

The primary government’s combined net deficit position (governmental and business-type activities)
improved by $15.1 billion (21.2%) from a negative $71.1 billion, as restated, to a negative $56.0 billion at
June 30, 2019.

The primary government’s $114.8 billion net investment in capital assets, such as land, buildings, equipment,
and infrastructure (roads, bridges, and other immovable assets) comprise a significant portion of its net
position. This amount of capital assets is net of any outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. The State
uses capital assets when providing services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for
future spending. Although the State’s investment in capital assets is reported net of related debt, the resources
needed to repay this debt must come from other sources because the State cannot use the capital assets to
pay off the liabilities.

Another $54.3 billion of the primary government’s net position represents resources that are externally
restricted as to how they may be used, such as resources pledged to debt service. The internally-imposed
earmarking of resources is not presented in this publication as restricted net position. As of June 30, 2019,
the primary government’s combined unrestricted net deficit position was $225.1 billion—$208.4 billion
for governmental activities and $16.7 billion for business-type activities.

A significant factor contributing to the unrestricted net deficit is that governments recognize a liability on
the government-wide Statement of Net Position as soon as an obligation occurs, while financing and
budgeting functions focus on when a liability will be paid. As of June 30, 2019, the primary government
recognized $178.1 billion (79.1% of the $225.1 billion unrestricted net deficit) in unfunded employee-
related obligations—net pension liability, net OPEB liability, and compensated absences. In addition, the
primary government recognized $64.6 billion in outstanding bonded debt issued to build capital assets for
school districts and other local governmental entities, a common state practice nationwide. As the State
does not own these capital assets, neither the assets nor the related bonded debt is included in the portion
ofnetposition reported as net investment in capital assets. Instead, the bonded debt is reported as anoncurrent
liability that increases the State’s unrestricted net deficit position. The State can expect continued deficits
in the unrestricted net position of governmental activities as long as it has significant unfunded employee-
related obligations and outstanding obligations for school districts and other local governmental entities.
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Table 1 presents condensed financial information derived from the Statement of Net Position for the primary
government.

Table 1

Net Position — Primary Government — Two-year Comparison

June 30, 2019 and 2018
(amounts in millions)

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

ASSETS
Current and other assets.... ... $ 121,013 $ 97,941 $ 31,812 $ 30,553 $ 152,825 $ 128,494
Capital @SSELS ....eeveverrerierieereeeieeeierierieaens 134,898 132,708 13,377 11,927 148,275 144,635

Total assets..............cccccoeeeeviecrieieenens 255,911 230,649 45,189 42,480 301,100 273,129
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
OF RESOURCES 24,865 32,296 3,001 4,471 27,866 36,767
Total assets and deferred
outflows of resources..................... $ 280,776 § 262,945 § 48,190 $ 46,951 § 328,966 $ 309,896
LIABILITIES
Noncurrent liabilities............cccveeveevveenennns $ 253581 $ 265,780 $ 39,824 $ 41,708 $ 293,405 $ 307,488
Other liabilities........ 64,452 54,863 5,016 4,230 69,468 59,093
Total liabilities 318,033 320,643 44,840 45,938 362,873 366,581
DEFERRED INFLOWS
OF RESOURCES 17,468 10,951 4,588 2,922 22,056 13,873
Total liabilities and deferred
inflows of resources....................... 335,501 331,594 49,428 48,860 384,929 380,454
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 112,280 109,614 2,534 2,470 114,814 112,084
Restricted.......couevveeievieciieeeceeeeeeeeee 41,372 35,053 12,946 12,085 54,318 47,138
Unrestricted ......oovveeeeeeeeieeeeeeceeeee e (208,377) (213,316) (16,718) (16,464) (225,095) (229,780)
Total net position (deficit).................... (54,725) (68,649) (1,238) (1,909) (55,963) (70,558)

Total liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources, and net position $ 280,776 $ 262,945 $ 48,190 $ 46,951 $ 328,966 $ 309,896

Note: Prior-year adjustments recorded in the current year have not been reflected in the prior-year column.
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Chart 1 presents a two-year comparison of the State’s net position.

Chart 1

Net Position — Primary Government — Two-year Comparison
June 30, 2019 and 2018
(amounts in billions)

Net Investment in 114.8
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Changes in Net Position

The expenses of the primary government totaled $319.3 billion for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. Of
this amount, $160.2 billion (50.2%) was funded with program revenues (charges for services or program-
specific grants and contributions), leaving $159.1 billion to be funded with general revenues (mainly taxes).
The primary government’s general revenues of $174.2 billion exceeded net unfunded expenses by
$15.1 billion, resulting in a 21.2% increase in net position, as restated.

11
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Table 2 presents condensed financial information derived from the Statement of Activities for the primary
government.

Table 2

Changes in Net Position — Primary Government — Two-year Comparison

Years ended June 30,2019 and 2018
(amounts in millions)

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
REVENUES
Program Revenues:
Charges for Services .......coverevreerenerinnnan $ 34663 $ 32,103 § 27415 § 28380 $ 62,078 $ 60,483
Operating grants and contributions 94,502 87,813 2,125 2,133 96,627 89,946
Capital grants and contributions................. 1,561 1,882 — — 1,561 1,882
General Revenues:
173,011 162,260 — — 173,011 162,260
707 298 — — 707 298
447 378 — — 447 378
304,891 284,734 29,540 30,513 334,431 315,247
EXPENSES
Program Expenses:
General government .............cceceeverveereenenne. 17,901 18,378 — — 17,901 18,378
Education.........ccceveverininieieieeeeeee, 75,644 70,280 — — 75,644 70,280
Health and human services.............cc.......... 144,937 137,829 — — 144,937 137,829
Natural resources and environmental
PIOLECHION ..o 9,774 8,304 — — 9,774 8,304
Business, consumer services, and
NOUSING.....evevieiieiieiieieieieese e 2,133 1,258 — — 2,133 1,258
TranSportation..........ceeeeeeeeceerierrerieseenenes 17,022 14,260 — — 17,022 14,260
Corrections and rehabilitation..................... 15,153 14,921 — — 15,153 14,921
Interest on long-term debt ..............c.c.......... 3,996 4,155 — — 3,996 4,155
Electric POWer .......occevveieieieieieeeeee, — — 913 952 913 952
Water Resources.......cccoeeeeevveeeeevveeeeeennnnnnn. — — 1,200 1,222 1,200 1,222
State LOttery .ovevvereeeeeeeeeeieieieieseseeseeeeen — — 7,436 7,007 7,436 7,007
Unemployment Programs.............cccceeueveene — — 13,229 12,134 13,229 12,134
California State University...........cccevenenne. — — 9,779 9,806 9,779 9,806
Other enterprise programs..............cceveeneene. — — 233 207 233 207
Total expenses...............ccceveveverirrernnnne 286,560 269,385 32,790 31,328 319,350 300,713
Excess (deficiency) before transfers .... 18,331 15,349 (3,250) (815) 15,081 14,534
Gain on early extinguishment of debt ........ — — 0 0 — —
Transfers......ocevevevereeeeeeieieee e (3,931) (4,340) 3,931 4,340 0 0
Change in net position..........ccecevverveereenenne. 14,400 11,009 681 3,525 15,081 14,534
Net position (deficit), beginning.................. (69,125) * (79,658) * (1,919) * (5,434) * (71,044) (85,092)
Net position (deficit), ending........................ $ (54,725) $ (68,649) $ (1,238) $ 1,909) $ (55,963) $ (70,558)

*Restated

Note: Prior-year adjustments recorded in the current year have not been reflected in the prior-year column.
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Governmental Activities

During fiscal year 2018-19, governmental activities’ expenses and transfers totaled $290.5 billion. Program
revenues totaling $130.7 billion, including $96.1 billion received in federal grants and contributions, funded
45.0% of expenses and transfers, leaving $159.8 billion to be funded with general revenues (mainly taxes).
General revenues for governmental activities ($174.2 billion) exceeded net unfunded expenses and
transfers, resulting in the governmental activities’ net deficit position of $54.7 billion, after restatement,
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, an improvement of $14.4 billion (20.8%) over the prior year’s
restated net deficit position of $69.1 billion.

Chart 2 presents a comparison of governmental activities’ expenses to related revenue by program.
Chart 2

Program Revenues and Expenses — Governmental Activities

Year ended June 30, 2019
(amounts in billions)

General government
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For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, total governmental activities’ revenue was $304.9 billion, an
increase of 7.1% over the prior year. General revenues increased by $11.2 billion (6.9%), to $174.2 billion,
and program revenues increased by $8.9 billion (7.3%), to $130.7 billion. Personal income taxes increased
by $6.2 billion over the prior year due to continued job growth and increased capital gains from a strong
stock market, representing a 6.6% increase compared to the fiscal year 2017-18 increase of 10.2%. Motor
vehicle excise taxes increased by $952 million (14.2%) in the first full year of revenue generated under the
Road Repair and Accountability Act of 2017 (Senate Bill 1), which increased existing fuel excise taxes and
created two new vehicle charges. Corporation taxes increased by $2.0 billion (16.0%) over the prior year.
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Overall expenses for governmental activities increased by $17.2 billion (6.4%) over the prior year. The
largest increase in expenditures, $7.1 billion (5.2%), occurred in health and human services programs; the
majority of the increase is attributable to the Department of Health Care Services, which administers the
California Medical Assistance (Medi-Cal) program. Another significant increase, $5.4 billion (7.6%),
occurred in education as a result of the Proposition 98 minimum funding guarantee; the increased spending
was triggered by higher General Fund revenue.

Chart 3 presents the percentage of total expenses for each governmental activities program.

Chart 3

Expenses by Program

Year ended June 30, 2019
(as a percent)

Education 26.4%
General government 6.3%

Corrections and rehabilitation 5.3%

Transportation 5.9%

Other 5.5%

Health and human services 50.6%

Chart 4 presents the percentage of total revenues by source for each governmental activities program.

Chart 4

Revenues by Source

Year ended June 30, 2019
(as a percent)

Personal income tax 33.0%

Sales and use tax 13.5%

Charges for services 11.4%

Other revenue 10.6%

Grants and contributions 31.5%
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Business-type Activities

As of June 30, 2019, business-type activities’ expenses totaled $32.8 billion. Program revenues of
$29.5 billion, primarily generated from charges for services, and $3.9 billion in transfers, were sufficient
to cover these expenses. As a result, the business-type activities’ total net deficit position improved by
$681 million (35.5%) over the prior year’s restated net deficit position of $1.9 billion, to a net deficit of
$1.2 billion at June 30, 2019.

Chart 5 presents a two-year comparison of the expenses of the State’s business-type activities.

Chart 5

Expenses — Business-type Activities — Two-year Comparison

Years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018
(amounts in billions)
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Fund Financial Analysis

The financial position of the State’s governmental funds continued to improve in fiscal year 2018-19, with
a combined fund balance increase of $9.6 billion over the prior year’s restated ending fund balance.
Governmental funds rely heavily on taxes to support the majority of the State’s services and programs. All
of the State’s “Big Three” taxes (personal income, sales and use, and corporation) increased during the
fiscal year. Proprietary funds’ total net position increased by $560 million during fiscal year 2018-19—
with a $681 million increase in enterprise funds, offset by a $121 million decrease in net position of internal
service funds. The majority of the increase in the enterprise funds’ net position was in the Unemployment
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Programs Fund, increasing its fund balance to $8.0 billion. This was a result of the State’s continued low
unemployment rate throughout fiscal year 2018-19, ending at a near record low of 4.2% in June 2019.

Governmental Funds

As of June 30, 2019, the governmental funds’ Balance Sheet reported $130.2 billion in assets, $75.3 billion
in liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, and $54.9 billion in fund balance. Total assets of
governmental funds increased by 20.6%, while total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources increased
by 20.0%, resulting in a total fund balance increase of $9.5 billion (21.1%) over the prior year’s restated
balance.

Within the governmental funds’ total fund balance, $1.2 billion is classified as nonspendable, as this amount
consists of long-term interfund receivables, loans receivable, and legal or contractual requirements.
Additionally, $41.2 billion is classified as restricted for specific programs by external constraints such as
debt covenants and contractual obligations, or by constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.
Furthermore, of the total fund balance, $11.8 billion is classified as committed for specific purposes and
$19 million is classified as assigned for specific purposes. The remaining unassigned balance of the
governmental funds is $766 million—a decrease of $883 million from the prior fiscal year.

The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of the governmental funds
reported $300.1 billion in revenues, $296.6 billion in expenditures, and a net $6.0 billion in receipts from
other financing sources. The ending fund balance of the governmental funds for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2019, was $54.9 billion, a $9.5 billion increase over the prior year’s restated ending fund balance
of $45.4 billion.

Governmental funds’ revenue consists primarily of taxes (56.2%) and intergovernmental revenue (33.3%).
Personal income taxes accounted for 57.4% of tax revenues and increased by $2.3 billion over the prior
fiscal year. Sales and use taxes accounted for 24.4% of tax revenues and increased by $1.3 billion over the
prior fiscal year. Corporation taxes accounted for 8.3% of tax revenues and increased by $1.4 billion over
the prior fiscal year. Intergovernmental revenue, primarily from the federal government, increased by
$7.0 billion (7.5%) over the prior fiscal year.

Governmental funds’ expenditures increased by $15.5 billion (5.5%) over the prior fiscal year, primarily
for health and human services, education, and natural resources and environmental protection. The increase
in health and human services expenditures of $6.5 billion (4.7%) is due to increased spending on Medi-
Cal. Education expenditures increased by $5.2 billion (7.4%) over the prior fiscal year to comply with
constitutional requirements (Proposition 98) that provide a minimum funding guarantee to support
California’s K-12 schools and community colleges; the minimum funding guarantee increased as a result
of increased General Fund revenue in fiscal year 2018-19. Expenditures for natural resources and
environmental protection increased by $1.1 billion (13.5%) due to the implementation of Proposition 68,
passed by voters in June 2018, which provided funding for drought protection, the creation of parks,
enhancement of river parkways, and the protection of coastal forests and wetlands.
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Chart 6 presents a two-year comparison of governmental funds’ tax revenues.

Chart 6

Governmental Funds Tax Revenue — Two-year Comparison

Years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018
(amounts in billions)
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Chart 7 presents a two-year comparison of the components of the governmental funds’ balance.

Chart 7

Governmental Funds — Components of Fund Balance — Two-year Comparison

Years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018
(amounts in billions)
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Note: Assigned fund balance was $19 million, which rounds to zero when presented in billions.

The State’s major governmental funds are the General Fund, the Federal Fund, the Transportation Fund,
the Environmental and Natural Resources Fund, and the Health Care Related Programs Fund. The General
Fund ended the fiscal year with a fund balance of $18.6 billion, an increase of $6.4 billion over the prior
year’s fund balance, as restated. The Federal Fund, the Transportation Fund, the Environmental and Natural
Resources Fund, and the Health Care Related Programs Fund ended the fiscal year with fund balances of
$223 million, $9.3 billion, $13.6 billion, and $1.1 billion, respectively. The nonmajor governmental funds
ended the fiscal year with a total fund balance of $12.1 billion.

General Fund: As shown on the Balance Sheet, the General Fund (the State’s main operating fund) ended
fiscal year 2018-19 with assets of $49.7 billion; liabilities and deferred inflows of resources of $31.2 billion;
and nonspendable, restricted, and committed fund balances of $1.2 billion, $14.8 billion, and $1.8 billion,
respectively, leaving the General Fund with an unassigned fund balance of $766 million. Total assets of
the General Fund increased by $10.5 billion (26.9%) over the prior fiscal year. Total liabilities and deferred
inflows of resources increased by $4.1 billion (15.4%), while the General Fund’s unassigned fund balance
decreased by $883 billion (53.6%) from the prior year.

As shown on the Statement of Revenue, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances, the General Fund
had an excess of revenues over expenditures of $11.4 billion ($140.5 billion in revenues and $129.1 billion
in expenditures). Approximately $134.7 billion (95.9%) of General Fund revenue is derived from the
State’s largest three taxes—personal income taxes ($95.0 billion), sales and use taxes ($25.7 billion), and
corporation taxes ($14.0 billion). As a result of fund classifications made to comply with generally accepted
governmental accounting principles, a total of $289 million in revenue, mostly from unemployment
programs, is included in the General Fund. These revenues are not considered General Fund revenues for
any budgetary purposes or for the State’s Budgetary/Legal Basis Annual Report.
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During fiscal year 2018-19, total General Fund revenue increased by $4.9 billion (3.6%). The increase is
a result of increases in personal income taxes of $2.2 billion (2.4%), corporation taxes of $1.4 billion
(11.4%), and sales and use taxes of $610 million (2.4%). General Fund expenditures increased by
$4.9 billion (3.9%). The largest increases were in education, natural resources and environmental
protection, and business, consumer services and housing expenditures, which were up $5.4 billion,
$817 million, and $467 million, respectively. The General Fund ended the fiscal year with a fund balance
of $18.6 billion, an improvement of $6.4 billion from the prior year’s restated ending fund balance of
$12.2 billion. The General Fund’s ending fund balance includes $14.4 billion restricted for budget
stabilization if the Governor must declare a budget emergency during an economic downturn.

Federal Fund: The Federal Fund reports federal grant revenues and the related expenditures to support
grant programs. The largest of these programs is for health and human services, which accounted for
$82.2 billion (86.0%) of the total $95.6 billion in fund expenditures. Education and transportation programs
also constituted a large part of the fund’s expenditures, amounting to $7.6 billion (8.0%) and $3.8 billion
(4.0%) of the total, respectively. The Federal Fund’s revenues increased by $6.4 billion, which was
approximately the same amount of increase in the combined expenditures and transfers, resulting in only
a $6 million decrease from the prior year’s ending fund balance of $229 million, to $223 million.

Transportation Fund: The Transportation Fund accounts for fuel taxes, bond proceeds, and other revenues
used primarily for highway and passenger rail construction. The Transportation Fund’s revenues increased
by $2.2 billion (16.2%) and its expenditures increased by $2.5 billion (18.9%), as a result of the first full
year of funding under the Road Repair and Accountability Act (Senate Bill 1). Other financing sources
provided net receipts of $538 million. The Transportation Fund ended the fiscal year with a $9.3 billion
fund balance, an increase of $149 million over the prior year.

Environmental and Natural Resources Fund: The Environmental and Natural Resources Fund accounts
for fees, bond proceeds, and other revenues that are used for maintaining the State’s natural resources and
improving the environmental quality of its air, land, and water. The Environmental and Natural Resources
Fund’s revenues increased by $315 million (4.5%), and expenditures increased by $1.8 billion (28.0%) due
to the spending requirements related to the Parks and Water Bond Act of 2018 (Proposition 68), passed by
voters in June 2018. Other financing sources provided net receipts of $2.9 billion, mainly from bond
proceeds, including those sold under Proposition 68. The Environmental and Natural Resources Fund ended
the fiscal year with a $13.6 billion fund balance, an increase of $2.1 billion (18.3%) over the prior year.

Health Care Related Programs Fund: The Health Care Related Programs Fund accounts for fees, taxes,
intergovernmental revenue, bond proceeds, transfers from other state funds, and other revenue used for the
Medi-Cal program, medical research, and other health care-related programs. The Health Care Related
Programs Fund’s revenues increased by $234 million (2.1%), while expenditures decreased by
$212 million (1.8%). Other financing sources provided net receipts of $461 million. The Health Care
Related Programs Fund ended the fiscal year with a $1.1 billion fund balance, an increase of $117 million
over the prior year.

Proprietary Funds

Enterprise Funds: The total net deficit position of the enterprise funds at June 30, 2019, was $1.2 billion
—a $681 million improvement over the prior year’s restated net deficit position of $1.9 billion. The
Unemployment Programs Fund accounted for the majority of this increase to end the fiscal year with a net
position of $8.0 billion. The State Lottery Fund and the nonmajor enterprise funds increased their net
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positions by $38 million and $133 million, respectively, while the California State University Fund
decreased its net position by $271 million.

As shown on the proprietary funds’ Statement of Net Position, total assets and deferred outflows of resources
for the enterprise funds were $49.0 billion as of June 30, 2019. Of this amount, current assets totaled
$18.2 billion, noncurrent assets totaled $27.8 billion, and deferred outflows of resources totaled $3.0 billion.
The total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources for the enterprise funds was $50.3 billion. The three
largest liabilities of the enterprise funds were $14.8 billion in net OPEB liability, $14.5 billion in revenue
bonds payable, and $8.7 billion in net pension liability. As of June 30, 2019, the Unemployment Programs
Fund had a balance on deposit with the U.S. Treasury of $3.7 billion.

Total net position consisted of four segments: net investment in capital assets of $2.5 billion, nonexpendable
restricted net position of $2 million, restricted expendable net position of $13.0 billion, and unrestricted
net deficit of $16.7 billion.

As shown on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position of proprietary funds,
the enterprise funds ended the year with operating revenues of $25.9 billion, operating expenses of
$29.4 billion, and net revenues from other transactions of $242 million. The largest sources of operating
revenues were unemployment and disability insurance receipts of $14.0 billion in the Unemployment
Programs Fund, and lottery ticket sales of $7.4 billion collected by the State Lottery Fund. The
unemployment and disability insurance receipts in the Unemployment Programs Fund decreased by
$1.6 billion (10.1%) from the prior fiscal year. The largest operating expenses were distributions of
$12.8 billion to beneficiaries by the Unemployment Programs Fund, personal services of $6.6 billion by
the California State University Fund, and lottery prizes of $4.7 billion distributed by the State Lottery Fund.

Internal Service Funds: The total net deficit of the internal service funds was $2.2 billion as of June 30, 2019.
The net position consists of three segments: net investment in capital assets of $535 million, restricted
expendable net position of $208 million, and unrestricted net deficit of $2.9 billion.

Fiduciary Funds

The State of California has four types of fiduciary funds: private purpose trust funds, pension and other
employee benefit trust funds, investment trust funds, and agency funds. The private purpose trust funds
ended the fiscal year with a net position of $9.4 billion. The pension and other employee benefit trust funds
ended the fiscal year with a net position of $641.1 billion. The State’s only investment trust fund, the Local
Agency Investment Fund, ended the fiscal year with a net position of $24.6 billion. Agency funds act as
clearing accounts and thus do not have a net position.

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, the fiduciary funds’ combined net position was $675.1 billion, a
$38.4 billion increase over the prior year net position. The net position increased primarily because
contributions received and investment income in pension and other employee benefit trust funds exceeded
payments made to participants, despite a 17.8% decrease in net investment income from the prior fiscal year.

General Fund Budget Highlights

The original General Fund budget of $146.3 billion was increased by $832 million during fiscal year
2018-19. This increase is mainly attributed to funding for corrections and rehabilitation, and natural
resources and environmental protection.
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The increase in corrections and rehabilitation was mainly the result of additional funding for the California
Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation (CDCR). Expenditures for the CDCR increased due to several
factors, including increases in employee compensation costs, the activation of a new health care facility,
and costs associated with expanding capacity to reduce prison overcrowding.

The increase in natural resources and environmental protection included additional funding in support of
urban flood control projects, deferred maintenance on levees, and construction of a new museum to protect,
preserve and celebrate the history of California's tribal peoples.

Table 3 presents a summary of the General Fund original and final budgets.

Table 3

General Fund Original and Final Budgets

Year ended June 30, 2019
(amounts in millions)

Increase/
Original Final (Decrease)
Budgeted amounts
Business, consumer services, and hoUSINg ..........ccoceveereiireneineieeseees $ 551 $ 553§ 2
TTANSPOTLATION ...c.vetetiiieiieiteitetet ettt ettt sae e i e 33 33 —
Natural resources and environmental protection .............ececeevvererererenenne 4,626 5,063 437
Health and human SEIVICES .......cuevvievieeiieiieieeiecie et 39,824 39,612 (212)
Corrections and rehabilitation...............ccoeoviiiiiiiieiiic e 11,945 12,432 487
EdUCALION ...ttt e b et eae e 71,602 71,402 (200)
General government:
TaX TRIET ..ottt et e e s 425 425 —
5,290 5,290 —
Other general SOVEINMENT........cc.eeueeieieierierienieeeeieecet ettt 12,004 12,322 318
TOtAL .......oviiiiieeeeeee ettt $ 146,300 $ 147,132 § 832

Capital Assets and Debt Administration
Capital Assets

AsofJune 30,2019, the State’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities
amounted to $148.3 billion (net of accumulated depreciation/amortization). The State’s capital assets
include land, state highway infrastructure, collections, buildings and other depreciable property, intangible
assets, and construction/development in progress. The buildings and other depreciable property account
includes buildings, improvements other than buildings, equipment, certain infrastructure assets, certain
books, and other capitalized and depreciable property. Intangible assets include computer software, land
use rights, patents, copyrights, and trademarks. Infrastructure assets are items that normally are immovable,
such as roads and bridges, and can be preserved for a greater number of years than can most capital assets.

As of June 30, 2019, the State’s capital assets increased by $3.6 billion, or 2.5% over the prior fiscal year.

The majority of the increase occurred in state highway infrastructure and buildings and other
depreciable property. Additional information on the State’s capital assets can be found in Note 7.
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Table 4 presents a summary of the primary government’s capital assets for governmental and business-
type activities.

Table 4

Capital Assets — Primary Government — Two-year Comparison
June 30, 2019 and 2018
(amounts in millions)

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Land ....oooooveieieieeeeeeeeeeeee $ 20,473 $ 20,208 $ 306 $ 271 $ 20,779 $ 20,479
State highway infrastructure ............cccceceneene. 78,418 77,068 — — 78,418 77,068
Collections — nondepreciable............ccceuennenne 23 23 27 25 50 48
Buildings and other

depreciable property ........cccceceeveeveenenennenne. 32,753 31,700 15,808 14,696 48,561 46,396
Intangible assets — amortizable....................... 2,631 2,223 433 431 3,064 2,654
Less: accumulated

depreciation/amortization................c......... (16,143) (15,221) (6,574) (6,089) (22,717) (21,310)
Construction/development in progress .......... 16,149 16,289 3,258 2,475 19,407 18,764
Intangible assets — nonamortizable................. 593 418 119 118 712 536

Total......ccooveiiiee e $ 134897 $ 132,708 $ 13,377 $ 11,927 $ 148,274 $§ 144,635

Note: Prior-year adjustments recorded in the current year have not been reflected in the prior-year column.

Modified Approach for Infrastructure Assets

The State has elected to use the modified approach for capitalizing infrastructure assets of the state highway
system (state bridges and roadways). Under the modified approach, the State does not report depreciation
expense for its bridges and roads but capitalizes all costs that add to their capacity and efficiency. All
maintenance and preservation costs are expensed. Under the modified approach, the State maintains an
asset management system to demonstrate that the infrastructure is preserved at or above established
condition levels. During fiscal year 2018-19, the actual amount spent on preservation was 48.1% of the
estimated budgeted amount needed to maintain the infrastructure assets at established condition levels.
Although the amount spent fell short of the budgeted amount, the assessed condition of the State’s bridges
and roadways is better than the established condition baselines, with 95.4% of bridge deck area judged to
be of fair or better quality and 87.7% of lane miles judged to be of fair or better quality in the last completed
pavement-condition survey. The State is responsible for maintaining 13,002 bridges and 50,260 lane miles.

The Required Supplementary Information includes additional information on how the State uses the

modified approach for infrastructure assets; it also presents the established condition standards, condition
assessments, and preservation costs.
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Debt Administration

AtJune 30,2019, the State had total bonded debt outstanding of $109.8 billion. Of this amount, $79.6 billion
(72.5%) represents general obligation bonds, which are backed by the full faith and credit of the State. The
current portion of general obligation bonds outstanding is $4.0 billion and the long-term portion is
$75.6 billion. The remaining $30.2 billion (27.5%) of bonded debt outstanding represents revenue bonds,
which are secured solely by specified revenue sources. The current portion of revenue bonds outstanding
is $2.0 billion and the long-term portion is $28.2 billion.

During the fiscal year, the State issued a total of $7.2 billion in new general obligation bonds to fund
various capital projects and other voter-approved costs related to K-12 schools and higher education
facilities, transportation improvements and high-speed rail, water quality and environmental protection,
and other public purposes.

Table 5 presents a summary of all the primary government’s long-term obligations for governmental and
business-type activities.

Table 5

Long-term Obligations — Primary Government — Two-year Comparison

Years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018
(amounts in millions)

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Government-wide noncurrent liabilities
General obligation bonds $ 74,762 $ 76,063 $ 808 $ 668 $ 75570 $ 76,731
Revenue bonds payable............ccccu.e.e. 14,913 15,559 13,276 13,164 28,189 28,723
Total bonded debt 89,675 91,622 14,084 13,832 103,759 105,454
Net pension liability 81,300 88,466 8,730 10,067 90,030 98,533
Net other postemployment
benefits iability ........ccceoevveeieeneiieeeeee 69,442 73,717 14,766 15,619 84,208 89,336
Mandated cost claims payable .............. 1,815 1,911 — — 1,815 1,911
Compensated absences payable 3,667 3,593 207 191 3,874 3,784
Workers’ compensation benefits
PAYADIC. ...t 3,958 3,874 5 4 3,963 3,878
Capital lease obligations ...........ccccevvevererenenne 363 412 295 290 658 702
Commercial PaPer.........ceeeeeieiesierienienerenene 1,033 860 778 743 1,811 1,603
Other noncurrent liabilities ...........ccccceeveeveenene 2,327 2,669 959 962 3,286 3,631
Total noncurrent liabilities .................... 253,580 267,124 39,824 41,708 293,404 308,832
Current portion of long-term obligations............. 6,240 5,467 2,582 2,052 8,822 7,519
Total long-term obligations..................... $ 259,820 $ 272,591 $§ 42,406 $ 43,760 $ 302,226 $ 316,351

During the fiscal year ended June 30,2019, the primary government’s total long-term obligations decreased
by $14.1 billion from the prior year’s balance. The largest decrease was $8.5 billion in net pension liability
due to supplemental payments made by the State and assumption changes in the actuarial valuation. The
net OPEB liability decreased by $5.1 billion as a result of favorable health care claims experience, actuarial
assumption changes, and an increase in employee prefunding contributions.
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Note 9, Long-term Obligations, and Notes 10 through 16 include additional information on the State’s
long-term obligations.

During fiscal year 2018-19, the State’s general obligation credit ratings from Fitch Ratings, Standard and
Poor’s Rating Services, and Moody’s Investors Service remained unchanged at “AA”, “AA-", and “Aa3”,
respectively.

Economic Condition and Future Budgets
The Economy for the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2019

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, California continued to experience economic growth, though
at a slower pace than the previous fiscal year. The State’s real gross domestic product (GDP) increased by
4.4% to $3.1 trillion at year end, compared to growth of 6.3% during fiscal year 2017-18. The State’s
economic output continued to grow faster than the United States GDP, which increased by 4.0% during
fiscal year 2018-19.

The unemployment rate for California was stable during fiscal year 2018-19, maintaining a low of 4.1%
for July through December 2018, before finishing at 4.2% in June 2019, the same rate as June 2018. Total
nonfarm employment increased by 291,200 jobs during 2018-19, with 10 out of California’s 11 major
industry sectors experiencing job growth. The largest job gains were in educational and health services,
professional and business services, leisure and hospitality, and construction, while financial activities
decreased by 2,000 jobs.

California’s per capita personal income increased by 5.0% in fiscal year 2018-19, outperforming the national
increase of 4.0%. Since 2010, California’s personal income has grown an average of 5.3% per year, due
largely to the low unemployment rate. During the same period, United States personal income grew an
average of 4.3%. Effective January 1, 2019, California’s minimum wage increased to either $11.00 or
$12.00 per hour, depending on the number of employees of a business. The minimum wage will continue
to increase each year until it reaches $15.00 per hour for all businesses in 2023.

The State’s real estate market showed signs of stabilizing at the end of fiscal year 2018-19. The median
price of homes in California increased a modest 1.4% during the fiscal year to a record high of $611,420
as of June 30, 2019, still more than double the national median price of $285,400. Despite elevating home
prices, low interest rates sustained sales in California. While 30-year fixed mortgage rates averaged 3.80%
in June 2019, compared to 4.57% in June 2018, sales of existing single-family homes declined by only
5.1% during fiscal year 2018-19, compared to the 7.3% decline in fiscal year 2017-18. For the year ended
June 30, 2019, commercial construction permits increased 9.2% from the prior year. The number of
residential building permits issued decreased by 13.4% to approximately 105,000 units, well below the
projected need to accommodate population growth, which may continue to drive housing prices up and
affordability down.

Economic Conditions for the 2019-20 Fiscal Year and Future Outlook

The 2019-20 fiscal year marked an unprecedented period for California’s economy. The first 8§ months of
the fiscal year (through February 2020) were marked by continued economic expansion and low
unemployment. However, by the end of the fiscal year the economic disruption brought about by the
COVID-19 pandemic led to steep declines in economic activity and dramatic increases in unemployment.
As of December 2019, California’s GDP had reached almost $3.2 trillion, an increase of 4.3% compared
to the same period in 2018. Personal income increased by 5.0% over the preceding year. In January 2020,
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the state posted its lowest unemployment rate on record under the methodology used since 1976, with a
rate of 3.9%. By March 2020, however, the economic effects of the COVID-19 pandemic were already
becoming apparent, with unemployment increasing to 5.5%. Unemployment increased dramatically by
April, reaching a record high of 16.4%, and held steady through May before receding to14.9% in June. At
the end of September 2020, the unemployment rate was 11.0%, still well above the rate prior to the pandemic.

The largestjob losses occurred in the leisure and hospitality sector, which includes jobs in arts, entertainment,
and recreation, as well as food service and accommodations. The number of jobs in this sector declined by
632,200 (30.8%) from February 2020 through June 2020. Other hard-hit sectors included non-durable
goods manufacturing, which lost 45,900 jobs (9.9%) over this period, and retail trade, which lost 192,300
jobs (11.6%).

In spite of the steep loss of jobs during the final four months of the 2019-20 fiscal year, some parts of the
economy stabilized after initial declines. Sales of existing single-family homes fell during the March to
June 2020 time period when compared to the same months in 2019. By July 2020, the pace of existing
single family home sales exceeded the pace of sales in July 2019 by 6.4%. Home prices fell modestly in
April and May 2020, but had increased significantly by July 2020, with the median price of a single-family
home reaching a new record high of $666,320, a 9.0% increase from the June 2020 amount.

Construction activity also declined sharply in March and April 2020 before bouncing back. New single-
family residential permits for June and July 2020 exceeded the number recorded in the same months in
2019 by 2.7% and 3.0%, respectively. Non-residential permits also declined during the initial months of
the pandemic before partially rebounding in June 2020.

New vehicle registrations were also impacted by the pandemic’s economic fallout, with new registrations
from April to June 2020 down by 52.1% compared to the same period in 2019.

At the close of the 2019-20 fiscal year, the state’s economy began to turn around from the worst of the
COVID-19 induced job losses and economic dislocations. However, over 1.9 million fewer Californians
were working in non-farm jobs at the end of June 2020 compared with February 2020, and the State still
faced significant uncertainty about the timing of its future economic recovery.

California’s 2019-20 Budget

California’s 2019-20 Budget Act was enacted on June 27,2019. The Budget Actappropriated $214.8 billion
—3$147.8 billion from the General Fund, $61.1 billion from special funds, and $5.9 billion from bond funds.
The General Fund’s budgeted expenditures increased by $5.1 billion (3.6%) over the prior year budget.
The General Fund’s revenues were projected to be $143.8 billion after a $2.2 billion transfer to the Budget
Stabilization Account (BSA), the State’s rainy day fund. General Fund revenue comes predominantly from
taxes, with personal income taxes expected to provide 70.2% of total revenue in fiscal year 2019-20.
California’s major taxes (personal income, sales and use, and corporation) were projected to provide
approximately 97.8% of the General Fund’s resources in the 2019-20 fiscal year. The General Fund was
projected to end the 2019-2020 fiscal year with $19.2 billion in total reserves—$16.5 billion in the BSA,
$1.4 billion in the General Fund’s Special Fund for Economic Uncertainties (SFEU), $900 million in the
Safety Net Reserve (SNR), and the initial funding of $377 million into the Public School System
Stabilization Account (PSSSA). In addition to the required minimum annual transfer to the BSA,
Proposition 2 requires the General Fund to make an equivalent minimum annual amount of debt reduction
payments; the 2019-20 spending plan included $2.2 billion of debt reduction expenditures.
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The 2019-20 Budget Act increased total State expenditures by $11.7 billion over the 2018-19 budgeted
level, driven by an increase in budgeted General Fund expenditures of $9.1 billion. Primary increases in
General Fund spending were for health and human services of $2.4 billion, K-12 education of $2.4 billion,
and higher education of $1.4 billion. The General Fund’s share of Proposition 98 guaranteed minimum
funding level for K-12 schools and community colleges increased by $1.4 billion to $55.9 billion.

Specific 2019-20 Budget provisions included $850 million to cover a portion of school districts’ 2019-20
and 2020-21 pension payments, increased funding for the California State Universities and University of
California of $713 million and $416 million, respectively, and $1.3 billion for early education programs.
Additional 2019-20 Budget provisions included $332 million to increase monthly CalWORKSs grants,
$550 million to expand health care coverage and increase affordability, and a one-time allocation of
$2.8 billion to support local governments’ housing and homelessness programs.

Subsequent to the enactment of the 2019-20 Budget Act, the COVID-19 pandemic struck causing a global
economic crisis and a serious economic downturn in California. The State now anticipates declines in
revenue as a result of record high unemployment and long-term economic shut-downs, increases in health
and human services and COVID-related expenditures, and programmatic spending reductions or
eliminations. California’s structurally balanced budgets and historic level of reserves puts the state in a
relatively better position to address projected multi-year budget deficits, but the State is facing a great deal
of economic uncertainty.

In June 2020, the 2020-21 Budget Act was enacted, and provided updated estimates of fiscal year 2019-20
General Fund revenues, expenditures, and reserves. The 2020-21 Budget Act, revised to take into
consideration the recession brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic, projected fiscal year 2019-20
General Fund revenue of $137.6 billion (after transfers), expenditures of $146.9 billion, and total year-end
reserves of $17.0 billion —$16.1 billion in the BSA and $900 million in the SNR—which is $2.2 billion
less than projected in the 2019-20 Budget Act in June 2019.

California’s 2020-21 Budget

In June 2020, the fiscal year 2020-21 Budget Act was enacted, and includes projections of fiscal year
2020-21 General Fund revenues, expenditures, and reserves that take into account the anticipated impacts
of the COVID-19 pandemic to the State. The Budget estimates General Fund revenues of $129.9 billion,
a decrease of $9.8 billion (7.0%) from fiscal year 2019-20 revenue estimates. General Fund expenditures
are budgeted at $133.9 billion, a decrease of $13.0 billion (8.9%) compared to fiscal year 2019-20. The
Budget proposes a transfer of $7.8 billion from the BSA to the General Fund to cover the revenue shortfall.
After the transfer, the balance in the BSA would be $8.3 billion. Together with the estimated balance of
$2.6 billion in the SFEU, a COVID Reserve deficit balance of $716 million, and $450 million in the SNR,
the State’s combined reserves at the end of fiscal year 2020-21 are estimated to be $10.7 billion.

The 2020-21 Budget Act provides a plan to close a projected $54.3 billion general fund shortfall due to the
impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic by canceling or adjusting program expansions and spending increases,
relying on reserves, borrowing from special funds, increasing revenues from taxes on businesses, and
requesting additional assistance from the federal government. If additional federal assistance is not
provided, the State could face more reductions to core government functions such as education and health
and human services to balance the budget.
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Requests for Information

The State Controller’s Office designed this financial report to provide interested parties with a general
overview of the State of California’s finances. Address questions concerning the information provided in
this report or requests for additional information via email to the State Controller’s Office, State Accounting
and Reporting Division at StateGovReports@sco.ca.gov. This report is also available on the State
Controller’s Office website at www.sco.ca.gov.
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Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2019

(amounts in thousands)

Primary Government

Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and pooled investments............ccccceereeerereeenenne $ 60,263,614 $ 7,383,985 $ 67,647,599 $ 2,814,435
Amount on deposit with U.S. Treasury.... — 3,717,242 3,717,242 —
INVESMENLS ....ooeviiiiiiiciicee e 607,430 2,994,955 3,602,385 8,166,937
Restricted assets:
Cash and pooled investments..........coceeeeeeierierienenne 581,464 999,183 1,580,647 288,562
INVEStMENLS ....oovviiiiiiicieeeee e — — — 40,342
Due from other governments ...........c.ceceecvevuereerenenne — 292,355 292,355 —
Net investment in direct financing leases..................... 12,105 11,868 23,973 —
Receivables (net) 17,797,081 2,157,008 19,954,089 6,309,315
Internal balances............cccoeeveeeiiiiiiiieeieeeieeee e (191,044) 191,044 — —
Due from primary government............ccceceevververeenuennns — — — 222,053
Due from other governments ...........cocceceeeeeeenienenennens 31,068,148 444,522 31,512,670 155,027
Prepaid 1tems ......c.eeueeueeieieieieeeseeeee e 216,791 69,471 286,262 4,529
INVENTOTIES......viiitieieeiecceee e 69,969 15,263 85,232 266,839
Recoverable power costs (NEt) ......coevereereeienienienienens — 88,000 88,000 —
Other Current assetS .......c..cevveeeveeeerieeeieeeieeeeeeeeeeeenns 38,203 3,697 41,900 448,632
Total current assets............coeveeveereereeeeveeriesieereereenens 110,463,761 18,368,593 128,832,354 18,716,671
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted assets:
Cash and pooled investments...........ccecveeveruerrerieneenne 143,195 745,756 888,951 55,798
Investments .........c.ccoeeeevvennene — 352,860 352,860 70,584
Loans receivable — 1,954,696 1,954,696 —
INVESTMENTS ....ovvieiiieiieiieieeeeee et — 2,070,884 2,070,884 35,891,433
Net investment in direct financing leases..................... 253,833 208,216 462,049 —
Receivables (NEt)......cveveieierieierieeieeeeeeeeeieee e 6,777,439 472,679 7,250,118 2,901,483
Loans receivable...........ccoveevvieeivieiieeeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeens 3,373,943 5,304,523 8,678,466 3,126,293
Recoverable power costs (NEt) ......eeeeveeveeeierienieriennns — 837,000 837,000 —
Long-term prepaid charges ..........ccoceeveeveveerienienieniennns 1,158 1,467,006 1,468,164 134
Capital assets:
Land ...coovevievieiieeeceeee 20,473,440 306,207 20,779,647 1,442,899
State highway infrastructure 78,418,144 — 78,418,144 —
Collections — nondepreciable...........ocevveeverierienenenne 22,682 27,473 50,155 554,898
Buildings and other depreciable property ................. 32,753,402 15,807,714 48,561,116 56,078,435
Intangible assets — amortizable ..........ccceevevverieniennene 2,630,788 433,466 3,064,254 1,784,908
Less: accumulated depreciation/amortization........... (16,142,867) (6,573,874) (22,716,741) (28,699,015)
Construction/development in progress............ooeeene 16,149,346 3,257,564 19,406,910 4,360,384
Intangible assets — nonamortizable 592,549 118,807 711,356 10,344
Other NONCUITENE ASSELS ........ccvviieieeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee s — 29,820 29,820 455,058
Total NONCUITENt ASSELS.......eovievierierierieeieieieresreeaens 145,447,052 26,820,797 172,267,849 78,033,636
Total assets..........c.oceevivviiierierieieieieieeeee s 255,910,813 45,189,390 301,100,203 96,750,307
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES........... 24,864,723 3,000,868 27,865,591 10,834,877
Total assets and deferred outflows
OF FESOUICES ... $ 280,775,536 $ 48,190,258 § 328,965,794 §$ 107,585,184

32 The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Primary Government

Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable.........ccoeuiveiereriiereiereieeeeeeeeeeas $ 35,908,393 $ 571,116  $ 36,479,509 $ 4,220,427
Due to component units.... 222,053 — 222,053 —
Due to other gOVernments...........ceceeeeeeeenienieneenenennens 10,817,194 326,574 11,143,768 —
Revenues received in advance............cccoeeevveeeieeeneennes 2,050,018 372,260 2,422,278 1,613,694
Tax OVETPAYMENLS......c.coveeiieiinrieierieeieeeeeeieee e 5,930,342 — 5,930,342 —
DIEPOSILS ..ttt ettt 460,966 — 460,966 1,146,004
Contracts and notes payable ..........coceeceeievierenenenennne 4,581 — 4,581 11,281
Unclaimed property liability.........ccooeeveeierieniinenennenne. 1,047,738 — 1,047,738 —
Interest payable............cc.c..... 1,119,817 62,135 1,181,952 24,424
Securities lending obligations.............cecevvevuerienenenenne — — — 991,052
Benefits payable ... — 527,078 527,078 —
Current portion of long-term obligations...................... 6,240,109 2,581,483 8,821,592 4,277,889
Other current liabilities..........ccoeveeieieieievieriesieeieeenen, 651,056 575,381 1,226,437 2,169,340
Total current liabiliti€S ............ccocveeeeievieviecreereereeneans 64,452,267 5,016,027 69,468,294 14,454,111
Noncurrent liabilities:
Loans payable........ccocevierereniinieieieeeeeeeeesie e 199,063 — 199,063 17,370
Lottery prizes and annuities............cceevevverueruereereenuennns — 682,929 682,929 —
Compensated absences payable..........ccocevverierierieneenene 3,666,981 206,770 3,873,751 364,726
Workers’ compensation benefits payable ..................... 3,958,475 5,131 3,963,606 488,169
Commercial paper and other borrowings ..................... 1,032,760 778,497 1,811,257 1,854
Capital lease obligations..............cceeuvnenne. 363,129 295,214 658,343 372,104
General obligation bonds payable 74,762,282 807,597 75,569,879 —
Revenue bonds payable..........coceeieirieienienienieneenene 14,912,983 13,275,970 28,188,953 22,973,611
Mandated cost claims payable.........ccccevvevuerienierenienene 1,815,450 — 1,815,450 —
Net other postemployment benefits liability ................ 69,441,716 14,765,563 84,207,279 20,355,755
Net pension Hability........ccccceveeirieieieiieieieeneseeene 81,299,874 8,730,246 90,030,120 18,439,837
Revenues received in advance............cocoeeevveeeeeeneenne. — 8,048 8,048 12,215
Other noncurrent liabilities...........ccecveevevverierienierierennene 2,128,019 268,122 2,396,141 2,976,451
Total noncurrent liabilities ..............ccoceevvvivieerreennnne. 253,580,732 39,824,087 293,404,819 66,002,092
Total liabilities ...............ccccccoevievieiiiiiceeeee 318,032,999 44,840,114 362,873,113 80,456,203
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES................ 17,468,047 4,587,487 22,055,534 7,179,642
Total liabilities and deferred inflows
Of TESOUNCES ........oveviiiiieiieieeee e $ 335501,046 § 49,427,601 $§ 384,928,647 § 87,635,845
(continued)

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 33
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Statement of Net Position (continued)
June 30, 2019

(amounts in thousands)

Primary Government

Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets .........oceeeeeriereriereenenns $ 112,279,950 $ 2,534257 $§ 114,814,207 $ 14,902,116
Restricted:
Nonexpendable — endoOwments ...........ceceeeeereereeneennene — 1,693 1,693 7,471,853
Expendable:
Endowments and gifts.........coceeveveriiieiienienenenne — — — 12,974,311
General gOVEINMENt........c.cevevuerereeieieierienienienee 4,176,720 192,993 4,369,713 —
Education ..........cceeevevveeieiiiicececeeeeeeeeere e 848,496 144,161 992,657 1,441,553
Health and human services .............ccccoeevieeeuneenns 3,424,992 2,047,041 5,472,033 —
Natural resources and environmental
PIOLECHON ..o 5,234,161 2,729,142 7,963,303
Business, consumer services, and housing............ 4,218,802 22,414 4241,216
TranSPOItation .........ceeervererrereeeeeereieressesseneenns 9,033,482 6,293 9,039,775
Corrections and rehabilitation..............cc..coeveeenne... 76,730 4,941 81,671
Unemployment programs............ceceeeververuervereennens — 7,798,582 7,798,582 —
INAENtULE ..o — — — 629,421
Statute.... — — — 2,067,910
Budget stabilization...........cccecveveceeeeieerierienieniennens 14,358,422 — 14,358,422 —
Other PUIPOSES ...vevvereeieierreerieeieiereieieieseesienieens — — — 17,875
Total expendable.............ccocvevivveiiricreiireiereens 41,371,805 12,945,567 54,317,372 17,131,070
UNrestricted........ooeeveeveeeierieieiecieciecieeeeeeeee e (208,377,265) (16,718,860) (225,096,125) (19,555,700)
Total net position (deficit)................cccoceeenenns (54,725,510) (1,237,343) (55,962,853) 19,949,339
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources, and net position ....................... $ 280,775,536 $ 48,190,258 $ 328,965,794 $ 107,585,184
(concluded)

34 The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Statement of Activities
Year Ended June 30, 2019

(amounts in thousands)

Program Revenues

Operating Capital
Charges Grants and Grants and
FUNCTIONS/PROGRAMS Expenses for Services Contributions Contributions
Primary government
Governmental activities:
General gOVernment............cc.eeeveeeueneerenieeneeeeenene $ 17,900,629  $ 5,755,165  $ 1,438,133  $ —
Education.......cccccoeveeuenennene 75,643,779 78,445 7,597,743 —
Health and human services.........ccccocvveeeveeennennn. 144,936,676 13,874,296 82,667,677 —
Natural resources and environmental
PIOLECHON ..o 9,774,290 6,644,917 290,509 —
Business, consumer services, and housing 2,133,480 1,206,126 157,518 —
TranSPOrtation.........ceeeeeeeveeerierieriereesseseeseeseeneas 17,022,071 7,093,122 2,274,694 1,561,483
Corrections and rehabilitation.... 15,153,502 10,993 75,588 —
Interest on long-term debt.........cccoeververierereenenen. 3,995,597 — — —
Total governmental activities............cccceeveeurnnen. 286,560,024 34,663,064 94,501,862 1,561,483
Business-type activities:
Electric POWET.......coviiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 913,000 913,000 — —
Water REeSOUICES .......ooovvvieiiieeiieeeie e 1,199,823 1,172,134 — —
State LOteTY....eveveereerieeiieieeeierieresieeeee e 7,435,755 7,473,452 — —
Unemployment Programs.........c.ccoccecevevereeecnicnnene 13,229,332 14,039,030 — —
California State University .........ccccoeevueerenerenencns 9,779,084 3,529,083 2,044,729 —
State Water Pollution Control Revolving ................ 49,860 95,703 12,504 —
Safe Drinking Water State Revolving............c..c...... 19,371 25,762 68,129 —
Housing Loan.......c.ccoceveviiiinicninininineeeeenen 54,402 60,002 — —
Other enterprise programs ..... 109,113 106,687 — —
Total business-type activities ...........c.ccevverrerrernenns 32,789,740 27,414,853 2,125,362 —
Total primary government................c.ccccuenen. $ 319,349,764 $ 62,077,917 $ 96,627,224 $ 1,561,483
Component Units
University of California...........ccocooveiverieenieeneenenns 40,906,746 25,681,303 10,437,522 59,966
California Housing Finance Agency .......c..cccccveeee 180,958 48,052 100,000 —
Nonmajor COMpPONENt UNILS ........eeveereereereeeeriesierienienne 2,222,698 1,062,891 723,827 32,279
Total component units.....................cccooeveeenaes 43,310,402 $ 26,792,246  $ 11,261,349  § 92,245

General revenues:

Personal INCOME tAXES .....cuveverrierierierieteeieeteeseeeetessestestesreeteeseeseessessessessassessesseens

SaleS ANA USE LAXES .vvieivviiirieeitie et e etee et ettt ete e et e e e ae e ete e eeteeeetae e eaveeeteeeeaaaeens

Corporation taxes

MOtOr VENICIE €XCISE TAX ...ooveeevieerieeeeeieeeeeeeeetee ettt ete e eeeete e e e eeeereeeseeeaeens

Insurance taxes

Managed care organization enrollment tax

Other

Total

TAXES. ettt e e e e et

general revenues and transfers.................c..occooeeviieniiniincseeees

Change in NEt POSILION......c..cuevuirieuiriiieierieirieeee ettt

Net position (deficit) — beginning, restated..................cccooceririniininnnneneee,

Net position (deficit) — ending.................ccoeoveieieiierienieeeeeeee e

36 The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Net (Expenses) Revenues and Changes in Net Position

Primary Government

Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units
$  (10,707,331) $  (10,707,331)
(67,967,591) (67,967,591)
(48,394,703) (48,394,703)
(2,838,864) (2,838,864)
(769,836) (769,836)
(6,092,772) (6,092,772)
(15,066,921) (15,066,921)
(3,995,597) (3,995,597)
(155,833,615) (155,833,615)
(27,689) (27,689)
37,697 37,697
809,698 809,698
(4,205,272) (4,205,272)
58,347 58,347
74,520 74,520
5,600 5,600
(2,426) (2,426)
(3,249,525) (3,249,525)
$ (155,833,615) $ (3,249,525) $§ (159,083,140)
$ (4,727,955)
(32,906)
(403,701)
$ (5,164,562)
$ 100,657,551 — $ 100,657,551 $ —
41,006,121 — 41,006,121 —
14,625,724 — 14,625,724 —
7,632,365 — 7,632,365 —
2,734,068 — 2,734,068 —
2,562,919 — 2,562,919 —
3,790,987 — 3,790,987 —
706,637 — 706,637 2,787,634
447,401 — 447,401 —
— — — 2,738,007
(3,930,906) 3,930,906 — —
170,232,867 3,930,906 174,163,773 5,525,641
14,399,252 681,381 15,080,633 361,079
(69,124,762) (1,918,724) (71,043,486) 19,588,260
$  (54,725,510) $ (1,237,343) $§  (55,962,853) $ 19,949,339

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 37
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Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds

June 30, 2019

(amounts in thousands)

ASSETS

Cash and pooled investments

TNVESTMIEIILS ...t e et e e e ettt e e e e ae e e e e etaaeeeeeaaaeeeeearseeeennnraeeeannnes

Receivables (net)
Due from other funds
Due from other governments
Interfund receivables
Loans receivable

OFRET @SSELS ...ttt ettt ettt e e et e et e e et e e eateeeaeeeeateeeaveeeaeeeeaeeeesseeenseeeesseeenreeanns

Total assets

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable
Due to other funds
Due to component units
Due to other governments
Interfund payables
Revenues received in advance
Tax overpayments

DICPOSIES ...venvrevreieeuieietesteeteetee st estestestebesbestesteeteeseessessessessessesseeseeseeseessensensesenseeseeseessessensenes

Unclaimed property liability

Other liabilities .......

Total liabilities
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources

FUND BALANCES

Nonspendable

RESIIICEEA ... et e e e et e e et e e et e eeaeeeeaaeeeaeeeeaaeeenneeanns

Committed ....

ASSIZICA .ottt ettt e b e b e b bt be bt ene et eneens
UNASSIZNEA. ..ttt ettt sttt b bbb e et e st e sbesbeebeebeene et eneens

Total fund balances

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and fund balances

40

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

General Federal
25,686,637 359,294
17,440,580 5,544

3,126,488 —
2,267,323 27,057,959
1,173,670 —
31,811 221,900
1,727 —
49,728,236 27,644,697
2,404,879 898,149
6,120,501 23,189,228
163,305 —
3,621,013 3,205,467
4,814,193 —
533,902 96,907
5,930,342 —
2,990 —
1,047,738 —
435,278 29,808
25,074,141 27,419,559
6,086,213 1,950
31,160,354 27,421,509
1,180,575 —
14,834,597 223,188
1,787,142 —
765,568 —
18,567,882 223,188
49,728,236 27,644,697
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Environmental Health Care
and Natural Related Nonmajor
Transportation Resources Programs Governmental Total
$ 8,068,483 $ 11,399,975  § 1,738,155 § 11,328,615  § 58,581,159
— — — 607,430 607,430
1,288,924 490,891 3,838,924 1,366,550 24,431,413
1,675,616 400,000 60,706 1,097,733 6,360,543
8,059 11,685 1,604,741 104,374 31,054,141
1,242,708 1,974,641 277,938 1,056,542 5,725,499
— 308,691 39,329 2,768,442 3,370,173
23,758 — — 12,718 38,203
$ 12,307,548  § 14,585,883  § 7,559,793 §$ 18,342,404 §$ 130,168,561
$ 711,564  $ 351,419 § 68,269 § 645,335  § 5,079,615
417,608 71,953 6,151,536 577,654 36,528,480
5,958 2,500 — 50,290 222,053
724,131 73,072 8,154 3,868,192 11,500,029
510,143 178,569 — 70,929 5,573,834
17,072 236,950 3,586 153,411 1,041,828
— — — — 5,930,342
2,865 791 — 453,038 459,684
— — — — 1,047,738
495,300 7,790 — 170,381 1,138,557
2,884,641 923,044 6,231,545 5,989,230 68,522,160
123,413 39,176 192,466 279,207 6,722,425
3,008,054 962,220 6,424,011 6,268,437 75,244,585
— — — 12,760 1,193,335
9,249,016 5,144,478 1,055,843 10,656,584 41,163,706
50,478 8,479,185 79,939 1,385,376 11,782,120
— — — 19,247 19,247
— — — — 765,568
9,299,494 13,623,663 1,135,782 12,073,967 54,923,976
$ 12,307,548  § 14,585,883  § 7,559,793  $ 18,342,404 § 130,168,561

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 41
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Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds
Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position

(amounts in thousands)

Total fund balances — governmental funds $ 54,923,976

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position are different from those
in the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet because:

e The following capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, therefore,
are not reported in the funds:

Land 20,471,360
State highway infrastructure 78,418,144
Collections — nondepreciable 22,682
Buildings and other depreciable property 32,078,487
Intangible assets — amortizable 2,555,064
Less: accumulated depreciation/amortization (15,610,269)
Construction/development in progress 14,366,849
Intangible assets — nonamortizable 592,549
133,394,866
e State revenues that are earned and measurable, but not available within 12 months of the end of the 6,722,425
reporting period, are reported as deferred inflows of resources in the funds.
e Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain activities, such as (10,237,045)
building construction and architectural services, procurement, and technology services, to individual
funds. The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in governmental activities
in the Statement of Net Position, excluding amounts for activity between the internal service funds
and governmental funds.
e Bond premiums/discounts and prepaid insurance charges are amortized over the life of the bonds (6,488,898)
and are included in the governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position.
. Deferredinflows and outflows of resources related to pension and OPEB transactions are not reported
in the funds. 6,999,421
e Deferred inflows and outflows of resources resulting from bond refunding gains and losses, 371,258
respectively, are amortized over the life of the bonds and are not reported in the funds.
e General obligation bonds and related accrued interest totaling $73,652,449, revenue bonds totaling (81,035,139)
$6,349,930, and commercial paper totaling $1,032,760 are not due and payable in the current period
and are not reported in the funds.
o The following liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and are not reported in the
funds:
Compensated absences (3,531,917)
Capital leases (434,876)
Net pension liability (80,093,801)
Net other postemployment benefits liability (67,413,651)
Mandated cost claims (1,815,450)
Workers’ compensation (3,912,151)
Pollution remediation obligations (1,203,566)
Other noncurrent liabilities (970,962)
(159,376,374)
Net position of governmental activities $ (54,725,510)

42 The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Statement of Revenues, Expenditures,
and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds
Year Ended June 30, 2019

(amounts in thousands)

REVENUES
Personal iNCOME tAXES......eeveeuieiieieieieriestesie st eeteetetetetestestesteeseeseeseensessessessessessesseeseensennens
SAlES ANA USE tAXES...eeuveririetietieiieieieieste st et et eet et ete st e testesteeseesteseestensensenbessesseesesseensensenes
COTPOTALION TAXES ...vvveuverrereereeteeeestetetestessesseeseeseestentensensessesseeseeseessensensensessessessessesseesensens
MOLOT VENICIE EXCISE LAXES....veevieureueerieierteriesieeetettetententetestesteeseeseeseensensensessessessessesseensensens

Insurance taxes........ccccoceeveveeeeieienienenenenenne

Managed care organization enrollment taX.........c.coeeeeerieererieinrerenenieenieereeeseeeeeseenens
ORET TAXES ..ttt ettt ettt ettt bbbt b ettt ettt ea et
INtergoVernMENtal..........cco.eoiiiriiiriiiiec ettt
LiCenSes and PEIMILS. ....ccuevvieuieeieieiieietesteste sttt ettetetetestestesteeteeseeseeneessensessessessesseeseeneennens

ChAr@ES fOI SEIVICES......vevirtietieiieieiieiestestestesteeeteteentesteteseste st e eteeseeseensensensessessessessesseensensens

EXPENDITURES

Current:
GENeral GOVEITIMENL .......c.eeuiieuieienietieteetete ettt ettt be et et e st ebe e eseebe st be s esesbeneeseseneas
EAUCALION ...t
Health and hUMAN SEIVICES ....c..oueveuirieieieieiiieieteieteee ettt neeneas
Natural resources and environmental ProteCtion ............ccoceeveerieireceirieieeieeeeeeeeenes
Business, consumer services, and NOUSINEG. ........ccerveirieirinieirieieeee e
Transportation ...........ceceeeeeeeeeneene
Corrections and rehabilitation

CaAPIEAL OULIAY ...ttt ettt

Debt service:
Bond and commercial paper retiremMent ...........cceueveirieieerieieeieceieieee e
Interest and fiScal ChATES .........oooieiiieiiie e
Total eXPenAItUIeS .............cccoeiiiiiiiiicieieeee ettt be e e e e ae e e sraeeeeens

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures............c.coeeveereereereeneeneennnne.
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
General obligation bonds and commercial paper iSSUEd ........c.ccveveecverierierenererereeeeiens
Refunding debt iSSUEH.........ocieieieieieierierecie ettt e e sreetesseeseenneneens
Premium on bonds 1SSUEH ......c..c.eveiiiriiiniiiece e
Remarketing bonds iSSUE ........cecveierierierieriececieteieeteese ettt ste st sseeseennenaens
Payment to remarket long-term debt ...........cccevieieieierierieicceceeeee e
CAPILAL LCASES ...vveereeienieiesieeieette ettt ettt ste et e st et et et e s e b e eb e et e eseesaensensensessessessesssesnessensans
Transfers in......
Transfers out
Total other financing SOUICES (USES) ..........cecuerierierierieririeieieieiee et ee e eens
Net change in fund balances.............ccocueierivieiiiiiiieeceeee s
Fund balances — beginning ...............c.cocoeiiiiiiiiiiieieeeeee e
Fund balances — ending ...............cccoooiiiiiiiiiieieeeee e
* Restated

44

General Federal
95,026,913 —
25,701,417 —
14,038,348 —

95,590 —
2,734,068 —
588,040 —
— 96,078,529
8,119 —
380,347 —
17,205 —
270,302 133
687,833 —
447,399 —
508,046 —
140,503,627 96,078,662
5,895,961 1,446,287
66,686,716 7,614,054
35,158,002 82,189,959
3,155,461 274,514
535,863 146,909
13,878 3,824,786
12,293,950 75,626
50,506 —
2,579,311 10,320
2,743,505 1,070
129,113,153 95,583,525
11,390,474 495,137
117,747 —
50,506 —
697,211 —
(5,871,863) (500,603)
(5,006,399) (500,603)
6,384,075 (5,466)
12,183,807 * 228,654
18,567,882 223,188

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Environmental Health Care
and Natural Related Nonmajor
Transportation Resources Programs Governmental Total

— 3 — 3 — 1,774,163  § 96,801,076
925,818 — — 14,458,391 41,085,626
— — — — 14,038,348
7,323,574 87,354 — 125,847 7,632,365
— — — — 2,734,068

— — 2,562,919 — 2,562,919

— 190,204 — 2,910,287 3,688,531

— — 2,973,863 815,358 99,867,750
5,180,473 424,396 — 3,573,957 9,186,945
165,125 131,117 4 279,439 956,032
1,580,243 2,650,726 5,337,523 3,555,725 13,141,422
12,957 117,217 5,803 639,864 1,046,276
165,973 244,146 39,762 183,429 1,321,143
— — — 1,357 448,756
111,112 3,462,333 398,464 1,114,632 5,594,587
15,465,275 7,307,493 11,318,338 29,432,449 300,105,844
449,290 173,136 2,809 11,295,663 19,263,146
8,260 2,010 207,495 552,653 75,071,188
2,318 57,095 11,354,509 15,781,706 144,543,589
194,498 5,193,577 186 251,541 9,069,777
96,344 154,306 — 1,079,987 2,013,409
13,635,140 409,565 — 9,969 17,893,338
— — — 1,686,190 14,055,766

— 165,089 — 71,892 287,487
1,421,031 1,904,861 97,490 4,431,812 10,444,825
47,235 21,009 424 1,158,110 3,971,353
15,854,116 8,080,648 11,662,913 36,319,523 296,613,878
(388,841) (773,155) (344,575) (6,887,074) 3,491,966
859,810 1,332,100 285,595 1,149,260 3,626,765
1,102,285 1,190,065 — 2,980,175 5,272,525
210,245 259,163 615 415,567 1,003,337
100,000 — — 311,340 411,340
(100,000) — — (311,340) (411,340)
— — — — 50,506

1,419 165,245 175,284 3,375,091 4,414,250
(1,636,020) (64,629) — (224,980) (8,298,095)
537,739 2,881,944 461,494 7,695,113 6,069,288
148,898 2,108,789 116,919 808,039 9,561,254
9,150,596 * 11,514,874 1,018,863 * 11,265,928 * 45,362,722
9,299,494 § 13,623,663 $ 1,135,782 12,073,967 $ 54,923,976

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues,

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental

Funds to the

(amounts in thousands)

Statement of Activities

Net change in fund balances — total governmental funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are different from those in the

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds because:

o Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the Statement of Activities,
the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation expense. In the

current year, these amounts are:

Purchase of assets
Disposal of assets
Depreciation expense, net of asset disposal

6,899,479
(4,558,778)

(885,952)

o Some revenues in the Statement of Activities do not provide current financial resources and, therefore,
are unavailable in governmental funds.

¢ Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain activities, such as building
construction and architectural services, procurement, and technology services, to individual funds.
The net revenue (expense) of the internal service funds is reported with governmental activities.

e The issuance of long-term debt instruments provides current financial resources to governmental
funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt is an expenditure of governmental funds.
Neither transaction, however, has any effect on the Statement of Activities. Also, governmental funds
report the effect of premiums, discounts, and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these
amounts are deferred and amortized in the Statement of Activities. The following shows the effect of
these differences in the treatment of long-term debt and related items:

General
Obligation Revenue Commercial
Bonds Bonds Paper Total
Debt issued (7,429,000) (710,910) (1,170,720) (9,310,630)
Premium on debt issued (984,981) (18,355) — (1,003,336)
Accreted interest — (31,749) — (31,749)
Principal repayments 8,526,724 920,445 997,655 10,444,824
Payments to refund/remarket
long-term debt 411,340 — — 411,340
Related expenses not reported
in governmental funds:
Premium/discount
amortization 308,457 22,791 — 331,248
Deferred gain/loss on
refunding (6,391) (2,795) — (9,186)
Prepaid insurance — (83) — (83)
Accrued interest 54,872 (5,234) — 49,638
881,021 174,110 (173,065)

46 The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

$

9,561,254

1,454,749

4,741,476

(121,684)

882,066
(continued)



Fund Financial Statements

e The following expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current
financial resources and, therefore, are not recognized as expenditures in governmental funds. Once
the use of current financial resources is required, expenditures are recognized in governmental funds
but are eliminated from the Statement of Activities. In the current period, the net adjustment consists
of:

Compensated absences (72,362)

Capital leases 46,385

Net pension liability (1,922,054)

Net other postemployment benefits liability (492,901)

Mandated cost claims 95,563

Workers’ compensation (82,203)

Proposition 98 funding guarantee 340,003

Pollution remediation obligations (62,377)

Other noncurrent liabilities 31,337
(2,118,609)

Change in net position of governmental activities $ 14,399,252

(concluded)

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 47
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Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2019

(amounts in thousands)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and pooled INVESTMENLS ....c..eovirtirtirieieieieieneste ettt st sttt eaes
Amount on deposit With U.S. TIEaSULY ........cccuerierereririenieeeteteee ettt
TRVESTMENLS ...ttt et st sbe bt na e et et
Restricted assets:
Cash and pooled investments

Due from other governments
Net investment in direct financing leases ...........coceeeririeieiieneneneseeeeeee e
RECEIVADIES (TT)....euvitiiiiieiieietee ettt ettt sbe e e
Due from other fUNAS ........c.ccoviiiiiniicc e
Due from Other GOVEIMMENLS ........ccueruiririieiieiiieieresere sttt
Prepaid THEIMS . ....ovieieeieiie e bbbttt
Inventories.........cccocevveerceenennee
Recoverable POWET COSES (T1EL) ....vevirueriiriieiieiieieierie ettt ettt
OheT CUITENE ASSELS .....c.veuiuiuieiiieiietee ettt ettt sttt et saene

TOtal CUITENE ASSELS .......vecviivierieeieeieeiet ettt et ettt ettt et e s e st e veereereeasensensesesesseereereens
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted assets:
Cash and pooled INVESTMENLS ........ecueierieriiriietietieieieteteterie e steste et eseeseeseeeessesessessessenen
TIVESEMENLS ...ttt et ettt et st e st e s e aeenaeens
L0ANS TECEIVADIC.......ouviieiiieieiieiieiee ettt ettt ettt ettt et e s e e besaeste e
TIVESTIMENILS ...ttt ettt st st e s bt e bt et e e b et et enee
Net investment in direct financing 1eaSes ............eceeereriieierierienieneseeeeeeeeee e
RECEIVADIES (L) ....veuvieieieeieiieieteeete ettt ettt et sbe b sae e s e st ente s esesessestenne
Interfund receivables

L0ans IECEIVADIE .......c.evuiiiiiiiiiiriiiite ettt
Recoverable POWET COSS (1C) ..cuviviruiriieiieiieieiesiesie ettt ettt re ettt esesesseseeene
Long-term prepaid ChAarZEs .......cc.ecvievireieieieieieiesieeie ettt ettt st sttt seesesaesaeenes
Capital assets:

Collections — NONAEPIECIADIE ........eveieiiriiiieiieiieieiete ettt see e
Buildings and other depreciable property
Intangible assets — AMOTTIZADIC. .........cevveiriiriiiriiirie et

Less: accumulated depreciation/amortiZation ............c.ecververuerverierieneeieeeneeseeseessesseseseenes
Construction/develoOpment N PrOZIESS ......ccveeveerieerierierieieriertertesseeseeseeseeeesessessessessessenee
Intangible assets — NONAMOTLIZADIC. ........ccuevveeiieieieieieieteieee et
Other NONCUITENT ASSELS ......veuveieretirtiriietietieietetestesteste et eeeeseessestessessessesseeseeseensensensensensenss
TOtal NONCUITENE ASSELS ......vvieeeieteeenieeieteeereeieteeet ettt st s eees et et se e et tese e seeeseneesenenens

TOtAl ASSELS..........ooiiiiiiiicee ettt ettt e e eteeeaee s

48 The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Water
Electric Power Resources

— 708,971
688,000 —
2,259 155,303
7,720 1,582
— 207,380
— 4,893
88,000 —
785,979 1,078,129
582,000 163,653
302,000 50,860
— 96,048
— 10,105
837,000 —
— 1,466,584
— 188,965
— 5,378,648
— 39,626

— (2,276,510)
— 2,078,333
— 111,900
1,721,000 7,308,212
2,506,979 8,386,341
70,000 296,613
2,576,979 8,682,954




Fund Financial Statements

Governmental
Business-type Activities — Enterprise Funds Activities
State Unemployment California State Nonmajor Internal
Lottery Programs University Enterprise Total Service Funds

$ 829,472  $ 3,637,655 848,213 1,359,674  § 7,383,985 1,682,455
— 3,717,242 — — 3,717,242 —

60,150 — 2,934,805 — 2,994,955 —

— — — 311,183 999,183 581,464

— — — 292,355 292,355 —

— — 11,868 — 11,868 486,012

569,546 1,187,994 197,183 44,723 2,157,008 88,093
4,333 22,209 11,177 32,258 79,279 608,191

— 40,477 — 196,665 444,522 14,007

— — 69,442 29 69,471 216,791

7,130 — — 3,240 15,263 69,969

— — — — 88,000 —

3,697 — — — 3,697 —
1,474,328 8,605,577 4,072,688 2,240,127 18,256,828 3,746,982
— — 103 — 745,756 143,195

— — — — 352,860 —

— — — 1,954,696 1,954,696 —

771,874 — 1,279,428 19,582 2,070,384 —

— — 208,216 — 208,216 7,829,752

— 80,281 392,398 — 472,679 —

— 839,806 — 12,439 948,293 38,536

— 35,591 59,491 5,199,336 5,304,523 3,770

— — — — 837,000 —

422 — — — 1,467,006 590

18,798 — 97,172 1,272 306,207 2,080

— — 27,473 — 27,473 —

321,168 28,556 10,053,368 25,974 15,807,714 674,915

— 244,118 147,961 1,761 433,466 75,724
(130,994) (70,834) (4,075,988) (19,548) (6,573,874) (532,598)

— — 1,179,125 106 3,257,564 1,282,497

— — 6,907 — 118,807 —

— — 26,666 3,154 29,820 —

981,268 1,157,518 9,402,320 7,198,772 27,769,090 9,518,461
2,455,596 9,763,095 13,475,008 9,438,899 46,025,918 13,265,443
73,060 89,316 2,456,788 15,091 3,000,868 514,390

$ 2,528,656 $ 9,852,411 15,931,796 9,453,990 $ 49,026,786 13,779,833
(continued)

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 49
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Statement of Net Position (continued)

Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2019

(amounts in thousands)

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:
ACCOUNTS PAYADIC.....cevveiititietieiietieietet ettt ettt e et et e sbeebeeseeseesaessessensessessassessesseans
Due to other funds...... e et h e bbbt h bbbt bttt ettt ettt na et ettt naen
Due t0 Other GOVEITIMIENLS ......ce.eeuieiieieieietit ettt ettt st sttt ebe st et et e be st e be b b eneenes
Revenues received N adVANCE.........cooueuiriiriniinirieieteeee ettt
DIEPOSIES .ttt ettt e et b bt ettt b e bbb eas
Contracts and NOtES PAYADIE ........coueiriirieirieieiere et
INEEIEST PAYADIC. ....cuieeieieieciieieetetetetet ettt ettt st et se st ent e e e besbeeneeneeneenes
Benefits payable .........cccooevevireninienen.
Current portion of long-term obligations
Other current liabilities.........ccccevcereeneenee.

Total current Habilities........ceveieierierieieierieree ettt

Noncurrent liabilities:
Interfund PayabIEs ........c.coueiiieieee et
Lottery prizes and annuities
Compensated abSences PAYADIC. .......ccuevviriiririeieieieieeee et ees
Workers’ compensation benefits payable ...........cooieveieierieniininieeeeeeeee e
Commercial paper and Other DOITOWINGS ........cc.eeieirieierierierenere ettt
Capital 16aSe ODIIZALIONS . ..c..eiververiieiieieieietet ettt ettt sbe e
General obligation bonds payable ...........coceoiireirineiee e
Revenue bonds Payable ..........coeiiiirireirieee e
Net other postemployment benefits Hability .........ccccvevverierierierinieieieieieeee e
Net Pension HaADIIILY .....c.ccieirieieieieieeee ettt ettt ste st eneene
Revenues received N adVANCE. ........coueiiiiriiniieiieiieieeete ettt
Other NONCUITEnt labIlItIES ... cc.eeuieieieieieiitieteeee ettt

Total NONCUITENt LHADIIITIES. .......eeivieiiiieeieeeeiee ettt ettt e e e e e eaeeeeaee e
Total liabilities

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources................ccccooevevieveninenieneennne
NET POSITION
Net investment in Capital @SSELS......c.eeuerreriirierieririreetetetertest ettt ettt ettt eieene
Restricted:

Nonexpendable — eNAOWIMENLS..........cciuiriririeiriiieerie ettt eeaene

Expendable:
CONSIIUCTION ..ttt ettt ettt s et b ettt eb st e e et e seeneeneneenens
DIEDE SEIVICE ...ttt bbbttt sttt
Security for revenue DONAS. .........ccuevuerieriiririeieeeee ettt
LLOTEETY ettt st ettt ettt sttt b et be et e bt eaaes
UNemplOyMENt PIOZIAINS .......euveueeeuietenietietesieteneeseeteseeteeesesseseesesesesseseeseeesessensesenseneasan

ONET PUIPOSES.....eneetineetietenietitet ettt ettt ettt te sttt et be st st e e et e seese et et ebeeseneebeeeneeseneanens
Total XPendable..........ccueiiuiiiieiee e
UNTESIIICEEA ...vveeveeieiieieeie ettt ettt e te e te et e et e esaeesaesstesseesseenseessaenseensesnsesssesssesseenseanes
Total net position (deficit)..............cocoverieiiiiieieieee e

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and net position ..........................
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Water

Electric Power Resources
1,741 172,753
238 52,356
— 289,335
17,000 13,794
832,000 191,376
850,979 719,614
607 57,470
— 25,703
— 689,984
— 10,685
1,711,000 3,075,542
5,393 771,286
4,000 527,333
— 149,976
1,721,000 5,307,979
2,571,979 6,027,593
5,000 1,489,012
2,576,979 7,516,605
— 783,286
— 383,063
— 383,063
— 1,166,349
2,576,979 8,682,954

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Governmental
Business-type Activities — Enterprise Funds Activities
State Unemployment California State Nonmajor Internal
Lottery Programs University Enterprise Total Service Funds

$ 56,297 40,702 $ 291,670 § 7917 571,080  $ 409,604
441,283 71,513 21,866 22,834 610,090 328,653

— 36,637 — 602 326,574 58,053

2,383 48,636 321,194 47 372,260 1,008,190

— — — — — 1,282

— — — — — 23,441

— — — 31,341 62,135 96,538

— 527,078 — — 527,078 —
1,072,103 — 331,874 154,130 2,581,483 599,348
268 44,963 530,145 5 575,381 17,933
1,572,334 769,529 1,496,749 216,876 5,626,081 2,543,042
12,979 — 133,419 21,999 226,474 1,111,083
682,929 — — — 682,929 —

— 59,019 112,521 9,527 206,770 144,835

3,013 — — 2,118 5,131 46,324

— — 88,513 — 778,497 —

— — 295,214 — 295,214 —

— — — 796,912 807,597 —

— — 6,682,306 1,807,122 13,275,970 8,424,622

231,853 599,198 13,128,996 28,837 14,765,563 2,028,065
126,042 300,413 7,733,251 39,207 8,730,246 1,206,073

— — 8,048 — 8,048 —

— — 97,466 20,680 268,122 29,629
1,056,816 958,630 28,279,734 2,726,402 40,050,561 12,990,631
2,629,150 1,728,159 29,776,483 2,943,278 45,676,642 15,533,673
51,222 123,830 2,888,140 30,283 4,587,487 433,379
2,680,372 1,851,989 32,664,623 2,973,561 50,264,129 15,967,052
208,972 201,840 1,336,605 3,554 2,534,257 534,879

— — 1,693 — 1,693 —

— — 43,570 — 43,570 208,099

— — 38,975 258,323 680,361 —

— — — 2,087,404 2,087,404 —

93,646 — — — 93,646 —

— 7,798,582 — — 7,798,582 —

— — 61,616 2,180,388 2,242,004 —

93,646 7,798,582 144,161 4,526,115 12,945,567 208,099
(454,334) — (18,215,286) 1,950,760 (16,718,860) (2,930,197)
(151,716) 8,000,422 (16,732,827) 6,480,429 (1,237,343) (2,187,219)

$ 2,528,656 9,852,411 § 15,931,796 $ 9,453,990 49,026,786 $ 13,779,833
(concluded)

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 51
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Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and
Changes in Fund Net Position

Proprietary Funds
Year Ended June 30, 2019

(amounts in thousands)

OPERATING REVENUES
Unemployment and disability INSUTANCE .........cc.cceruiririnieireieenieirteeenee et
LOtEry tiICKEt SALES ...euvevitieiieiieieiesteste ettt ettt sttt ettt ebe b
POWET SALES .....ectiiiieeiiceecece ettt ettt be et e e be e b e e b e eaaeesbeeteeeraeeteenreebeens
Student tuition and FEES ........ccviiiiieiicieciiceeeeee e e eaeas
SEIVICES ANA SAIES.....cuiiiiiiieiicie ettt ettt ettt et e et e e te e be et e e beebeerbeenaeeaaeeaeeeneas
Investment and interest

Total Operating reVeNUES ................c.ccooeuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiceee e
OPERATING EXPENSES

LOtETY PIIZES.....eeutentitertenieeitei ettt ettt ettt et b ettt b ettt st e b e e bt e bt be et et e benen
Power purchases (net of recoverable POWET COSES) ......erueriuiriririeirienieie et
Personal services
SUPPLIES .ttt b bbbttt et b e b bt sh e bbbt ee e nae s
Services and CRATZES .....cc.eeueeuieiiiiiereereree ettt sttt ettt
DIEPIECIALION ...ttt ettt b e s bbbttt et et
Scholarships and fellOWSHIPS .......c.couiririieieeeee e

Distributions t0 DENETICIATIES ......c..ooveiivieciiiiieee ettt et ee e e ereeereeeaeen

Total OPerating EXPeMSES.............c.cccuiiiiiieiieiieiteeie ettt e et et e et esteesteesteesteebeeseeseeseesseanes

Operating income (loss)
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Donations and GIants..........ceceeeeiirieriininieeeeee ettt b ettt
Private ZITES .oo.eeiiieiee bbbttt
Investment and INtEIeSt INCOMIC. ......c.eiuiiruereeeirieieterteec ettt ettt e e be s sbeseebeneas

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) ........................

Income (loss) before capital contributions and transfers.............ceceverereeieieiieciesienenene
TTANSTETS T11....ieiieiieieteet ettt ettt be st e bt e st et et e b e s besbesbeeseeneeneeneensensennas
TTANSTETS OUL......eeuieiitieteet ettt et ettt s b st e st et e et e s tesbesbe e st e st e st eneensensennas

Change 1N NEt POSILION .........eveevierierieriereeteete et et et e eteeteereereereereenseseeseeseereereerseseessesensenseesas

Total net position (deficit) — beginning............c..cccceviiiiiiiiiiiieceeee e
Total net position (deficit) — ending ..................cccooviiiiiiiiiiieeee e
* Restated
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Water
Electric Power Resources

— _
(5,000) 96,308
— 1,053,344
(5,000) 1,149,652
(16,000) 290,908
— 392,703
11,000 100,562
— 94,191
(5,000) 878,364
— 271,288
918,000 22,482

(918,000) (116,481)

— (204,978)

— (298,977)

— (27,689)

— (27,689)

— 1,194,038 *
— 1,166,349

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Governmental
Business-type Activities — Enterprise Funds Activities
State Unemployment California State Nonmajor Internal
Lottery Programs University Enterprise Total Service Funds

$ — 3 13,969,174  $ — 3 — S 13,969,174  § —
7,388,050 — — — 7,388,050 —
— — — — 91,308 —

— — 2,198,195 — 2,198,195 —

— — 607,889 111,648 1,772,881 3,575,293

— — — 145,792 145,792 24,348

— — — — 417,092

— — 79,131 — 79,131 —

— — 254,378 3,129 257,507 —
7,388,050 13,969,174 3,139,593 260,569 25,902,038 4,016,733
4,715,593 — — — 4,715,593 —
— — — — 274,908 —

99,664 372,865 6,634,906 59,128 7,559,266 1,129,432
14,080 — 1,589,485 44,152 1,647,717 30,633
730,177 51,665 — 48,395 941,799 2,391,932
18,815 17,263 379,786 1,087 511,142 65,006

— — 915,286 — 915,286 —

— 12,786,647 — — 12,786,647 —

— — — 34,135 34,135 364,505

— — — — — 129

— — — 7,239 7,239 —
5,578,329 13,228,440 9,519,463 194,136 29,393,732 3,981,637
1,809,721 740,734 (6,379,870) 66,433 (3,491,694) 35,096
— — 2,044,729 80,633 2,125,362 —

— — 55,003 — 55,003 —

85,380 69,856 204,813 27,326 1,327,857 5,263
(32,202) (892) (259,621) (38,610) (1,365,806) (2,331)
(1,825,224) — — — (1,825,224) —
22 — 129,674 259 (75,023) (112,651)
(1,772,024) 68,964 2,174,598 69,608 242,169 (109,719)
37,697 809,698 (4,205,272) 136,041 (3,249,525) (74,623)

— — 3,934,300 1,750 3,936,050 2,220
— — — (5,144) (5,144) (49,281)
37,697 809,698 (270,972) 132,647 681,381 (121,684)
(189,413) 7,190,724 (16,461,855) 6,347,782 * (1,918,724) (2,065,535)*
$ (151,716) $ 8,000,422 § (16,732,827) $ 6,480,429 § (1,237,343) $ (2,187,219)
The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 53
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Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds
Year Ended June 30, 2019

(amounts in thousands)

Water
Electric Power Resources
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from cuStomers/EmMpPlOYETS. .......ccuevuererieriereririeieieeesteste ettt $ (5,000) 1,092,325
Receipts from interfund services provided..........coceveeeeieienienenenineneeeeeeeeteeee e — —
Payments to suppliers.... (9,000) (478,709)
Payments t0 MPLOYEES .....ccueeuieuiruieiieiieieieierie ettt sttt ettt sbesaeas (1,000) (392,703)
Payments for interfund SETVICES USEd .........couerueruiriiririiieieieetereseeeee et — —
Payments fOr LOMETY PIiZES.....ccueeuieieieieieieriesie ettt ettt ettt s sneas — —
Claims paid to other than empPlOYEes..........cceverireriririeieeeeeeee e — —
Other 1ECEIPLS (PAYIMEIILS )...uvevieuieuiriieiieiteieterie e st sttt eitete et esbe st esbesbesbeebeeaeessestenseseesbesneas 10,000 129,892
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities ....................ccocoeevieiiiciniienenn, (5,000) 350,805
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Changes in notes receivable and capital leases receivable...........cooeoereoireneiiieiinenecene — —
Changes in interfund receivables...........ccoereereiriniecnccene — —
Changes in interfund payables and loans payable..........c.ccceoiieiiiiiiriineinieeeeee — —
Receipt 0f Dond Charges ..........ooveiieieiiieiieeee e 883,000 —
Proceeds from general obligation Bonds ...........ccceceeirieirieiirineineeeee e — —
Retirement of general obligation bonds............ccoeoeruirieirieiirinereeee e — —
Proceeds from revenue DONAS..........cocouirieiiiieiieieeee e — —
Retirement of revenue DONAS..........cceeciieiiiieiiecieeeeeee e (753,000) —
INEETEST TECEIVEM. ....uitiuietitet ettt ettt ettt ae st te e e s eeenes — —
INEETESE PALA ...ttt b e bbbttt s saeeae s (139,000) —
Transfers in...... — —
Transfers out — —
GIANES TECEIVEM ...ttt ettt b e bbb ettt e naeseesbesneas — —
Lottery payments fOr @dUCAtION ........ceveieieriereriirierieeeetete ettt — —
Net cash provided by (used in) noncapital financing activities...................c.c.cocco...... (9,000) —
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
ACQUISTHON OF CAPILAL ASSELS ...vievierierieieieierierie ettt et et et e st e sbesteeteeseesaessessessessessenseas — (649,078)
Proceeds from sale of Capital @SSELS .....c.evverierrieieieieeeieieieieste et ee s essesessesseeee e — —
Proceeds from notes payable and commercial Paper..........ccccoeeeeereirenieeneieeneceeceenes — 585,075
Principal paid on notes payable and commercial paper — (475,763)
Proceeds from Capital 1€ASES.......cueveieierieriirtietieieteeeetetetete sttt a s essesessesseere e — —
Payment on capital 1aSES .......cc.eovruirieiriiieiiieeiee et — —
Retirement of general obligation DOnds...........ccoeveiriiiiineinieee e — (25,975)
Proceeds from reVenUE DONAS. .........ooiviiiiuiiiieecieeee ettt ens — 405,805
Retirement of 1eVeNUE DONAS .........ccveieiirieriiiiicccieeetet ettt sbe e e — (129,400)
INEETESE PAIA .eovvinveiiciieiietieieiet ettt et et et et esteeaeese e st essessessesbesseeseeseessessassasensessens — (89,223)
GIANS TECEIVEM ...ttt ettt ettt ettt sttt ettt et e st st ettt esenaenes — —
Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related financing activities.................... — (378,559)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of iNVESTMENLS .......ccieieieieieieierie ettt ettt eee e sa s e sessessessenneas — (252,772)
Proceeds from maturity and sale of investments..... — 252,618
Change in 10ans 1€CEIVADIC .........ecieieieieieierie ettt ssesaesseeneas — 819
Earnings on iNVESTMENLS ........cieieieteireierierieriesieseeseeseeeetessessessessessessessessesssessessessessessensens 44,000 21,034
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities .................cccoovvvviriinieienenenenee 44,000 21,699
Net increase (decrease) in cash and pooled INVEStMENtS..........ccceveeieiieceereerierienieriesieens 30,000 (6,055)
Cash and pooled investments — beginning .................ccccoocvviiriiirieniininieceeeeeee e 1,240,000 878,679
Cash and pooled investments — ending .................cccooeririiieiienienieeceecee e $ 1,270,000 872,624
* Restated
54 The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Governmental
Business-type Activities — Enterprise Funds Activities
State Unemployment California State Nonmajor Internal
Lottery Programs University Enterprise Total Service Funds

$ 7,390,296 $ 13,983,271  § 2,787,552 § 353,686 25,602,130 14,045
— — — 3,678 3,678 4,629,351
(257,962) (19,091) (1,607,046) (92,368) (2,464,176) (1,935,490)
(83,759) (213,600) (5,397,993) (32,109) (6,121,164) (985,521)
(7,582) (12,997) — (2,846) (23,425) (15,704)
(4,893,812) — — — (4,893.,812) —
(505,915) (12,768,292) — — (13,274,207) (540,761)
565,907 (54,215) (637,510) (748,344) (734,270) (417,008)
2,207,173 915,076 (4,854,997) (518,303) (1,905,246) 748,912
— — (18,012) — (18,012) 328,554

— 96,232 — 2,409 98,641 —

— — (123,050) 6,937 (116,113) 174,928

— — — — 883,000 —

— — — 277,960 277,960 —

— — — (14,830) (14,830) —

— — 89,815 100,806 190,621 —

— — (29,069) (65,280) (847,349) —

— — 23,293 — 23,293 —
— — (29,814) (64,229) (233,043) (1,421)

— — 3,607,887 1,750 3,609,637 2,220
— — — (5,144) (5,144) (49,281)

— — 2,171,199 69,403 2,240,602 —
(1,815,267) — — — (1,815,267) —
(1,815,267) 96,232 5,692,249 309,782 4,273,996 455,000
(30,508) — (945,843) (6,864) (1,632,293) (760,913)

24 23 13,050 83 13,180 3,322

— — — — 585,075 —

— — — — (475,763) —

— — 9,087 — 9,087 —

— — (569,274) — (569,274) —

— — — — (25,975) —

— — 762,076 — 1,167,881 139,506
— — (1,654) — (131,054) (518,640)
— (892) — — (90,115) (575)

— — 54,020 — 54,020 —
(30,484) (869) (678,538) (6,781) (1,095,231) (1,137,300)
(39,821) — (10,573,282) (16,265) (10,882,140) —
52,207 (746,869) 10,327,619 14,898 9,900,473 —

— — — — 819 —

26,968 69,856 120,927 26,628 309,413 5,299
39,354 (677,013) (124,736) 25,261 (671,435) 5,299
400,776 333,426 33,978 (190,041) 602,084 71,911
428,696 3,304,229 814,338 1,860,898 * 8,526,840 2,335,203

$ 829,472 § 3,637,655 $ 848,316 $ 1,670,857 9,128,924 2,407,114
(continued)

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 55
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Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

Proprietary Funds

Year Ended June 30, 2019

(amounts in thousands)

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET CASH
PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating INCOME (L0SS)......euerierierieriirtieiteteie ettt ettt ettt st sttt ebe et et e e sbenbenas
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash provided
by (used in) operating activities:
DIEPIECIALION ...ttt ettt ettt et et st eeseesee st e st essesensessesseeseeseesnessensensensens
Provisions and allowances .............c..c.......

Amortization of premiums and discounts....
Amortization of long-term prepaid charges and credits

Change in account balances:
RECEIVADIES......ecuviieieieceece ettt ettt et ere e te e eae e aeeereeteereeneenns
Due from other fUNAS ........c.oocviiiiiiiiececee ettt e

Due from other governments.....

Prepaid items.................

INVentories . .......cocoeeeeeeiieeiieeccieeeee e

Net investment in direct

financing leases

Recoverable power costs (net) ................
Other CUITENT ASSELS .....vveeuiiieieiiieeteeeteeeteete et eteeteetee et eeteeeteesteesseeeseeseenseesseessesaseessesssenseas
Other NONCUITENE ASSELS ......eeevieerieeeiieeerieeeteeeeteeeeteeeeteeeeteeeereeeeteeeeseeeereeeeseeeereeeaseeeeseeens

Loans receivable............

Deferred outflow of resources

Accounts payable ..........

Due to Other FUNAS .....c.coviiieiiiiiie et
DUE t0 COMPONENE UNILS....c.eeveierieriieiieiieieieietest ettt ettt etete e stestestesseseeeseeneeneensensesesas
Due to other governments .......................
DIEPOSIES .ttt bbb bbbttt b e bbbt ettt benes

Contracts and notes payable......

Interest payable..............

Revenues received in advance

Other current lHabilities. ... ..ccoveeierieirieiriiieerct sttt
Benefits PaAYabIe ......c.cocviieiiiieieeee ettt
Lottery prizes and annuities ....................
Compensated absences payable...............
Other noncurrent liabilities.....................
Deferred inflow of resources...................

Total adjustments..........cceeeeeeereeienienierieneseseeeene
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities..

Noncash investing, capital, and financing activities:
State’s contribution for pension benefits and OPEB............ccccooeiiiiiiniiininceiciceee
Long-term debt retirement from bond iSSUANCE ..........cceeerieirieiieieiieee e
Amortization/defeasance of bond premium and disCoOUNt..........c.ccveveveeirieceeieecierierierienens
Amortization of deferred 10ss on refundings ..........ccceeeeieieieriieiienerenereseeeeee e
Unclaimed lottery prizes directly allocated to another entity ...........c.coecverieencccncnncnnne.
Interest accreted on annuitized prizes .......
Unrealized gain on investments.................
Interest accreted on zero coupon bonds ...

Contributed capital assets

Change in accrued capital asset purchases

Other assets paid through

long-term debt .

Other miscellaneous noncash transactions

56 The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Water
Electric Power Resources

— 271,288

— 94,191

— 18,369

— 129,892
10,000 (45,123)
— (166,769)

— 545
(16,000) —
1,000 —
— (100,231)
— (2,238)

— 78,235

— 72,646
(5,000) 79,517
(5,000) 350,805
— 109,080
53,000 27,287
27,000 10,302



Fund Financial Statements

Governmental
Business-type Activities — Enterprise Funds Activities
State Unemployment California State Nonmajor Internal
Lottery Programs University Enterprise Total Service Funds

$ 1,809,721 740,734 $ (6,379,870) $ 66,433 § (3,491,694) 35,096
18,815 17,263 379,786 1,087 511,142 65,006
4,027 — — (111) 3,916 —
— — — (458) (458) (91,239)

— — — — 18,369 129

26 — (22,618) (14,495) 92,805 13,817

(24,002) 2,566 (26,927) 656 (82,830) 10,299
(63) (8,098) (17,947) (4,725) (30,833) (72,426)

— (3,654) — (1,088) (171,511) 3,070

923 — 9,564) 62 (8,579) 16,976

162 — — 69 776 2,520

— — — — — 512,666

— — — — (16,000) —

3,552 — — — 3,552 —

— — — 977 977 —

— — — (582,675) (582,675) —

— 44,021 1,615,763 30,034 1,690,818 190,708
(10,751) 32,573 14,366 3,127 (60,916) (110,104)
(9,834) (45,632) — 12,211 (45,493) 172,232

— — — — — 98
— 2,023 — 5 80,263 (22)
— — @) — 4) (673)

— — — — — 866
— — — 1,038 1,038 (4,640)

206 11,531 (7,253) (14) 4,470 49,270

784 (11,851) (1,223) 471 (11,819) 830

— 18,356 26,225 6,122 50,703 18

387,513 — — — 387,513 —

— 3,842 13,936 551 18,329 4,611

26,094 38,191 (1,822,821) (16,235) (1,702,125) (246,003)

— 73,211 1,383,154 (21,345) 1,435,020 195,807

397,452 174,342 1,524,873 (584,736) 1,586,448 713,816

$ 2,207,173 915,076 $ (4,854,997) $ (518,303) $ (1,905,246) 748,912
(concluded)

$ — — 3 326,113 § — 3 326,113 —
— — — — 109,080 —

— — 32,159 — 112,446 —

— — 6,147 — 43,449 —

45,423 — — — 45,423 —
32,202 — — — 32,202 —
39,164 — — — 39,164 —
18,277 — — — 18,277 —

— — 7,825 — 7,825 —

— — 9,835 — 9,835 —

— — 89,670 — 89,670 —

— — 24,599 2,255 26,854 109,984

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 57
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Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Funds and Similar Component Units

June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)
Pension
and Other Investment
Private Employee Trust
Purpose Benefit Local Agency
Trust Trust Investment Agency
ASSETS
Cash and pooled investments ..........ccccevverrerresreenenne. 113,197 3,264,944 24,735,365 $ 4,284,516
Investments, at fair value:
SROTE-EEIII ..o — 15,857,095 — —
EqQUItY SECUTTIES ...cveueieieeirieiieieieiceieceieeecieene 4,700,510 317,399,932 — —
Debt SECUTTHIES. .. .vveivviieeieeeieeeceeeeeee s 2,931,223 161,788,992 — —
Real eState ......c.oovvveveerirrercineceeccreeeeene 289,136 73,473,072 — —
— 27,129,823 — —
1,443,868 73,492,132 — —
9,364,737 669,141,046 — —
Receivables (N€t) .....ccvevververieeiieeeeeieieiesesese e 29,131 9,160,099 — 4,584,617
Due from other funds.........c..coovevvvivviiiiiiiieeeeee 38 3,096,812 — 27,322,360
Due from other governments............cccccceeeerireennene — — — 140,365
Interfund receivable..........cccoooviviviiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee — — — 199,063
Loans receivable.........ooovivviiiiiiiiiiiieeceeeeeeeeeeee — 2,783,321 — 15,145
Other assets.............. 245,011 739,389 — 805,929
Total assets 9,752,114 688,185,611 24,735,365 $ 37,351,995
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES....... — 179,825 —
Total assets and deferred outflows
Of FESOUICES ... 9,752,114 688,365,436 24,735,365
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable..........oceverieieieieieeee e 47,643 5,426,723 — 3 21,235,401
Due to other governments..............cceceecverienenereneenne — 11 150,513 13,184,549
Tax overpayments.... — — — 7,613
Benefits payable ........cccoceverieieieieieeeee e — 3,632,592 — —
Revenues received in advance..........ccocevveveverennenne — — — 679
DEPOSILS .oveeneeiiiieiieieieieee et 245,011 — — 2,109,815
Securities lending obligations...........cccccevververeeneennen. — 27,111,004 — —
Loans payable.........ccecveierenienieieieieeiee e — 2,787,398 — —
Other Labilities ......ccvevereerierieririeieeeieie e 8,396 8,176,839 — 813,938
Total liabilities ..................ccoooviviiireireicieee 301,050 47,134,567 150,513 $ 37,351,995
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES........... — 138,056 —
Total liabilities and deferred inflows
OF TESOUTCES ... 301,050 47,272,623 150,513
NET POSITION
Restricted for pension and other
postemployment benefits...........ocoeveeverienierenerenene - 623,237,339 -
Held in trust for:
Deferred compensation participants..............ceeeeeene — 17,840,285 —
Pool participants — — 24,584,852
Individuals, organizations, or other governments .... 9,451,064 15,189 —
Total net position...............ccccovvevienenenineenene $ 9,451,064 $ 641,092,813 §$ 24,584,852

58 The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Funds and Similar Component Units
Year Ended June 30, 2019

(amounts in thousands)

Pension
and Other Investment
Private Employee Trust
Purpose Benefit Local Agency
Trust Trust Investment
ADDITIONS
Contributions:
EMPIOYET ...ttt $ — 3 25,574,412 —
Plan MEMDET ....c..oiieieiieiieeeeecee et n — 9,384,427 —
NON-CMPIOYET ...ttt — 5,334,860 —
Total CONIIDULIONS ......veiieiiiiiieeeeiecee et enaes — 40,293,699 —
Investment income:
Net appreciation (depreciation) in fair value of investments............. 102,226 29,921,335 —
Interest, dividends, and other investment income.... 441,212 11,757,940 526,689
Less: INVEStMENt EXPEIISEC.....vevirrirrierrerierieiesrersessesseesessesseessessessessessens (3,900) (2,072,615) —
Net InVEStMENt INCOIME .....oeovviiieeiiiiiieeeeeceee e eaes 539,538 39,606,660 526,689
5,148,758 — 27,306,652
— 169,317 —
5,688,296 80,069,676 27,833,341
DEDUCTIONS
Distributions paid and payable to participants.............cccceeeerverrereereennns — 42,794,148 524,819
Refunds of contribUtionsS...........cccvveeveieeieiiieieeeee e — 386,557 —
AdMINISIratiVe EXPENSE...c.veverrerrerrerrieieieieriesiesiesteeseeseeeeeessessessessensens 373 549,617 1,870
INEETESt EXPENSE...nvveniieiieiieiieieete ettt sttt ettt et saeenaees 143 105,309 —
Payments to and for depoSitors..........cccevveverierierienieeeeeeereeeee e 4,913,953 610,086 25,270,760
Total deductions ................c..ooooviiiiiiiiiiieicccee s 4,914,469 44,445,717 25,797,449
Change in Net POSITION .....c.ceverieuirieirieieiieieeee e 773,827 35,623,959 2,035,892
Net position —beginning..................cccooeviiviiiiiiiniiieceeeee e 8,677,237 605,468,854 22,548,960
Net position — ending.................ccoccoeveiiiiiiiiiiiicicececeeeeeee e $ 9,451,064 $ 641,092,813 24,584,852

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Statement of Net Position

Discretely Presented Component Units — Enterprise Activity

June 30, 2019

(amounts in thousands)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and pooled investments..........ccoceevererrerresrennenne.
INVESTMENLES ..o
Restricted assets:
Cash and pooled investments.........ccoceevververrerrerrennens
INVESTMENLS ..o
Receivables (Net)......ccccvevverierenenieeeeeeeeieiesie e
Due from primary government .............cccceceeervereeennene
Due from other governments.......

Prepaid items.........cccvevevennenne.
Inventories ................
Other CUrrent assetS.........cvevververerereeeeeeeeriesressessennns
Total Current assets...........oceeveereeeeveereereeriesiesiesneenens
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted assets:
Cash and pooled investments..........ccceceereerereneennens
INVEStMENLS .....ooiiiiiiiieieee e
INVESTMENLS ....eooiiiiiiiiciieeiee e
Receivables (NEt)......oo.eeeeieierieniininieeieeeeeeiereniee
Loans receivable .........ccccvevieiieniieciieieeiecie e
Long-term prepaid charges .........ccccoeeeeeeieenieniencnenne
Capital assets:

Collections — nondepreciable..........cceceverenenenen.
Buildings and other depreciable property ................
Intangible assets — amortizable ..................
Less: accumulated depreciation/amortization..........
Construction/development in progress.........c.cc..e....
Intangible assets — nonamortizable ........

Other noncurrent assets.....

Total noncurrent assets.............cceeeeeeeeeveeeeieeenenen.
Total assets...............ccceeveiiiiciieiieeceeeeeeee e,
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES..........

Total assets and deferred outflows
Of reSOUrCeS ............oocveviveieeiccieeceeeeeee,

62

California
University Housing Nonmajor
of Finance Component
California Agency Units Total
$ 601,721  $ 962,592 § 1,250,122 § 2,814,435
7,586,304 1,350 579,283 8,166,937
— — 288,562 288,562
— — 40,342 40,342
5,512,927 236,031 560,357 6,309,315
222,053 — — 222,053
155,027 — — 155,027
— 421 4,108 4,529
266,839 — — 266,839
405,740 295 42,597 448,632
14,750,611 1,200,689 2,765,371 18,716,671
— — 55,798 55,798
— — 70,584 70,584
33,336,738 306,927 2,247,768 35,891,433
2,676,077 — 225,406 2,901,483
— 2,701,477 424,816 3,126,293
— — 134 134
1,282,588 — 160,311 1,442,899
545,264 — 9,634 554,898
53,937,022 1,218 2,140,195 56,078,435
1,776,349 — 8,559 1,784,908
(27,506,088) (758) (1,192,169) (28,699,015)

4,194,338 — 166,046 4,360,384
— — 10,344 10,344
402,700 1,501 50,857 455,058
70,644,988 3,010,365 4,378,283 78,033,636
85,395,599 4,211,054 7,143,654 96,750,307
10,701,222 17,286 116,369 10,834,877
$ 96,096,821 $ 4,228,340 § 7,260,023 § 107,585,184

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



Component Unit Financial Statements

California
University Housing Nonmajor
of Finance Component
California Agency Units Total
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable.........ccceoveeirireeee e $ 3,389,278  $ 47316 $ 783,833  § 4,220,427
Revenues received in advance ..........coceeeeeeeeveeineennns 1,512,177 — 101,517 1,613,694
DIEPOSIES. ..vveuveeririerieeierieeteteiesiestesteereeeeereessesessessessesseas 901,639 242213 2,152 1,146,004
Contracts and notes payable...........ccceeveenerireneennns — — 11,281 11,281
Interest payable ........c.oceveirireineeeeee e — 20,434 3,990 24,424
Securities lending obligations ..........c.ccceeevvereerenirennens 991,052 — — 991,052
Current portion of long-term obligations................c..... 4,042,625 44,763 190,501 4,277,889
Other current liabilities ..... 1,973,562 27,993 167,785 2,169,340
Total current liabilities 12,810,333 382,719 1,261,059 14,454,111
Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated absences payable .........ccceceveeveerienennenne. 345,620 1,871 17,235 364,726
Workers’ compensation benefits payable 464,664 — 23,505 488,169
Loans payable ........ccceeeieieieneneneneeeeeeeeee — 5,106 12,264 17,370
Commercial paper and other borrowings..............c....... — — 1,854 1,854
Capital lease obligations ........c.cccevererereeeerienieniennenne. 145,803 — 226,301 372,104
Revenue bonds payable..........ccccooevininininiieniiieicnee 21,379,131 1,153,363 441,117 22,973,611
Net other postemployment benefits liability ................. 19,861,686 80,977 413,092 20,355,755
Net pension liability ........cccceeereiirinieeneereeeseee 18,117,941 44,771 277,125 18,439,837
Revenues received in advance ...........ccccoeeveeeveeeneeennee.. — — 12,215 12,215
Other noncurrent liabilities ...... 2,143,907 252,885 579,659 2,976,451
Total noncurrent liabilities 62,458,752 1,538,973 2,004,367 66,002,092
Total liabilities...............cccooovviniieiieieeeeeeee 75,269,085 1,921,692 3,265,426 80,456,203
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES................. 7,056,760 25,689 97,193 7,179,642
Total liabilities and deferred inflows
OF FESOUICES ... 82,325,845 1,947,381 3,362,619 87,635,845
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets .......cccceevevververrerererens 14,284,354 460 617,302 14,902,116
Restricted:
Nonexpendable — endowments ............cccecveruererernene 6,110,164 — 1,361,689 7,471,853
Expendable:
Endowments and @ifts..........ccceveevievienienienieninenee 12,947,525 — 26,786 12,974,311
Education.........cccoeevieviiniininieicieeeeee e 281,662 — 1,159,891 1,441,553
INAENtUIE......oooeviiiiiieeeeeeeee s — 629,421 — 629,421
STATULE ..ottt — 1,697,270 370,640 2,067,910
Other PUIPOSES....cveveieeerieriieeieieieieieteie e eee e — — 17,875 17,875
Total expendable .............ocooovvveerierieinieeieeenne 13,229,187 2,326,691 1,575,192 17,131,070
UNrestricted.......ooveiviiuieeieeieieieieeieee e (19,852,729) (46,192) 343,221 (19,555,700)
Total net position.....................ccooooeveviviiiieiiien, 13,770,976 2,280,959 3,897,404 19,949,339
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources,
and net position ................c.ccoovevveiierienenenene $ 96,096,821 § 4,228,340 § 7,260,023  $ 107,585,184
(concluded)

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 63
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Statement of Activities

Discretely Presented Component Units — Enterprise Activity

Year Ended June 30, 2019

(amounts in thousands)

OPERATING EXPENSES
Personal SErVICes ........coveirueririnieenieieieieesieeee e
Scholarships and fellowships ..........ccceeevieieieierennene.
SUPPHES ..ottt ens
Services and charges ...........coeeeveerereeenieineeeseeees
Department of Energy laboratories ............c.cccecevuennee.
DePreciation ........ccveeververieeeeeeerieiesieriessessesseeseeseeseseens

Total operating expenses................ccccoeeirereneneenene.
PROGRAM REVENUES
Charges fOr SEIVICES ......eovirviruirieieieierieriesie e
Operating grants and contributions............c.cceceveeeeneene
Capital grants and contributions............cceceeererereencene
Total program revenues................cccccceeeveeveeneennn.
Net revenues (EXPENSESs)......cveverrerverrerresreeerrennens
GENERAL REVENUES

Total general revenues ....

Change in net position.............cecveeveeveereereereereennene.
Net position — beginning ...,
Net position —ending................cccoooviiiiiinninies
* Restated

California
University Housing Nonmajor
of Finance Component
California Agency Units Total

25,906,166  $ 43268 $ 560,731  § 26,510,165
850,390 — 95,902 946,292
4,057,105 — 13,044 4,070,149
336,232 18,688 1,370,252 1,725,172
1,569,702 — — 1,569,702
2,100,228 207 77,306 2,177,741
767,385 46,935 36,098 850,418
5,319,538 71,860 69,365 5,460,763
40,906,746 180,958 2,222,698 43,310,402
25,681,303 48,052 1,062,891 26,792,246
10,437,522 100,000 723,827 11,261,349
59,966 — 32,279 92,245
36,178,791 148,052 1,818,997 38,145,840
(4,727,955) (32,906) (403,701) (5,164,562)
2,313,966 313,799 159,869 2,787,634
2,226,144 47,431 464,432 2,738,007
4,540,110 361,230 624,301 5,525,641
(187,845) 328,324 220,600 361,079
13,958,821 * 1,952,635 3,676,804 * 19,588,260
13,770,976  $ 2,280,959 $ 3,807,404 $ 19,949,339

64 The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accompanying financial statements present information on the financial activities of the State of
California over which the Governor, the Legislature, and other elected officials have direct or indirect
governing and fiscal control. These financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). The provisions of the following
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statements have been implemented for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2019:

GASB Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowings and Direct
Placements, as amended, is effective for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020; however, the State has
elected to implement this Statement for the fiscal year ended June 30,2019. Statement No. 88 defines
debt for purposes of disclosure in notes to financial statements and establishes additional financial
statement note disclosure requirements related to debt obligations in governments, including direct
borrowings and direct placements. Direct borrowings and direct placements are not offered for public
sale and have terms negotiated directly with the investor or lender. Except for minor changes in the
notes to the financial statements related to debt obligations, implementation of GASB Statement No.
88 had no impact on the financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2019.

A. Reporting Entity

These financial statements present the primary government of the State and its component units. The
primary government consists of all funds, organizations, institutions, agencies, departments, and offices
that are not legally separate from the State. Component units are organizations that are legally separate
from the State, but for which the State is financially accountable, or organizations whose relationship with
the State is such that exclusion would cause the State’s financial statements to be misleading. Following
is information on the blended, fiduciary, and discretely presented component units of the State.

1. Blended Component Units

Blended component units, although legally separate entities, are in substance part of the primary
government’s operations. Therefore, data from these blended component units are integrated into the
appropriate funds for reporting purposes.

Building authorities are blended component units because they have been created through the use of joint
exercise of powers agreements with various cities to finance the construction of state buildings. The building
authorities’ financial activities are reported in capital projects funds. As a result, capital lease arrangements
between the building authorities and the State have been eliminated from the financial statements. Instead,
only the underlying capital assets and the debt used to acquire them are reported in the government-wide
financial statements. For information regarding obtaining copies of the financial statements of the building
authorities, email the State Controller’s Office, State Accounting and Reporting Division at
StateGovReports@sco.ca.gov.
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The Golden State Tobacco Securitization Corporation (GSTSC) 1s a not-for-profit corporation established
through legislation in September 2002 solely for the purpose of purchasing Tobacco Settlement Revenues
from the State. The five voting members of the State Public Works Board serve ex officio as the directors
of the corporation. The GSTSC is authorized to issue bonds as necessary to provide sufficient funds for
carrying out its purpose. The GSTSC’s financial activity is reported in the combining statements in the
Nonmajor Governmental Funds section as a special revenue fund. For information regarding obtaining
copies of the financial statements of GSTSC, contact the Department of Finance, Natural Resources, Energy,
Environmental, and Capital Outlay Section, 915 L Street, 9th Floor, Sacramento, California 95814.

2. Fiduciary Component Units

The State has two legally separate fiduciary component units that administer pension and other employee
benefit trust funds. The State appoints a voting majority of the board members of both plans which, due to
their fiduciary nature, are presented in the fiduciary fund statements as pension and other employee benefit
trust funds, along with other primary government fiduciary funds.

The California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) administers pension and health benefit
plans for state employees, non-teaching school employees, and employees of California public agencies.
Its Board of Administration has plenary authority and fiduciary responsibility for the investment of monies
and the administration of the plan. CalPERS administers the following seven pension and other employee
benefit trust funds: the Public Employees’ Retirement Fund, the Judges’ Retirement Fund, the Judges’
Retirement Fund I1, the Legislators’ Retirement Fund, the Public Employees’ Deferred Compensation Fund,
the public employee Supplemental Contributions Program Fund, and the California Employers’ Retiree
Benefit Trust Fund. CalPERS’ separately issued financial statements may be found on its website at
www.CalPERS.ca.gov.

The California State Teachers’ Retirement System (CalSTRS) administers pension benefit plans for
California public school teachers and certain other employees of the public school system. The State is
financially accountable for CalSTRS. CalSTRS administers a hybrid retirement system consisting of the
State Teachers’ Retirement Plan, a defined benefit plan, composed of the Defined Benefit Program, the
Defined Benefit Supplement Program, the Cash Balance Benefit Program, and the Replacement Benefits
Program; two defined contribution plans; a postemployment benefit plan; and a fund used to account for
ancillary activities associated with various deferred compensation plans and programs. CalSTRS’ separately
issued financial statements may be found on its website at www.CalSTRS.com.

3. Discretely Presented Component Units

Enterprise activity of discretely presented component units is reported in a separate column in the
government-wide financial statements. Discretely presented component units are legally separate from the
primary government and usually provide services to entities and individuals outside the primary
government. Discretely presented component units that report enterprise activity include the University of
California, the California Housing Finance Agency, and nonmajor component units. Most component units
separately issue their own financial statements. In general, the notes to the financial statements in this
publication do not include information found in the component units’ separately issued financial statements.
Instead, references to the individual component unit financial statements are provided where applicable.

The University of California was founded in 1868 as a public, state-supported, land-grant institution. It
was written into the State Constitution of 1879 as a public trust to be administered by a governing board,
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the Regents of the University of California (Regents). The University is a component unit of the State
because the State appoints a voting majority of the Regents and provides financial assistance to the
University. The University offers defined benefit pension plans and defined contribution pension plans to
its employees through the University of California Retirement System (UCRS), a fiduciary responsibility
of the Regents. The financial information of the UCRS is not included in the financial statements of this
report due to its fiduciary nature. The University’s financial statements may be found on its website at
www.ucop.edu.

The California Housing Finance Agency (CalHFA) was created by the Zenovich-Moscone-Chacon Housing
and Home Finance Act, as amended. CalHFA’s purpose is to finance the housing needs of persons and
families of low and moderate income. It is a component unit of the State because the State appoints a voting
majority of CalHFA’s governing board and the executive director, who administers the day-to-day
operations. CalHFA’s financial statements may be found on its website at www.CalHFA.ca.gov.

State legislation created various nonmajor component units to provide certain services outside the primary
government and to provide certain private and public entities with a low-cost source of financing for
programs deemed to be in the public interest. California State University Auxiliary Organizations are
considered component units because they exist entirely or almost entirely for the direct benefit of the
universities. The remaining nonmajor component units are considered component units because the majority
of members of their governing boards are appointed by or are members of the primary government, and
the primary government can impose its will on the entity; or the entity provides a specific financial benefit
to or imposes a financial burden on the primary government. For information regarding obtaining copies
of the financial statements of these component units, email the State Controller’s Office, State Accounting
and Reporting Division at StateGovReports@sco.ca.gov.

The nonmajor consolidated component unit segments are:
California State University Auxiliary Organizations, which provide services primarily to university
students through foundations, associated student organizations, student unions, food service entities,
book stores, and similar organizations.

Financing authorities, which provide financing for specific purposes. These agencies include:

» The California Alternative Energy and Advanced Transportation Financing Authority, which provides
financing for alternative energy and advanced transportation technologies;

* The California Infrastructure and Economic Development Bank, which provides financing for
business development and public improvements; and

» The California Urban Waterfront Area Restoration Financing Authority, which provides financing
for coastal and inland urban waterfront restoration projects.

District agricultural associations, which exhibit all of the industries, industrial enterprises, resources,

and products of the State (the district agricultural associations’ financial report is as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2018).
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Other component units, which include the following entities:

» The University of California Hastings College of the Law, which was established as the law department
of the University of California to provide legal education programs and operates independently under
its own board of directors. The college has a discretely presented component unit, the Foundation,
which provides private sources of funds for academic programs, scholarships, and faculty research;

» The State Assistance Fund for Enterprise, Business and Industrial Development Corporation, which
provides financial assistance to small business; and

* The Public Employees’Contingency Reserve, which provides health benefit plans for state employees
and annuitants.

4. Joint Venture

A joint venture is an entity resulting from a contractual arrangement; it is owned, operated, or governed by
two or more participants as a separate and specific activity subject to joint control. In such an arrangement,
the participants retain an ongoing financial interest or an ongoing financial responsibility in the entity.
These entities are not part of the primary government or a component unit.

The State participates in a joint venture called the Capitol Area Development Authority (CADA). CADA
was created in 1978 by the joint exercise of powers agreement between the primary government and the
City of Sacramento for the location of state buildings and other improvements. CADA is a public entity,
separate from the primary government and the city; it is administered by a board composed of five members
—two appointed by the primary government, two appointed by the city, and one appointed by the affirmative
vote of at least three of the other four members of the board. The primary government designates the
chairperson of the board. Although the primary government does not have an equity interest in CADA, it
does have an ongoing financial interest. The primary government subsidizes CADA’s operations by leasing
land to CADA without consideration; however, the primary government is not obligated to do so. At
June 30, 2019, CADA had total assets and deferred outflows of resources of $39.8 million, total liabilities
and deferred inflows of resources of $23.6 million, and total net position of $16.2 million. Total revenues
for the fiscal year were $14.3 million and expenses were $10.1 million, resulting in an increase in net
position of $4.2 million. As the primary government does not have equity interest in CADA, CADA’s
financial information is not included in the financial statements of this report. Separately issued financial
statements may be obtained on its website at www.cadanet.org.

5. Related Organizations

A related organization is an organization for which a primary government is accountable because that
government appoints a voting majority of the organization’s governing board, but for which the primary
government is not financially accountable.

Chapter 854 of the Statutes of 1996 created an Independent System Operator (ISO), a state-chartered,
nonprofit market institution. The ISO provides centralized control of the statewide electrical transmission
grid to ensure the efficient use and reliable operation of the transmission system. The ISO is governed by
a five-member board, the members of which are appointed by the Governor and confirmed by the Senate.
The State’s accountability for this institution does not extend beyond making the initial oversight board
appointments. As the primary government is not financially accountable for the ISO, the financial

72



Notes to the Financial Statements

information of this institution is not included in the financial statements of this report. For information
regarding obtaining copies of the financial statements of the ISO, go to its website at www.caiso.com.

The California Earthquake Authority (CEA), a legally separate organization, offers earthquake insurance
for California homeowners, renters, condominium owners, and mobilehome owners. A three-member board
composed of state-elected officials governs the CEA. The State’s accountability for this institution does
not extend beyond making the appointments. As the primary government is not financially accountable for
the CEA, the financial information of this institution is not included in the financial statements of this
report. For information regarding obtaining copies of the financial statements of the CEA, go to its website
at www.earthquakeauthority.com.

The State Compensation Insurance Fund (State Fund) was established by the State through legislation
enacted in 1913 to provide an available market for workers’ compensation insurance to employees located
in California. State Fund operates in competition with other insurance carriers to serve California businesses.
The State appoints all 11 members of the State Fund’s governing board. The State’s accountability for this
institution does not extend beyond making the initial oversight board appointments. As the primary
government is not financially accountable for the State Fund, the financial information of this institution
is not included in the financial statements of this report. For information regarding obtaining copies of the
financial statements of the State Fund, go to its website at www.statefundca.com.

The California Health Benefit Exchange (Exchange), an independent public entity, offers health insurance
to individuals, families, and small businesses. A five-member board of state-appointed officials governs
the Exchange. The State’s accountability for this institution does not extend beyond making the
appointments. As the primary government is not financially accountable for the Exchange, the financial
information of this institution is not included in the financial statements of this report. For information
regarding obtaining copies of the financial statements of the Exchange, contact Covered California,
1601 Exposition Boulevard, Sacramento, California 95815.

The California Pollution Control Financing Authority (CPCFA) was created through the California
Pollution Control Financing Authority Act of 1972. The CPCFA is a legally separate entity that provides
financing for pollution control facilities. A three-member board composed of state-elected officials and an
appointee governs the CPCFA. The State’s accountability for this institution does not extend beyond making
the appointments. As the primary government is not financially accountable for the CPCFA, the financial
information of this institution is not included in the financial statements of this report. For information
regarding obtaining copies of the financial statements of the CPCFA, go to its website at
www.treasurer.ca.gov/cpcfa.

The California Health Facilities Financing Authority (CHFFA) was established by the State through
legislation enacted in 1979. The CHFFA is a legally separate entity that provides financing for the
construction, equipping, and acquisition of health facilities. A nine-member board composed of state-elected
officials and appointees govern the CHFFA. The State’s accountability for this institution does not extend
beyond making the appointments. As the primary government is not financially accountable for the CHFFA,
the financial information of this institution is not included in the financial statements of this report. For
information regarding obtaining copies of the financial statements of the CHFFA, go to its website at
www.treasurer.ca.gov/chffa.

The California Educational Facilities Authority (CEFA) was created by the State through legislation
effective in 1973. The CEFA is a legally separate entity established to issue revenue bonds to finance loans
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for students attending public and private colleges and universities, and to assist private educational
institutions of higher learning in financing the expansion and construction of educational facilities. A five-
member board composed of state-elected officials and appointees govern the CEFA. The State’s
accountability for this institution does not extend beyond making the appointments. As the primary
government is not financially accountable for the CEFA, the financial information of this institution is not
included in the financial statements of this report. For information regarding obtaining copies of the financial
statements for the CEFA, go to its website at www.treasurer.ca.gov/cefa.

The California School Finance Authority (CSFA) was created in 1985. The CSFA is a legally separate entity
that provides loans to school and community college districts to assist them in obtaining equipment and
facilities. A three-member board composed of state-elected officials and an appointee governs the CSFA.
The State’s accountability for this institution does not extend beyond making the appointments. As the
primary government is not financially accountable for the CSFA, the financial information for this institution
is not included in the financial statements of this report. For information regarding obtaining copies of the
financial statements of the CSFA, go to its website at www.treasurer.ca.gov/csfa.

B. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

Government-wide financial statements (the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities)
provide information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its component
units. The primary government is reported separately from legally separate component units for which the
State is financially accountable. Within the primary government, the State’s governmental activities, which
are normally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-
type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. The effect of interfund
activity has been removed from the statements, with the exception of amounts between governmental and
business-type activities, which are presented as internal balances and transfers. Centralized services
provided by the General Fund for other funds are charged as direct costs to the funds that received those
services. Also, the General Fund recovers the cost of centralized services provided to federal programs
from the federal government.

The Statement of Net Position reports all of the financial and capital resources of the government as a whole
in a format in which assets and deferred outflows of resources equal liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources, plus net position. The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which the expenses of
a given function are offset by program revenues. Program revenues include charges to customers who
purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function. Program
revenues also include grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital
requirements of a particular function. Taxes and other items that are not program-related are reported as
general revenues.

Fund financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, fiduciary funds and
similar component units, and discretely presented component units. A fund is a fiscal and accounting entity
with a self-balancing set of accounts. Fund accounting segregates funds according to their intended purpose
and is used to aid management in demonstrating compliance with finance-related legal and contractual
provisions. The State maintains the minimum number of funds consistent with legal and managerial
requirements. Fiduciary funds, although excluded from the government-wide statements, are included in
the fund financial statements. Major governmental and enterprise funds are reported in separate columns
in the fund financial statements. Nonmajor governmental and proprietary funds are grouped into separate
columns. Discretely presented component unit statements, which follow the fiduciary fund statements, also
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separately report the enterprise activity of the major discretely presented component units. In this report,
the enterprise activity of nonmajor discretely presented component units is grouped in a separate column.

Governmental fund types are used to account for activities primarily supported by taxes, grants, and
similar revenue sources.

The State reports the following major governmental funds:

The General Fund is the main operating fund of the State. It accounts for transactions related to resources
obtained and used for those services that need not be accounted for in another fund.

The Federal Fund accounts for the receipt and use of grants, entitlements, and shared revenues received
from the federal government that are all restricted by federal regulations.

The Transportation Fund accounts for fuel taxes, including the State’s diesel, motor vehicle, and fuel
use taxes; bond proceeds; automobile registration fees; and other revenues that are restricted for
transportation purposes, including highway and passenger rail construction and transportation safety
programs.

The Environmental and Natural Resources Fund accounts for fees, bond proceeds, and other revenues
that are restricted for maintaining the State’s natural resources and improving the environmental quality
of its air, land, and water.

The Health Care Related Programs Fund accounts for fees, taxes, intergovernmental revenue, bond
proceeds, transfers from other state funds, and other revenue used for the Medi-Cal program, medical
research, and other health and human services programs.

Proprietary fund types focus on the determination of operating income, changes in net position, financial
position, and cash flows.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. Operating expenses include the cost of
sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses
not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. For its proprietary funds,
the State applies all applicable GASB pronouncements.

The State has two proprietary fund types: enterprise funds and internal service funds.
Enterprise funds record business-type activity for which a fee is charged to external users for goods and
services. In addition, the State is required to report activities as enterprise funds in the context of the activity’s
principal revenue sources when any of the following criteria are met:

» The activity’s debt is secured solely by fees and charges of the activity;

* There is a legal requirement to recover costs; or
» The pricing policies of fees and charges are designed to recover costs.
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The State reports the following major enterprise funds:

The Electric Power Fund accounts for the acquisition and resale of electric power to retail end-use
customers.

The Water Resources Fund accounts for charges to local water districts and the sale of excess power to
public utilities.

The State Lottery Fund accounts for the sale of California State Lottery (Lottery) tickets and the Lottery’s
payments for education.

The Unemployment Programs Fund accounts for employer and worker contributions used for payments
of unemployment insurance and disability benefits.

The California State University Fund accounts for student fees and other receipts from gifts, bequests,
donations, federal and state grants, and loans that are used for educational purposes.

Nonmajor enterprise funds account for additional operations that are financed and operated in a manner
similar to private business enterprises.

Additionally, the State reports internal service funds as a proprietary fund type with governmental activity.
Internal service funds account for goods or services provided to other agencies, departments, or governments
on a cost-reimbursement basis. The goods and services provided include architectural services, public
building construction and improvements, printing and procurement services, goods produced by inmates
of state prisons, data processing services, and administrative services related to water delivery. Internal
service funds are included in the governmental activities at the government-wide level.

Fiduciary fund types are used to account for assets held by the State. The State acts as a trustee or as an
agent for individuals, private organizations, other governments, or other funds. Fiduciary funds, including
fiduciary component units, are not included in the government-wide financial statements.

The State has the following four fiduciary fund types:
Private purpose trust funds account for all trust arrangements, other than those properly reported in
pension or investment trust funds, whereby principal and income benefit individuals, private

organizations, or other governments. The following are the State’s largest private purpose trust funds:

The Scholarshare Program Trust Fund accounts for money received from participants to fund their
beneficiaries’ higher education expenses at certain postsecondary educational institutions.

The Unclaimed Property Fund accounts for unclaimed money and properties held in trust by the State.
Unclaimed money is remitted to the General Fund where it can be used by the State until it is claimed.

Pension and other employee benefit trust funds of the primary government and fiduciary component

units account for transactions, assets, liabilities, and net position available for plan benefits of the
retirement systems and for other employee benefit programs.
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An investment trust fund accounts for the deposits, withdrawals, and earnings of the Local Agency
Investment Fund, an external investment pool for local governments and public agencies.

Agency funds account for assets held by the State, which acts as an agent for individuals, private
organizations, or other governments. The following are the State’s largest agency funds:

The Receipting and Disbursing Fund accounts for the collection and disbursement of revenues and
receipts on behalf of local governments. This fund also accounts for receipts from numerous state
funds, typically for the purpose of writing a single warrant when the warrant is funded by multiple
funding sources.

The Deposit Fund accounts for various deposits, such as those from condemnation and litigation
proceedings.

Discretely presented component units consist of certain organizations that have enterprise activity. The
enterprise activity component units are the University of California, the California Housing Finance Agency,
and nonmajor component units. In this report, all of the enterprise activity of the discretely presented
component units is reported in a separate column in the government-wide financial statements and on
separate pages following the fund financial statements.

C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting
1. Government-wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus
and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when they are earned and expenses are recorded
when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Grants and similar transactions
are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

2. Fund Financial Statements

The measurement focus and basis of accounting for the fund financial statements vary with the type of
fund. Governmental fund types are presented using the current financial resources measurement focus.
With this measurement focus, operating statements present increases and decreases in net current assets;
the unassigned fund balance is a measure of available, spendable resources.

The accounts of the governmental fund types are reported using the modified accrual basis of accounting.
Under the modified accrual basis, revenues are recorded as they become measurable and available, and
expenditures are recorded at the time the liabilities are incurred. The State records revenue sources when
they are earned or when they are due, provided they are measurable and available within the ensuing
12 months. When an asset is recorded in a governmental fund statement, but the revenue is not available
within the ensuing 12 months, the State reports a deferred inflow of resources until such time as the revenue
becomes available. Principal tax revenues susceptible to accrual are recorded as taxpayers earn income
(personal income and corporation taxes), as sales are made (consumption and use taxes), and as a taxable
event occurs (miscellaneous taxes), net of estimated tax overpayments. Principal tax revenues are reported
net of immaterial tax abatements from programs that promote economic development and otherwise benefit
the State, such as the Film and Television Tax Credit, the California Competes Tax Credit, the Low-Income
Housing Tax Credit, and the Sales and Use Tax Exclusion Program.
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Proprietary fund types, the investment trust fund, private purpose trust funds, and pension and other
employee benefit trust funds are accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus. Agency
funds are custodial in nature and do not measure the results of operations.

The accounts of the proprietary fund types, the investment trust fund, private purpose trust funds, pension
and other employee benefit trust funds, and agency funds are reported using the accrual basis of accounting.
Under the accrual basis, most transactions are recorded when they occur, regardless of when cash is received
or disbursed.

Lottery revenue and the related prize expenses are recognized when sales are made. Certain prizes are
payable in deferred installments. Such liabilities are recorded at the present value of amounts payable in
the future.

Discretely presented component units are accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus
and the accrual basis of accounting.

D. Cash and Investments

The State considers cash and pooled investments, for the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, as cash
and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand; deposits in the State’s
pooled investment program; restricted cash and pooled investments for debt service, construction, and
operations; restricted cash on deposit with fiscal agents (for example, revenue bond trustees); and highly
liquid investments with an original maturity date of three months or less.

The State reports investments at fair value, as prescribed by GAAP. Additional information on the State’s
investments and fair value measurement can be found in Note 3, Deposits and Investments.

E. Receivables

Amounts are aggregated into a single receivables account net of allowance for uncollectible amounts. The
detail of the primary government’s accounts receivable can be found in Note 4, Accounts Receivable.

F. Inventories

Inventories of supplies are reported at cost and inventories held for resale are stated at the lower of average
cost or market. In the government-wide financial statements, inventories for both governmental and
business-type activities are expensed when they are consumed and unused inventories are reported as an
asset on the Statement of Net Position. In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report
inventories as expenditures when purchased, and proprietary funds report inventories as expenditures when
consumed. The discretely presented component units have inventory policies similar to those of the primary
government.

G. Net Investment in Direct Financing Leases

The State Public Works Board accounts for its activities in the Public Buildings Construction Fund, an
internal service fund, and has entered into lease-purchase agreements with various other primary
government agencies and certain local agencies. The payments from these leases are used to satisfy the
principal and interest requirements of revenue bonds issued by the State Public Works Board to finance
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the cost of projects such as acquisition and construction of facilities and equipment. Upon expiration of
these leases, title to the facilities and projects transfers to the primary government agency or the local
agency. The State Public Works Board records the net investment in direct financing leases at the net present
value of the minimum lease payments in the internal service fund financial statements. As the majority of
this lease receivable is from governmental funds, it is eliminated within the governmental activities column
of the government-wide Statement of Net Position.

The California State University (CSU) system accounts for its lease activities in the California State
University Fund, a major enterprise fund, and has entered into 30-year capital lease agreements with various
auxiliary organizations. These agreements lease existing and newly constructed facilities to the CSU
Auxiliary Organizations. A portion of the proceeds from certain revenue bonds issued by CSU were used
to finance the construction of these facilities.

H. Long-term Prepaid Charges

The long-term prepaid charges account in the enterprise funds primarily represents operating and
maintenance costs that will be recognized in the Water Resources Fund as expenses over the remaining life
of long-term state water supply contracts. These costs are billable in future years. In addition, the account
includes unbilled interest earnings on unrecovered capital costs that are recorded as long-term prepaid
charges. These charges are recognized when billed in the future years under the terms of water supply
contracts. Long-term prepaid charges are also included in the State Lottery Fund. These prepaid charges
are incurred in connection with certain contracts that extend beyond a one-year period, which are amortized
as expenses over the remaining life of the contracts. The long-term prepaid charges for the Public Buildings
Construction Fund, an internal service fund, include prepaid insurance costs on revenue bonds issued. In
the government-wide financial statements, the prepaid charges for governmental activities include prepaid
insurance costs on revenue bonds issued.

I. Capital Assets

Capital assets are categorized into land, state highway infrastructure, collections, buildings and other
depreciable property, intangible assets, and construction in progress. The buildings and other depreciable
property account includes buildings, improvements other than buildings, equipment, certain infrastructure
assets, certain books, and other capitalized and depreciable property. Intangible assets include computer
software, land-use rights, patents, copyrights, and trademarks. The value of the capital assets, including
the related accumulated depreciation and amortization, is reported in the applicable governmental, business-
type, or component unit activities columns in the government-wide Statement of Net Position.

The primary government has a large collection of historical and contemporary treasures that have important
documentary and artistic value. These assets are not capitalized or depreciated because they are cultural
resources and cannot reasonably be valued and/or the assets have inexhaustible useful lives. These treasures
and works of art include furnishings, portraits and other paintings, books, statues, photographs, and
miscellaneous artifacts. These collections meet the conditions for exemption from capitalization because
the collections are held for public exhibition, education, or research in furtherance of public service, rather
than financial gain; protected, kept unencumbered, cared for, and preserved; and subject to an organizational
policy that requires the proceeds from sales of collection items to be used to acquire other items for
collections.
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In general, capital assets of the primary government are defined as assets that have a normal useful life of
at least one year and a unit cost of at least $5,000. These assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated
historical cost, including all costs related to the acquisition. Donated capital assets, donated works of art
and similar items, and capital assets received in a service concession arrangement are recorded at acquisition
value on the date received. Major capital asset outlays are capitalized as projects are constructed.
Buildings and other depreciable or amortizable capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method
with no salvage value for governmental activities. Generally, buildings and other improvements are
depreciated over 40 years, equipment is depreciated over 5 years, and intangible assets are amortized over
10 to 20 years. Depreciable or amortizable assets of business-type activities are depreciated or amortized
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful or service lives, ranging from 1 to 100 years.

California has elected to use the modified approach for capitalizing the infrastructure assets of the state
highway system. The state highway system is maintained by the California Department of Transportation.
By using the modified approach, the infrastructure assets of the state highway system are not depreciated
and all expenditures made for those assets, except for additions and improvements, are expensed in the
period incurred. All additions and improvements made after June 30, 2001, are capitalized. All infrastructure
assets that are related to projects completed prior to July 1,2001, are recorded at the historical costs contained
in annual reports of the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials and the Federal
Highway Administration.

The capital assets of the discretely presented component units are reported at cost at the date of acquisition
or at fair market value at the date of donation, in the case of gifts. They are depreciated or amortized over
their estimated useful service lives.

J. Long-term Obligations

Long-term obligations consist of unmatured general obligation bonds, unmatured revenue bonds, capital
lease obligations, certificates of participation, commercial paper, net pension liability, net other
postemployment benefits liability, employees’ compensated absences and workers’ compensation claims,
pollution remediation obligations, amounts owed for lawsuits, reimbursement for costs mandated by the
State, outstanding Proposition 98 funding guarantee owed to schools, the liability for lottery prizes and
annuities, loans from other governments, and the primary government’s share of the University of
California’s pension liability that is due in more than one year. In the government-wide financial statements,
the obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type activities,
and component units columns of the Statement of Net Position. The current portion—amount due within
one year—of the long-term obligations is reported under current liabilities.

Pollution remediation obligations are recorded by the State when one or more of the GASB Statement No. 49
obligating events have occurred and when a reasonable estimate of the remediation cost is available. These
liabilities are measured using actual contract costs, where no change in cost is expected, or the expected
cash flow technique. The remediation obligation estimates that appear in this report are subject to change
over time. Costs may vary due to price fluctuations, changes in technology, changes in potential responsible
parties, results of environmental studies, changes to statutes or regulations, and other factors that could
result in revisions to these estimates. Prospective recoveries from responsible parties may reduce the State’s
obligation.

Bond premiums and discounts for business-type activities and component units are deferred and amortized
over the life of the bonds. In these instances, bonds payable is reported net of the applicable premium and
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discount. Bond premiums and discounts for governmental funds are reported as other financing sources
(uses). However, in the government-wide financial statements, the bonds payable for governmental
activities is reported net of the applicable unamortized premium and discount. Bond issuance costs,
excluding prepaid insurance, are expensed when incurred.

With advance approval from the Legislature, certain authorities and state agencies may issue revenue bonds.
Principal and interest on revenue bonds are payable from the pledged revenues of the respective funds,
building authorities, and agencies. The General Fund has no legal liability for payment of principal and
interest on revenue bonds. With the exception of certain special revenue funds (Transportation and the
Golden State Tobacco Securitization Corporation) and the building authorities capital projects fund, the
liability for revenue bonds is recorded in the respective fund.

K. Compensated Absences

The government-wide financial statements report both the current and the noncurrent liabilities for
compensated absences, which are vested unpaid vacation, annual leave, and other paid leave programs.
However, unused sick-leave balances are not included in the compensated absences because they do not
vest to employees. In the governmental fund financial statements, only the compensated absences liability
for employees who have left state service and have unused reimbursable leave at fiscal year-end is included.
The amounts of vested unpaid vacation and annual leave accumulated by state employees are accrued in
proprietary funds when incurred. In the discretely presented component units, the compensated absences
are accounted for in the same manner as in the proprietary funds of the primary government.

L. Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources

The government-wide and fund financial statements report deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources.

1. Deferred Outflows of Resources

Deferred outflows of resources are the consumption of assets that are applicable to future reporting periods.
Deferred outflows of resources are presented separately after “Total Assets” in the Balance Sheet and
Statement of Net Position.

Deferred outflows of resources consist of the following transactions:

» Loss on Refunding of Debt: The defeasance of previously outstanding general obligation and revenue
bonds results in deferred refunding losses for governmental activities, business-type activities, and
component units. These deferred losses are recognized as a component of interest expense over the
remaining life of the old debt or the life of the new debt, whichever is shorter.

* Decrease in Fair Value of Hedging Derivatives: Negative changes in the fair value of hedging
derivatives are reported for component units.

» Net Pension Liability: Increases in net pension liability that are not recognized in pension expense
for the reporting period are reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions. Differences
between expected and actual experience with regard to economic or demographic factors; changes
of assumptions about future economic or demographic factors, or of other inputs used by the actuaries
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to determine total pension liability; and increases in the State’s proportionate share of net pension
liability for plans that have a special funding situation, such as CalSTRS, are all recognized in pension
expense over the average of the expected remaining service lives of participating employees. A
deferred outflow of resources is also reported when projected earnings on pension plan investments
exceed actual earnings, with the net difference amortized to pension expense over a five-year period
beginning in the current reporting period. Employer contributions, and state contributions in the case
of CalSTRS’ special funding situation, made subsequent to the measurement date are reported as
deferred outflows of resources related to pensions and reduce net pension liability in the following
year. Deferred outflows of resources related to net pension liability are reported for governmental
activities, business-type activities, fiduciary funds, and component units.

Net Other Postemployment Benefits Liability: Increases in net OPEB liability that are not recognized
in OPEB expense for the reporting period are reported as deferred outflows of resources related to
OPEB. Difterences between expected and actual experience with regard to economic or demographic
factors; changes of assumptions about future economic or demographic factors, or of other inputs
used by the actuaries to determine total OPEB liability; and differences between the actual and
proportionate share of OPEB contribution amounts, are all recognized as OPEB expense over the
average of the expected remaining service lives of participating employees. A deferred outflow of
resources is also reported when projected earnings on OPEB plan investments exceed actual earnings,
with the net difference amortized to OPEB expense over a five-year period beginning in the current
reporting period. Employer contributions made subsequent to the measurement date are reported as
deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB and reduce net OPEB liability in the following year.
Deferred outflows of resources related to net OPEB liability are reported for governmental activities,
business-type activities, fiduciary funds, and component units.

2. Deferred Inflows of Resources

Deferred inflows of resources are the acquisition of assets that are applicable to future reporting periods.
Deferred inflows of resources are presented separately after “Total Liabilities” in the Balance Sheet and
Statement of Net Position.

The State’s deferred inflows of resources consist of the following transactions:
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Unavailable Revenues: Governmental funds report deferred inflows of resources for earned and
measurable revenue from long-term receivables that is not available within 12 months of the end of
the reporting period. These deferred amounts are recognized as revenue in the periods that they become
available.

Gain on Refunding of Debt: The defeasance of previously outstanding general obligation and revenue
bonds results in deferred refunding gains for governmental activities and discretely presented
component units. These deferred gains are recognized as a component of interest expense over the
remaining life of the old debt or the life of the new debt, whichever is shorter.

Service Concession Arrangements: The State and its component units have entered into service
concession arrangements with third parties for park facility services, student housing, and certain
other services. The upfront payment received or present value of installment payments expected to
be received from the third parties are reported as deferred inflows of resources.
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» Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements: The State and its discretely presented component units have
entered into irrevocable split-interest agreements with third parties to receive donations of monetary
assets and real property. The value of assets received or expected to be received from the third parties
are reported as deferred inflows of resources.

» Net Pension Liability: Reductions in net pension liability that are not recognized in pension expense
for the reporting period are reported as deferred inflows of resources related to pensions. Differences
between expected and actual experience with regard to economic or demographic factors; changes
of assumptions about future economic or demographic factors, or of other inputs used by the actuaries
to determine total pension liability; and decreases in the State’s proportionate share of net pension
liability for plans that have a special funding situation, such as CalSTRS, are all recognized against
pension expense over the average of the expected remaining service lives of participating employees.
A deferred inflow of resources is also reported when actual earnings on pension plan investments
exceed projected earnings, with the net difference amortized against pension expense over a five-
year period beginning in the current reporting period. Deferred inflows of resources related to net
pension liability are reported for governmental activities, business-type activities, fiduciary funds,
and component units.

* Net Other Postemployment Benefits Liability: Reductions in net OPEB liability that are not recognized
in OPEB expense for the reporting period are reported as deferred inflows of resources related to
OPEB. Difterences between expected and actual experience with regard to economic or demographic
factors; changes of assumptions about future economic or demographic factors, or of other inputs
used by the actuaries to determine total OPEB liability; and differences between the actual and
proportionate share of OPEB contribution amounts, are all recognized against OPEB expense over
the average of the expected remaining service lives of participating employees. A deferred inflow of
resources is also reported when actual earnings on OPEB plan investments exceed projected earnings,
with the net difference amortized against OPEB expense over a five-year period beginning in the
current reporting period. Deferred inflows of resources related to net OPEB liability are reported for
governmental activities, business-type activities, fiduciary funds, and component units.

» Other Deferred Inflows of Resources: Revenues generated from current rates charged by regulated
business-type activities that are intended to recover costs expected to be incurred in the future are
reported in the government-wide Statement of Net Position. A component unit’s sale of future royalty
payments and nonexchange transactions are reported as a deferred inflow of resources.

M. Nonmajor Enterprise Segment Information

Three nonmajor enterprise fund segments are displayed discretely in the Combining Statement of Net
Position; the Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position; and the
Combining Statement of Cash Flows of the nonmajor enterprise funds. A segment is an identifiable activity
reported as or within an enterprise fund or another stand-alone entity for which debt is outstanding and a
revenue stream has been pledged in support of that debt. In addition, to qualify as a segment, an activity
must be subject to an external requirement to separately account for revenues, expenses, gains and losses,
assets and deferred outflows of resources, and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. All of the
activities reported for the fund segments listed below meet these requirements.

State Water Pollution Control Revolving Fund: Interest charged on loans to communities for construction
of water pollution control facilities and projects.
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Safe Drinking Water State Revolving Fund: Interest charged on loans to communities for construction
of water systems for drinking water infrastructure projects.

Housing Loan Fund: Interest payments from low-interest, long-term farm and home mortgage loan
contracts to eligible veterans living in California.

N. Net Position and Fund Balance

The difference between fund assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of
resources is called “net position” on the government-wide financial statements, the proprietary and fiduciary
fund statements, and the component unit statements; it is called “fund balance” on the governmental fund
statements.

1. Net Position
The government-wide financial statements include the following categories of net position:

Net investment in capital assets represents capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by
the outstanding debt attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets.

Restricted net position results from transactions with purpose restrictions and is designated as either
nonexpendable or expendable. Nonexpendable restricted net position is subject to externally imposed
restrictions that must be retained in perpetuity. Expendable restricted net position is subject to externally
imposed restrictions that can be fulfilled by actions of the State. As of June 30, 2019, the government-
wide financial statements show restricted net position for the primary government of $54.3 billion, of
which $9.4 billion is due to enabling legislation.

Unrestricted net position is neither restricted nor invested in capital assets.
2. Fund Balance

In the fund financial statements, proprietary funds include categories of net position similar to those in the
government-wide financial statements. Fund balance amounts for governmental funds are reported as
nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned, or unassigned.

Nonspendable fund balance includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are not in spendable
form (inventories; prepaid amounts; long-term portion of loans or notes receivable; or property held
for resale unless the proceeds are restricted, committed, or assigned) or they are legally or contractually
required to remain intact.

Restricted fund balance has constraints placed upon the use of the resources either by an external party
(creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws and regulations of other governments) or through a
constitutional provision or enabling legislation.

Committed fund balance can be used only for specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by state
law as adopted by the California State Legislature. The state law that commits fund balance to a specific
purpose must have been adopted prior to the end of the reporting period, but the amount subject to the
constraint may be determined in a subsequent period. Committed fund balance incorporates contractual
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obligations to the extent that existing resources in the fund have been specifically committed for use
in satisfying those contractual requirements.

Assigned fund balance: California does not have a formal policy to delegate authority to assign resources.
However, fund balance can be classified as assigned when a purchase order creates an outstanding
encumbrance amount, unless the purchase order relates to restricted or committed resources.
Furthermore, in governmental funds created by state law for a specific purpose, other than the General
Fund, all resources that are not reported as nonspendable, restricted, or committed are classified as
assigned for the purpose of the respective funds.

Unassigned fund balance is the residual amount of the General Fund not included in the four
classifications described above. In other governmental funds in which expenditures incurred for specific
purposes exceeded amounts restricted, committed, or assigned to those purposes, a negative unassigned
fund balance is reported.

Fund balance spending order: For the purpose of reporting fund balance in this financial report under
GASB Statement No. 54, the State considers resources to be spent in the following order when an expenditure
is incurred for which these classifications are available: restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned.

Fiduciary fund net position represents amounts held in trust for pension and other postemployment benefits,
deferred compensation participants, pool participants, individuals, organizations, or other governments.

3. Stabhilization Arrangements
a. Budget Stabilization Account

Inaccordance with Article 16, Section 20 of the California State Constitution, the State maintains the Budget
Stabilization Account. The Budget Stabilization Account is reported in the General Fund. By October 1 of
each fiscal year, a transfer must be made from the General Fund to the Budget Stabilization Account in an
amount equal to one-half of (a) 1.5% of the estimated General Fund revenues for that fiscal year and
(b) personal capital gains tax revenues in excess of 8.0% of estimated General Fund taxes for that fiscal
year less amounts that must be spent on Proposition 98. The remaining half of the calculated amount is
used as appropriated by the State Legislature to pay down (1) interfund loans, (2) specified debts to local
governments, and (3) debts for pension and retiree health benefits.

The State Legislature may suspend or reduce the transfer of funds to, or withdrawal of funds from, the
Budget Stabilization Account if the Governor declares a budget emergency. For this purpose, budget
emergency means either (1) a natural disaster or other event that creates a condition of extreme peril to the
safety of persons or property, or (2) there is not enough money to keep General Fund spending at the highest
level of the past three fiscal years (adjusted for changes in state population and cost of living). The amount
of the withdrawal from the Budget Stabilization Account is limited to the actual amount needed for the
natural disaster or to keep General Fund spending at the highest level of the past three years. In addition,
if there was no budget emergency in the prior fiscal year, no more than one-half of the Budget Stabilization
Account balance may be withdrawn; the entire remaining balance could be withdrawn in the second straight
year of a budget emergency.

When the balance of the Budget Stabilization Account reaches 10% of the estimated General Fund revenues
for that fiscal year, the amount that would have been transferred to the Budget Stabilization Account would

85



State of California Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

instead be used to build and maintain infrastructure. At June 30, 2019, the Budget Stabilization Account
had a restricted fund balance of $14.4 billion.

b. Special Fund for Economic Uncertainties

State law established the Special Fund for Economic Uncertainties (SFEU) as a contingency reserve to
help the State meet its General Fund obligations in the event of declining revenues or unanticipated
expenditures. A control section of the State’s Budget Act establishes the annual reserve balance of the
SFEU, but that amount would be reduced if certain constitutionally defined excess revenue limits are met
during the fiscal year. In addition, SFEU funds may be set aside in a separate account and committed for
disaster response operation costs incurred by state agencies as a result of a proclamation of a state of
emergency by the Governor. The SFEU is a discretionary budget reserve and is available without additional
legislative action to meet the cash needs of the General Fund and to eliminate any General Fund deficit at
the end of the fiscal year. The SFEU is reported in the General Fund, and at June 30, 2019, the SFEU
represented the entire General Fund unassigned balance of $766 million.

0. Restatement of Beginning Fund Balances and Net Position
1. Fund Financial Statements

The beginning fund balance of governmental funds increased by $131 million. The increase is comprised
of the following items:
* A $3 million decrease in the General Fund for an interfund payable previously reported in the
Financial Information Systems Fund, an internal service fund.
* A $194 million decrease in the Transportation Fund for understated transit assistance program
expenditures.
* A $289 million net increase in the Health Care Related Programs Fund for understated revenue and
the elimination of amounts reported for an entity recently identified as a related organization.
* A $39 million increase in a nonmajor special revenue fund for overstated expenditures.

The beginning net position of internal service funds increased by $333 million. The increase is comprised
of the following items:

* A $47 million increase for overstated prior-year interest expense reported in the Public Building
Construction Fund.

* A $105 million increase for the reallocation of employee related liabilities (net pension liability,
net OPEB liability, and compensated absences) from the Financial Information Systems Fund to
the General Fund reported only within governmental activities in the government-wide financial
statements. An additional $18 million of net pension liability and related amounts was shifted from
the Financial Information Systems Fund to other internal service programs, but had no effect on
the beginning net position of internal service funds.

* A $181 million increase for the reallocation of the net OPEB liability and related amounts from
other internal service programs to the General Fund reported only within governmental activities
in the government-wide financial statements.

The beginning net position of enterprise funds decreased by $9 million. The decrease is comprised of an
$11 million decrease for a prior period adjustment resulting from overcharged capital billings to state water
contractors in the Water Resources Fund and a $2 million increase for understated loans receivable within
other enterprise programs.
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The beginning net position of discretely presented component units decreased by $211 million. The decrease
is comprised of the following items:

* An $11 million decrease for the University of California’s implementation of GASB Statement
No. 83, Certain Asset Retirement Obligations. Further information related to this restatement is
included in the University’s separately issued financial statements, which can be obtained from the
University on its website at www.ucop.edu.

* A$200 million decrease for the recognition of net OPEB liability and deferred outflows of resources
from the first-year implementation of GASB No. 75 for entities whose financial information is
presented as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018.

2. Government-wide Financial Statements

The beginning net position of governmental activities decreased by $476 million. In addition to the
restatements described in the previous sections for governmental and internal service funds, the restatement
also includes a $905 million decrease for a previously unreported liability associated with the abandonment
of Wilmington Oil Field (see Note 9: Long-Term Obligations), a $320 million decrease for the Trial Courts’
previously unreported net pension liability and related accounts, and a $568 million increase for understated
capital assets. As the General Fund and internal service funds are both included in governmental activities
in the government-wide financial statements, there is no impact to governmental activities for the
reallocation of liabilities between the General Fund and an internal service fund, or between internal service
funds and other governmental activities, as described in the previous sections for governmental funds and
internal service funds, respectively.

The beginning net position of business-type activities and discretely presented component units were
restated as described in the previous sections for enterprise funds and discretely presented component units,
respectively.

P. Guaranty Deposits

The State is the custodian of guaranty deposits held to protect consumers, to secure the State’s deposits in
financial institutions, and to ensure payment of taxes and fulfillment of obligations to the State. Guaranty
deposits of securities and other properties are not shown on the financial statements.

NOTE 2: BUDGETARY AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE

A. Budgeting and Budgetary Control

The State’s annual budget is primarily prepared on a modified accrual basis for governmental funds. The
Governor recommends a budget for approval by the Legislature each year. This recommended budget
includes estimated revenues, but revenues are not included in the annual budget bill adopted by the
Legislature. Under state law, the State cannot adopt a spending plan that exceeds estimated revenues.

Under the State Constitution, money may be drawn from the treasury only through a legal appropriation.
The appropriations contained in the Budget Act, as approved by the Legislature and signed by the Governor,
are the primary sources of annual expenditure authorizations and establish the legal level of control for the
annual operating budget. The budget can be amended throughout the year by special legislative action,
budget revisions by the Department of Finance, or executive orders of the Governor. Amendments to the
original budget for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, increased spending authority for the budgetary/
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legal basis-reported General Fund, Transportation Funds, Environmental and Natural Resources Funds,
and the Health Care Related Programs Funds.

Appropriations are generally available for expenditure or encumbrance either in the year appropriated or
for a period of three years if the legislation does not specify a period of availability. At the end of the
availability period, the encumbering authority for the unencumbered balance lapses. Some appropriations
continue indefinitely, while others are available until fully spent. Generally, encumbrances must be
liquidated within two years from the end of the period in which the appropriation is available. If the
encumbrances are not liquidated within this additional two-year period, the spending authority for these
encumbrances lapses.

B. Legal Compliance

State agencies are responsible for exercising basic budgetary control and ensuring that appropriations are
not overspent. The State Controller’s Office is responsible for overall appropriation control and does not
allow expenditures in excess of authorized appropriations.

Financial activities are mainly controlled at the appropriation level but can vary, depending on the
presentation and wording contained in the Budget Act. The Budget Act appropriations are identified by
department, reference item, and fund. The annual appropriated budget may establish detailed allocations
to specific programs, projects, or sources of reimbursement within an appropriation. The Department of
Finance can authorize adjustments between the detail allocations but cannot increase the amount of the
overall appropriation. While the financial activities are controlled at various levels, the legal level of
budgetary control—the extent to which management may amend the budget without seeking approval of
the governing body—has been established in the Budget Act for the annual operating budget.

The Budgetary Comparison Schedule is not presented in this document at the legal level of budgetary
control because such a presentation would be extremely lengthy and cumbersome. The State prepares a
separate report, the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report Supplement, which includes statements that
demonstrate compliance with the legal level of budgetary control in accordance with GASB’s Codification
of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards, section 2400.121. The supplement
includes the comparison of the annual appropriated budget with expenditures at the legal level of control.
A copy of the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report Supplement is available upon email request to the
State Controller’s Office, State Accounting and Reporting Division at StateGovReports@sco.ca.gov.

NOTE 3: DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

Cash balances not required for immediate use are invested by the State Treasurer. The State Treasurer
administers a single pooled investment program comprising both an internal investment pool and an external
investment pool (the Local Agency Investment Fund). A single portfolio of investments exists, with all
participants having an undivided interest in the portfolio. Both pools are administered in the same manner.

A. Primary Government
1. Control of State Funds
The State’s pooled investment program and certain funds of the primary government are allowed by state

statutes, bond resolutions, and investment policy resolutions to invest in U. S. government securities, federal
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agency securities, negotiable certificates of deposit, bankers’ acceptances, commercial paper, corporate
bonds, bank notes, other debt securities, repurchase agreements, reverse repurchase agreements, and other
investments.

Certain discretely presented component units and related organizations participate in the State Treasurer’s
Office pooled investment program. As of June 30, 2019, these discretely presented component units and
related organizations account for approximately 2.5% of the State Treasurer’s pooled investment portfolio.
This program enables the State Treasurer’s Office to combine available cash from all funds and to invest
cash that exceeds current needs.

Both deposits and investments are included in the State’s investment program. For certain banks, the State
Treasurer’s Office maintains cash deposits that cover uncleared checks deposited in the State’s accounts
and earn income that compensates the banks for their services.

Demand and time deposits held by financial institutions as of June 30, 2019, totaling approximately
$5.7 billion, were insured by federal depository insurance or by collateral held by the State Treasurer’s
Office or an agent of the State Treasurer’s Office in the State’s name. The California Government Code
requires that collateral pledged for demand and time deposits be deposited with the State Treasurer.

As of June 30, 2019, the State Treasurer’s Office had on deposit with a fiscal agent amounts totaling
$22 million related to principal and interest payments to bondholders. These deposits were insured by
federal depository insurance or by collateral held by an agent of the State Treasurer’s Office in the
State’s name.

Certain funds have elected to participate in the pooled investment program even though they have the
authority to invest on their own. Others may be required by legislation to participate in the program; as a
result, the deposits of these funds may be considered involuntary. However, these funds are part of the
State’s reporting entity. The remaining participant in the pool, the Local Agency Investment Fund,
is voluntary.

Certain funds that have deposits in the State Treasurer’s pooled investment program do not receive the
interest earnings on their deposits. Instead, by law, the earnings are assigned to the State’s General Fund.
Most of the $658 million in interest revenue received by the General Fund from the pooled investment
program in fiscal year 2018-19 was earned on balances in these funds.

Enterprise funds and special revenue funds also make separate investments, which are presented at
fair value.

2. Valuation of State Investments

The State Treasurer’s Office reports its investments at fair value. The State Treasurer’s Office performs a
quarterly fair market valuation of the pooled investment program portfolio. The fair value of securities in
the State Treasurer’s pooled investment program is generally based on quoted market prices. In addition,
the State Treasurer’s Office performs a monthly fair market valuation of all securities held against carrying
cost. These valuations can be obtained from the State Treasurer’s Office website at www.treasurer.ca.gov.

Table 1 categorizes fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted
accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the
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assets and liabilities. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets at
the date of measurement. Level 2 inputs are significant other directly or indirectly observable inputs other
than quoted prices. Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. The State has no investments

measured at Level 3.

Table 1

Schedule of Investments — Primary Government — Investments by Fair Value Level

June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Pooled Investments

U.S. Treasury bills and n0tes ...........ccocoovovviveeeeeeeeeeeeeeereeeeeenan
U.S. Agency bonds and diScount NOteS............ceeeeeererienereeneneenennne.
Supranational debentures and discount NOtEs ..........cccecvverveecreerereeneenne.
Small Business Administration 10ans .........cc.ccecevervenceneiienienenennns
Mortgage-backed SECUITHIES .....ccueeuiriierieriieieniieieieie e
Certificates 0f dePOSIt.....ccvveecrierieeiieiieeie ettt ere et ve e e
Bank NOTES....c.eoiiiieieiee e e
COMMETCIAL PAPET ...uvveerieiieeiieriie et eite et eiee e e steesbeeseeeeveesraesseesee e

Total pooled investments at fair value ...

Other primary government investments
U.S. Treasuries and QZENCIES .........ccververveeieriieieneeieseeseseeessesaessessnens
COMMETCIAL PAPET .....ieereeieeieeeieieeeeieeteeete e ettt seeeeessessaesaeennas
Corporate debt SECUTITIES......ecuiervirieiiiierieeierieete et
Repurchase agreements..........c.ceeveverereninienenienieieneeeeeeee e
ONET .ottt
Total other primary government investments at fair value...........

Investments measured at the net asset value (NAV)
Money market funds/2a-7 money market funds...........ccoeeveeerreeennnee.
Total investments measured at the NAV................ccooveviiiiieneennen.

Other investment instruments
Guaranteed INVEStMENt CONIACES ...........v.evevevereeeeerererereseeseseresesesesenanes

Funds outside primary government included in
pooled investments

Less: investment trust funds...........coceevenenenencnienieneneieeeeeeenenes
Less: other trust and agency funds.........cceooeeieiiniiiinieneeeeee,
Less: discretely presented component units and related organizations .

Total primary government investments ...................ccccccoeeevveeneennen.

Fair Value Measurements

74,958,676

Using
Quoted Prices
in Active Significant
Markets for Other
Identical Observable
Assets Inputs
June 30, 2019 (Level 1) (Level 2)

51,868,470 $§ 51,868,470 $ —

19,644,124 19,644,124 —

2,636,561 2,636,561 —

656,509 656,509 —

22,511 22,511 —

17,985,383 — 17,985,383

600,273 — 600,273

6,767,141 — 6,767,141

100,180,972 § 74,828,175 § 25,352,797

3,140,546 $ 889,560 § 2,250,986

31,253 — 31,253

1,008,970 — 1,008,970

10,352 — 10,352

1,277,448 802,216 475,232

5,468,569 $ 1,691,776 $ 3,776,793
357,560
357,560
200,000
200,000
24,568,698
4,203,406
2,476,321

! The fair value of pooled investments does not include $400 million of U.S. Treasury Notes which matured on Sunday, June 30, 2019.

% Reported at carrying value.
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As of June 30, 2019, the weighted average maturity of the securities in the pooled investment program
administered by the State Treasurer’s Office was approximately 177 days. Weighted average maturity is
the average number of days, given a dollar-weighted value of individual investments, that the securities in
the portfolio have remaining from evaluation date to stated maturity.

3. Oversight of Investing Activities

The Pooled Money Investment Board (PMIB) provides oversight of the State Treasurer’s pooled investment
program. The purpose of the board is to design and administer an effective cash management and investment
program, using all monies flowing through the State Treasurer’s Office bank accounts and keeping all
available funds invested in a manner consistent with the goals of safety, liquidity, and yield. The PMIB is
comprised of the State Treasurer as chair, the State Controller, and the Director of Finance. This board
designates the amounts of money available for investment. The State Treasurer is charged with making the
actual investment transactions for this program. This investment program is not registered with the Securities
and Exchange Commission as an investment company.

The value of the deposits in the State Treasurer’s pooled investment program, including the Local Agency
Investment Fund, is equal to the dollars deposited in the program. The fair value of the position in the
program may be greater or less than the value of the deposits, with the difference representing the unrealized
gain or loss. As of June 30, 2019, this difference was immaterial to the valuation of the program. The pool
is run with “dollar-in, dollar-out” participation. There are no share-value adjustments to reflect changes in
fair value.

The State Treasurer’s pooled investment program values participants’ shares on an amortized cost basis.
Specifically, the program distributes income to participants quarterly, based on their relative participation
during the quarter. This participation is calculated based on (1) realized investment gains and losses
calculated on an amortized cost basis, (2) interest income based on stated rates (both paid and accrued),
(3) amortization of discounts and premiums on a straight-line basis, and (4) investment and administrative
expenses. This amortized cost method differs from the fair value method used to value investments in these
financial statements; the amortized cost method is not designed to distribute to participants all unrealized
gains and losses in the fair value of the pool’s investments. Because the total difference between the fair
value of the investments in the pool and the value distributed to pool participants using the amortized cost
method described above is not material, no adjustment was made to the financial statements. The State
Treasurer’s Office also reports participant fair value as a ratio of amortized cost on a quarterly basis. The
State Treasurer’s Office has not provided or obtained a legally binding guarantee to support the principal
invested in the investment program.

As of June 30, 2019, structured notes and medium-term asset-backed securities comprised approximately
1.6% of the pooled investments. A portion of the structured notes was callable agency securities, which
represented 0.2% of the pooled investments. The asset-backed securities consist of mortgage-backed
securities, Small Business Administration (SBA) pools, and asset-backed commercial paper. The mortgage-
backed securities, called real estate mortgage investment conduits (REMICs), are securities backed by
pools of mortgages. The REMICs in the State’s portfolio have a fixed principal payment schedule. A portion
of the asset-backed securities consisted of floating-rate SBA notes. For floating-rate SBA notes held in the
portfolio during the fiscal year, the interest received by the State Treasurer’s pooled investment program
rose or fell as the underlying index rate rose or fell. The structure of the floating-rate SBA notes in the State
Treasurer’s pooled investment program portfolio provided a hedge against the risk of increasing interest

91



State of California Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

rates. A portion of the asset-backed portfolio holdings were short-term, asset-backed commercial paper
(ABCP), which represented 0.3% of the pooled investments.

Table 2 identifies the investment types that are authorized by the California Government Code and the State
Treasurer’s Office Investment Policy for the Pooled Investment Program. Maturities are limited by the
State Treasurer’s Office Investment Policy for the Pooled Money Investment Program. For commercial
paper, the Investment Policy matches the Government Code. For corporate bonds and notes, the Government
Code requires that a security falls within the top three ratings of a nationally recognized statistical ratings
organization (NRSRO). Items reported as N/A have no limitation in either the Government Code or the
State Treasurer’s Office Investment Policy.

Table 2

Authorized Investments

Maximum Maximum

Maximum  Percentage Investment Credit
Authorized Investment Type Maturity of Portfolio in One Issuer Rating
U.S. Treasury securities 5 years N/A N/A N/A
Federal agency and supranational securities 5 years N/A N/A N/A
Certificates of deposit 5 years N/A N/A N/A
Bankers’ acceptances 180 days N/A N/A N/A
Commercial paper 270 days 30% 10% of issuer’s outstanding ~ A-3/P-3/F-3

Commercial paper

Corporate bonds/notes 5 years N/A N/A A/A3/A
Repurchase agreements 1 year N/A N/A N/A
Reverse repurchase agreements 1 year 10% N/A N/A

4. Risk of Investments

The following types of risks are common in deposits and investments, including those of the State:
Interest Rate Risk is the risk that the value of fixed-income securities will decline because of changing
interestrates. The prices of fixed-income securities with longer time to maturity tend to be more sensitive

to changes in interest rates than those with shorter durations.

Credit Risk is the risk that a debt issuer will fail to pay interest or principal in a timely manner, or that
negative perceptions of the issuer’s ability to make these payments will cause security prices to decline.

Custodial Credit Risk is the risk that, in the event a financial institution or counterparty fails, the investor
will not be able to recover the value of deposits, investments, or collateral.

Concentration of Credit Risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of an investor’s holdings in
a single issuer.

Foreign Currency Risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the fair value of
an investment or a deposit.
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a. Interest Rate Risk

Table 3 presents the interest rate risk of the primary government’s investments. In calculating SBA holdings’
weighted average maturity, the State Treasurer’s Office assumes that stated maturity is the quarterly reset
date. Total pooled investments do not include $4.9 billion of time deposits and $779 million of internal
loans to state funds. Repurchase agreements of the California State University system mature in one day.
Most mortgage-backed securities are issued by U.S. government agencies, or government-sponsored
enterprises such as the Federal National Mortgage Association, and entitle the purchaser to receive a share
of the cash flows, such as principal and interest payments, from a pool of mortgages. Mortgage-backed
securities are highly sensitive to interest rate changes because principal prepayments either increase (in a
low interest rate environment) or decrease (in a high interest rate environment) the security yield. As of
June 30,2019, only $23 million, or 0.02% of the total pooled investments, was invested in mortgage-backed
securities.

Table 3

Schedule of Investments — Primary Government — Interest Rate Risk
June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Weighted

Average

Fair Value Maturity

at Year End (in years)

Pooled investments
U.S. Treasury bills and TLOEES et r e eeeeen $ 51,868,470 0.66
U.S. Agency bonds and diSCOUNE NOLES......c..eerueruieriieieriieieetieie ettt 19,644,124 0.34
Supranational debentures and diSCOUNE NOTES ........ocueereerieerierieiiniieieeie e 2,636,561 0.54
Small Business Administration LOANS ...........eeiiveiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 656,509 0.25
Mortgage-backed SECUITHIES .....eoueeuiruieriieierteete ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt sae e sbeeenns 22,511 1.64
Certificates Of AEPOSIt .. ...eiuieiiiieie ittt s 17,985,383 0.25
J 7 101 4 0] 11 PRSPPI 600,273 0.20
(01031010015 (o 1 I 0 T2 o 1<) OSSO 6,767,141 0.22
Total pooled INVESTMENTS ...............coooiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeie e veeseae s 100,180,972
Other primary government investments
U.S. Treasuries and aZENCIES ........ccveverurerieriieierieniestietesieesteeseesseeeesseesesseensesseessesnessesnnens 3,140,546 2.64
COMMETCIAL PAPET .....eeviiiriirtirtieteete sttt ettt ettt ettt sttt ettt ettt eae b eaeeaes 31,253 2.38
Guaranteed INVESTMENT COMIACES  ..........c..o.veeveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseseeeesessseeseeseeseesseeseeeeeeeesens 200,000 2.83
Corporate debt SCCUTITTIES. ... euerureeerierieeeertieteeteete st ete et eeeeseesteeneesseeneesseensesseensesseensenneenes 1,008,970 1.02
Repurchase agreCments. ...........eouereririerienienieieieceieetee ettt ettt 10,352 —
ORET .ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt e et te et e re et ettt e ete e teeteereeaeenns 1,635,008 2.76
Total other primary government investments..................ccccoeevvrieriincienenceneeieseenns 6,026,129

Funds outside primary government included in pooled investments

Less: InvesStmeENnt trust fUNAS..........ooiiiiiiiiiiieieiiee et e e e earae e e e eennes 24,568,698
Less: other trust and agency funds.........coccooieiiiiiiieieee e 4,203,406
Less: discretely presented component units and related organizations .............ccccceeeevennee 2,476,321

Total primary government investments .................ccocveeviieiieiieeciecie e $ 74,958,676

! The fair value of pooled investments does not include $400 million of U.S. Treasury Notes which matured on Sunday, June 30, 2019.
% Reported at carrying value.
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b. Credit Risk

Table 4 presents the credit risk of the primary government’s debt securities. If a particular security has
multiple ratings, the lowest rating of the three major NRSROs is used. Similar to interest rate risk shown
in Table 3, time deposits and internal loans to state funds are not included.

Table 4

Schedule of Investments in Debt Securities — Primary Government — Credit Risk

June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Credit Rating as of Year End
Short-term Long-term Fair Value

Pooled investments

A-1+/P-1/F-1+ AAA/Aaa/AAA $ 25,812,952
A-1/P-1/F-1 AA/Aa/AA 21,142,912
A-2/P-2/F-2 A/A/A 700,129
NOETALE ..ottt —
Not applicable .......c.ccvecverieiirieiieeee e 52,524,979
Total pooled investments.......................ccoevvrerennn. $ 100,180,972

Other primary government investments

A-1+/P-1/F-1+ AAA/AaalAAA $ 1,190,167
A-1/P-1/F-1 AA/Aa/AA 2,735,863
A-2/P-2/F-2 A/A/A 997,187
A-3/P-3/F-3 BBB/Baa/BBB 29,201
B/NP/B BB/Ba/BB 12,666
B/NP/B B2/B 57,975
NOt TALEd. .. 1,003,070
Total other primary government investments ..... $ 6,026,129

c¢. Custodial Credit Risk

The State has a deposit policy for custodial credit risk that requires deposits held by financial institutions
to be insured by federal depository insurance or secured by collateral. As of June 30, 2019, one guaranteed
investment contract of the Electric Power Fund in the amount of $100 million was uninsured and
uncollateralized.

d. Concentration of Credit Risk

The investment policy of the State Treasurer’s Office contains no limitations on the amount that can be
invested in any one issuer beyond those limitations stipulated in the California Government Code. As of
June 30, 2019, the State had investments in the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation totaling 5.9%
and the Federal Home Loan Bank totaling 10.5% of the total pooled investments and other primary
government investments.
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B. Fiduciary Funds

The fiduciary funds include pension and other employee benefit trust funds of the following fiduciary funds
and component units: California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS), California State
Teachers’ Retirement System (CalSTRS), the fund for the California Scholarshare program, and various
other funds. CalPERS and CalSTRS account for 96.4% of these separately invested funds. CalPERS and
CalSTRS exercise their authority under the State Constitution and invest in stocks, bonds, mortgages, real
estate, and other investments, including derivative instruments.

Additional disclosures for CalPERS’ investments and derivative instruments are included in CalPERS’
separately issued financial statements, which may be found on its website at www.CalPERS.ca.gov.
Additional disclosures for CalSTRS’ investments and derivative instruments are included in CalSTRS’
separately issued financial statements, which may be found on its website at www.CalSTRS.com.

C. Discretely Presented Component Units

The discretely presented component units consist of the University of California and its foundation, the
California Housing Finance Agency (CalHFA), and various nonmajor component units. The University
and CalHFA constitute 93.4% of the total investments of discretely presented component units. State law,
bond resolutions, and investment policy resolutions allow component units to invest in U.S. government
securities, state and municipal securities, commercial paper, corporate bonds, investment agreements, real
estate, and other investments. Additionally, a portion of the cash and pooled investments of CalHFA, and
other nonmajor component units are invested in the State Treasurer’s pooled investment program.

Additional disclosures for the University of California’s investments and derivative instruments are included
in the University’s separately issued financial statements, which may be found on its website at
www.ucop.edu. Additional disclosures for CalHFA’s investments and derivative instruments are included
in CalHFA’s separately issued financial statements, which may be found on its website at
www.CalHFA.ca.gov.
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NOTE 4: ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Table 5 presents the disaggregation of accounts receivable attributable to taxes; licenses, permits, and fees;
Lottery retailer collections; unemployment program receipts; and the California State University. Other
receivables are for interest, gifts, grants, penalties, and other charges.

Table S

Schedule of Accounts Receivable

June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Licenses, Permits, Lottery
Taxes and Fees Retailers

Current governmental activities

General Fund ...........ooooooviiiiiiceceeeeeeeee e $ 16,290,843  § — 3 —
Federal Fund..........ccooooviiiiiiiiiicceceeceeeee e — — —
Transportation Fund...........ccooonieiiniiiiiees 871,699 281,504 —
Environmental and Natural Resources Fund...................... 16,228 402,199 —
Health Care Related Programs Fund ..........c.ccocconineene. 640,547 2,931,260 —
Nonmajor governmental funds ..........cccevevieieeieniennene 473,402 429,177 —
Internal service funds.........ccceeevveriieciienicieeece e — — —
Adjustment:

Unavailable reVenue!.............coovvvveeeeeeeeieeeeee e (5,971,048) (236,650) —

Total current governmental activities........................... $ 12,321,671 $ 3,807,490 $ —

Amounts not scheduled for collection during
the subsequent year (unavailable revenue)..................... $ 5,971,048 § 236,650 $ —

Current business-type activities

Electric Power FUnd .........ccoocueveveiiciereeeeeecieeseeeee e $ — 3 — —
Water Resources Fund...........coocoiiieieieienineccecce — — —
State Lottery Fund ..........ccooovevviiieiiiicecceeeeee — — 569,546
Unemployment Programs Fund..........ccccccooeninininncnnne — — —
California State University .......coccveevveereeriveeneenireeneesveennns — — —
Nonmajor enterprise funds ...........ccoevvvevieieneecieneeieee, — — —

Total current business-type activities ........................ $ — 3 — 3 569,546

Amounts not scheduled for collection during
the subsequent year (unavailable revenue)..................... $ — 5 — —

! The unavailable revenue reported in the governmental fund financial statements represents revenues that are earned and measurable, but
not available within 12 months of the end of the reporting period.

 Amount includes noncurrent receivables for service concession arrangements of $55 million that were not included in the governmental
fund financial statements.
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California
Unemployment State
Programs University Other Total

— 8§ — 3 1,149,737 $ 17,440,580

— — 5,544 5,544

— — 135,721 1,288,924

_ — 72,464 490,891

— — 267,117 3,838,924

— — 463,971 1,366,550

— — 88,093 88,093
— — (514,727) (6,722,425)

$ — $ — 1,667,920 $ 17,797,081
$ — $ — 569,741 2 $ 6,777,439
$ — 3 — 8 2259 § 2,259
— — 155,303 155,303

— — — 569,546

1,187,994 — — 1,187,994

— 197,183 — 197,183

_ _ 44,723 44,723

$ 1,187,994 $§ 197,183 §$ 202,285 $ 2,157,008
$ 80,281 § 392,398 $ — 3 472,679
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NOTE 5: RESTRICTED ASSETS

Table 6 presents a summary of the legal restrictions placed on assets of the primary government and the
discretely presented component units.

Table 6

Schedule of Restricted Assets
June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Cash Due From
and Pooled Other Loans
Investments Investments Governments Receivable Total
Primary government
Debt SEIVICE ..vvvieviieeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeee $ 1,749,966 $ 352,860 $ 292,355 § 1,954,696 $§ 4,349,877
CONSIIUCION ... 674,132 — — — 674,132
OPErations........c.eeveecverrereeeeenreeresseeeeneens 44,000 — — — 44,000
(011113 PR 1,500 — — — 1,500
Total primary government................. 2,469,598 352,860 292,355 1,954,696 5,069,509
Discretely presented component units
Debt SeIviCe ....ooovvveeeieieeeeeeeeeeee e 267,684 110,926 — — 378,610
Other ..., 76,676 — — — 76,676
Total discretely presented
component Units............................. 344,360 110,926 — — 455,286
Total restricted assets....................... $ 2,813,958 $ 463,786 $ 292,355 $§ 1,954,696 $ 5,524,795
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NOTE 6: NET INVESTMENT IN DIRECT FINANCING LEASES

The State Public Works Board (SPWB) accounts for its activities in the Public Buildings Construction
Fund, an internal service fund, and has entered into lease-purchase agreements with various other primary
government agencies and certain local agencies. Payments from these leases will be used to satisfy the
principal and interest requirements of revenue bonds issued by the SPWB. The lease-purchase activity
between the SPWB and the primary government agencies shown in the schedule below represents only
that activity with agencies reported as enterprise funds. The lease receivable of $8.0 billion from
governmental funds and the corresponding lease obligation were eliminated within the governmental
activities column of the government-wide Statement of Net Position.

The CSU system accounts for its lease activities in the California State University Fund, a major enterprise
fund, and has entered into capital lease agreements with various auxiliary organizations. These agreements
lease existing and newly constructed facilities to the auxiliary organizations. A portion of the proceeds
from certain revenue bonds and bond anticipation notes issued by the CSU were used to finance the
construction of these facilities.

Table 7 summarizes the minimum lease payments to be received by the primary government.

Table 7

Schedule of Minimum Lease Payments to be Received by the Primary Government
(amounts in thousands)

State Public Works Board

Primary California
Government Local State

Year Ending June 30 Agencies Agencies Total University
2020ttt e e saeeneas $ 15979 § 13,369 § 29,348 § 23,665
2021 1ttt ettt 15,960 12,754 28,714 19,809
2022ttt ettt be et naeeneas 15,966 12,739 28,705 20,053
2023 et raesaeeneas 15,954 12,720 28,674 22,228
2024 ..ottt 15,952 12,701 28,653 22,271
20252029 .ot e 79,310 63,316 142,626 96,957
2030-2034 ..ot 78,677 26,382 105,059 77,782
20352039 .ot 15,657 — 15,657 24,894
Total minimum lease payments.....................ccoevrvennrnnnnns 253,455 153,981 407,436 307,659
Less: unearned INCOME........ccuvvvieiieeuveeeeieeiieeeeeeeeieeeeeeeennns 103,793 37,705 141,498 87,575
Net investment in direct financing leases........................ 149,662 116,276 265,938 220,084
Less: current pOrtion .........c.eceeeveeeerveeeenieeeenseeeesseseeseeennns 4,060 8,045 12,105 11,868

Noncurrent net investment in direct financing leases.... $ 145,602 $ 108,231 $§ 253,833 $ 208,216
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NOTE 7: CAPITAL ASSETS

Table 8 summarizes the capital activity for the primary government.

Table 8

Schedule of Changes in Capital Assets — Primary Government

June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Deductions Balance
Governmental activities
Capital assets not being depreciated/amortized
Land ...co.ooeeeeeeeee e $ 20,227,700 * $ 414570 $ 168,830 § 20,473,440
State highway infrastructure ..........cooceverereeeerienieriereenne. 77,067,674 2,244,219 893,749 78,418,144
COIECHIONS ...t 22,682 * — — 22,682
Construction/development in Progress .........ceeveeverververnenne 16,252,151 * 3,433,278 3,536,083 16,149,346
INtangible aSSEtS.......ccirieieieieieieieieee et 382,494 * 210,055 — 592,549
Total capital assets not being depreciated/amortized .... 113,952,701 6,302,122 4,598,662 115,656,161
Capital assets being depreciated/amortized
Buildings and improvements ..............coceeceeeereeneenvenieniennens 26,235,179 * 506,345 245,491 26,496,033
Infrastructure.......c.ooeveeeeveeeeeeeeeeeeeeieeeae 744,823 * 4,465 — 749,288
Equipment and other depreciable assets.........ccccevververuenene 5,325,489 * 418,666 236,074 5,508,081
INtangible aSSetS......cccirieieieieieieieieee et 2,249,718 * 386,981 5,911 2,630,788
Total capital assets being depreciated/amortized........... 34,555,209 1,316,457 487,476 35,384,190
Less accumulated depreciation/amortization for:
Buildings and improvements ..............coceeveeeeeereenieneniennens 9,611,828 * 652,240 164,257 10,099,811
INfraStIUCIUIE . ...cocvviiieiceceieeeeeee e 410,685 * 15,114 — 425,799
Equipment and other depreciable assets . 4,254,531 * 414,615 230,773 4,438,373
INtangible aSSetS.......ccirieieieieieieieieee et 955,602 * 227,466 4,184 1,178,884
Total accumulated depreciation/amortization................ 15,232,646 1,309,435 399,214 16,142,867
Total capital assets being depreciated/amortized, net ... 19,322,563 7,022 88,262 19,241,323
Governmental activities, capital assets, net ....................... $ 133,275,264 $§ 6,309,144 § 4,686,924 § 134,897,484
Business-type activities
Capital assets not being depreciated/amortized
Land ...co.ooeeieeee e $ 271,240 $ 34967 $ — 3 306,207
COIECHIONS ...t 24,604 2,869 — 27,473
Construction/development in progress .... . 2,731,016 * 1,471,931 945,383 3,257,564
INtangible aSSetS.......cccivieieieieieieieieee et 118,412 3,875 3,480 118,807
Total capital assets not being depreciated/amortized..... 3,145,272 1,513,642 948,863 3,710,051
Capital assets being depreciated/amortized
Buildings and improvements ..............ccoceeceeeereeneeniereniennens 13,282,716 1,010,994 9,075 14,284,635
INfraStIUCIUIE . ....ocvviiieiceceeeeeeeeee e 459,991 46,301 1,763 504,529
Equipment and other assets...........cooeverevereereereenierienieneens 953,591 * 83,714 18,755 1,018,550
Intangible assets........ccoovveievierierienieeeeeeeeeeenes 431,102 4,599 2,235 433,466
Total capital assets being depreciated/amortized........... 15,127,400 1,145,608 31,828 16,241,180
Less accumulated depreciation/amortization for:
Buildings and improvements ..............ceceeceeeereeneenvenienennens 5,159,184 375,488 6,319 5,528,353
INfraStIUCIUIE . ....ocvviiieiceceeeeeeeeee e 142,905 24316 836 166,385
Equipment and other assets...........cooeverevereereereenierienieneens 597,894 * 88,796 17,231 669,459
INtangible aSSEtS.......ccirieeieieieieieieieee et 189,338 22,542 2,203 209,677
Total accumulated depreciation/amortization................ 6,089,321 511,142 26,589 6,573,874
Total capital assets being depreciated/amortized, net ... 9,038,079 634,466 5,239 9,667,306
Business-type activities, capital assets, net.......................... $ 12,183,351 § 2,148,108 $ 954,102 §$ 13,377,357
* Restated
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Table 9 summarizes the depreciation expense charged to the activities of the primary government.

Table 9

Schedule of Depreciation Expense — Primary Government

June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Amount
Governmental activities
GENETAL GOVETTITIENIE ......uveuieteteteeteettet ettt ettt et etteat e st et et estesbesbesbeeseestestente b e b e bt ebeebees e ententenbenbententesaesbeeseeneans $ 304,115
EQUCALION ... ettt ettt e e et e et e e aa e e eteeeteeeeateeeteeeeaeeeeaeeeeteeeateeeeateeereeereeearaeans 151,355
Health and RUMAN SEIVICES ......c.veiiiiiiieiiie ettt ettt e et e e et e e ete e eeteeeeateeeteeeeaeeeeaeeeesseeeseeeesseeeaseeeseeeareeens 161,382
Natural resources and environmental protection 80,346
Business, consumer Services, and NOUSINE .......cc.everiririeieierierierieste sttt ettt see e st et et e testesbesbeebeebeeneeneen 13,212
TTANSPOTTATION. ...ttt sttt ettt ettt et et s b e bt e bt eb et ea e e st e b et estesbesbeebeebeestenten s e b e b e bt ebeebees e ententenbenbentesbesbesbeeseeneans 211,049
Corrections and reNaADILITAtION ..........cc.oiiiiiiiiiiei ettt e et e e e eete e eeteeeeaeeeaeeeeteeeeaneeeseeeeseeeesneeenes 322,970
Internal service funds (charged to the activities that utilize the fund)...........ccceoeriiiiinininiiee 65,006
Total governmental activities ....................c.ccoooiviiiiiiicicce, 1,309,435
BUuSiness-tyPe ACLIVILIES ............ccoccuiiiiiiiiiiiiieceeee ettt ettt ettt ettt beeseese e st e st e s e b e benbeesessaeseesnenaens 511,142
Total Primary OVEITINENL ..................ocveieviiitiieeietiietieteteetetete et eseeteeseseetesseteesessesesesessessesesessesessesessessesenseseas $ 1,820,577
Table 10 summarizes the capital activity for discretely presented component units.
Table 10
Schedule of Changes in Capital Assets — Discretely Presented Component Units
June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)
Beginning . . Ending
Balance Additions Deductions Balance
Capital assets not being depreciated/amortized
Land.....ooeeeee e 1,347,708 $ 97,580 $ 2,389 § 1,442,899
COlIECLIONS. ...ttt 544,051 16,581 5,734 554,898
Construction/development in Progress.........eeeeveeververerene 3,004,984 1,381,686 26,286 4,360,384
INtangible aSSELS .......ccvevuerierieriirieririieieieiete e 5,411 4,933 — 10,344
Total capital assets not being depreciated/amortized..... 4,902,154 1,500,780 34,409 6,368,525
Capital assets being depreciated/amortized
Buildings and improvements..........c..cocceceeeeerienenenenenennens 41,369,205 1,694,513 48,010 43,015,708
INfrastructure ..........coovieeiiiiiiece e 825,928 113,170 137 938,961
Equipment and other depreciable assets.........c.ccocevererennen. 11,655,455 753,064 284,753 12,123,766
Intangible aSSets ........c.coevererirerinieeeeeee e 1,607,137 197,935 20,164 1,784,908
Total capital assets being depreciated/amortized........... 55,457,725 2,758,682 353,004 57,863,343
Less accumulated depreciation/amortization for:
Buildings and improvements.............ccecuevververieresesesennnns 17,283,897 1,297,651 25,755 18,555,793
INfraStIUCTULE ... 420,032 32,834 144 452,722
Equipment and other depreciable assets..........cocceverereernene 8,402,833 634,975 250,580 8,787,228
INtangible aSSELS .......ccvevuerierierierieeieeieieie e 704,594 212,710 14,032 903,272
Total accumulated depreciation/amortization 26,811,356 2,178,170 290,511 28,699,015
Total capital assets being depreciated/amortized, net.... 28,646,369 580,512 62,553 29,164,328
Capital assets, Net ............ccooveriirieieieiceeeee e 33,548,523 § 2,081,292 § 96,962 § 35,532,853
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NOTE 8: ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Accounts payable are amounts, related to different programs, that are due taxpayers, vendors, customers,
beneficiaries, and employees. Table 11 presents details related to accounts payable.

The adjustment for the fiduciary funds represents amounts due fiduciary funds that were reclassified as
external payables on the government-wide Statement of Net Position.

Table 11

Schedule of Accounts Payable

June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

General Health and
Government Education Human Services
Governmental activities

General Fund..........cocoooveeviiiiiiiiicieeeeeeeeeee $ 292,106 $ 200,344 $ 776,498
Federal Fund ...........ccooeeiiiiiiiiiiciceceee e 187,959 237,398 176,699
Transportation Fund...........cccoovveeiiniecinieeneee, 6,141 5,963 15
Environmental and Natural Resources Fund ......... 6,157 — 27
Health Care Related Programs Fund...................... — 281 67,988
Nonmajor governmental funds ..........ccocceeevveiennen. 455,349 2,337 154,687
Internal service funds..........ccocevevveeeeieeicceeeeneee 172,850 19 200,772

Adjustment:
Fiduciary funds ..........cccocveeveinieiiiiieieeeeeenn 917,290 2,423,266 27,010,362
Total governmental activities....................... $ 2,037,852 $ 2,869,608 $ 28,387,048

Business-type activities

Electric Power Fund............coocoeevivveecoieeieennene $ — — 8 —
Water Resources Fund ...........c.ocoooeviieiiiiiiinnenn. — — —
State Lottery Fund............ccooviiiiniiieieieeeiee 56,297 — —
Unemployment Programs Fund................c..c.......... — — 40,702
California State University ........cccceeeereevverernennens — 291,670 —
Nonmajor enterprise funds..........cccccvevverierrieeennene 135 285 177

Adjustment:
Fiduciary funds ........cccoceeveeviiienieienieeieieeiee — — —
Total business-type activities ....................... $ 56,432 $ 291,955 $ 40,879
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Natural Resources
and Environmental

Protection Transportation Other Total
731,795 § — 3 404,136 2,404,879
44,916 200,874 50,303 898,149
350 698,837 258 711,564
327,317 10,735 7,183 351,419
— — — 68,269
7,570 2,405 22,987 645,335
22,592 — 13,371 409,604
— 68,256 — 30,419,174
1,134,540 $ 981,107 $ 498,238 35,908,393
1,741 § — §$ — 1,741
172,753 — — 172,753
— — — 56,297
— — — 40,702
— — — 291,670
2,446 — 4,874 7,917
— — 36 36
176,940 $ — § 4,910 571,116
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NOTE 9: LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

As of June 30, 2019, the primary government had long-term obligations totaling $302.2 billion. Of that
amount, $8.8 billion is due within one year. The inclusion of 33 additional trial courts’ pensions to the
governmental activities’ long-term obligations as of June 30, 2019, caused a $439 million restatement of
the beginning net pension liability. The inclusion of a liability for the State’s share of future abandonment
activities associated with the Wilmington Oil Field in the City of Long Beach caused a $905 million
restatement of the beginning balance of other long-term obligations. Overall, governmental activities had
anet decrease in long-term obligations of $12.8 billion after the above restatements. Significant decreases
included $7.2 billion in net pension liability, $4.3 billion in net other postemployment benefits (OPEB)
liability, and $890 million in general obligation bonds payable.

Not included in the mandated cost claims payable shown in Table 12 are certain state-mandated programs
that are in the adjudication process. Until the Commission on State Mandates rules on a test claim and the
claim’s parameters and guidelines are established, expected costs cannot be reasonably determined;
however, a positive finding for any of the claimants could individually or in aggregate pose a significant
cost to the State.

As of June 30, 2019, the pollution remediation obligations increased by $63 million to $1.2 billion. Under
federal Superfund law, responsibility for pollution remediation is placed on current and previous owners
or operators of polluted sites. Currently, the State’s most significant Superfund site is the Stringfellow
Class 1 Hazardous Waste Disposal Facility (Stringfellow) located in Riverside County. As of June 30, 2019,
the State estimates that remediation costs at Stringfellow will total $492 million. At BKK Landfill, an
obligating event has occurred that will likely result in a liability to the State, but a reasonable estimate of
the remediation cost cannot be determined at this time. BKK is a closed Class 1 landfill site at which the
State is conducting post-closure care. In addition to Superfund sites, the State’s other pollution remediation
efforts include underground storage tank removal and cleanup, cleanup of polluted groundwater, and
contaminated soil removal and cleanup as required by state law.

The State receives a share of net profits generated by the operations of the Wilmington Oil Field. Various
unit and production agreements control the character of the oil operations, including the liability associated
with the future abandonment of the oil and gas wells and facilities. The State’s share of the liability is
apportioned based on its net profit interest, among other factors. The State retains a large majority of the
total abandonment liability at the end of oil operations. As of June 30, 2019, the State estimates that the
oil field abandonment liability is $902 million, and the State has reserves of $300 million in the
Environmental and Natural Resources Fund (a special revenue fund) to liquidate future oil field
abandonment costs.

The other long-term obligations for governmental activities consist of $96 million to settle lawsuits,
$5 million owed to the University of California, Technology Services Revolving Fund notes payable of
$39 million, and Water Resources Revolving Fund notes payable of $10 million. The net pension liability,
net OPEB liability, and compensated absences will be liquidated by the General Fund, special revenue
funds, capital projects funds, and internal service funds. Workers’ compensation and capital leases will be
liquidated by the General Fund, special revenue funds, and internal service funds. The General Fund will
liquidate the Proposition 98 funding guarantee, lawsuits, and reimbursement of costs incurred by local
agencies and school districts for costs mandated by the State.
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Overall, business-type activities experienced a net decrease in long-term obligations of $1.4 billion.
Significant decreases included $1.3 billion in net pension liability and $853 million in net OPEB liability.
Significant increases included $374 million in lottery prizes and annuities.
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Table 12 summarizes the changes in long-term obligations during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019.

Table 12

Schedule of Changes in Long-term Obligations

(amounts in thousands)

Governmental activities

Loans payable adjustment for fiduciary funds............ccooovevverievincieniiieecieseens

Compensated absences payable............

Workers’ compensation benefits payable
Commercial paper and other borrowings
Capital lease obligations...............cceeunene

General obligation bonds outstanding....
Premiums ......occeeveverenencnenencncneene
Total general obligation bonds payable

Revenue bonds outstanding.....................
Accreted interest .........cooceeeeeveeeeneeeenen.
Premiums ......cooeveeniiienieeeeeeee
DiScounts .......ccceeceerereenenieneeeseeee

Total revenue bonds payable................

Mandated cost claims payable................

Net other postemployment benefits liability...........cceovvevierircieniicieniiiere e

Net pension liability..........cccoeeeeverrenennen.
Other long-term obligations:

Total other long-term obligations .....
Total governmental activities.........

Business-type activities

Lottery prizes and annuities....................
Compensated absences payable..............
Workers’ compensation benefits payable
Commercial paper and other borrowings
Capital lease obligations............cccceeeeee

General obligation bonds outstanding ....
Premiums ......occoevevivinencnencenceee
DISCOUNLS ....ooviiiriiririiniencreeeeeene

Total general obligation bonds payable

Revenue bonds outstanding.....................
Premiums ........cocvevvevierieeieieeieieeiens
DISCOUNLS ...

Total revenue bonds payable................

Net other postemployment benefits liability.........coccoerererenenenineneceiiences

Net pension liability........ccccecevererenennne
Other long-term obligations....................

Total business-type activities..........
* Restated

Balance

July 1, 2018 Additions
$ 248,542  § —
3,604,935 1,583,091
4,303,390 640,668
859,695 1,170,720
481,261 19,962
74,160,490 7,017,660
5,502,538 984,981
79,663,028 8,002,641
14,844,079 832,735
570,772 31,749
951,888 36,036
(2,484) —
16,364,255 900,520
2,214,026 115,202
73,717,443 5,907,279
88,466,473 * 25,714,394
904,700 * —
440,003 396,497
1,143,339 142,257
180,144 19,020
2,668,186 557,774
$ 272,591,234 $ 44.612.251
$ 1,372,528  $ 5,313,528
340,667 149,602
4,147 984
749,877 696,274
309,928 25,709
688,650 193,410
6,771 4,553
(1,321) —
694,100 197,963
13,029,808 1,340,650
1,290,048 199,820
(484) —
14,319,372 1,540,470
15,618,786 1,385,993
10,066,991 2,942,674
283,405 63,848
b 43.759.801  $ 12,317,045
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Balance Due Within Noncurrent
Deductions June 30, 2019 One Year Liabilities

$ 49479 $ 199,063 $ — 3 199,063
1,506,118 3,681,908 14,927 3,666,981
512,470 4,431,589 473,114 3,958,475
997,655 1,032,760 — 1,032,760
66,347 434,876 71,747 363,129
8,526,725 72,651,425 3,368,125 69,283,300
366,094 6,121,425 642,443 5,478,982
8,892,819 78,772,850 4,010,568 74,762,282
1,439,085 14,237,729 680,891 13,556,838
— 602,521 — 602,521
114,489 873,435 118,013 755,422

(459) (2,025) (227) (1,798)
1,553,115 15,711,660 798,677 14,912,983
459,482 1,869,746 54,296 1,815,450
10,183,006 69,441,716 — 69,441,716
32,880,993 81,299,874 — 81,299,874
2,600 902,100 — 902,100

149,908 686,592 686,592 —
79,227 1,206,369 74,317 1,132,052
49,426 149,738 55,871 93,867
281,161 2,944,799 816,780 2,128,019
$ 57,382,645 $ 259,820,841 § 6,240,109 § 253,580,732
$ 4,939,335 $ 1,746,721  § 1,063,792 $ 682,929
131,118 359,151 152,381 206,770
— 5,131 — 5,131
646,508 799,643 21,146 778,497
20,315 315,322 20,108 295,214
40,805 841,255 43,165 798,090
591 10,733 — 10,733

(95) (1,226) — (1,226)
41,301 850,762 43,165 807,597
1,201,680 13,168,778 1,178,118 11,990,660
136,730 1,353,138 67,372 1,285,766

(28) (456) — (456)
1,338,382 14,521,460 1,245,490 13,275,970
2,239,216 14,765,563 — 14,765,563
4,279,419 8,730,246 — 8,730,246
35,682 311,571 35,401 276,170

$ 13,671,276 $ 42,405,570 $ 2,581,483 $ 39.824.087
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NOTE 10: PENSION TRUSTS

The California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) provides retirement benefits to eligible
employees of the State, public agencies, and public schools through single-employer, agent multiple-
employer, and cost-sharing plans. The California State Teachers’ Retirement System (CalSTRS) provides
pension benefits to full-time and part-time employees of the State’s public school system. Both are fiduciary
component units of the State, and their financial activity is included in the pension and other employee
benefit trust funds column of the fiduciary funds and similar component units’ financial statements of this
report.

CalPERS administers four defined benefit retirement plans: the Public Employees’ Retirement Fund
(PERF), the Judges’ Retirement Fund (Judges’), the Judges’ Retirement Fund II (Judges’ II), and the
Legislators’ Retirement Fund (Legislators’). CalPERS also administers two defined contribution plans:
the Public Employees’ Deferred Compensation Fund and the Supplemental Contributions Program Fund.

The PERF accounts for the majority of assets and liabilities reported for CalPERS’ plans. CalPERS issues
a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary
information for these plans. The report may be found on CalPERS’ website at www.CalPERS.ca.gov.

Contributions to CalPERS’ pension trust funds are recognized in the period in which the contributions are
due, pursuant to legal requirements. Benefits and refunds in the defined benefit plans are recognized when
due and payable in accordance with the terms of each plan.

CalSTRS administers four defined benefit retirement plans within the State Teachers’ Retirement Plan: the
Defined Benefit Program, the Defined Benefit Supplement Program, the Cash Balance Benefit Program,
and the Replacement Benefits Program. CalSTRS also administers two defined contribution plans: the
Pension2 403(b) Plan and the Pension2 457(b) Plan. CalSTRS issues a publicly available financial report
that includes financial statements and required supplementary information for these plans. This report may
be found on its website at www.CalSTRS.com.

Member contributions to CalSTRS’ pension plans are recognized in the period in which the contributions
are required by statute. Employer and state contributions are recognized when required by statute and when
the employer or the State has made a formal commitment to provide the contributions. Benefits and refunds
are recognized when due and payable, in accordance with the retirement and benefits programs.

Fifty-eight county superior courts (trial courts) are included in the primary government. Either CalPERS
or the counties administer the pension plans in which the trial courts participate.

For the purpose of measuring net pension liability, deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net positions of CalPERS’ plans
and CalSTRS’ plans, and changes to the plans’ fiduciary net positions have been determined on the same
basis as reported by the plans.

The University of California, a discretely presented component unit, administers the University of
California Retirement System (UCRS), which consists of two defined benefit plans funded with University
and employee contributions, and four defined contribution plans with options to participate in internally
or externally managed investment portfolios generally funded with employee non-elective and elective
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contributions. The State does not directly contribute to the UCRS. Additional information on the UCRS
can be found in the University’s separately issued financial statements on its website at www.ucop.edu.

A. California Public Employees’ Retirement System
1. Public Employees’ Retirement Fund (PERF)

Plan Description: The PERF is comprised of and reported as three separate entities for financial reporting
purposes, of which the State reports only PERF A. PERF A is comprised of agent multiple-employer plans,
which include the State of California and most public agencies’ rate plans with more than 100 active
members. PERF B is a cost-sharing multiple-employer plan comprised of school employers and consisting
of non-teaching and non-certified employee members. PERF C is a cost-sharing multiple-employer plan
comprised of public agencies’ plans that generally have fewer than 100 active members. Employers
participating in the PERF as of June 30, 2018, included the primary government and certain discretely
presented component units; 1,313 school employers, including charter schools; and 1,618 public agencies.
As the State is not an employer in PERF B or PERF C, the term PERF is used hereafter to refer exclusively
to the agent multiple-employer plans that include employees of the primary government and certain
discretely presented component units.

CalPERS acts as the common investment and administrative agent for participating employers. State
employees served by the PERF include first- and second-tier miscellaneous and industrial employees,
California Highway Patrol (CHP) employees, peace officers and firefighters, and other safety members.

Benefits Provided: All employees in a covered class of employment who work half-time or more are
eligible to participate in the PERF. The PERF provides retirement, death, disability, and survivor benefits.
Vesting occurs after five years, or after ten years for second-tier employees. The benefit provisions are
established by the Public Employees’ Retirement Law (PERL) and the Public Employees’ Pension Reform
Actof2013 (PEPRA), and are summarized in Appendix B of the State’s June 30, 2017 Actuarial Valuation
Report, which may be found at www.CalPERS.ca.gov/docs/forms-publications/2017-state-valuation.pdf.
In general, retirement benefits for the PERF plans are based on a formula using a member’s years of service
credit, age at retirement, and final compensation (average salary for a defined period of employment).
Retirement formulas vary based on:

* Classification (e.g., miscellaneous, safety, industrial, CHP, or peace officers and firefighters);
* Membership category (pre-PEPRA and post-PEPRA); and
* Specific provisions in employees’ contracts.

The four basic types of retirement are:

» Service Retirement — The normal retirement is a lifetime benefit. In most cases, employees become
eligible for service retirement as early as age 50 with five years of service credit. If the employee
became a member on or after January 1, 2013, he or she must be at least 52 years old with at least
five years of service to retire. Second-tier employees (miscellaneous and industrial) become eligible
at age 55 with at least 10 years of service credit.

* Vested Deferred Retirement — Vested members who leave employment but keep their contribution
balances on deposit with CalPERS are eligible for this benefit.

* Disability Retirement — Vested members who can no longer perform the usual duties of their current
position due to illness or injury may receive this benefit.
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 Industrial Disability Retirement — This benefit is available for eligible safety members, industrial
employees, CHP employees, and peace officers and firefighters who are unable to perform the usual
duties of their current position due to job-related illness or injury.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms: The State’s June 30, 2018 Actuarial Valuation Report provides
information about the number of employees by type covered within the various PERF plans. Table 13
shows the number of employees covered by the benefit terms of each of the PERF plans as of the most
recent valuation.

Table 13

Number of Employees by Type Covered by Benefit Terms — PERF Plans
June 30, 2018

State Peace California
State State State Officers and Highway Total
Miscellaneous  Industrial Safety Firefighters Patrol PERF Plans

Inactive employees or beneficiaries

currently receiving benefits ................ 195,158 14,642 25,749 39,947 9,158 284,654
Inactive employees entitled to but

not yet receiving benefits.................... 61,005 3,566 7,103 7,078 451 79,203
Active employees .........cccovveveueeereenennnes 211,988 20,720 34,291 47,462 7,576 322,037

Total

................................................... 468,151 38,928 67,143 94,487 17,185 685,894

Contributions: Section 20814(c) of PERL requires that the employer contribution rates for all public
employers be determined on an annual basis by the actuary and shall be effective on the July 1 following
notice of a change in the rate. The total plan contributions are determined through CalPERS’ annual actuarial
valuation process. The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs
ofbenefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued
liability. The employer is required to contribute the difference between the actuarially determined rate and
the contribution rate of employees. Employer contribution rates may change if plan contracts are amended.
Payments made by the employer to satisfy contribution requirements that are identified by pension plan
terms as plan member contribution requirements are classified as plan member contributions.
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Table 14 shows the average active employee and the employer contribution rates for each of the PERF
plans as a percentage of annual pay for the measurement period ended June 30, 2018.

Table 14

Contribution Rates — PERF Plans
June 30, 2018

State Peace California
State State State Officers and Highway
Miscellaneous Industrial Safety Firefighters Patrol
Average active employee rate.................... 6.766 % 7.890 % 10.448 % 11.412 % 10.492 %
Employer rate of annual payroll ................ 28.401 20.408 20.574 44.245 54.104
Total......ocooooiiiiiicice 35.167 % 28.298 % 31.022 % 55.657 % 64.596 %

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions: The total pension liability for PERF plans was measured as of
June 30, 2018 (measurement date), by rolling forward the total pension liability determined by the
June 30, 2017 actuarial valuation (valuation date), based on the actuarial methods and assumptions shown
in Table 15.

Table 15

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions — PERF Plans

Valuation date: June 30, 2017

Actuarial cost method: Entry age normal in accordance with the requirements of GASB 68

Actuarial assumptions:

Discount rate 7.15%

Inflation 2.50%

Salary increases Varies by entry age and service

Investment rate of return 7.15% net of pension plan investment expense but without reduction for administrative

expenses; includes inflation
Mortality Mortality rates are based on the 2017 CalPERS Experience Study adopted by the
CalPERS Board and include 15 years of mortality improvements using the Society of
Actuaries 90% of Scale MP 2016.

Post-retirement benefit

Contract COLA up to 2.00% until the Purchasing Power Protection Allowance floor on
adjustments (COLAs)

purchasing power applies, 2.50% thereafter

Discount Rate: The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.15% for the PERF. The
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members
will be made at the current member contribution rates and that contributions from employers will be made
at actuarially determined statutorily required rates. Based on those assumptions, the Plan’s fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members.
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
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benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. The stress test results are presented in the GASB
Crossover Testing Report, which may be found on CalPERS’ website at www.CalPERS.ca.gov/docs/gasb-
crossover-testing-2018.pdf.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block
method in which expected ranges of future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan
investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.

In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account both short and long-term
market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flows. Using historical returns of all
of the funds’ asset classes, expected compound (geometric) returns were calculated over the short-term
(first 10 years) and the long-term (11+ years) using a building-block approach. Using the expected nominal
returns for both short and long-term, the present value of benefits was calculated for each fund. The expected
rate of return was set by calculating the single equivalent expected return that arrived at the same present
value of benefits for cash flows as the one calculated using both short and long-term returns. The expected
rate of return was then set equivalent to the single equivalent rate calculated above and adjusted to account
for assumed administrative expenses.

Table 16 shows the long-term expected geometric real rate of return by asset class for all plans in the PERF.

Table 16

Long-term Expected Real Rate of Return by Asset Class — PERF Plans

Policy Target Real Return Real Return
Asset Class Allocation Years 1-10' Years 11+
GlObal EQUILY ...eeevieiiriiriirtiniertertceeeeerete e 50.0 % 4.80 % 598 %
FixXed INCOME.....eoiiiieiieriieie ettt 28.0 1.00 2.62
INFlAtioN ASSELS......eivieiiirieiiirietiete ettt eer et — 0.77 1.81
Private €qUILY «o.eeovereeeieieeeee et 8.0 6.30 7.23
REAL ASSELS ....vvevieiieiieie ettt 13.0 3.75 4.93
LAQUIAIEY .ottt 1.0 — (0.92)

TOLAL......c.oiiiieieeeee e 100.0 %

! An expected inflation rate of 2.00% used for this period.
% An expected inflation rate of 2.92% used for this period.
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Changes in Net Pension Liability: Table 17 shows changes in net pension liability recognized over the
measurement period for the PERF plans.

Table 17

Changes in Net Pension Liability — PERF Plans

(amounts in thousands)

Balance at June 30,2017 ............................

Changes recognized for the
measurement period:

SEIVICE COSt....viiiiieieieieieieieieeieeeae
Interest on total pension liability.............

Changes of assumptions..........................

Difference between expected and
actual eXPerience. ......oevveverereeneeennenns

Plan to plan resource movement.............
Employer contributions..............c.c...cue..
Employee contributions ..............ccceuueee.

Net investment income ...........................

Benefit payments, including refunds
of employee contributions.....................

Administrative expense................c..........
Other Miscellaneous Income/(Expense).
Net changes............cccooeoeveniniineciee

Balance at June 30, 2018
(Measurement Date) ......................ccococe..

State Miscellaneous State Industrial
Total Plan Net Total Plan Net
Pension Fiduciary Pension Pension Fiduciary Pension
Liability Net Position Liability Liability Net Position Liability
108,789,914 § 72,254,392 $ 36,535,522 $ 4,320,375 § 3,217,701 $ 1,102,674
1,953,761 — 1,953,761 119,521 — 119,521
7,571,997 — 7,571,997 301,134 — 301,134
(1,377,556) — (1,377,556) (54,062) — (54,062)
445,743 — 445,743 (19,063) — (19,063)
— (1,340) 1,340 — 268 (268)
— 7,044,360 (7,044,360) — 241,062 (241,062)
— 870,402 (870,402) — 58,404 (58,404)
— 6,127,761 (6,127,761) — 272,379 (272,379)
(5,865,849) (5,865,849) — (190,683) (190,683) —
— (112,592) 112,592 — (5,014) 5,014
— (213,815) 213,815 — (9,522) 9,522
2,728,096 7,848,927 (5,120,831) 156,847 366,894 (210,047)
111,518,010 $ 80,103,319 $ 31,414,691 $ 4,477,222 § 3,584,595 § 892,627
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State Safety

State Peace Officers and Firefighters

Total Plan Net Total Plan Net
Pension Fiduciary Pension Pension Fiduciary Pension
Liability Net Position Liability Liability Net Position Liability
$ 12,378,808 $ 9,346,634 $ 3,032,174 § 44,752,006 $§ 29,487,988 § 15,264,018
504,383 — 504,383 1,011,482 — 1,011,482
877,944 — 877,944 3,185,628 — 3,185,628
(41,225) — (41,225) (25,104) — (25,104)
(21,592) — (21,592) 354,089 — 354,089
— 532 (532) — (104) 104
— 774,759 (774,759) — 3,068,270 (3,068,270)
— 245,021 (245,021) — 421,662 (421,662)
— 797,214 (797,214) — 2,522,044 (2,522,044)
(578,504) (578,504) — (2,065,007) (2,065,007) —
— (14,565) 14,565 — (45,950) 45,950
— (27,658) 27,658 — (87,261) 87,261
741,006 1,196,799 (455,793) 2,461,088 3,813,654 (1,352,566)
$ 13,119,814 $ 10,543,433 $ 2,576,381 $ 47,213,094 $ 33,301,642 $§ 13,911,452
(continued)
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Table 17 (continued)

Changes in Net Pension Liability — PERF Plans (continued)
(amounts in thousands)

Balance at June 30,2017 .............................

Changes recognized for the
measurement period:

Service cost............

Interest on total pension liability.............

Changes of assumptions..........................

Difference between expected and

actual experience..

Plan to plan resource movement.............

Employer contributions..............c.cceveueeee

Employee contributions..........................

Net investment income ...........................

Benefit payments, including refunds
of employee contributions.....................

Administrative expense................c..........

Other Miscellaneous Income/(Expense).

Net changes...............

Balance at June 30, 2018

(Measurement Date)

California Highway Patrol Total PERF Plans
Total Plan Net Total Plan Net
Pension Fiduciary Pension Pension Fiduciary Pension
Liability Net Position Liability Liability Net Position Liability
$ 12,331,080 $ 7,433,419 $ 4,897,661 $ 182,572,183 $ 121,740,134 $ 60,832,049
248,531 — 248,531 3,837,678 — 3,837,678
878,113 — 878,113 12,814,816 — 12,814,816
12,213 — 12,213 (1,485,734) — (1,485,734)
103,284 — 103,284 862,461 — 862,461
— 330 (330) — 314) 314
— 978,060 (978,060) — 12,106,511 (12,106,511)
— 95,482 (95,482) — 1,690,971 (1,690,971)
— 639,591 (639,591) — 10,358,989 (10,358,989)
(579,080) (579,080) — (9,279,123) (9,279,123) —
— (11,583) 11,583 — (189,704) 189,704
— (21,997) 21,997 — (360,253) 360,253
663,061 1,100,803 (437,742) 6,750,098 14,327,077 (7,576,979)
$ 12,994,141 $ 8,534,222 § 4,459,919 §$ 189,322,281 § 136,067,211 $ 53,255,070
Reported in governmental activities $ 42,593,496
Reported in business-type activities 8,730,246
Reported by discretely presented component units 202,407
Not reported in government-wide Statement of Net Position ' 1,728,921
Total net pension liability — PERF plans $ 53,255,070
(concluded)

"Includes amounts allocated to related organizations and fiduciary funds. Also includes the difference in net pension liability for discretely presented component
units with a reporting period ended December 31, 2018; and minor differences related to amounts reported in separately issued financial statements of
proprietary funds and discretely presented component units.
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Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate: Table 18 shows the net pension
liability of the State, with regard to the PERF plans, calculated using the discount rate of 7.15%, as well
as what the State’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one
percentage point lower (6.15%) or one percentage point higher (8.15%) than the current rate.

Table 18

Net Pension Liability Sensitivity — PERF Plans
June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Current Rate Current Rate Current Rate
-1% 7.15% +1%
State MiSCEllanEouUS .........ocvvivuiiiiiieieeeeeeee et $ 45,036,762 $ 31,414,691 $ 19,999,148
State INAUSTIIAL......oveiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeee e 1,508,621 892,627 384,916
State SATELY ..ovieieiieieieee e 4,314,830 2,576,381 1,137,150
State Peace Officers and Firefighters.........ccocevvevieniievieneennnne. 20,533,784 13,911,452 8,486,562
California Highway Patrol...........ccccoooiiiiiiiiiiieceeeeee 6,306,688 4,459,919 2,949,284
Total PERF Plans ............cccocoviiiiiiiiiieeee e $ 77,700,685 $ 53,255,070 $ 32,957,060

Pension Plans Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about the PERF plans’ fiduciary net position
is available in the separately issued CalPERS financial report.

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions: For
the PERF plans, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, the State recognized pension expense of
$8.6 billion. At June 30, 2019, the State reported deferred outflows of resources from contributions made
by the State to the PERF plans subsequent to the measurement date of June 30, 2018, but prior to the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2019. Differences between expected and actual experience are recognized as deferred
outflows and inflows of resources. The changes of assumptions are recognized as deferred outflows and
inflows of resources. The aggregate difference (positive and negative) between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments arising in different measurement periods are reported as net deferred
outflows of resources. Deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent to the
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the subsequent year.
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Table 19 shows pension expense and sources of deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related
to each PERF plan.

Table 19

Pension Expense and Sources of Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Related to Pensions — PERF Plans

June 30, 2019

(amounts in thousands)

State Peace California
State State State Officers and Highway Total
Miscellaneous  Industrial Safety Firefighters Patrol PERF Plans

Pension Expense................c.cocoo....... $ 4832684 $ 197201 $ 600,680 $ 2263541 $ 667,704 $ 8,561,810
Deferred Outflows of Resources:

Employer contributions 3,794,379 148,790 531,360 1,667,839 514,683 6,657,051

2,833,781 105,193 360,075 1,605,385 448,878 5,353,312

Changes of assumptions

Difference between expected
and actual experience ................... 337,025 10,223

Net difference between projected
and actual earnings on pension
plan investments ..............c........... 324,540 11,545 28,384 107,859 28,059 500,387

Deferred Inflows of Resources:

353,252 158,950 859,450

Difference between expected and
actual experience ..........ccoeevrvevnee. (218,866) (13,456) (76,289) (176,324) (96,278) (581,213)

Changes of assumptions.................. (1,041,567) (38,162) (31,410) (20,083) — (1,131,222)

Table 20 shows amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions that
will be recognized as pension expense in future years for the PERF plans. Increases to pension expense
are shown as positive amounts and decreases to pension expense are shown as negative amounts.

Table 20

Recognition of Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources — PERF Plans
(amounts in thousands)

State Peace California Total
State State State Officers and Highway PERF
Year Ending June 30 Miscellaneous Industrial Safety Firefighters Patrol Plans
2020 § 2,040,495 § 96,332 § 228,196 $ 948,428 $ 264,130 $ 3,577,581
20271 i 1,338,389 26,634 143,512 614,097 183,931 2,306,563
2022 e (938,387) (39,687) (64,771) 227,005 65,982 (749,858)
2023 e (205,584) (7,936) (26,177) 80,559 13,191 (145,947)
2024 ..o — — — 12,375 12,375

Payable to the Pension Plans: At June 30, 2019, the State reported a payable of $845 million for the

outstanding amount of contributions to the PERF pension plans required for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2019.
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2. Single-employer Plans
Plan Description: CalPERS administers three single-employer defined benefit retirement plans.

Judges’ — Judges’ membership includes judges working in the California Supreme Court, the courts of
appeal, and the superior courts who were appointed or elected prior to November 9, 1994. Judges’ is
funded on a “pay-as-you-go” basis, where short-term investments, contributions received during the
year, and a General Fund augmentation are used to provide funding for benefit payments.

Judges’ Il —Judges’ Il membership includes judges working in the California Supreme Court, the courts
of appeal, and the superior courts, who were appointed or elected on or after November 9, 1994. There
are two types of service retirement available for plan members: the Defined Benefit Plan and the
Monetary Credit Plan, in which members can choose a single lump sum payment or annuity at
retirement.

Legislators’— Legislators’ was established in 1947; its members consist of state legislators, constitutional
officers, and legislative statutory officers. The PEPRA closed Legislators’ to new participants effective
January 1, 2013.

Benefits Provided: All employees in a covered class of employment who work on a half-time basis or
more are eligible to participate. The benefits for the defined benefit plans are based on a member’s years
of service, age, final compensation, and a benefit formula. Benefits are provided for disability, death, and
survivors of eligible members or beneficiaries. Members become fully vested in their retirement benefits
earned to date after five years of credited service. Benefits are established in accordance with the provisions
of the Judges’ Retirement Law, Judges’ Retirement System II Law, and Legislators’ Retirement Law.
Additional information is available in the Actuarial Valuation Report for each plan, which may be found
on CalPERS’ website at www.CalPERS.ca.gov.

Judges’ — The four basic types of retirement are:

» Service Retirement — Members must be at least age 60 with 20 years of service or age 70 with at
least 10 years of service.

* Deferred Retirement — Vested members are eligible for deferred retirement at any age with at least
five years of service.

* Disability Retirement (non-work related) — There is no age requirement, but there may be a service
requirement depending on when the member became a judge. The retirement allowance is 65%
of a judge’s final salary, or 75% of his or her final salary if the judge has 20 or more years of
service.

* Disability Retirement (work-related) — There is no age or service requirement if the disability is a
result of work-related injury or disease. The retirement allowance is the same as non-work related
disability retirement.

» Death Benefits — Beneficiaries may receive 25% of a current active judge’s salary for life if the
judge was not eligible for retirement. Beneficiaries receive one-half of what the retirement
allowance would have been if the judge was retired on the date of death.
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Judges’ 11 — The four basic types of retirement are:

» Service Retirement — Judges must be at least age 65 with 20 years of service or age 70 with a
minimum of five years of service to receive the defined benefit plan. Judges must have at least
five years of service to receive the monetary credit plan.

* Disability Retirement (non-work related) — Judges who have five years of service and become
permanently disabled because of a mental or physical disability may apply to the Commission on
Judicial Performance for disability retirement.

» Disability Retirement (work related) — Judges receive 65% of their average monthly salary earned
during the 12 months preceding their retirement date, regardless of age or length of service.

* Death Benefits — Beneficiaries receive the judge’s monetary credits or three times the annual salary
at the time of death, whichever is greater, if the judge was not eligible for retirement. Beneficiaries
receive one-half of the retirement pension for life if the judge was retired on the date of death.

Legislators’ — The three basic types of retirement are:

» Service Retirement — Members must be age 60, with four or more years of service credit, or any
age with 20 or more years. The retirement age for legislative statutory officers is 55, or any age
with 20 years or more of service credit.

» Disability Retirement — Disability retirement uses the same formula as service retirement. There
1s no reduction for members of the Legislature if retirement is before age 60.

* Death Benefits — Beneficiaries have multiple options depending on whether the member was
eligible for retirement or was retired at the time of death.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms: The June 30, 2018 actuarial valuation reports for each single-
employer plan provide information about the number of employees by type covered within the plans.
Table 21 shows the number of employees covered by the benefit terms of each of the single-employer plans
as of the most recent valuation.

Table 21

Number of Employees by Type Covered by Benefit Terms — Single-employer Plans
June 30, 2018

Judges’ Judges’ I1 Legislators’ Total
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits .......... 1,796 218 212 2,226
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits................. 4 1 8 13
ACHIVE EMPLOYEES ....vvevveeieiieieeieeieeiteit et ste ettt sbesbesbesae e ens 170 1,545 7 1,722

TOtal. ..o 1,970 1,764 227 3,961

Contributions: As Judges’ is funded on a “pay-as-you-go” basis, the contributions made will be less than
the actuarially determined contribution requirement of normal cost plus a 10-year amortization of the
unfunded accrued liability. The actual contribution is the estimated amount of benefit payouts during the
year. Currently, Judges’ member contributions are 8.0% of pay. In certain situations, employers make
member contributions.
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Judges’II contribution rates are determined through CalPERS” annual actuarial valuation process as required
by section 75600.5(c) of the PERL. Classic members contribute 8.0% of their annual compensation to the
plan. The base total normal cost rate for PEPRA new members was re-determined in the June 30, 2018
actuarial valuation as 32.104%. The percentage changes in any given year only once the change to the total
normal cost is greater than 1.0% from the base total normal cost. The new member rate should be 50% of
the new normal cost rounded to the nearest quarter percentage.

For Legislators’, contribution rates are determined through CalPERS’ annual actuarial valuation process
as required by section 9358 of the PERL. The minimum employer contribution rate under PEPRA is the

greater of the actuarially determined employer rate or the employer normal cost.

Table 22 shows the average active employee and the employer contribution rates for each of the
single-employer plans as a percentage of annual pay for the measurement period ended June 30, 2018.

Table 22

Contribution Rates — Single-employer Plans
June 30, 2018

Judges’ Judges’ IT Legislators’
Average active emMPlOYEE TALE .....c..evueevirieniieienieeiereeee e “Pay- 8.000 % 7.425 %
Employer rate of annual payroll...........coccevieierieienineieeeseeeeee as-you- 24.964 35.272
TOAL.....oiiiiiicc e go” 32.964 % 42.697 %
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Actuarial Methods and Assumptions: The total pension liability for single-employer plans was measured
as of June 30, 2018 (measurement date), by rolling forward the total pension liability determined by the
June 30, 2017 actuarial valuations (valuation date), based on the actuarial methods and assumptions shown
in Table 23.

Table 23

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions — Single-employer Plans

Valuation date: June 30, 2017

Actuarial cost method: Entry age normal in accordance with the requirements of GASB 68

Actuarial assumptions:

Discount rate Judges’ 3.62%, Judges’ 11 6.65%, Legislators’ 5.25%

Inflation All single-employer plans — 2.50%

Salary increases All single-employer plans —2.75%

Investment rate of return Judges’ 3.62%, Judges’ II 6.65%, Legislators’ 5.25%, net of pension plan investment

without reduction of administrative expense

Mortality Mortality rates are based on the 2017 CalPERS Experience Study adopted by the
CalPERS Board and include 15 years of mortality improvements using the Society of
Actuaries 90% of Scale MP 2016.

Post-retirement benefit Judges’—2.75%
adjustments (COLAs) Judges’ I1 - 2.50%
Legislators’ — 2.50%

Discount Rate: To determine whether the municipal bond rate should be used in the calculation of a
discount rate for each plan, CalPERS stress-tested plans that would most likely result in a discount rate
that would differ from the actuarially assumed discount rate. For the single-employer plans, the following
rates were used:

Judges’ — 3.62%, reflecting the short-term nature of the assets. As the plan is insufficiently funded,
CalPERS uses a discount rate of 3.62%, which falls within a reasonable range of yields on 20-year
tax-exempt general obligation municipal bonds with an average rating of AA.

Judges’II — 6.65%

Legislators’ — 5.25%
With the exception of Judges’, which uses a lower rate of return, the information regarding the discount
rate and the long-term expected real rate of return described previously for the PERF plans is also applicable

to the single-employer plans. GAAP requires that the long-term discount rate should be determined without
reduction for pension plan administrative expense.
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Table 24 shows long-term expected real rates of return by asset class for Judges’ II and Legislators’.

Table 24

Long-term Expected Real Rate of Return by Asset Class — Judges’ II and Legislators’ Plans

Judges’ 11 Legislators’
Current Target Current Target Real Return Real Return
Asset Class Allocation Allocation Years1-10" Years 11+
Global equity......cccervecieriereeierie e 52.0 % 22.0 % 4.80 % 598 %
Global fixed income..........cccoecvevvieverueennennenn 32.0 49.0 1.10 2.62
Inflation SeNSItiVe........cceeeveereeeevieeriieeieeneene 5.0 16.0 0.25 1.46
ComMOUItICS .....veeeveereereeieieeieie e sie e 3.0 5.0 1.50 2.87
Real estate .......ccveveeveeiieieiiciee e 8.0 8.0 3.50 5.00
Total.........cooooiiiieee e, 100.0 % 100.0 %

! An expected inflation rate of 2.00% used for this period.
% An expected inflation rate of 2.92% used for this period.
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Changes in Net Pension Liability: Table 25 shows the changes in net pension liability recognized over
the measurement period for the single-employer plans.

Table 25

Changes in Net Pension Liability — Single-employer Plans
(amounts in thousands)

Judges’ Judges’ 11
Total Plan Net Total Plan Net
Pension Fiduciary Pension Pension Fiduciary Pension
Liability Net Position  Liability/(Asset) Liability Net Position Liability/(Asset)
Balance at June 30, 2017
(Valuation Date)...............ccceoevnnnnnn. $ 3258434 § 48,275  $ 3,210,159 $ 1,411,327 $ 1,356,100 $ 55,227
Changes recognized for the
measurement period:
SEIVICE COSt.....vvivieiiiricieieieieeeieeeieeee 19,131 — 19,131 95,843 — 95,843
Interest on total pension liability ........ 109,395 — 109,395 91,418 — 91,418
Difference between expected
and actual experience .........c....ceee.... (121,259) (121,259) (26,876) (26,876)
Changes of assumptions..................... (20,879) — (20,879) (41,763) — (41,763)
Employer contributions...................... — 199,241 (199,241) — 79,699 (79,699)
Employee contributions...............c..... — 3,061 (3,061) — 27,513 (27,513)
Net investment income....................... — 846 (846) — 101,820 (101,820)
Benefit payments, including
refunds of employee contributions... (207,823) (207,823) — (31,795) (31,795) —
Administrative expense....................... — (2,106) 2,106 — (2,370) 2,370
Other miscellaneous income .............. — (1,863) 1,863 — (5,452) 5,452
Net changes ..................ccooninnnnns (221,435) (8,644) (212,791) 86,827 169,415 (82,588)
Balance at June 30, 2018
(Measurement Date)...................c.e.... $ 3,036,999 $ 39,631 $ 2,997,368 $ 1,498,154 $ 1,525,515 $ (27,361)
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Legislators’ Total Single-employer Plans
Total Plan Net Total Plan Net
Pension Fiduciary Pension Pension Fiduciary Pension
Liability Net Position Liability/(Asset) Liability Net Position Liability/(Asset)
102,760  $ 116,884 $ (14,124) $ 4,772,521 $ 1,521,259 $ 3,251,262
542 — 542 115,516 — 115,516
4,986 — 4,986 205,799 — 205,799
(2,061) (2,061) (150,196) — (150,196)
(2,529) — (2,529) (65,171) — (65,171)
— 467 (467) — 279,407 (279,407)
— 82 (82) — 30,656 (30,656)
— 5,486 (5,486) — 108,152 (108,152)
(6,918) (6,918) — (246,536) (246,536) —
— (671) 671 — (5,147) 5,147
— (1,454) 1,454 — (8,769) 8,769
(5,980) (3,008) (2,972) (140,588) 157,763 (298,351)
96,780 $ 113,876 $ (17,096) $ 4,631,933 $ 1,679,022 § 2,952,911
Reported in governmental activities $ 2,952,911
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Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate: Judges’ net pension liability
was calculated using a discount rate 0of 3.62%; Judges’ Il used 6.65%; and Legislators’used 5.25%. Table 26
shows the net pension liability for each single-employer plan, calculated using the current discount rate,
as well as what the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is
one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the current rate.

Table 26

Net Pension Liability/Asset Sensitivity — Single-employer Plans
June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Current Rate Current Rate Current Rate
-1% +1%
JUAEES™ (3.02%0) 1vveeeeeeeieeieeteete ettt $ 3,321,115 § 2,997,368 $ 2,721,968
JUAEES” IT (6.65%0).c.ueceeeieeieiieeieetieteetete ettt 161,401 (27,361) (178,025)
Legislators’ (5.25%0) «oveeveereieeeeieeee et (5,669) (17,096) (26,437)
Total Single-employer Plans ................c.ccooiviieniicienenieen. $ 3,476,847 $ 2,952,911 $ 2,517,506

Pension Plans Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about the single-employer plans’ fiduciary
net position is available in the separately issued CalPERS financial report.

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions: For
the single-employer plans, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the State recognized pension expense
of $45 million. At June 30, 2019, the State reported deferred outflows of resources from contributions
made by the State to the single-employer plans subsequent to the measurement date of June 30, 2018, but
prior to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, which will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension
liability in the subsequent year.
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Table 27 shows pension expense and sources of deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related
to each single-employer plan.

Table 27

Pension Expense and Sources of Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Related to Pensions — Single-employer Plans

June 30, 2019

(amounts in thousands)

Judges’ Judges’ I  Legislators’ Total
Pension EXPense ..............coccoovvevioiioiioeiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ (14,889) § 61979 $ (2,244) $ 44,846
Deferred Outflows of Resources:
Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date..... 194,189 76,155 261 270,605
Changes of aSSUMPLIONS.......cc.coeveririenenienieieieeeeeeeeeeeene s — 51,925 — 51,925

Net difference between projected and actual earnings
0N Pension plan INVEStMENLS .............ceveveeererevererrerereneeeeresenens 2,007 10,756 3,494 16,257

Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Difference between expected and actual experience .................. — (55,511) (55,511)

Changes of aSSUMPLIONS......cc.coevererrenrenenieiereieeeeeceeeene s — (45,496) — (45,496)

Table 28 shows amounts reported as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions
that will be recognized in pension expense in future years for the single-employer plans. Increases to
pension expense are shown as positive amounts and decreases to pension expense are shown as negative
amounts.

Table 28

Recognition of Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources — Single-employer Plans
(amounts in thousands)

Deferred Outflows

of Resources Deferred Inflows of Resources
Year Ending June 30 Judges’ Judges’ I1 Legislators’ Total
2020 .. $ 923 § 10,874 § 2,325 $ 14,122
2021 oot 565 (4,624) 795 (3,264)
2022 et 373 (16,450) 288 (15,789)
2023 e 146 (9,490) 86 (9,258)
2024 .o (6,033) — (6,033)
Thereafter .......ccocveveviereeieieeieeees — (12,603) — (12,603)
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B. California State Teachers’ Retirement System

The State reports a net pension liability, deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources, and expenses
as a result of its statutory requirement to contribute to the State Teachers’ Retirement Fund as a non-
employer contributing entity.

Plan Description: CalSTRS administers the State Teachers’ Retirement Fund, which is an employee
benefit trust fund created to finance the State Teachers’ Retirement Plan (STRP). The STRP is a cost-
sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan that provides retirement, disability, and survivor
benefits to teachers and certain other employees of the California public school system. Four programs
comprise the STRP: the Defined Benefit (DB) Program, the Defined Benefit Supplement (DBS) Program,
the Cash Balance Benefit (CBB) Program, and the Replacement Benefits (RB) Program. CalSTRS issues
a publicly available financial report, which may be found on CalSTRS’ website at www.CalSTRS.com.

Benefits Provided: Membership in the DB Program is mandatory for all employees meeting certain
statutory requirements. The DB Program provides retirement benefits based on a member’s age, final
compensation, and years of service credit. In addition, the retirement program provides benefits to members
upon disability and to their survivors or beneficiaries upon the death of eligible members. The Teachers’
Retirement Law establishes the benefits for the DB Program. The DB Program had 1,778 contributing
employers, 451,343 active and 204,707 inactive program members, and 308,522 benefit recipients as of
June 30, 2019. The payroll for employees covered by the DB Program for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2018, was approximately $34.8 billion.

Membership in the DBS Program is automatic for all members of the DB Program. The DBS Program
provides benefits based on the amount of funds contributed. Vesting in the DBS Program occurs
automatically with vesting in the DB Program. The Teachers’ Retirement Law establishes the benefits for
the DBS Program. The primary government does not contribute to the DBS Program.

Contributions: The DB Program contribution rates are based on the provisions of AB 1469 and Education
Code section 22955.1(b). The Legislature may amend these provisions at any time and submit the
amendment to the Governor for approval. The contribution rates for members and employers for the
reporting period were 9.21% and 14.43% of creditable compensation, respectively. The General Fund
contributed an additional 4.811% of total creditable compensation of the fiscal year ending in the prior
calendar year. Contributions will increase to 5.311% in the next year and continue to increase until fiscal
year 2045-46. Accordingly, the State contributed a total of $3.1 billion for fiscal year 2018-19. Additionally,
the State made a $2.2 billion supplemental contribution on behalf of employers pursuant to Senate Bill 90.
This supplemental contribution will not impact the State's proportionate share of the net pension liability.
CalSTRS’ June 30, 2017 Defined Benefit Actuarial Valuation Report, may be found on CalSTRS’ website
at www.CalSTRS.com/sites/main/files/file-attachments/2017 db_valuation report.pdf.

The CBB Program is designed for employees of California public schools who are hired to perform
creditable service for less than 50% of the full-time equivalent for the position. Employer participation in
the CBB Program is optional. However, if the employer elects to offer the CBB Program, then each eligible
employee will automatically be covered by the CBB Program, unless the member elects to participate in
the DB Program or an alternative plan provided by the employer within 60 days of hire or the election
period determined by the employer. At June 30,2018, the CBB Program had 29 contributing school districts
and 39,894 contributing participants.
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The RB Program is a qualified excess benefits arrangement for DB Program members that is administered
through a separate pension trust apart from the other three STRP programs; it was established in accordance
with Internal Revenue Code section 415(m). Internal Revenue Code section 415(b) imposes a dollar limit
on the annual retirement benefits an individual may receive from a qualified defined benefit pension plan.
The program is funded as needed. Monthly contributions that would otherwise be credited to the DB
program are instead credited to the RB Program to fund monthly program costs. Monthly employer
contributions are received and paid to members in amounts equal to the benefits not paid as a result of
Internal Revenue Code section 415(b), subject to withholding for any applicable income or employment
taxes. At June 30, 2018, 353 individuals were receiving benefits from the RB program.

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions: The total pension liability in the June 30, 2017 actuarial valuation

(valuation date) was determined using the actuarial methods and assumptions shown in Table 29, applied
to the measurement period ended June 30, 2018.

Table 29

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions — CalSTRS

ValUation AAte.........ooouviiiieiiiiiiee ettt e et e e e e e e e e e eaeeeennees June 30, 2017
EXPErience STUAY .......couieiiiiieiieiieieiee ettt ettt July 1, 2010 through June 30, 2015
Actuarial cost MEthod........c..eoiiiririiriiiiii s Entry age normal
Investment rate Of TETUIT .....cveiiiiiiiiiieiiecr et 7.10%

Consumer price INflation .........ccecveiiiiininiiiiiiese et 2.75%

WAL SIOWLN....cuiiiiiiiiiiiiirt ettt ettt 3.50%

Post-retirement benefit increases (COLAS)......cvvviivieriieiieniieiere et se e 2.00% simple

CalSTRS uses a generational mortality assumption, which involves the use of a base mortality table and
projection scales to reflect expected annual reductions in mortality rate at each age, resulting in increases
in future life expectancies. CalSTRS uses base mortality tables customized to best fit the patterns of
mortality among its members. The projection scale was set to equal to 110% of the ultimate improvement
factor from the Mortality Improvement Scale table, issued by the Society of Actuaries.

Discount Rate: The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.10%. The projection
of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members and
employers will be made at statutory contribution rates in accordance with the rate increases created by
AB 1469. Projected inflows from investment earnings were calculated using the long-term assumed
investment rate of return (7.10%) and assuming that contributions, benefit payments, and administrative
expense occur midyear. Based on those assumptions, the STRP’s fiduciary net position was projected to
be available to make all projected future benefit payments to current plan members. Therefore, the long-
term assumed investment rate of return was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine
the total pension liability.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension
plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. The best estimate ranges
were developed using capital market assumptions from CalSTRS’ general investment consultant as an
input to the process. The actuarial investment rate of return assumption was adopted by the board in 2017
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in conjunction with the most recent experience study. For each future valuation, CalSTRS’ consulting
actuary reviews the return assumption for reasonableness based on the current capital market assumptions.

Table 30 shows the assumed allocation and best estimates of the 20-year geometric real rate of return for
each major asset class.

Table 30

Long-term Expected Real Rate of Return by Asset Class — CalSTRS

Assumed Asset Long-term Expected
Asset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return
(€ 300] oF:1 I<Te 111 2O USSR 47.0 % 6.30 %
Private €qUILY ...cceeoeeeiiieieieeeeee e 13.0 9.30
Real €State .....occuvieiiiiiiciieec et 13.0 5.20
Risk mitigating StrateZies.........ccverrerveerrirreereriereeeeseevesrennens 9.0 2.90
INflation SENSIEIVE.......cccueerieriierieeeie ettt eve et sve e e ens 4.0 3.80
FiXed INCOME......cccviiiiiieiieiie ettt 12.0 0.30
Cash/IQUIAILY ...o.vevveieieieieee s 2.0 (1.00)

TOtaL......ooeii e 100.0 %

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related
to Pensions: CalSTRS’ net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2018 (measurement date), by
applying update procedures and rolling forward the total pension liability determined by the actuarial
valuation as of June 30, 2017 (valuation date). The State’s proportion of the net pension liability was based
on CalSTRS’ calculated non-employer contributions to the pension plan relative to the total contributions
of the State and all participating school districts. Per CalSTRS’ revenue recognition policy, CalSTRS
recognizes state contributions for the entire fiscal year at the beginning of each fiscal year. Contributions
excluded from the proportionate share per CalSTRS’ policy include employer contributions for retirement
incentives, additional service credit, and unused sick leave. As of June 30, 2018, the State’s proportionate
share of the CalSTRS’ net pension liability was 36.41%, or $33.5 billion; this amount is reported in the
governmental activities column of the government-wide Statement of Net Position as of June 30, 2019.
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As a result of its requirement to contribute to CalSTRS, the State recognized expense of $3.8 billion for
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, and reported deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources as
shown in Table 31.

Table 31

Sources of Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions — CalSTRS
June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources

Changes of aSSUMPLIONS ......eeviivieieiieieieesieetesie et ese e eseeeessesseesseesaesseas $ 5,198,477 $ —
Net difference between projected and actual earnings

on Pension plan INVESTMENLS ...........ccuereverereererieneeeieeeee e eee e eeeseeeae e - 1,288,515
Difference between expected and actual eXperiences..........ocvevverveeeverveevenens 103,766 486,060
Proportionate share Change ............cocoiieiiiieiiiiiieeeee e 1,198,591 1,469,971
State contributions subsequent to the measurement date ............cccecveeeneene 3,082,316 —

TOtAL....c..oiiii e e $ 9,583,150 $ 3,244,546

The $3.1 billion reported as deferred outflows of resources resulting from state contributions subsequent
to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2020.

Table 32 shows amounts reported as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions
that will be recognized in pension expense in future years as a result of the State’s requirement to contribute
to CalSTRS. Increases to pension expense are shown as positive amounts and decreases to pension expense
are shown as negative amounts.

Table 32

Recognition of Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources — CalSTRS
(amounts in thousands)

Year Ending June 30 Amount
2020ttt ettt a ettt ea e a e bt e a e e bbbtttk e b ne et ettt eat et aeeueeueerenaee $ 1,075,747
202 et b e et 592,600
20221ttt e h bbbt be e et e ettt bt saee (286,677)
2023ttt bbb et bttt ae bt a e e h ekt h e e a ek b et ettt ean et eaeebeeuenrenaee 898,631
2024 e b e ettt 1,067,785
T REICATTET ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et e e bt et e e st e b e esb e beesseeseessesaeessesseesbeessesbeessesbeessenteensenreenes (91,798)
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Sensitivity of the State’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount
Rate: Table 33 shows the State’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the
discount rate of 7.10%, as well as what the State’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would
be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (6.10%) or one percentage
point higher (8.10%) than the current rate.

Table 33

Net Pension Liability Sensitivity — CalSTRS
June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Current Rate Current Rate Current Rate
1% 7.10% +1%
State’s proportionate share of net pension liability ...................... $ 49,018,529 $ 33,462,420 $ 20,564,895

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about CalSTRS’ pension plans’ fiduciary net
position is available in the separately issued CalSTRS financial report.

C. Trial Court Pension Plans

Plan Description: The 58 trial courts are reported as part of the primary government. Twenty-two of the
trial courts provide pension benefits to their respective employees through cost-sharing multiple-employer
defined benefit plans administered by their respective county public employee retirement systems. Thirty-
six of the trial courts participate in county retirement plans administered by CalPERS. Ofthose participating
in CalPERS plans, 32 trial courts provide pension benefits to their respective employees through agent
multiple-employer defined benefit plans, and one trial court provides pension benefits to its respective
employees through a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit plan. Information pertaining to the
remaining three trial courts that participate in county retirement plans administered by CalPERS will be
presented in future reporting years as available.

Benefits Provided, Contributions, and Employees Covered by Benefit Terms: To obtain information on
eligibility terms, benefits provided, contributions, and actuarial assumptions from individual trial court
pension actuarial valuation reports, email the State Controller’s Office, State Accounting and Reporting
Division at StateGovReports@sco.ca.gov.

Net Pension Liability Actuarial Methods and Assumptions: The net pension liability of 49 trial courts
was measured as of each individual plan’s measurement date, by applying update procedures and rolling
forward the total pension liability determined by the actuarial valuation as of each individual plan’s valuation
date, based on the actuarial methods and assumptions used by each plan. For the 32 agent multiple-employer
defined benefit plans, the net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2018, and valued as of
June 30, 2017. For 12 of the cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit plans, the net pension liability
was measured as of June 30, 2018, and valued as of June 30, 2017. Five of the cost-sharing multiple-
employer plans had a measurement date of June 30, 2018; three of these plans had an actuarial valuation
date of December 31, 2017, and two had a valuation date of January 1, 2018.
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For the remaining six cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit trial court pension plans, the net
pension liability was measured as of the same date the total pension liability was valued for each individual
plan. One of the trial court plans had an actuarial valuation and measurement date of December 31, 2018,
and five plans had an actuarial valuation and measurement date of June 30, 2018.

Table 34 shows selected actuarial assumptions for the trial court pension plans, by plan type.

Table 34

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions — Trial Court Pension Plans

Agent Multiple-Employer Defined Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer
Benefit Pension Plans Defined Benefit Pension Plans
Number of Plans: 32 23
Valuation date(s): June 30, 2017 Twelve plans as of June 30, 2017.

Three plans as of December 31, 2017.
Two plans as of January 1, 2018.
Five plans as of June 30, 2018.

One plan as of December 31, 2018.

Actuarial assumptions:

Discount rate 7.15% Rates ranging from 6.92% to 7.50%

Discount Rates: The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability of the trial courts that
participate in the agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan was 7.15%. The discount rates used
to measure the total pension liability of each trial court that participates in a cost-sharing multiple employer
defined benefit plan ranged from 6.92% to 7.50% as of the respective measurement date.

Pension Accounting Elements: For the trial court pension plans, the State reported total pension liability
of $10.3 billion and fiduciary net position of $8.0 billion, which resulted in a net pension liability of
$2.3 billion as of June 30, 2019. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, the State recognized pension
expense of $305 million. At June 30, 2019, the State reported deferred outflows of resources of
$809 million and deferred inflows of resources of $386 million. The reported deferred outflows of resources
included $280 million from pension contributions the trial courts made subsequent to the measurement
date. These contributions will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2020.

NOTE 11: OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The State provides medical and prescription drug benefits to annuitants and their dependents under the
Public Employees’ Medical and Hospital Care Act, and dental benefits under the State Employees’ Dental
Care Act, through the State of California Retiree Health Benefits Program (Retiree Health Benefits
Program). The Retiree Health Benefits Program consists of a number of defined benefit other
postemployment benefit (OPEB) plans, to which the State contributes as an employer. The State also offers
life insurance, long-term care, and vision benefits to retirees; however, because these benefits are completely
paid for by the retirees, the State has no liability. The design of health and dental benefit plans can be
amended by the CalPERS Board of Administration and the California Department of Human Resources,
respectively. CalPERS is a fiduciary component unit of the State, and its financial activity is included in
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the pension and other employee benefit trust funds column of the fiduciary funds and similar component
units’ financial statements of this report.

Fifty-eight county superior courts (trial courts) are included in the primary government. The trial courts
offer OPEB outside of the Retiree Health Benefits Program and have separately issued actuarial valuation
reports. Additional information related to the trial courts is provided in section B.

For the purpose of measuring net OPEB liability, deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources
related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net positions of the Retiree Health
Benefits Program and the trial court OPEB plans, and changes to the plans’ fiduciary net positions, have
been determined on the same basis as reported by the plans.

The University of California, a discretely presented component unit, administers the University of
California Retiree Health Benefit Trust (UCRHBT), which consists of single-employer OPEB plans that
provide medical, dental, and vision benefits to eligible retirees and their dependents. The costs of medical
and dental benefits are shared between the University and participating retirees. These costs are funded on
a pay-as-you-go basis, and the University does not contribute toward the cost of other benefits available
to retirees. The State does not directly contribute to the UCRHBT. Additional information on the UCRHBT
can be found in the University’s separately issued financial statements on its website at www.ucop.edu.

A. Retiree Health Benefits Program

Plan Description: Employer and retiree contributions to the Retiree Health Benefits Program (the Program)
are established and amended by state law for different groups of employees. Through the collective
bargaining process and through state law, certain bargaining units and judicial employees (valuation groups)
have begun prefunding retiree healthcare and dental benefits. Assets are held in separate state subaccounts
by valuation group within the California Employers’ Retiree Benefit Trust Fund (CERBTF), an agent
multiple-employer trust administered by CalPERS for the prefunding of health, dental, and other non-
pension benefits. In accordance with California Government Code section 22940, assets accumulated in
the CERBTF will be invested and are not available to pay benefits until the earlier of 2046, or the date the
funded ratio of the subaccount of a particular valuation group reaches at least 100% of the actuarially
determined liability for the valuation group, and then only for the purposes of paying benefits of annuitants
and dependents associated with that valuation group.

The Program has 25 different valuation groups that include different categories of employees. Valuation
groups that have accumulated prefunding assets in a CERBTF subaccount are reported as separate OPEB
plans. As of the June 30, 2019 reporting date, these valuation groups included Bargaining Units 2, 5, 6, 7,
8,9,10, 12,13, 16, 18, 19, and the Judicial Branch. The OPEB plans for Bargaining Units 5, 6, 9, and 12
are each reported discretely. The OPEB plans for Bargaining Units 2, 7, 8, 10, 13, 16, 18, 19, and the
Judicial Branch are collectively reported as “Other Funded Plans.” The remaining valuation groups for
which the State made contributions through the CERBTF on a “pay-as-you-go” basis to fund benefit
payments are collectively reported as the “Unfunded Plan.” Prefunding contributions to the CERBTF are
nonrefundable, and state employees have no claims or rights to the assets. CalPERS reports on the CERBTF
as part of its separately issued annual financial statements, which can be obtained from CalPERS on its
website at www.CalPERS.ca.gov.

The OPEB plans have common benefit terms and are valued using common actuarial methods and
assumptions, with the exception of certain demographic and economic assumptions that are specific to
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certain valuation groups. The valuation groups also have different prefunding contribution rates determined
through collective bargaining and state law.

Benefits Provided: Benefit terms are governed by state law and can be amended by the Legislature. To
be eligible for OPEB benefits, annuitants must retire within 120 days of separation from employment.
Survivors of eligible annuitants may also enroll within 60 days of the annuitant’s death. Dependents of
annuitants who are enrolled or eligible to enroll at the time of the annuitant’s death qualify for benefits.

Annuitants who qualify for premium-free Medicare Part A, either on their own or through a spouse, must
enroll in Medicare Part B coverage as soon as they qualify for Medicare Part A. The annuitant must then
enroll in a Medicare supplemental insurance plan sponsored by CalPERS, which lowers the costs of retirees’
health care premiums and provides some coverage beyond Medicare.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms: Detailed information about the number of employees covered
within the OPEB plans is provided in the State of California Retiree Health Benefits Program GASB Nos.
74 and 75 Actuarial Valuation Report as of June 30, 2018 (June 30, 2018 Actuarial Valuation Report), on

the State Controller’s Office website, at www.SCO.ca.gov.

Table 35 shows the number of employees covered by the benefit terms.

Table 35

Number of Employees by Type Covered by Benefit Terms — Retiree Health Benefits Program
June 30, 2018

Inactive employees
or beneficiaries

currently receiving Active

OPEB Plan benefits Employees Total
Bargaining Unit 5 Plan...........c.cccoveiiiiiiiiiiiiciceceeeeeeeeie e 6,598 7,461 14,059
Bargaining Unit 6 Plan.............cc.ccoovvivieiioiioiieieeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 23,707 31,154 54,861
Bargaining Unit 9 Plan..............ccooovviiiiiiiiniciceceeeeeeeeee s 6,868 12,462 19,330
Bargaining Unit 12 Plan...........ccccooevviiiiiiiiiiicieeccceeeeeie e 9,664 12,717 22,381
Other Funded Plans...........c.ccoveeinieiinieecrecicreee s 25,087 38,751 63,838
Unfunded Plan..........oooeiiieeieee e 115,698 169,533 285,231

TOtAL ..o 187,622 272,078 459,700

Note: Inactive employees that are entitled to, but not receiving benefits are not currently being tracked.

Contributions: The contribution requirements of plan members and the State are established and may be
amended by the Legislature, and can be subject to collective bargaining. In accordance with the California
Government Code, the State generally pays 100% of the health insurance premium cost for annuitants,
plus 90% of the additional premium required for the enrollment of annuitants’ family members. The State
generally pays all or a portion of the dental insurance premium cost for annuitants, depending on the
completed years of credited state service at retirement and the dental coverage selected by the annuitant,
as specified in the California Government Code. The State funds the cost of providing health and dental
insurance to annuitants primarily on a “pay-as-you-go” basis, with a modest amount of prefunding for

135



State of California Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

members of Bargaining Units 5, 6, 9, 12, and other funded plans. See Table 38 for details on the fiduciary
net positions of the OPEB plans. The maximum 2018 monthly State contribution was $725 for one-party
coverage, $1,377 for two-party coverage, and $1,766 for family coverage. For the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2018, the State contributed $2.4 billion toward annuitants’ health and dental benefits.

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions: Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes for the
OPEB plans include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the established pattern
of sharing benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial methods and
assumptions used are consistent with a long-term perspective.

For the measurement period ended June 30, 2018 (the measurement date), total OPEB liability for each
plan was based on the actuarial methods and assumptions shown in Table 36.

Table 36

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions — Retiree Health Benefits Program

Valuation date: June 30, 2018
Actuarial cost method: Entry age normal in accordance with the requirements of GASB 75

Actuarial assumptions:

Discount rate Blended rate for each valuation group, consisting of 7.00% when assets are available to
pay benefits, otherwise 20-year Municipal G.O. Bond AA Index rate of 3.62%

Inflation 2.50%
Salary increases Varies by entry age and service
Investment rate of return 7.00%, net of OPEB plan investment expenses but without reduction for OPEB

plan administrative expenses

Healthcare cost trend rates Pre-Medicare coverage: Actual rates for 2019, increasing to 7.50% in 2020, decreasing
0.50% per year to an ultimate rate of 4.50% for 2026 and later years

Post-Medicare coverage: Actualrates for 2019, increasing to 8.00% in 2020, decreasing
0.50% per year to an ultimate rate of 4.50% for 2027 and later years

Dental coverage: 0.26% in 2019 and 4.50% thereafter
Mortality Derived using CalPERS’ membership data for all members

Other demographic assumptions used in the June 30, 2018 valuation were based on the results of the 2077
CalPERS Experience Study and Review of Actuarial Assumptions report for the period from 1997 to 2015
and included updates to termination, disability, mortality assumptions, and retirement rates. The CalPERS
experience study can be obtained from CalPERS’ website at www.CalPERS.ca.gov.

Healthcare-related assumptions such as plan participation, aging factors, adjustments for disabled members,
and adjustments for children of current retirees and survivors are based on the 2015 experience study
performed by Gabriel, Roeder, Smith and Company (GRS) for the period from 2007 to 2014. Other
healthcare assumptions such as member healthcare plan selection, coverage and continuance, select and
ultimate healthcare cost trend rates, and per capita claim costs and expenses, are based on the most current
information available. To obtain a copy of the GRS experience study email the State Controller’s Office,
State Accounting and Reporting Division, at StateGovReports@sco.ca.gov.
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Investment Rate of Return: The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was
determined by Gabriel, Roeder, Smith & Company using a building-block method in which expected future
real rates of return (expected returns, net of OPEB plan investment expense and inflation) are developed
for each major asset class. Expected compound (geometric) returns were calculated over a closed period.
Based on separate expected nominal returns for the short-term (first 10 years) and the long-term (11+ years),
a single expected return rate of 7.00% was calculated for the combined short-term and long-term periods.
If applied to expected cash flows during that period, the resulting present value of benefits is expected to
be consistent with the present value of benefits that would be determined by applying the short and long-

term expected rates to the same cash flows. The rate of return was calculated using the capital market
assumptions.

Table 37 shows the long-term expected real rate of return by asset class.

Table 37

Long-term Expected Real Rate of Return by Asset Class

Target Asset Real Return Real Return
Asset Class Allocation Years 1-10' Years 11+
Global EQUILY ..oeveeeieiieiiee et 59.0 % 4.80 % 598 %
Fixed INCOME......ceeiiieieiieiecieeeceete ettt s 25.0 1.10 2.62
Treasury Inflation-Protected Securities...........ccceevvereniineenencenne. 5.0 0.25 1.46
Real Estate Investment Trusts .......c.ccceevvievieeiieriieeie e 8.0 3.50 5.00
COMMOUILIES ....eevvivieniieiieieeiesie et ete e ebe e esbeeeaesseesseeseensesseennes 3.0 1.50 2.87

TOtAL........oiiiieee e e 100.0 %

' An expected inflation rate of 2.00% used for this period.
% An expected inflation rate of 2.92% used for this period.

137



State of California Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

Discount Rates: The blended rates used to measure the June 30, 2018 total OPEB liability consist of the
20-year Municipal G.O. Bond AA Index rate of 3.62% as of June 30, 2018, as reported by Fidelity, when
prefunding assets are not available to pay benefits, and 7.00% when prefunding assets are available to pay
benefits. The cash flow projections used to calculate the blended discount rates were developed assuming
that prefunding agreements in which actuarially determined normal costs are shared between employees
and the State will continue and that the required contributions will be made on time and as scheduled in
future years. The prefunding agreements are subject to collective bargaining and legislative approval.
Detailed information on the blended discount rates by valuation group is available in the State of California
Retiree Health Benefits Program GASB Nos. 74 and 75 Actuarial Valuation Report as of June 30, 2018,
on the State Controller s Office website, at www.SCO.ca.gov.

Blended rates for the June 30, 2019 valuation will be determined using the Fidelity Index 20-year Municipal
G.O. Bond AA Index rate of 3.13% when prefunding assets are not available to pay benefits.

In June 2020, the State Controller’s Office and its contracted actuary determined that the full funding
discount rate to be used in the State of California Retiree Health Benefits Program GASB Nos. 74 and 75
Actuarial Valuation Report as of June 30, 2019, will be lowered from 7.00% to 6.75%. In addition, both
the price inflation assumption and the wage inflation assumption will be reduced by 0.25%. Excluding
other changes in assumptions impacting the net OPEB liabilities, a reduction to the discount rate would
increase the net OPEB liabilities starting in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. The net effect of this
assumption change will be amortized over the average expected remaining service lives of the plan members
in the actuarial valuation.
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Changes in Net OPEB Liability: Table 38 shows the changes in net OPEB liability for the OPEB plans,
recognized over the measurement period.

Table 38

Changes in Net OPEB Liability
(amounts in thousands)

Bargaining Unit 5 Plan

Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB
Liability Net Position Liability
Balance at June 30, 2017 ........ccooveoeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 4,542,103 $ 246,662 $ 4,295,441
Changes recognized for the
measurement period:
SEIVICE COSE ittt ettt ettt eesaee e s 146,042 — 146,042
Interest on total OPEB liability .........cccccoeeeviecienieceiene, 195,713 — 195,713
Difference between expected and actual experiences'......... (108,271) — (108,271)
Changes of asSUMPLIONS ......cocvrreieriirierierienieeieresreneeneeens (137,150) — (137,150)
Employer contributions.............cceeveeeevreeienreeeenreeeeseene e — 137,594 (137,594)
Employee contributions...........cccceereevereeeieneecienieeeeseeee e — 4,089 (4,089)
Net INVeStMENt INCOME .........oeiveeviieeeeieeeiie e eeeeeeeen — 20,988 (20,988)
Benefit payments.........cccecevverieeienienieieeiee e (77,897) (77,897) —
AdMINiStrative EXPEeNSe.........cvveeveerveereerreeresreeeesreenesseenennns — (144) 144
Net Changes...........ccooiviiiieiieeeee e 18,437 84,630 (66,193)
Balance at June 30, 2018
(Measurement Date)....................cccoeoiieiiiiiiiieceeceeeee. $ 4,560,540 $ 331,292 $ 4,229,248

"Includes differences between projected pay-as-you-go contributions, based on expected benefit payments, disclosed in the State of California Retiree Health
Benefits Program — GASB No. 74 and 75 Actuarial Valuation Report as of June 30, 2018, and the actual pay-as-you-go contributions allocated to plans.
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Bargaining Unit 6 Plan Bargaining Unit 9 Plan

Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB

Liability Net Position Liability Liability Net Position Liability
$ 15,211,352 § 185,155 § 15,026,197  $ 4,402,387 $ 38,829 $ 4,363,558
531,916 — 531,916 142,954 — 142,954
634,360 — 634,360 174,062 — 174,062
(1,186,530) — (1,186,530) (334,650) — (334,650)
(164,236) — (164,236) (200,549) — (200,549)
— 392,849 (392,849) — 90,966 (90,966)
— 65,245 (65,245) — 5,688 (5,688)
— 17,235 (17,235) — 3,246 (3,246)
(327,604) (327,604) — (85,278) (85,278) —
— (128) 128 — (22) 22
(512,094) 147,597 (659,691) (303,461) 14,600 (318,061)
$ 14,699,258 $ 332,752 § 14,366,506  $ 4,098,926 $ 53,429 $ 4,045,497
(continued)
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Table 38 (continued)

Changes in Net OPEB Liability (continued)
(amounts in thousands)

Bargaining Unit 12 Plan

Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB
Liability Net Position Liability
Balance at June 30, 2017 ...........cc.ooooeevieiiiieieeeceeee e, $ 4,317,850 $ 10,206 $ 4,307,644
Changes recognized for the
measurement period:
SEIVICE COSE ..ttt e e e e eaae e 146,732 — 146,732
Interest on total OPEB liability ..........cccoovvevieniecienieiennenen, 172,744 — 172,744
Difference between expected and actual experiences'......... (362,455) — (362,455)
Changes of aSSUMPLIONS .......ccverveeieriieieniieienieeeesreeeeseeennes (166,573) — (166,573)
Employer contributions............cceeeeeveeieerieienreeeeereeee e, — 122,515 (122,515)
Employee contributions............cceeeverieeiereecieneeeeneeseeseeennes — 8,280 (8,280)
Net Investment iNCOME........c.ccvevveeeerreeeeireereereereereereereenns — 1,051 (1,051)
Benefit payments...........cccevvrveriieieniieiene e (114,235) (114,235) —
AdmInistrative eXPense..........cveeueeeeireeeeireeeeereereereesreereenns — 9) 9
Net ChANEES .........c.ooviiiiiicieeceeee s (323,787) 17,602 (341,389)
Balance at June 30, 2018
(Measurement Date) .................ccoooeeevieveiieceeeiereeeereenne, $ 3,994,063 $ 27,808 $ 3,966,255

"Includes differences between projected pay-as-you-go contributions, based on expected benefit payments, disclosed in the State of California Retiree Health
Benefits Program — GASB No. 74 and 75 Actuarial Valuation Report as of June 30, 2018, and the actual pay-as-you-go contributions allocated to plans.

% The valuation groups that comprise the Unfunded and Other Funded plans shifted from the prior year.
* Restated
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Other Funded Plans’ Unfunded Plan®
Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB
Liability Net Position Liability Liability Net Position Liability

$ 12,699917 $ 57,956 * § 12,641,961 50,334,009 $ $ 50,334,009
501,028 — 501,028 2,008,794 2,008,794

523,258 — 523,258 1,959,522 — 1,959,522
(1,033,520) — (1,033,520) (4,164,211) (4,164,211)
(304,299) — (304,299) (1,766,620) — (1,766,620)
— 321,533 (321,533) — 1,352,652 (1,352,652)

— 32,759 (32,759) — — —

— 5,578 (5,578) — —

(288,774) (288,774) — (1,352,652) (1,352,652) —

— 47) 47 — —
(602,307) 71,049 (673,356) (3,315,167) — (3,315,167)

$ 12,097,610 $ 129,005 11,968,605 47,018,842 $ — 3 47,018,842
(continued)
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Table 38 (continued)

Changes in Net OPEB Liability (continued)
(amounts in thousands)

Total
Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB
Liability Net Position Liability
Balance at June 30, 2017 ...........ccooooiviviieeeeeeeeees $ 91,507,618 $ 538,808 $ 90,968,810
Changes recognized for the
measurement period:
SEIVICE COSE ..ttt e e e eaae e e 3,477,466 — 3,477,466
Interest on total OPEB liability ..........cccoovvevienievienieienenen, 3,659,659 — 3,659,659
Difference between expected and actual experiences'......... (7,189,637) — (7,189,637)
Changes of aSSUMPLIONS .......ccverveeieriieieniieienieeeesreeeeseeennes (2,739,427) — (2,739,427)
Employer contributions............ccceeeeeveeieereeienreeeeereeee e — 2,418,109 (2,418,109)
Employee contributions............cceeeverieeiereecieneeeeneeseeseeennes — 116,061 (116,061)
Net Investment iNCOME........c.ccvevveeeerreeeeireereereereereereereenns — 48,098 (48,098)
Benefit payments...........cccevvrveriieieniieiene e (2,246,440) (2,246,440) —
AdmInistrative eXPense..........cveeueeeeireeeeireeeeereereereesreereenns — (350) 350
Net ChANEES .........c.ooviiiiiicieeceeee s (5,038,379) 335,478 (5,373,857)
Balance at June 30, 2018
(Measurement Date) .................ccoooeeevieveiieceeeiereeeereenne, $ 86,469,239 $ 874,286 $ 85,594,953

Reported in governmental activities $ 67,793,987

Reported in business-type activities 14,765,563

Reported by discretely presented component units 334,141

Not reported in government-wide Statement of Net Position 2,701,262
Total net OPEB liability $ 85,594,953

(concluded)

"Includes differences between projected pay-as-you-go contributions, based on expected benefit payments, disclosed in the State of California Retiree Health
Benefits Program — GASB No. 74 and 75 Actuarial Valuation Report as of June 30, 2018, and the actual pay-as-you-go contributions allocated to plans.

* Includes amounts allocated to related organizations and fiduciary funds. Also includes the difference in net OPEB liability for discretely presented component
units with a reporting period ended December 31, 2018; and minor differences related to amounts reported in separately issued financial statements of
proprietary funds and discretely presented component units.
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Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in Blended Discount Rates: Table 39 shows the net
OPEB liability for each plan as of the measurement date, calculated using their respective blended discount
rates ranging from 3.62% to 4.28%, as well as what the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated
using rates that are one percentage-point lower or one percentage-point higher than the blended
discount rates.

Table 39

Net OPEB Liability Sensitivity to Changes in Blended Discount Rates
June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Blended Blended
Discount Rates Blended Discount Rates

OPEB Plan Blended Rate -1% Discount Rates +1%
Bargaining Unit 5 Plan ....................... 4.28% $ 5,144,023  $ 4,229,248  $ 3,519,534
Bargaining Unit 6 Plan ....................... 4.13% 17,237,517 14,366,506 12,132,067
Bargaining Unit 9 Plan ....................... 3.95% 4,768,695 4,045,497 3,466,633
Bargaining Unit 12 Plan ..................... 4.01% 4,639,054 3,966,255 3,426,534
Other Funded Plans.............ccccoveennenn. 3.91% to 4.16% 14,163,917 11,968,605 10,229,910
Unfunded Plan ..........cccoeovveeviiinnennns 3.62% to 4.22% 55,150,622 47,018,842 40,507,058

Total $ 101,103,828 $ 85,594,953 § 73,281,736

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rates: Table 40 shows
the net OPEB liability for each plan as of the measurement date, calculated using the select and ultimate
healthcare cost trend rates presented in Table 36, as well as what the net OPEB liability would be if it were
calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are one percentage-point lower or one percentage-point
higher than the healthcare cost trend rates presented in Table 36.

Table 40

Net OPEB Liability Sensitivity to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rates
June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Healthcare Cost Healthcare Cost
Trend Rates Healthcare Cost Trend Rates

OPEB Plan -1% Trend Rates +1%
Bargaining Unit 5 Plan..........ccocoeoivveivieiiieieieeeeceeeeeveeevenas $ 3,572,416  $ 4,229,248  § 5,084,616
Bargaining Unit 6 Plan........c..coocooiiiiiiiiiniiiecceeee, 12,356,587 14,366,506 16,959,344
Bargaining Unit 9 Plan..........ccoccoeiiiriinieiiecee e 3,529,470 4,045,497 4,700,881
Bargaining Unit 12 Plan.........ccecevievieniicienieiececieseeieeens 3,492,470 3,966,255 4,562,862
Other Funded Plans............cccoooiiiiiiiiiceee e 10,395,971 11,968,605 13,986,316
Unfunded Plan............coooiiioiiiiiiee e 41,230,847 47,018,842 54,393,210
Total ..o $ 74,577,761 $ 85,594,953 § 99,687,229

OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about the OPEB plans’ fiduciary net positions
is available in the separate report issued by CalPERS, at www.CalPERS.ca.gov.
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OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB: The State
recognized OPEB expense for the OPEB plans of $3.9 billion for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019.
Deferred inflows of resources are recognized for changes of assumptions and for the difference between
expected and actual experience. Net deferred inflows of resources are recognized for the aggregate

difference (positive and negative) between projected and actual earnings on the OPEB plans’ investments
occurring in different measurement periods.

As of June 30, 2019, the State reported OPEB expense and deferred outflows and deferred inflows of
resources as shown in Table 41.

Table 41

OPEB Expense and Sources of Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB
June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Bargaining Bargaining Bargaining Bargaining
Description Unit 5 Plan Unit 6 Plan Unit 9 Plan Unit 12 Plan

OPEB EXPENSE ........ooovviviiiiiiieieeieeeeee et $ 211,481 $ 623273 $ 141,453  $ 148,476
Deferred Outflows of Resources:

Employer contributions subsequent
to the measurement date...........ccccoeeeeeiicreiieneniieeeneeenes 137,475 445,061 102,971 137,758
Difference between expected and actual experiences'

Changes of assumptions

Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on OPEB plan investments

.................................................. — 725 227
Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Difference between expected and actual experiences' ......... (92,709) (1,002,767) (281,477) (303,373)
Changes of asSUMPIONS.........c.ccevrerreeriereerieieieeeee e (453,727) (1,278,117) (482,169) (423,061)
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on OPEB plan investments ...........cecuevveevereerierierieneneneeennns (5,080) (4,310) (1,122) (164)

"Includes differences between projected pay-as-you-go contributions, based on expected benefit payments, disclosed in the State of California Retiree

Health Benefits Program — GASB No. 74 and 75 Actuarial Valuation Report as of June 30, 2018, and the actual pay-as-you-go contributions allocated to
plans.

The $2.7 billion reported as deferred outflows of resources resulting from state contributions subsequent

to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2020.
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Other Funded
Plans Unfunded Plan Total
$ 597,178  $ 2,212,772 3,934,632
366,050 1,493,023 2,682,338
6,046 65,560 71,606
3,784 3,784
785 1,737
(892,240) (3,596,708) (6,169,274)
(1,183,887) (5,276,785) (9,097,746)
(395) (11,071)

147



State of California Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

Table 42 shows amounts for each plan reported as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources
related to OPEB that will be recognized as OPEB expense in future years. Increases to OPEB expense are
shown as positive amounts and decreases to OPEB expense are shown as negative amounts.

Table 42

Recognition of Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB
(amounts in thousands)

Year Ending June 30

OPEB Plan 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Thereafter
Bargaining Unit 5 ............. $  (106,096) § (106,096) § (106,096) § (104,604) $ (94,853) § (33,771)
Bargaining Unit 6 ............. (459,745) (459,745) (459,747) (458,308) (351,357) (95,567)
Bargaining Unit 9 ............. (166,664) (166,664) (166,666) (154,765) (85,038) (24,971)
Bargaining Unit 12 ........... (161,394) (161,394) (161,396) (144,329) (86,234) (11,624)
Other Funded Plans........... (387,835) (387,835) (372,518) (349,820) (277,663) (290,236)
Unfunded Plan................... (1,718,893) (1,637,260)  (1,543,773) (1,511,066) (1,415,401) (981,540)

Total ......ccooevvriiiene, $ (3,000,627) $ (2,918,994) § (2,810,196) $ (2,722,892) $ (2,310,546) $ (1,437,709)

B. Trial Court OPEB Plans

Plan Description: The 58 trial courts are reported as part of the primary government, but each trial court
may utilize a separate OPEB plan, where OPEB is offered to employees, and obtain a separate actuarial
valuation report for GASB Statement No. 75 reporting purposes. One trial court (Los Angeles) participates
in an agent multiple-employer defined benefit OPEB plan, three trial courts (Alameda, Orange, and San
Diego) participate in county administered cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit OPEB plans,
and forty-nine trial courts participate in single-employer defined benefit OPEB plans. Five trial courts
(Fresno, Mendocino, Modoc, San Benito, and Stanislaus) do not have an OPEB plan.

Benefits Provided, Contributions, and Employees Covered by Benefit Terms: To obtain information on
eligibility terms, benefits provided, contributions, and actuarial assumptions from individual trial court
OPEB actuarial valuation reports, email the State Controller’s Office, State Accounting and Reporting
Division at StateGovReports@sco.ca.gov.

Net OPEB Liability Actuarial Methods and Assumptions: For two of the trial court valuations, the net
OPEB liability was measured as of December 31, 2018 (measurement date), and the remaining 51 valuations
had a measurement date of June 30, 2018. One of the courts had an actuarial valuation date of
December 31, 2018, another had an actuarial valuation date of June 30, 2018, and 51 courts were valued
as of June 30, 2017.
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Table 43 shows selected actuarial assumptions for the trial court OPEB plans, by plan type.

Table 43

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions — Trial Court OPEB Plans

Valuation date:

Actuarial assumptions:

Discount rate

Healthcare cost trend rates

Single-Employer Defined Benefit
OPEB Plans

Agent Multiple-Employer Defined
Benefit OPEB Plan

Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer
Defined Benefit OPEB Plans

June 30, 2017

Blended and single rates ranging from
3.62% to 7.28%.

Initial rate 0£6.90% in 2019, gradually
decreasing to an ultimate rate 0of4.40%
over 57 years per the Society of

June 30, 2017

Blended rate of 3.70%.

Initial rate 0£6.90%1in 2019, gradually
decreasing to an ultimate rate 0£4.40%
over 57 years per the Society of

One plan as of June 30, 2017.
One plan as of June 30, 2018.
One plan as of December 31, 2018.

Single rates ranging from 7.00% to
7.25%.

Initial rates ranging from 6.25% to
7.50%, decreasing gradually to
ultimate rates ranging from 4.00% to

Actuaries Getzen model. Actuaries Getzen model. 4.50% in 2028 and later years.

Discount Rates: The discount rates used to measure the total OPEB liability were based on either a single
or a blended rate for each trial court. The blended rates used to measure the June 30, 2018 total OPEB
liability consist of the 20-year Municipal G.O. Bond AA Index rate of 3.62% as of June 30, 2018, when
prefunding assets are not available to pay benetfits, and full funding discount rates ranging from 4.95% to
7.28% when prefunding assets are available to pay benefits. Single rates range from 4.95% to 7.28%. The
projections of cash flows used to determine the discount rates assumed that plan contributions will be made
according to funding policy, benefits will be paid out of OPEB trusts until assets are depleted, and employer
contributions will first be applied to employee service costs in each period.

OPEB Accounting Elements: For the trial court OPEB plans, the State reported total OPEB liability of
$1.9 billion and fiduciary net position of $213 million, which resulted in a net OPEB liability of $1.6 billion
as of June 30, 2019, reported in governmental activities. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, the State
recognized OPEB expense of $96 million. At June 30, 2019, the State reported deferred outflows of
resources of $70 million and deferred inflows of resources of $188 million. Deferred outflows of resources
included $64 million from OPEB contributions made subsequent to the measurement date, which will be
recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.

NOTE 12: COMMERCIAL PAPER AND OTHER LONG-TERM BORROWINGS

The primary government has two commercial paper borrowing programs: a general obligation commercial
paper program and an enterprise fund commercial paper program for the Department of Water Resources.
Commercial paper (new issuance or rollover notes that replace maturing new issuances) may be issued at
the prevailing market rate, not to exceed 11% for the general obligation and 12% for the Department of
Water Resources enterprise fund program, for periods not to exceed 270 days from the date of issuance.
The proceeds from the initial issuance of commercial paper are used for voter-approved projects of the
general obligation bond program and certain state water projects. For both commercial paper borrowing
programs, the commercial paper is retired by the issuance of long-term debt, so commercial paper is
considered a noncurrent liability.
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To provide liquidity for the programs, the State has entered into revolving credit agreements with credit
providers such as commercial banks, which total the maximum authorized issuance of general obligation
and enterprise fund commercial paper notes. As of June 30, 2019, there were no borrowings with the banks
under the revolving credit agreements. The current “Letter of Credit” agreements for the general obligation
commercial paper program authorize the issuance of notes in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed
$2.3 billion. As of June 30, 2019, the general obligation commercial paper program had $1.0 billion in
outstanding commercial paper notes for governmental activities. The current agreements for the enterprise
fund commercial paper program authorize the issuance of notes in an aggregate principal amount not to
exceed $1.4 billion. As of June 30, 2019, the enterprise fund commercial paper program had $690 million
in outstanding notes.

The primary government has a bond anticipation note program that consists of borrowing for capital
improvements on certain California State University campuses. As of June 30, 2019, $110 million in
outstanding bond anticipation notes existed in anticipation of the primary government issuing revenue
bonds to the public.

The University of California, a discretely presented component unit, has a commercial paper program and
other uncollateralized borrowings. Additional disclosures for the University’s commercial paper and other
long-term borrowings are included in the University’s separately issued financial statements, which can
be obtained from the University on its website at www.ucop.edu.

NOTE 13: LEASES

The aggregate amount of lease commitments for facilities and equipment of the primary government in
effect as of June 30, 2019, was approximately $2.1 billion. Primary government leases that are classified
as operating leases, in accordance with the applicable standards, contain clauses providing for termination.
Operating lease expenditures are recognized as being incurred over the lease term. Operating lease
expenditures for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, amounted to approximately $269 million for
governmental activities and $35 million for business-type activities. It is expected that, in the normal course
of business, most of these operating leases will be replaced by similar leases.

The total present value of net minimum capital lease payments for the primary government is $750 million.
Note 9, Long-term Obligations, reports current additions and deductions for these capital lease obligations.
The California State University, an enterprise fund, and the State Public Works Board (SPWB), an internal
service fund, entered into lease-purchase agreements amounting to a present value of net minimum lease
payments of $149 million, which are included in the capital lease commitments. This amount represents
19.9% of the total present value of minimum capital lease payments of the primary government. Also
included in the capital lease commitments are lease-purchase agreements to acquire equipment. Total assets
related to capital leases have a net carrying value of $254 million for governmental activities and
$177 million for business-type activities.

The capital lease commitments do not include $8.0 billion in lease-purchase agreements with the SPWB
and $73 million in lease purchase agreements with building authorities that are blended component units.
The SPWB and the building authorities acquire or develop office buildings and then lease the facilities to
state agencies. Upon expiration of the lease, title passes to the primary government. The costs of the
buildings and the related outstanding revenue bonds are reported as governmental activities in the
government-wide financial statements. Accordingly, the lease receivables and capital lease obligations
associated with these buildings are not included in the government-wide financial statements.
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The University of California, a discretely presented component unit, leases land, buildings, and equipment
under agreements recorded as operating leases. Additional disclosure for the University’s lease obligations
is included in its separately issued financial statements that may be found on its website at www.ucop.edu.

Table 44 summarizes future minimum lease commitments of the primary government.

Table 44

Schedule of Future Minimum Lease Commitments — Primary Government
(amounts in thousands)

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities
Operating Capital Operating Capital
Year Ending June 30 Leases Leases Leases Leases Total

2020t § 248,065 § 98,880 $ 40,388 $ 37,303 § 424,636
2021 e 184,421 82,557 31,053 35,970 334,001
2022ttt 132,436 62,063 26,910 34,606 256,015
2023 93,258 45,202 15,996 33,462 187,918
2024 49,561 22,985 13,598 32,500 118,644
20252029 ..o 109,808 88,813 47,589 141,958 388,168
2030-2034 ... 52,957 80,406 14,234 126,095 273,692
20352039 .. 1,124 52,641 3,579 39,648 96,992
2040-2044 ... 556 6,897 1,885 4,775 14,113
2045-2049 107 — 1,465 — 1,572
2050-2054 107 — — — 107
2055-2059 76 — — — 76
20600-2004 ..o 5 — — — 5
Total minimum lease payments ...................c.c.c...... $ 872,481 540,444 $ 196,697 486,317 $ 2,095,939
Less: amount representing interest - 105,568 - 170,995 -
Present value of net minimum lease payments...... 434,876 315,322

Less: current portion ............cceceevvevverieriesesreeeeeenennns 71,747 20,108

Capital lease obligation, net of current portion .... $ 363,129 $ 295214

NOTE 14: COMMITMENTS

As of June 30, 2019, the primary government had commitments of $7.5 billion for certain highway
construction projects. These commitments are not included as a liability in the Federal Fund or the
Transportation Fund because future expenditures related to these commitments will be reimbursed with
$6.5 billion from proceeds of approved federal grants and $1.0 billion from local governments. The primary
government also had other commitments for which the future expenditures will be reimbursed by the
proceeds of approved federal grants of $773 million for various education programs, $518 million for
terrorism prevention and disaster-preparedness response projects, $354 million for services under the
workforce development program, $234 million for services provided under various public health programs,
$36 million for community service programs, $25 million for services provided under the child support
program, $9 million for environmental regulatory oversight activities, and $3 million for services provided
under the welfare program.
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The primary government had other commitments, totaling $14.2 billion, that are not included as a liability
on the Balance Sheet or the Statement of Net Position. The $14.2 billion in commitments includes grant
agreements totaling approximately $8.5 billion to reimburse other entities for construction projects for
school building aid, parks, transportation-related infrastructure, housing, and other improvements; and to
reimburse counties and cities for costs associated with various programs. Any assets that have been
constructed will not belong to the primary government, whose payments are contingent upon the other
entities entering into construction contracts. The $14.2 billion in commitments includes $2.3 billion for
undisbursed loan commitments to qualified agencies for clean water projects and $318 million in
undisbursed loan commitments for various programs aimed at providing housing and emergency shelter
to persons in need.

The $14.2 billion in commitments also includes contracts of $1.0 billion for the construction of water
projects and the purchase and transmission of power that are not included as a liability on the Statement
of Net Position of the Water Resources Fund. Included in this amount are certain power purchase, sale,
and exchange contracts. The primary government had commitments of $1.0 billion for CSU construction
projects. In addition, CSU participates in forward-purchase contracts of electricity. As of June 30, 2019,
CSU’s obligation under these special purchase arrangements requires it to purchase at fixed prices an
estimated total of $15 million in electricity through December 2020. The primary government also had
commitments of $31 million to veterans for the purchase of properties under contracts of sale. The California
State Lottery Commission had commitments of $1.1 billion for gaming and telecommunication systems
and services. These are long-term projects, and all of the contracts’ needs may not have been defined. The
projects will be funded with existing and future program resources or with the proceeds of revenue and
general obligation bonds.

AsofJune 30,2019, the primary government encumbered expenditures of $2.9 billion for the General Fund,
$4.0 billion for the Transportation Fund, $1.8 billion for the Environmental and Natural Resources Fund,
$19 million for the Health Care Related Programs Fund, and $900 million for the nonmajor governmental
funds. See Note 2A, Budgeting and Budgetary Control, for an explanation of the primary government’s
policy concerning encumbrances.

As of June 30, 2019, the discretely presented and fiduciary component units had other commitments that
were not included as liabilities on the corresponding Statement of Net Position. Additional disclosure for
the University of California’s commitments is included in its separately issued financial statements, which
may be found on its website at www.ucop.edu. Additional disclosure for the California Housing Finance
Agency’s (CalHFA) commitments is included in its separately issued financial statements, which may be
found on its website at www.CalHFA.ca.gov. Additional disclosure for the California Public Employees’
Retirement System’s (CalPERS) commitments is included in its separately issued financial statements,
which may be found on its website at www.CalPERS.ca.gov. Additional disclosure for the California State
Teachers’ Retirement System’s (CalSTRS) commitments is included in its separately issued financial
statements, which may be found on its website at www.CalSTRS.com.

NOTE 15: GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS

The State Constitution permits the primary government to issue general obligation bonds for specific
purposes and in such amounts as approved by a two-thirds vote of both houses of the Legislature and by
a majority of voters in a general or direct primary election. The debt service for general obligation bonds
is appropriated from the General Fund. Under the State Constitution, the General Fund is used first to
support the public school system and public institutions of higher education; the General Fund can then
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be used to service the debt on outstanding general obligation bonds. Enterprise funds and certain other
funds reimburse the General Fund for any debt service that it provides on their behalf. General obligation
bonds that are directly related to, and are expected to be paid from, the resources of enterprise funds are
included as a liability of such funds in the financial statements. However, the General Fund may be liable
for the payment of any principal and interest on these bonds that is not met from the resources of such
enterprise funds.

As of June 30, 2019, the State had $72.7 billion in outstanding general obligation bonds related to
governmental activities and $841 million related to business-type activities. In addition, $36.6 billion in
long-term general obligation bonds had been authorized but not issued, of which $35.5 billion is related
to governmental activities and $1.1 billion is related to business-type activities. The total amount authorized
but not issued includes $12.8 billion authorized by the applicable finance committees for issuance in the
form of commercial paper notes. Of this amount, $1.0 billion in general obligation indebtedness in the
form of commercial paper notes was not yet retired by long-term bonds.

A. Variable-rate General Obligation Bonds

The State issues both fixed and variable-rate general obligation bonds. As of June 30, 2019, the State had
$3.0 billion in variable-rate general obligation bonds outstanding, consisting of $902 million in daily-rate
bonds with credit enhancement, $1.1 billion in weekly-rate bonds with credit enhancement, and $1.0 billion
in weekly- or monthly- index floating rate bonds without credit enhancement. The interest rates associated
with the credit-enhanced bonds are determined by the remarketing agents to be the lowest rate that would
allow the bonds to sell on the effective date of such rate at a price (without regard to accrued interest) equal
to 100% of the principal amount. The interest rates associated with the unenhanced index floating rate
bonds are determined either by a rate based on the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association
(SIFMA) Index rate or a predetermined percentage of the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) then
in effect plus a pre-determined spread. The interest on variable-rate bonds is generally paid on the first
business day of each calendar month.

The credit-enhanced bonds are secured by letters of credit that secure payment of principal and interest on
the bonds. The State has entered into different credit agreements with various banks (credit providers) for
one or more series of credit-enhanced bonds. Under these credit agreements, the credit providers agree to
pay all principal and interest payments to the bondholders up to a commitment amount identified in the
applicable credit agreement; the State is then required to reimburse the credit providers for the amounts
paid. In return, the credit providers are compensated with commitment fees that are calculated as a
percentage of the applicable commitment amount. The bondholders have the right to tender the bonds daily
if the bonds are in a daily-rate mode and weekly if the bonds are in a weekly-rate mode. Upon a tender,
the remarketing agent will attempt to remarket the tendered bond to a new investor. If the remarketing of
the tendered bond is unsuccessful, the bond will be purchased by the applicable credit provider and become
a bank bond and accrue interest at higher rates, which cannot exceed 11% as permitted by law until
remarketed, redeemed, or paid at maturity. If a bond cannot be remarketed and remains a bank bond for a
period ranging from 45 days to 180 days, the bond will be subject to amortization payments in equal
installments under the terms stated in the applicable credit agreement. The amortization period may exceed
the expiration date of the applicable credit agreement. A bank bond may be remarketed at any time during
the amortization period. There were no bank bonds during fiscal year 2018-19.

The letters of credit for the Series 2003 variable-rate bonds have expiration dates of January 15, 2021;
September 7, 2021; March 25, 2022; August 26, 2022; and August 28, 2023. The letters of credit for the
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Series 2004 variable-rate bonds have expiration dates of September 7, 2021; October 1, 2021; and
January 16, 2024. The letters of credit for the Series 2005 variable-rate bonds have expiration dates of
November 4, 2019; November 15, 2019; May 1, 2020; March 26, 2021; and September 22, 2023. The
Series 2012A index floating rate bonds have a mandatory redemption date on May 1, 2021. The Series
2012B index floating rate bonds have fixed maturities on May 1, 2020. The Series 2013B, 2013C, 2013D,
and 2013E index floating rate bonds have scheduled mandatory purchase dates on December 1,2020 (Series
2013C and Series 2013D); December 1, 2022 (Series 2013B); and December 1, 2023 (Series 2013E). The
Series 2016B and 2017C index floating rate bonds have scheduled mandatory purchase dates on December
1,2021 (Series 2016B) and April 1, 2022 (Series 2017C).

Sinking fund deposits for the variable-rate general obligation bonds are set aside in a sinking fund at the
beginning of each fiscal year; such deposits are required and will continue for each fiscal year with scheduled
sinking fund payments. The deposits set aside in any fiscal year may be applied, with approval of the State
Treasurer and the appropriate bond finance committees, to the redemption or purchase and retirement of
any other general obligation bonds (bonds other than the bonds to which the sinking fund deposits relate)
then outstanding. If a sinking fund deposit is not applied by January 31 of that fiscal year to such other
bonds, the State Treasurer will selectthe related variable-rate general obligation bonds that will be redeemed
in whole or in part on an interest payment date in that fiscal year. The required sinking fund deposits were
set aside for fiscal year 2018-19.

B. Mandatory Tender Bonds

As of June 30, 2019, the State had $1.7 billion in outstanding general obligation bonds with scheduled
mandatory tender dates, including $750 million with a fixed interest rate and $925 million with an index
floating rate (discussed in Section A). On their respective scheduled mandatory tender dates, these bonds
are subject to mandatory tender for purchase at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount, plus accrued
interest, without premium, unless the bonds have been called for redemption or remarketed on or prior to
that day. These bonds have scheduled mandatory tender dates on December 2, 2019; April 1, 2020;
December 1, 2020; December 1, 2021; April 1, 2022; December 1, 2022; and December 1, 2023. In the
event bonds are not redeemed or there is an unsuccessful remarketing of all the outstanding bonds for a
particular scheduled mandatory tender date, the bonds will enter into a delayed remarketing period and
accrue interest at a higher effective interest rate, in most cases gradually increasing on a stepped basis until
they are remarketed, redeemed, or paid at maturity. Bonds in this delayed remarketing period can be
redeemed or remarketed on any business day, with limited prior notice. Current state laws limit interest
rates to 11% per annum.

C. Build America Bonds

As of June 30, 2019, the State had $13.5 billion in taxable various-purpose general obligation bonds
outstanding that were issued as “Build America Bonds” under the American Recovery and Reinvestment
Act of 2009 (ARRA) signed into law on February 17, 2009. The bonds will mature between 2020 and
2040. Pursuant to ARRA, the State receives a cash subsidy payment from the U. S. Treasury equal to 35%
of the interest payable by the State on the Build America Bonds on or near each interest payment date.
Subsequent federal legislation reduced the Build America Bonds subsidy by 6.6% for the federal fiscal
year ending September 30, 2018, and by 6.2% for the federal fiscal year ending September 30, 2019. The
cash payment does not constitute a full faith and credit guarantee of the federal government, but is required
to be paid by the U. S. Treasury under ARRA. The subsidy payments are deposited into the State’s
General Fund.
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D. Debt Service Requirements

Table 45 shows the debt service requirements for all general obligation bonds as of June 30, 2019. The
estimated debt service requirements for the $3.0 billion variable-rate general obligation bonds are calculated
using the actual interest rates in effect on June 30, 2019. For mandatory tender bonds, the debt service
requirements shown in Table 45 are based on the assumption that the interest rate will remain in effect until
the applicable reset dates and that the bonds will be fully redeemed on their scheduled maturity dates. The
amounts include scheduled mandatory sinking fund redemptions but do not reflect any interest subsidy
under the Build America Bonds program or any other offsets to general fund costs of debt service.

Table 45

Schedule of Debt Service Requirements for General Obligation Bonds
(amounts in thousands)

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities
Year Ending June 30 Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Total
2020 $ 3,368,325 § 3,652,126 $§ 7,020,451 § 43,165 $ 28,330 $ 71,495
2021 i 3,389,550 3,509,288 6,898,838 34,835 26,639 61,474
2022t 3,419,230 3,354,940 6,774,170 19,235 25,827 45,062
2023 3,001,850 3,196,782 6,198,632 15,720 25,384 41,104
2024 ..ot 2,952,420 3,063,496 6,015,916 8,235 25,110 33,345
2025 -2029 ...covvrieeen 15,390,365 13,310,231 28,700,596 91,760 120,483 212,243
2030-2034 ...ccoirieeee 15,372,190 9,845,976 25,218,166 213,615 93,792 307,407
2035-2039 .o 15,275,520 5,714,354 20,989,874 163,935 59,862 223,797
2040 -2044 ....coeoveeen 7,779,010 1,578,687 9,357,697 138,605 33,150 171,755
2045 -2049 ...cooevieeen 2,702,965 296,179 2,999,144 109,760 9,205 118,965
2050 — — — 2,390 48 2,438
Total........ccooovviiiinn, $ 72,651,425 § 47,522,059 § 120,173,484 $ 841,255 § 447,830 $ 1,289,085

E. General Obligation Bond Defeasances
1. Current Year Activity

On September 18, 2018, the primary government issued $881 million in general obligation bonds to current
refund $1.0 billion in outstanding general obligation bonds with principal redemptions scheduled in the
fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 to 2031, 2034, and 2037 to 2038. As a result, the refunded bonds are
considered defeased and the liability for those bonds has been removed from the financial statements. The
refunding decreased overall debt service by $253 million and resulted in an economic gain of $205 million.
The economic gain is the difference between the present value of the old debt service requirements and
the present value of the new debt service requirements, discounted at 2.46% per year over the life of the
new bonds.

On March 14, 2019, the primary government issued $2.0 billion in general obligation bonds to current
refund $2.3 billion in outstanding general obligation bonds with principal redemptions scheduled in the
fiscal years ended June 30, 2020, 2030 to 2033, and 2035 to 2038. As a result, the refunded bonds are
considered defeased and the liability for those bonds has been removed from the financial statements. The
refunding decreased overall debt service by $1.0 billion and resulted in an economic gain of $739 million.
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The economic gain is the difference between the present value of the old debt service requirements and
the present value of the new debt service requirements, discounted at 2.63% per year over the life of the
new bonds.

On April 18,2019, the primary government issued $1.6 billion in general obligation bonds to current refund
$1.9 billion in outstanding general obligation bonds with principal redemptions scheduled in 2020 to 2029.
As aresult, the refunded bonds are considered defeased and the liability for those bonds has been removed
from the financial statements. The refunding decreased overall debt service by $404 million and resulted
in an economic gain of $363 million. The economic gain is the difference between the present value of the
old debt service requirements and the present value of the new debt service requirements, discounted at
2.12% per year over the life of the new bonds.

2. Outstanding Balance

In the current and prior years, the primary government placed the proceeds of the refunding bonds and
other resources in a special irrevocable escrow trust account with the State Treasury to provide for all future
debt service payments on defeased bonds. The assets of the trust accounts and liability for defeased bonds
are not included in the State’s financial statements. As of June 30, 2019, the outstanding balance of defeased
general obligation bonds was approximately $1.5 billion.

NOTE 16: REVENUE BONDS
A. Governmental Activities

The State Treasurer is authorized by state law to issue Federal Highway Grant Anticipation Revenue
Vehicles (GARVEE bonds). The purpose of these bonds is to accelerate the funding and construction of
critical transportation infrastructure projects to provide congestion relief benefits to the public significantly
sooner than with traditional funding mechanisms. These bonds are secured and payable from the annual
federal appropriation for the State’s federal-aid transportation projects. The primary government has no
legal liability for the payment of principal and interest on these revenue bonds. Total principal and interest
remaining on the bonds is $11 million, payable through 2020. In addition, the California Alternative Energy
and Advanced Transportation Financing Authority is authorized to issue Clean Renewable Energy Bonds
to fund the acquisition and installation of certain transportation-related solar energy facilities located
throughout the State. Both of these bonds finance activity in the Transportation Fund and are included in
the governmental activities column of the government-wide Statement of Net Position.

The Golden State Tobacco Securitization Corporation (GSTSC), a blended component unit, as authorized
by state law, has issued asset-backed bonds to purchase 100% of the State’s rights to future revenues from
the Master Settlement Agreement with participating tobacco companies. These bonds are secured by and
payable solely from future Tobacco Settlement Revenue and interest earned on that revenue. The primary
government has no legal liability for the payment of principal and interest on the bonds. The Legislature
has annually granted a General Fund appropriation for payment of debt service in the event tobacco
settlement revenues and other available amounts prove insufficient to make these payments during the next
fiscal year. However, the use of the appropriated monies has never been required. Total principal and interest
remaining on all asset-backed bonds is $14.0 billion, payable through 2047. All of the Tobacco Settlement
Revenue and interest has been pledged in support of these asset-backed bonds. Principal and interest paid
in the current year totaled $1.2 billion, while Tobacco Settlement Revenue and interest earned totaled
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$446 million. These bonds are included in the governmental activities column of the government-wide
Statement of Net Position.

Under state law, the State Public Works Board (SPWB), an agency that accounts for its activity in the Public
Buildings Construction Fund, an internal service fund, and certain building authorities may issue revenue
bonds. These bonds are issued for the purpose of designing, acquiring, or constructing state buildings,
related improvements, and equipment. Leases with state agencies pay the principal and interest on the
revenue bonds issued by the Public Buildings Construction Fund and building authorities. The General
Fund has no legal liability for the payment of principal and interest on these revenue bonds. Total principal
and interest remaining on the bonds is $12.5 billion, payable through 2044. These revenue bonds are
included in the governmental activities column of the government-wide Statement of Net Position.

For the specific debt service coverage ratios, refer to the Schedule of Pledged Revenue Coverage in the
Statistical Section.

B. Business-type Activities

Revenue bonds that are directly related to, and are expected to be paid from, the resources of enterprise
funds are included in the accounts of such funds. Principal and interest on revenue bonds are payable from
the pledged revenues of the respective funds of agencies that issued the bonds. The General Fund has no
legal liability for payment of principal and interest on revenue bonds. For specific debt service coverage
ratios, refer to the Schedule of Pledged Revenue Coverage in the Statistical Section.

Revenue bonds to acquire, construct, or renovate state facilities or to refund outstanding revenue bonds in
advance of maturity are issued for water resources, financing of electric power purchases for resale to
utility customers, state university campuses, and certain nonmajor enterprise funds.

Revenue bonds related to two enterprise funds contain provisions that define events of default related to
punctuality of the payment of the outstanding principal and interest, which could result in acceleration of
debt payments.

C. Discretely Presented Component Units

The University of California issues revenue bonds to finance various auxiliary, administrative, academic,
medical center, and research facilities. The revenue bonds are not collateralized by any encumbrance,
mortgage, or other pledge of property except pledged revenues, and do not constitute general obligations
ofthe University. For more information regarding revenue bonds, current year defeasances, and outstanding
defeasances of the University, refer to its separately issued financial report for fiscal year 2018-19, which
may be found on its website at www.ucop.edu.

Under state law, the California Housing Finance Agency (CalHFA) issues fixed-rate and variable-rate
revenue bonds to fund loans to qualified borrowers for single-family houses and multifamily developments.
Variable-rate debt is typically related to remarketed rates or common indices, such as the Securities Industry
and Financial Markets Association (SIFMA) or the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) and is reset
periodically. CalHFA issues both federally taxable and tax-exempt bonds. The bonds issued by CalHFA
are payable solely from and collateralized by revenues and other pledged assets. For more information
regarding revenue bonds, current year defeasances, and outstanding defeasances of the CalHFA, refer to
its separately issued financial report for fiscal year 2018-19, which may be found on its website at
www.CalHFA.ca.gov.
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Table 46 shows outstanding revenue bonds of the primary government and the discretely presented
component units.

Table 46

Schedule of Revenue Bonds Payable

June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Primary government
Governmental activities

Transportation FUNd............ccooiiiiiiiiiiieiiecceeeeeee ettt ettt ettt et teeae s s sseseneas $ 13,082
Public Buildings Construction FUnd............ccccoiieriiiiiiiiieiecieeeeeeeeee e 9,015,944

Nonmajor governmental funds:
Golden State Tobacco Securitization Corporation Fund .............ccocceeviivieviiiieniiieeceeeeeeene 6,572,733
BUuilding @QUtNOTITIES ......vecvieiieiiiiieiiceeie ettt ettt e e e beesaesaeessesseessesssessesssessesssensens 109,901
Total governmental aCtiVities................ccoeviiiiiiiiiiiiii e 15,711,660

Business-type activities
ELeCtric POWET FUNA........coviiiiiiieeee et e e e e e e eneeeenns 2,543,000
Water ReSOUICES FUNA ........oooiiiiiiiiceeee et eraeeeaeeeenes 3,222,577
California State UNIVEISILY ...c.cccverviieiereriesieetesteetesteestesteetesseeeestessesseessesssessesssessesssessesssesseessenns 6,831,764
Nonmajor enterpriSe fUNAS........ccveieiieieeiereeeee ettt sttt sttt et et eseeneesseennesnes 1,924,119
Total business-type aCtiVIties.................ccoooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiceeceeee e 14,521,460
Total Primary GOVErMMENT ...............c.cooiiiiiiiiieeieeitie e eiee et e e eteesaeebeesaeebeessseenseenseas 30,233,120
Discretely presented component units

University Of CalifOrnia.........ccoeieiieieriieieseeieceee ettt e e ae e sesnnenseas 23,020,473
California Housing Finance AZENCY .......c.cccveueriirrieriieiineieteeiestesteseeseesteseaessesaesseensesseessenseesenns 1,181,933
NONMAJOIr COMPONECIE UNILS......veereierereieeresteetesteeaesstesestessesseessesssesseessesseensesseesesseessesssessesssesses 458,151
Total discretely presented component Units.................ccoocuevieriiiienincieneeieneeee e 24,660,557
Total revenue bonds payable................ccooooiiiiiiiiiiiii e $ 54,893,677
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Table 47 shows the debt service requirements for fixed-rate and variable-rate bonds. Itexcludes unamortized
premiums and discounts that are included in Table 46.

Table 47

Schedule of Debt Service Requirements for Revenue Bonds
(amounts in thousands)

Primary Government Discretely Presented
Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Component Units

Year Ending June 30 Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest *
2020, $ 680,891 $ 685,380 $ 1,178,118 $§ 596,432 $ 744,855 $ 1,045,973
2021 e, 645,521 653,960 1,233,725 540,249 762,960 1,030,079
2022, 625,186 623,527 1,327,545 485,908 526,595 1,003,499
2023 ., 505,401 594,198 484,010 429,048 579,575 979,598
2024 ..., 575,811 584,971 491,790 405,125 590,720 955,099
2025-2029 ............... 3,192,928 2,527,817 2,438,840 1,677,535 3,929,595 4,289,802
2030-2034 ............... 3,311,655 1,678,848 2,334,770 1,099,388 4,270,010 3,351,318
2035-2039 ............... 2,414,035 976,178 1,685,255 615,823 3,940,245 2,411,607
2040-2044 ............... 1,534,490 623,359 1,042,460 323,617 3,545,253 1,452,261
2045-2049 ............... 1,354,332 2,730,267 779,220 107,355 2,408,700 721,469
2050-2054 ............... — — 173,045 8,578 371,335 393,953
2055-2116................ — — — — 1,455,080 3,889,474

Total ..., $ 14,840,250 $ 11,678,505 § 13,168,778 $ 6,289,058 §$ 23,124,923 § 21,524,132

* Includes interest on variable-rate bonds based on rates in effect on June 30, 2019.

D. Revenue Bond Defeasances
1. Current Year — Governmental Activities

In August 2018, the GSTSC issued $711 million in Tobacco Settlement Asset-Backed bonds. The bond
proceeds were used to current refund $694 million in outstanding Tobacco Settlement Asset-Backed bonds
with maturities in June of 2047. The refunding decreased debt service payments by $151 million and
resulted in an economic gain of $3 million.

2. Current Year — Business-type Activities

In August 2018, the California State University issued $10 million in systemwide revenue bonds to current
refund certain outstanding systemwide revenue bonds. Portions of the proceeds from the refunding bonds
were deposited in escrow accounts to provide for all future debt service payments on the refunded bonds.
As aresult, the refunded bonds are considered defeased and the liability for those bonds has been removed
from the financial statements. The refunding decreased debt service payments by $2 million and resulted
in an economic gain of $2 million.

In October 2018, the Department of Water Resources issued $215 million of tax-exempt water system
revenue bonds to pay off or refund certain outstanding debt obligations. A portion of the revenue bond
proceeds, along with additional resources, was deposited in an escrow account to refund $109 million of
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outstanding water system revenue bonds, and to provide for all future debt service payments on the refunded
bonds. As a result, the refunded bonds are considered defeased and the liability for those bonds has been
removed from the financial statements. The refunding decreased debt service payments by $3 million and
resulted in an economic gain of $2 million.

3. Outstanding Balances

In current and prior fiscal years, the primary government placed the proceeds of the refunding bonds and
otherresources in irrevocable trust accounts to provide for all future debt service requirements. Accordingly,
the assets and liabilities for these defeased bonds are not included in the financial statements. As of
June 30, 2019, the outstanding balances of defeased revenue bonds were $875 million for governmental
activities and $819 million for business-type activities.

NOTE 17: RISK MANAGEMENT

The primary government has elected, with a few exceptions, to be self-insured against loss or liability. The
primary government generally does not maintain reserves. Losses are covered by appropriations from each
fund responsible for payment in the year in which the payment occurs. The State is permissively self-
insured and, barring any extraordinary catastrophic event, the potential amount of loss faced by the State
is not considered material in relation to the primary government’s financial position. Generally, the
exceptions are when a bond resolution or a contract requires the primary government to purchase commercial
insurance for coverage against property loss or liability. There have been no significant reductions in
insurance coverage from the prior year. In addition, no insurance settlement in the last three years has
exceeded insurance coverage. All claim payments are on a ‘“pay-as-you-go” basis, with workers’
compensation benefits for self-insured agencies initially being paid by the State Compensation Insurance
Fund.

The discounted liability for unpaid self-insurance claims of the primary government is estimated to be
$4.4 billion as of June 30, 2019. This estimate is primarily based on actuarial reviews of the State’s workers’
compensation program and includes indemnity payments to claimants, as well as all other costs of providing
workers’ compensation benefits, such as medical care and rehabilitation. The estimate also includes the
liability for unpaid services fees, industrial disability leave benefits, and incurred-but-not-reported amounts.
The estimated total liability of approximately $6.2 billion is discounted to $4.4 billion using a 3.5% interest
rate. Of the total discounted liability, $473 million is a current liability, of which $330 million is included
in the General Fund, $140 million in the special revenue funds, and $3 million in the internal service funds.
The remaining $3.9 billion is reported as other noncurrent liabilities in the government-wide Statement of
Net Position.

The University of California, a discretely presented component unit, is self-insured or insured through a
wholly-owned captive insurance company. Additional disclosures for the University’s risk management
and self-insurance claims liability is included in its separately issued financial statements, which can be
obtained from the University on its website at www.ucop.edu.
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Table 48 shows the changes in the self-insurance claims liability for the primary government.

Table 48

Schedule of Changes in Self-insurance Claims

Year Ended June 30
(amounts in thousands)

2019 2018
Unpaid claims, DEZINNING ........eceerieiieiiieiietiee ettt ete st ee st eae st etesseeeeeseesesneeeeens $ 4307537 $ 4,041,294
INCUITEA CLAIMIS....veiiii i ettt e e ettt e e e e et e e e e s sntaeeeessennaneeessesnnnes 641,653 731,749
ClAIM PAYIMEILS ....eeuvieeietieiieeieeie ettt et et e ste e e st enteseeeneesseeseeneesseeneesseensesseensesseenseeneenseans (512,470) (465,506)
Unpaid claims, ending ..............cccoooiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeee et $ 4,436,720 $ 4,307,537
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NOTE 18: INTERFUND BALANCES AND TRANSFERS

A. Interfund Balances

Short-term interfund receivables and payables result from the time lag between the dates on which goods
and services are delivered and the dates on which payments between entities are made. In addition, the
majority of the fiduciary funds’ amount due from the General Fund, the Federal Trust Fund, and the Health
Care Related Programs Fund is to pay for Medi-Cal and other health-care related expenditures accrued in

the Health Care Deposit Fund.

Table 49 shows the amounts due from and due to other funds.

Table 49

Schedule of Due From Other Funds and Due To Other Funds

June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Due To
Environmental Health Care
and Natural Related Nonmajor Electric
General Transportation Resources Programs Governmental Power
Due From Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Fund
Governmental funds
General Fund...........cccooevevvereninnennnns $ — 307,053 $ 215461 § — 3 200,727 $ —
Federal Fund ..........ccceovveieieiiienns 1,262,724 1,244,144 73,347 49,913 29,543 —
Transportation Fund............ccccoeenee — — — — 330,800 —
Environmental and Natural
Resources Fund.........ccoeevevveeveenennns - 54,415 - - 25 -
Health Care Related
Programs Fund...........cccooevrinennne 1,403,708 - 7 — 10,888 —
Nonmajor governmental funds ........ 361,001 24,205 37,231 5,416 38,464 —
Total governmental funds........... 3,027,433 1,629,817 326,046 55,329 610,447 —
Enterprise funds
Electric Power Fund..........c..c.......... 55 — — — — —
Water Resources Fund .................... 1,535 — — — — —
State Lottery Fund.........c.cooeeeennnnee — — — — 441,283 —
Unemployment Programs Fund....... 71,513 — — — — —
California State University Fund...... 3,425 — — — — —
Nonmajor enterprise funds 4,589 606 16,102 — 1,498 —
Total enterprise funds . 81,117 606 16,102 — 442,781 —
Internal service funds ..................... 17,938 45,193 57,852 5,377 44,505 7,720
Total due from other funds..... $ 3,126,488 $ 1,675,616 $ 400,000 $ 60,706 $ 1,097,733 § 7,720

162



Notes to the Financial Statements

Due To
California
Water State Unemployment State Nonmajor Internal Total
Resources Lottery Programs University Enterprise Service Fiduciary Due To
Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds Funds Other Funds

$ — 3 975  § — 3 342§ 809 § 271,045 § 5,124,089 § 6,120,501
— — 3,456 — 19,960 61,218 20,444,923 23,189,228

— — — — — 19,606 67,202 417,608

— — — — 2,007 15,506 — 71,953

— — — — — 169 4,736,764 6,151,536

— — — 10,786 100 71,778 28,673 577,654

— 975 3,456 11,128 22,876 439,322 30,401,651 36,528,480

— — — — — 183 — 238

— — — — — 50,821 — 52,356

— — — — — — — 441,283

— — — — — — — 71,513

— — — — — 18,441 — 21,866

— — — — — 3 36 22,834

— — — — — 69,448 36 610,090

1,582 3,358 18,753 49 9,382 99,421 17,523 328,653

$ 1,582 $ 4333 §$ 22,209 $ 11,177 $ 32,258 $ 608,191 $ 30,419,210 $ 37,467,223
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Interfund receivables and payables are the result of interfund loans that are not expected to be repaid within
one year. In addition to the temporary interfund cash-flow borrowing shown in Table 49, annual enacted
budgets provide for long-term loans from many of the State’s special funds—mainly the Transportation
Fund, the Environmental and Natural Resources Fund, and nonmajor governmental funds—to the General
Fund. The $1.2 billion in Transportation Fund loans payable from the General Fund also includes
$236 million in deferred Proposition 42 transfers for traffic congestion relief.

In fiscal year 2017-18, a supplemental employer contribution was made to the California Public Employees’
Retirement System (CalPERS) to help reduce the State’s net pension liability. The supplemental employer
contribution was funded through a cash loan from borrowable deposits in the State’s internal investment
pool—mainly from the Environmental and Natural Resources Fund and nonmajor governmental funds.
The General Fund and other funds that normally contribute to CalPERS and benefit from the supplemental
contribution will repay the loan and replenish the internal investment pool deposits. The table below includes
an outstanding balance of $3.5 billion of interfund loans. There is an additional $204 million reported as
loans receivable from entities outside of the State’s primary government.

Table 50 shows the primary government’s interfund receivables and payables.

Table 50

Schedule of Interfund Receivables and Payables

June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Interfund Payables

Environmental Health Care

and Natural Related
General Transportation Resources Programs
Interfund Receivables Fund Fund Fund Fund
Governmental funds
General Fund...........ccooieieiiiiiiiicecececeeeeeens $ — § 1,231,260 $ 1,590,994 § 216,643
Transportation Fund ............coccoiiiiiiiiiiiiee — — 244,499 39,063
RSO Ut o e 158474 10,000 — —
Nonmajor governmental funds.............ccecvervierennne 68,687 1,448 397 63
Total governmental funds.................c.oceeenrnnnn. 227,161 1,242,708 1,835,890 255,769
Enterprise funds
Electric Power Fund...........ccooveviiiiiienieciicieeiee — — 303 49
Water Resources Fund.............cccooooviiiiiiiicccc. — — 28,723 4,589
State Lottery Fund..........ccooevieviieienieeieeeeee — — 6,487 1,037
California State University Fund..............cccccoeeennen. — — 66,681 10,653
Nonmajor enterprise funds..........ccoeeveevereeeierernenen. 20,150 — 924 148
Total enterprise funds..................oceevreienrnnnnnen. 20,150 — 103,118 16,476
Internal service funds.....................cccoveeiiiiinn. 926,359 35,633 5,693
Total interfund receivables.............................. $ 1,173,670 $ 1,242,708 $ 1,974,641 $ 277,938

164



Notes to the Financial Statements

Interfund Payables
Nonmajor Water Unemployment Nonmajor Internal Total
Governmental  Resources Programs Enterprise Service Fiduciary Interfund
Funds Fund Fund Funds Funds Funds Payables
$ 886,700 § — 706,206 $ 9,696 $ 17,531 $ 155,163 $ 4,814,193
110,775 — 85,144 1,748 937 27,977 510,143
7,406 — — 2,689 — 178,569
147 — 138 3 — 46 70,929
1,005,028 — 791,488 11,447 21,157 183,186 5,573,834
113 — 105 2 — 35 607
10,664 — 10,002 205 — 3,287 57,470
2,408 — 2,259 46 — 742 12,979
24,757 — 23,221 477 — 7,630 133,419
342 — 322 7 — 106 21,999
38,284 — 35,909 737 — 11,800 226,474
13,230 96,048 12,409 255 17,379 4,077 1,111,083
$ 1,056,542 $ 96,048 $ 839,806 $ 12,439 $ 38,536 $ 199,063 $ 6,911,391
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The amounts shown as due from primary government and due to component units represent short-term
receivables and payables between the primary government and component units resulting from the time

lag between the dates on which goods and services are provided and received and the dates on which
payments between entities are made.

Table 51 shows the amounts due from the primary government and due to component units.

Table 51

Schedule of Due From Primary Government and Due To Component Units
June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Due To
University
of
Due From California
Governmental funds

GENETAL FUNA ...ttt ettt ettt e et e s e et e s e et e e e aae st e esaaesateesaneenneens $ 163,305
Transportation FUNC.........c.coiiiiiiiiiiiciccceec ettt ab et e e sb e e teesbesreessesseesbessaesseessessans 5,958
Environmental and Natural Resources FUNd ..........cccooooviiiiiiiiiiiieeceeecee et 2,500
Nonmajor goVernmental fUNMS ..........ccuevvirieiiieieiieeee ettt b e ebeesaesseeseesseenaesaas 50,290
Total governmental fUNAS ..................oooiiiiiiiiiii e st 222,053
Total due from primary GOVEIrNMMENL ...............cccooceviiiuiieiiiieiieeieeeiee e eeteesreesteeseaeereessaeereessseenseens $ 222,053
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B. Interfund Transfers

Transfers move money collected by one fund to another fund, which then disburses it as required by law.
The General Fund and certain other funds transfer money to support various programs accounted for in
other funds. The largest transfer from the General Fund was $3.9 billion to the California State University,
an enterprise fund. The General Fund also transferred $1.6 billion to nonmajor governmental funds, mainly
for support of trial courts and local governments. The Transportation Fund transferred $1.5 billion in weight
fee revenues to the Transportation Debt Service Fund, a nonmajor governmental fund, for transportation-
related debt service costs. The Federal Fund transferred $485 million to the General Fund for administration
of the Unemployment Insurance Program.

Table 52 shows interfund transfers of the primary government.

Table 52

Schedule of Interfund Transfers

June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Transferred To

Environmental
and Natural

General Transportation Resources
Transferred From Fund Fund Fund

Governmental funds
General FUNA........ooveeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ — 3 — 3 119,547
Federal Fund ..........cooooviiiiiiie e 484,715 — 8,386
Transportation Fund...........coccooiriiiiiiiniieeeee 89,381 — 10,520
Environmental and Natural Resources Fund .......................... 50,594 1,405 —
Nonmajor governmental funds..........ccecceveeiiiieiineiieee 53,683 14 26,792
Total governmental funds...................ccooooiiiiiiiiiiieene, 678,373 1,419 165,245
Nonmajor enterprise funds...............ccooeeviieiieniiniienieeiees 3,250 — —
Internal service funds ..................ooovviiiiiiiiii, 15,588 — —
Total transfers from other funds................................... $ 697,211 $ 1419 § 165,245
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Transferred To

California

Health Care Nonmajor State Nonmajor Internal Total
Related Programs  Governmental University Enterprise Service Transfers To
Fund Funds Fund Funds Funds Other Funds
$ 168,288 § 1,647,978 § 3,934,300 § 1,750 — $ 5,871,863
— 7,502 — — — 500,603
— 1,536,119 — — — 1,636,020
— 12,630 — — — 64,629
6,996 135,275 — — 2,220 224,980
175,284 3,339,504 3,934,300 1,750 2,220 8,298,095
— 1,894 — — — 5,144
— 33,693 — — — 49,281
$ 175,284 § 3,375,091 $§ 3,934,300 $ 1,750 2,220 $ 8,352,520
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NOTE 19: FUND BALANCES, NET POSITION DEFICITS, AND ENDOWMENTS

A. Fund Balances

Table 53 shows the composition of the governmental fund balances.

Table 53

Schedule of Fund Balances by Function

June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Nonspendable
Long-term interfund receivables ...
Long-term loans receivable............

Restricted
General government ......................
Education...............
Health and human services............
Natural resources and
environmental protection.............
Business, consumer services,
and housing.........cccocccevvveuccnnenenee
Transportation...........c.cceeevveereenne.
Corrections and rehabilitation .
Budget stabilization...
Total restricted.........................

Committed
General government ............c.o.......
Education.........cccceovvevveieeniecnnnn
Health and human services............
Natural resources and
environmental protection.............
Business, consumer services,
and houSINg.......ccocvvvevvrerveierenne
Transportation.
Corrections and rehabilitation .......
Total committed

Assigned — general government.....

Unassigned .......
Total fund balances.........................

Environmental Health Care
and Natural Nonmajor
General Federal Transportation Resources Governmental

Fund Fund Fund Funds
1,173,670 $ — — — —
6,905 — — — —
— — — — 12,760
1,180,575 — — — 12,760
14,846 — 1,922 1 3,951,852
178,111 404 — 95,455 573,142
200,399 257 89,148 960,387 2,174,801
4,367 1,574 5,029,044 — 199,176
2,377 220,953 24,364 — 3,749,867
— — — — 7,091
76,075 — — — 655
14,358,422 — _ _ _
14,834,597 223,188 5,144,478 1,055,843 10,656,584
769,283 — 17,387 — 351,846
101,502 — — — 61,863
904,437 — — 79,939 250,716
4,604 — 8,389,105 — 579,486
— — 72,693 — 135,970
— — — — 5,164
7,316 — — — 331
1,787,142 — 8,479,185 79,939 1,385,376
— — — — 19,247
765,568 — — — —
18,567,882 $ 223,188 13,623,663 1,135,782 12,073,967
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B. Net Position Deficits

Table 54 shows the net position deficit balances.

Table 54

Schedule of Net Position Deficits
June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Internal Service Enterprise
Funds Funds

Architecture Revolving FUNd ..........c.c.couiiiiiviiieiiieeicecceeeeee e $ 119,905 § —
Service Revolving FUnd ............cooiviiiiiiiiieeee e e 1,149,798 —
Prison Industries FUNA ............oooviiiiiiiieie e e 32,216 —
Technology Services Revolving Fund...........cccoocvvieiiiieienieeceeeee e 460,918 —
Water Resources Revolving Fund............oocoecieiiiiinieiieieeeceeeee e 3,339 —
Other Internal Service Programs Fund ............ccocovieiiiiieiienieeeeeeeee e 950,154 —
State Lottery FUNd ........oooviiiieieieeeeee et — 151,716
California State University FUnd..........ccocooviiiiiiiineceeceeee e — 16,732,827

Total net position defiCits...................ccoovriiiiiiiiiiceeee e $ 2,716,330 $ 16,884,543

C. Discretely Presented Component Unit Endowments and Gifts

The University of California, a discretely presented component unit, administers certain restricted
nonexpendable, restricted expendable, and unrestricted endowments that are included in the related net
position categories of the government-wide and fund financial statements. As of June 30, 2019, the value
of restricted endowments and gifts totaled $19.0 billion, and unrestricted endowments and gifts totaled
$5.7 billion. The University’s policy is to retain realized and unrealized appreciation on investments with
the endowment after an annual income distribution. The net appreciation available to meet future spending
needs upon approval by the Board of Regents amounted to $2.7 billion at June 30, 2019. The portion of
investment returns earned on endowments and distributed each year to support current operations is based
on a rate approved by the Board of Regents. In addition, the California State University Auxiliary
Organizations and the University of California Hastings College of the Law, nonmajor component units,
have restricted nonexpendable and restricted expendable endowments of $1.4 billion and $13 million,
respectively.
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NOTE 20: DEFERRED OUTFLOWS AND DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds reported deferred inflows of resources of $6.7 billion
as this amount represents revenues that are earned and measurable, but not available within 12 months of
the end of the reporting period.

Table 55 shows the detail of the deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources reported

in the government-wide Statement of Net Position. For descriptions of the deferred outflows and deferred
inflows of resources transactions, see Note 1.L.

Table 55

Schedule of Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources

June 30, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Primary Government

Governmental  Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units
Deferred outflows of resources:
Loss on refunding of debt...........ccoovveviverinrenennnne. $ 913,116 $ 291,756  $§ 1,204,872 $ 323,705
Decrease in fair value of hedging derivatives....... — — — 130,328
Net pension liability.........cccoovveeeriierienieenienieieeenn 21,628,966 2,255,009 23,883,975 6,378,719
Net other postemployment benefits liability......... 2,322,641 454,103 2,776,744 3,928,129
Deferred asset retirement obligation..................... — — — 73,996
Total deferred outflows of resources .............. $ 24,864,723 $ 3,000,868 $ 27,865,591 $ 10,834,877
Deferred inflows of resources:
Gain on refunding of debt...........ccooevevieveierenennnnn. $ 389,648 $ — 5 389,648 §$ 3,167
Service concession arrangements .........c....o.ceeee... 55,014 — 55,014 248,002
Irrevocable split-interest agreements.................... — — — 352,483
Net pension liability..........cccoceevirieviieenieieeienen, 5,021,701 369,544 5,391,245 178,033
Net other postemployment benefits liability......... 12,001,684 3,000,361 15,002,045 5,939,846
Other deferred inflows..........ccooeviveeeeiiicieeeireeens — 1,217,582 1,217,582 458,111
Total deferred inflows of resources................. $ 17,468,047 $ 4,587,487 $ 22,055,534 $§ 7,179,642

NOTE 21: NO COMMITMENT DEBT

The California Housing Finance Agency (CalHFA), a major component unit, issued conduit debt to provide
financial assistance for the acquisition, construction, and development of multifamily rental housing. As
of June 30, 2019, the CalHFA had $1.1 billion of conduit debt obligations outstanding, which is not debt
of the State.

Certain debt of the nonmajor component units is issued to finance activities such as the promotion of
renewable energy sources and financing for economic development projects. This debt is secured by the
credit of private and public entities and is administered by trustees independent of the State. As of
June 30, 2019, these component units had approximately $4.2 billion of debt outstanding, which is not debt
of the State.

172



Notes to the Financial Statements

NOTE 22: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
A. Litigation

The primary government is a party to numerous legal proceedings, many of which are not unusual for
governmental operations. To the extent they existed, the following legal proceedings were accrued as a
liability in the government-wide financial statements: those decided against the primary government before
June 30, 2019; those in progress as of June 30, 2019, and settled or decided against the primary government
as of October 23, 2020; and those having a high probability of resulting in a decision against the primary
government as of October 23, 2020, and for which amounts could be estimated. In the governmental fund
financial statements, the portion of the liability that is expected to be paid within the next 12 months is
recorded as a liability in the fund from which payment will be made. In the proprietary fund financial
statements, the entire liability is recorded in the fund from which payment will be made.

In addition, the primary government is involved in certain other legal proceedings that, if decided against
the primary government, may impair its revenue sources or require it to make significant expenditures.
Because of the prospective nature of these proceedings, no provision for the potential liability has been
made in the financial statements.

Following are descriptions of the more significant lawsuits pending against the primary government:

The primary government is a defendant in two cases, Bakersfield Mall, LLC v. Franchise Tax Board, and
CA-Centerside II, LLC v. Franchise Tax Board, both regarding the constitutionality of a fee imposed on
limited-liability companies (LLC). Plaintiffs assert class action and declaratory relief, and seek attorney
fees based on alleged violations of the state and federal constitutions. They seek certification of two classes
of allegedly similarly situated LLCs and unspecified refunds on behalf of the LLC classes, alleged to be
in excess of 50,000 members. On January 30, 2013, Franchise Tax Board’s Petition to Coordinate these
cases was granted. The trial court denied class certification and the plaintiffs appealed. On
December 17, 2014, the briefing of the appeal was completed. On August 27, 2018, the Court of Appeal
reversed the trial court decision, directing the trial court to certify one or more classes. The State filed a
petition for review in the California Supreme Court challenging the Court of Appeal’s decision. On
October 31, 2018, the California Supreme Court denied the State’s petition for review. The plaintiffs’
underlying challenge to the LLC fee will be tried. On July 2, 2019, the plaintiffs filed a motion for an award
of interim attorneys’ fees, which was denied. The plaintiffs filed a motion for class certification, which was
granted. The parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment, which were denied on September 17, 2020.
A trial date is set for February 5, 2021. Actual and expected future claims for refunds from LLCs are
estimated to be as high as $1.2 billion.

Inapreviously settled case, Northwest Energetic Services, LLCv. Franchise Tax Board, the Court of Appeal
found the fee unconstitutional only as applied to the plaintiff. In another previously settled case, Ventas
Finance I, LLC v. Franchise Tax Board, the Court of Appeal also ruled that the fee was unconstitutional
as applied to the plaintiff, but it awarded only a partial refund because Ventas received income from both
inside and outside of California. Bakersfield Mall, LLCv. Franchise Tax Boardraises the same constitutional
issues as Northwest and Ventas, but initially pertained to LLCs that conduct business solely within
California. Bakersfield Mall, LLC later amended its complaint to reflect the fact that not all of its income
is derived within the State, making it similar to the Ventas case. CA-Centerside II, LLC v. Franchise Tax
Board raises the same constitutional issues as the Bakersfield case, and alleges that the LLC fee is
unconstitutional regarding any activities, whether in-state or out-of-state.
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A writ petition, Bekkerman et al. v. California Department of Tax and Fee Administration (formerly the
California Board of Equalization), was filed against the primary government challenging the validity of a
California Department of Tax and Fee Administration (CDTFA) sales tax regulation (California Code of
Regulations, Title 18, section 1585) that requires the sales tax charged on a mobile telephone to be based
on the full retail price of the phone, rather than any discounted price that is contingent on a service plan
contract. A companion class action has been filed. The primary government filed a demurrer that was
sustained on September 5, 2017, which resulted in the dismissal of the state defendants from the class
action. The plaintiffs appealed that order and subsequently dismissed that appeal voluntarily. In the writ
action, plaintiffs amended the writ petition to add class action claims for refunds of sales tax. On
September 14, 2018, the court granted the State’s motion to strike the class action claims for refunds from
the writ petition. CDTFA filed an answer to the amended petition on September 20, 2018 and is conducting
discovery. In the writ action, the Court granted the writ on September 4, 2020, and ordered that Rule 1585
may not be applied to bundled sales in which the retailer is also the service carrier. The State expects to
appeal. If the sales tax regulation is invalidated, the companion class action could lead to an order requiring
CDTFA to refund up to $1.0 billion in sales tax collections.

The primary government is a defendant in a case, Coast Community College District (District), et al. v.
Commission on State Mandates (Commission), regarding a claim that various laws and regulations
prescribing standards for the formation and basic operation of California community colleges created
reimbursable state mandates under Government Code section 17514 and article XII B, section 6, of the
California Constitution. The District filed a test claim before the Commission and on May 26, 2011. The
Commission ruled that the test claim did not constitute a reimbursable state-mandated program. On
May 22, 2014, the District filed a petition for administrative mandate, seeking review of the Commission’s
decision. On June 12, 2015, the Superior Court held a hearing and denied the petition. On
September 15, 2015, the District filed a notice of appeal. In February 2017, the briefing of the appeal was
completed. On April 3, 2020, the Court of Appeal reversed and remanded much of the matter to the
Commission on State Mandates to determine whether several minimum conditions for state aid constitute
new programs or higher levels of service requiring state reimbursement. The Supreme Court granted review
and depublished the Court of Appeal’s opinion on August 12, 2020. Currently, merits briefing is underway.
The estimated range of loss is not possible to ascertain at this time. As this case is a test claim, other districts
could also bring claims for reimbursement for the same reason.

The primary government is a defendant in two similar cases: Atkins v. State of California and Reyes v. State
of California, alleging that Senate Bill (SB) 98 and SB 820 unfairly restrict new enrollment at charter
schools by requiring schools to be funded according to their average daily attendance during the 2019-20
fiscal year, and by requiring charter schools to offer 175 days of instruction compared to 180 days for public
schools. The plaintiffs allege the bills violate various provisions of the California Constitution, including
students’ rights to education, equal protection, and due process. SB 98 was amended by SB 820, and the
amended law provides that fiscal year 2020-21 budgets be used to determine fiscal year 2020-21 funding
for the plaintiffs’ schools instead of the 2019-20 average daily attendance. The plaintiff for the Atkins v.
State of California case amended the complaint and filed the amended complaint on October 9, 2020. The
estimated range of loss is not possible to ascertain at this time.

The primary government is a defendant in a case, People of the State of California (Butte County D.A.) v.
Department of Water Resources, regarding the claims that the debris deposited into the Feather River due
to the failure of the Oroville Dam spillway in 2017 was harmful to fish and wildlife. This case is one of
eight coordinated cases concerning the Oroville Dam spillway failure. A motion for summary judgment is
set for hearing on November 20, 2020, and a motion to intervene by the state water contractors is set for

174



Notes to the Financial Statements

hearing on December 4, 2020. An inverse condemnation hearing is set for April 5, 2021, followed by the
bench trial of the matter, which is estimated to occur around June 2021. The Butte County District Attorney
seeks to impose up to $51.0 billion in civil penalties for alleged pollution that violates Fish and Game Code
section 5650.

The primary government is a defendant in seven other coordinated cases related to the failure of the Oroville
Dam spillway in 2017. The plaintiffs are seeking relief for business losses, property damage (personal and
real property), evacuation and relocation costs, and other damages, resulting from the flooding and debris.
Class certification motions were filed seeking to certify putative classes, and an opposition was filed. On
May 17, 2019, a hearing on the class certification motions was held. On September 25, 2019, the class
certification motion was denied and was appealed. A merits discovery trial was set for October 1, 2020.
Class certification discovery has been completed and liability discovery closes on October 30, 2020.
Damages discovery remains open until the damages trial date is set. An inverse condemnation bench trial
is scheduled for April 5, 2021. Some plaintiffs in this complaint have either a summary judgment of their
claims granted or dismissed. The estimated range of loss for the coordinated cases is not possible to ascertain
at this time.

The primary government is a defendant in two similar cases: Perea, et al. v. Dooley, et al, and Deuschel v.
California Health & Human Services Agency. The petitioners sued the primary government alleging that
reimbursements paid to providers under the Medi-Cal program are too low and therefore impaired access
to care and services for Medi-Cal patients. The petitioners argue that this constitutes discrimination against
Latinos, senior citizens, and persons with disabilities. The petitioners do not seek damages but seek
prospective declaratory and injunctive relief that would require the State to increase the reimbursement
rates paid to providers by the Medi-Cal program. The State filed a demurrer to petitioners’ Third and First
Amended Complaints. A hearing for the First Amended Complaint was held on February 13, 2020. The
Third Amended Complaint was overruled on June 21, 2019, and the matter was actively litigated until
April 2020, when the parties stipulated to a stay in light of the coronavirus pandemic. A demurrer for the
First Amended Complaint is scheduled for a hearing on November 24, 2020. The estimated impact to
prospective rates is not possible to ascertain at this time. The estimated potential loss in the case of
Perea, et al. v. Dooley, et al, is $1.0 billion.

The primary government was a defendant in the following cases: Anthem Blue Cross v. David Maxwell-
Jolly, et al.; Molina Family Health Plan v. Department of Health Care Services; and Health Net of
California v. Department of Health Care Services regarding application of budget reduction factors to
managed-care capitated rates. These cases were settled on a contingent basis based on the plans’ profitability.
The estimated combined total potential loss is more than $400 million based on three separate settlement
agreements that were entered into in 2013 and 2014.

The primary government is aware of two unasserted claims against the State of California by Bear Mountain
Development Corporation and Blue Flame Medical, LLC for cancellation of contracts for delivery of
Personal Protective Equipment. One of the claimants filed a government claim, which was denied; therefore,
it is probable that the claim will be asserted in litigation. The estimated potential loss of both claims could
be in excess of $600 million.

B. Federal Audit Exceptions

The primary government receives substantial funding from the federal government in the form of grants
and other federal assistance. The primary government, the University of California, California Housing
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Finance Agency (CalHFA), and certain nonmajor discretely presented component units are entitled to these
resources only if they comply with the terms and conditions of the grants and contracts and with the
applicable federal laws and regulations; they may spend these resources only for eligible purposes. If audits
disclose exceptions, the primary government, the University, CalHFA, and certain nonmajor discretely
presented component units may incur a liability to the federal government.

NOTE 23: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The following information describes significant events that occurred subsequent to June 30, 2019, but prior
to the date of the auditor’s report.

A. Debt Issuances

In July 2019 and February and August 2020, the California State University (CSU) issued $2.8 billion in
revenue bonds to finance and refinance projects; to acquire, construct, improve, and renovate certain CSU
facilities; to refund certain outstanding system-wide revenue bonds; to fund capitalized interest; and to pay
related issuance cost.

In July 2019 and February and July 2020, the University of California, a major component unit, through
its conduit, issued $4.8 billion in revenue bonds to finance or refinance certain improvements to the Medical
Centers and construction projects, fund capitalized interest and refunded bonds, and pay working capital
cost and related issuance costs.

In September, October, and November 2019, and March, April and September 2020, the primary
government issued a total of $10.4 billion in general obligation bonds to fund various capital projects and
other voter-approved costs related to K-12 schools and higher education facilities, transportation
improvements and high-speed rail, water quality and environmental protection, and other public purposes;
to pay certain commercial paper notes as they mature; to current refund certain outstanding bonds; and to
pay related issuance costs.

In September and October 2019, and April and September 2020, the State Public Works Board issued a
total of $574 million in lease revenue bonds to finance and refinance the design and/or construction of
various projects, refund and defease lease revenue bonds, reimburse interim loans, fund capitalized interest,
and pay related issuance costs.

In September, October, and November 2019, CSU issued a total of $215 million in bond anticipation notes
to finance various capital outlay projects including facilities renewal and improvements.

In November 2019, the California Health Facilities Financing Authority issued $500 million in revenue
bonds under the No Place Like Home Program to provide housing for persons experiencing homelessness,
chronic homelessness, or who are in need of mental health services; to fund capitalized interest; and to pay
related issuance costs.

In December 2019, the California Infrastructure and Economic Development Bank issued $273 million in

lease revenue bonds to construct, furnish and equip an expansion to the headquarters of the California State
Teachers’ Retirement; to pay capitalized interest; and to pay issuance costs.
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InMarch 2020, the California Earthquake Authority (CEA) issued $400 million in revenue bonds to enhance
its claim-paying capacity.

In July 2020, the Department of Water Resources issued a total of $1.0 billion in revenue bonds to fund
construction of water system projects, repay commercial papers, refund certain outstanding water system
revenue bonds, fund capitalized interest, fund a deposit to the debt service reserve account and pay related
issuance costs.

In September 2020, the primary government issued $97 million in veterans revenue bonds and $97 million
in veterans general obligation bonds to finance the purchase of homes and farms for California military
veterans, build bond reserve accounts, and pay related issuance costs.

B. COVID-19

In March 2020, the Governor of California proclaimed a state of emergency in response to the worldwide
outbreak of the disease caused by the novel coronavirus (COVID-19). The State allocated up to $2.4 billion
to respond to COVID-19 through a series of enacted legislations, and administrative actions and Executive
Orders pursuant to Government Code section 8690.6 and Control Section 36.00 of the 2019-20 Budget
Act. The COVID-19 emergency quickly developed into an economic crisis that has impacted the State’s
financial position in three main ways:

» Lower tax revenues due to worker displacement and mandated business closures.

* Increased direct costs to respond to the public health emergency, including expansion of the State’s
hospital and laboratory capacity, and the purchase of medical supplies, including ventilators.

* Increased indirect costs due to claims for unemployment, Medi-Cal, food assistance, and other
assistance programs.

The fiscal year 2020-21 Budget Act was enacted in June 2020, providing a plan to close a projected
$54.3 billion general fund shortfall due to the impacts of the pandemic by canceling or adjusting program
expansions and spending increases, relying on reserves, borrowing from special funds, increasing revenues
from taxes on businesses, and requesting additional assistance from the federal government. The Budget
includes projections of fiscal year 2020-21 General Fund revenues, expenditures, and reserves that take
into account the anticipated impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic to the State. General Fund revenues are
estimated at $129.9 billion and expenditures are budgeted at $133.9 billion. Further, the Budget proposes
a transfer from the Budget Stabilization Account (BSA), the State’s rainy day fund, to the General Fund to
cover the revenue shortfall, reducing the balance in the BSA to $8.3 billion at the end of the fiscal year.

In response to the COVID-19 outbreak, the United States Congress passed, and the President signed,
legislation aimed at providing partial relief from the economic impact of the pandemic. The State expects
to receive approximately $214.0 billion in funding from the federal government through stimulus packages
enacted to help mitigate the effects of the COVID-19 public health crisis, encourage recovery, and support
Californians in need. The stimulus packages include amounts related to Coronavirus Preparedness and
Response Supplemental Appropriations Act; the Family First Coronavirus Response Act; the Coronavirus
Aid, Relief and Economy Security (CARES) Act; and the Paycheck Protection and Health Care
Enhancement Act. Approximately $72.0 billion is anticipated for assistance to state programs, including
unemployment insurance of about $52.0 billion. In addition, over $142.0 billion in direct assistance is
expected to be provided to individuals and families, small businesses, hospitals and medical providers,
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including rural and community clinics, higher education institutions and college students, local housing
authorities, airports, farmers, and local governments.

California has experienced a dramatic increase in the State’s unemployment rate due to the COVID-19
pandemic. The unemployment rate increased from a record low of 3.9% in January 2020 to a record high
of 16.4% in April 2020. At the end of September 2020, the unemployment rate was 11.0%, still well above
the rate prior to the pandemic. The sustained increase in unemployment rates created a high demand for
Unemployment Insurance benefits. Beginning in late April 2020, that high demand depleted the reserves
of the Unemployment Programs Fund. As of June 30, 2020, the State had $2.2 billion in outstanding loans
from the U.S. Department of Labor that was used to cover deficits in the Unemployment Programs Fund.
As of October 23, 2020, the State increased its loan balance to $14.5 billion and it expects to request
additional loans through the end of 2020.

C. Other

In July 2019, the State of California established the Wildfire Fund, a fund outside of the state treasury
administered by the CEA (a related organization), to pay eligible claims arising from a covered wildfire.
In August 2019, the State of California transferred $2.0 billion to the Wildfire Fund as a short-term loan
from the Surplus Money Investment Fund as required by Assembly Bill 1054. The loan is expected to be
repaid to the State in the last quarter of calendar year 2020.

California continues to face a lengthening fire season and catastrophic wildfires. While the 2019 fire season
was relatively mild, with just under 260,000 acres burned, the 2020 fire season has seen over 4 million
acres burned through the beginning of October. The estimated loss due to these wildfires is not available
at this time.

In August 2019, Fitch Ratings raised the State’s general obligation bonds rating to “AA” from “AA-”,
stating that the upgrade reflects the improved fiscal management that has become institutionalized across
administrations, which allows it to better withstand economic and revenue cyclicality. In addition, Fitch
stated that California’s economy is unmatched in comparison to other U.S. states economies in its size and
diversity. According to Fitch, California’s economy is generally stable despite a considerable presence of
economic and revenue cyclicality.

In October 2019, Moody’s Investors Service raised the State’s general obligation bonds rating to “Aa2”
from “Aa3”, stating that the upgrade reflects the continued expansion of the state’s massive, diverse, and
dynamic economy and corresponding growth in revenue.

In August 2020, the State’s contracted actuary published the State of California Retiree Health Benefits
Program GASB Nos. 74 and 75 Actuarial Valuation Report as of June 30, 2019, which will be used to
measure the State’s net OPEB liability as of June 30, 2020. The report shows a net OPEB liability of
$91.9 billion as of June 30, 2020, a $6.3 billion increase over the net OPEB liability reported as of
June 30, 2019. The report is available on the State Controller’s Office website, at www.SCO.ca.gov.
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Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability
and Related Ratios

For the Past Five Fiscal Years'
(amounts in thousands)

2014° 2015°
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT
FUND PLANS
STATE MISCELLANEOUS?
Total pension liability
SEIVICE COSE .vnviitiitieetiete et ete et e eeeete e et e eteeeteeeaeeseeneeeteeereeesseeseenseesssenseenseens $ 1,477,762 1,576,695
Interest on total pension Hability..........cccevererereniiiieiieieeeceeeeee 6,670,928 6,970,837
Differences between expected and actual experience..........oceeeeveeeeeeennene — 693,639
Changes Of aSSUMPLIONS. ....ccuerueruiriieiieieieieriese ettt ne — —
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions .................. (4,844,631) (5,098,222)
Net change in total pension lHability..........ceceeeeevierienenenenenenereeeeneen 3,304,059 4,142,949
Total pension liability — beginning....................c.coccooiiiiiiinii, 88,885,115 92,189,174
Total pension liability — ending (2)............ccoccoevievieiieiieneeeeeeeeeeeeee, $ 92,189,174 96,332,123
Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions — €MPIOYET .....cc.erueruirieieierierierieeeete e $ 2,156,312 2,608,785
Contributions — €MPIOYEE ........eeueruieieieierierieriereetee e 766,896 771,046
Net INVESTMENT INCOIME .....vveeeuiiieiieeeiieeeieeeetee ettt eete e et e eeeeeeeeeeeaeeeeareeeaaeeaans 10,370,838 1,505,042
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions ... (4,844,631) (5,098,222)
Net plan to plan reSOUrCe MOVEMENL .....c.eevverueruerrertiriieieieneenieriesieseeseeeeeens — (354)
AdMINISTIAtiVe EXPEISE....euvervivirtiriierienieietenteste et eteeieeatetessesteseeseesaeeseeseeeens (86,473) (76,678)
Other miscellaneous income/(expense) — —
Net change in plan fiduciary net position...........cccuevvererenereneneneeneeiennes 8,362,942 (290,381)
Plan fiduciary net position — beginning 60,017,620 68,380,562
Plan fiduciary net position — ending (b) .............cccocoevieierininiieee, $ 68,380,562 68,090,181
State’s net pension liability — ending (a) = (D) .........ccccoevivininieicieieee $ 23,808,612 28,241,942
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total pension Hability ..........ccccceiiiieieiiieieececee e 74.17% 70.68%
Covered PAYTOLL .......oveiiriiiirieree ettt $ 10,019,739 10,640,884
State’s net pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll........................ 237.62% 265.41%

" This schedule will be built prospectively until it contains ten years of data.

% This schedule includes amounts attributable to related organizations, fiduciary component units, and discretely presented component units, which are not

part of the primary government.

3 The date in the column heading represents the end of the measurement period of the net pension liability, which is one year prior to the reporting period.
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2016° 2017° 2018°
1,668,682 1,927,531  § 1,953,761
7,220,961 7,381,049 7,571,997
(101,381) (387,041) 445,743
— 5,667,561 (1,377,556)
(5,346,864) (5,572,707) (5,865,849)
3,441,398 9,016,393 2,728,096
96,332,123 99,773,521 108,789,914
99,773,521 108,789,914  $ 111,518,010
2,818,406 3,094,941 $ 7,044,360
801,023 843,772 870,402
339,588 7,329,859 6,127,761
(5,346,864) (5,572,707) (5,865,849)
(1,154) (2,737 (1,340)
(41,497) (98,419) (112,592)
— — (213,815)
(1,430,498) 5,594,709 7,848,927
68,090,181 66,659,683 72,254,392
66,659,683 72,254,392 $ 80,103,319
33,113,838 36,535,522  $ 31,414,691
66.81% 66.42% 71.83%
11,189,932 11,591,576  $ 12,254,827
295.93% 315.19% 256.35%
(continued)

181



State of California Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability
and Related Ratios (continued)

For the Past Five Fiscal Years'
(amounts in thousands)

2014° 2015°
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT
FUND PLANS
STATE INDUSTRIAL’
Total pension liability
SEIVICE COSE .vnviitiitieetiete et ete et e eeeete e et e eteeeteeeaeeseeneeeteeereeesseeseenseesssenseenseens $ 92,324 $ 100,006
Interest on total pension Hability..........cccevererereniiiieiieieeeceeeeee 241,278 257,527
Differences between expected and actual experience..........oceeeeveeeeeeennene — 26,976
Changes Of aSSUMPLIONS. ....ccuerueruiriieiieieieieriese ettt ne — —
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions .................. (146,977) (157,029)
Net change in total pension lHability..........ceceeeeevierienenenenenenereeeeneen 186,625 227,480
Total pension liability — beginning....................c.coccooiiiiiiinii, 3,181,282 3,367,907
Total pension liability — ending (2)............ccoccoevievieiieiieneeeeeeeeeeeeee, $ 3,367,907 $ 3,595,387
Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions — MPLOYET .....c..cuirueiruiiieiieieieieeetete ettt $ 88,516 $ 107,238
Contributions — €MPIOYEE ........eeueruieieieierierieriereetee e 44,459 49,482
Net INVESTMENT INCOIME .....vveeeuiiieiieeeiieeeieeeetee ettt eete e et e eeeeeeeeeeeaeeeeareeeaaeeaans 423,076 62,385
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions .................. (146,977) (157,029)
Net plan to plan reSOUrCe MOVEMENL .....c.eevverueruerrertiriieieieneenieriesieseeseeeeeens — 30
AdMINISTIAtiVe EXPEISE....euvervivirtiriierienieietenteste et eteeieeatetessesteseeseesaeeseeseeeens (3,583) (3,252)
Other miscellaneous INCOME/(EXPENSE) ...c..erververrerririeieierienienienresieeieeeeeens — —
Net change in plan fiduciary net position...........cccuevvererenereneneneeneeiennes 405,491 58,854
Plan fiduciary net position — beginning 2,420,958 2,826,449
Plan fiduciary net position — ending (b) $ 2,826,449 $ 2,885,303
State’s net pension liability — ending (a) = (D) .........ccccoevivininieicieieee $ 541,458 $ 710,084
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total PENSION HADIILY ..........ceveveeerveeeeceeeeeeee et enees 83.92% 80.25%
COVETEA PAYTONL ...ttt $ 532,490 $ 577,711
State’s net pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll........................ 101.68% 122.91%
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2016° 2017° 2018°
107,868 124,792 119,521
273,308 290,058 301,134
7,009 21,516 (19,063)
— 245,450 (54,062)
(167,359) (177,654) (190,683)
220,826 504,162 156,847
3,595,387 3,816,213 4,320,375
3,816,213 4,320,375 4,477,222
116,730 123,163 241,062
52,775 54,114 58,404
14,444 322,150 272,379
(167,359) (177,654) (190,683)
216 (141) 268
(1,758) (4,282) (5,014)
— — 9,522)
15,048 317,350 366,894
2,885,303 2,900,351 3,217,701
2,900,351 3,217,701 3,584,595
915,862 1,102,674 892,627
76.00% 74.48% 80.06%
625,220 643,295 695,014
146.49% 171.41% 128.43%
(continued)
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Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability
and Related Ratios (continued)

For the Past Five Fiscal Years'
(amounts in thousands)

2014° 2015°
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT
FUND PLANS
STATE SAFETY’
Total pension liability
SEIVICE COSE.uiviiiriiitieitieeteeeteeeteeteeete et e et e et e et eeteeeteeeteeaeeaeenseeseeneeeneeeneeereas $ 402,902 $ 422,634
Interest on total pension Hability .........cccceceeviererieninininineeeeeeeeee 663,219 734,333
Differences between expected and actual eXperience .........cocoeceeveveereeneennene — (4,150)
Changes Of aSSUMPLIONS ....c..evueriirririiriieiieiieteieieree ettt — —
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions................. (429,353) (469,275)
Net change in total pension Hability........cccccoeveveneniniininnieieeeee 636,768 683,542
Total pension liability — beginning .....................cccocoooiiiiiiiiiii, 8,682,750 9,626,597 *
Total pension liability — ending (2)............cccccovveriereninieieeeeeee e $ 9,319,518 $ 10,310,139
Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions — €MPLOYET .....c.eeuerueriiriiriiieieieieseste ettt $ 339,232 $ 393,925
Contributions — €MPIOYEE........coueruiriiriririieieieiertese ettt 196,148 215,482
Net INVEStMENt INCOMIE .......veievieeeriieeiieeeiie et eeteeeeaeeeeeeeeaeeeeaeeeeareeereeeaeeas 1,162,050 175,677
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions................. (429,353) (469,275)
Net plan to plan resource MOVEMENL .....cc.eeuveuieierierierierierienieeeeeeeeeeeeneennes — 499
AdMINISTIAtiVE EXPENSE ....vvevvenrerreierierierteettenieietestesteste et ste st eatesseseseenseneens (9,945) (9,200)
Other miscellaneous INCOME/(EXPENSE) .....ceuverrereerverrerierienieriieiieeeienienienienee — —
Net change in plan fiduciary net poSition..........cccceeeeeerereeiesieneenienennens 1,258,132 307,108
Plan fiduciary net position — beginning 6,583,260 7,841,392
Plan fiduciary net position — ending (b) $ 7,841,392 $ 8,148,500
State’s net pension liability — ending (a) = (b) .........ccocooeveieieiiiieeie, $ 1,478,126 $ 2,161,639
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total PENSION HADIIILY .........coovevveereeeereceeeeeeee s senens 84.14% 79.03%
COVETEA PAYTONL ..ottt $ 1,901,235 $ 2,003,777
State’s net pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll..........c........... 77.75% 107.88%

* Restated
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2016° 2017° 2018’
438,147 497,129 504,383
786,096 827,412 877,944
(2,235) (109,901) (21,592)
— 673,183 (41,225)
(502,427) (538,735) (578,504)
719,581 1,349,088 741,006
10,310,139 11,029,720 12,378,808
11,029,720 12,378,808 13,119,814
401,108 433,232 774,759
221,615 231,364 245,021
42,258 926,106 797,214
(502,427) (538,735) (578,504)
548 295 532
(4,966) (12,264) (14,565)
— — (27,658)
158,136 1,039,998 1,196,799
8,148,500 8,306,636 9,346,634
8,306,636 9,346,634 10,543,433
2,723,084 3,032,174 2,576,381
75.31% 75.51% 80.36%
2,100,295 2,167,429 2,339,642
129.65% 139.90% 110.12%
(continued)
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Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability
and Related Ratios (continued)

For the Past Five Fiscal Years'
(amounts in thousands)

2014° 2015°
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT
FUND PLANS
STATE PEACE OFFICERS AND FIREFIGHTERS?
Total pension liability
SEIVICE COSE ..utiiitiiieiie ettt ettt et et eete e et e eetee e et e e eteeeeteeeetaeeeteeeeteeeesaeeeanes $ 816,836 838,628
Interest on total pension LHability........c.ccocevererieiieiienininenreeeeeee 2,622,406 2,759,982
Differences between expected and actual experience........coceveeeeeeveeeeenne. — 288,526
Changes Of aSSUMPLIONS ......c.eeteierierierienieetieieeiieeete ettt — —
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions ................. (1,568,738) (1,697,676)
Net change in total pension Hability........cccccoeveveneniniininnieieeeee 1,870,504 2,189,460
Total pension liability — beginning......................ccccooiiiiiiiiiiiie, 34,655,771 36,219,196 *
Total pension liability — ending ().............cc.cococeoinniiiinniicceeee $ 36,526,275 38,408,656
Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions — €MPLOYET.......c.ccouerieruiririririieieieeee et $ 959,741 1,146,192
Contributions — €MPLOYEE ......c.eevverieruiriiriiniiriieieieeere ettt 331,956 366,419
Net INVeStMENt INCOMEC. ......cveieiuiieerieeetie et e eieeeeteeeeeeeeeteeeereeeeaeeeereeeeaeeeennes 3,964,754 584,142
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions ................. (1,568,738) (1,697,676)
Net plan to plan resoUrce MOVEMENL.......evuerverterieieieierienieeieeteeeeereeenieneeee — 194
AdMINISTIAtiVE EXPENSC.c..euvieinieuienieiententeeieetteitetetestestestesbesbeeseeseetesessenses (33,334) (30,069)
Other miscellaneous INCOME/(EXPENSE) ...c..erveeueeurererierienierierieneeeeiereeneeneens — —
Net change in plan fiduciary net poSition..........cccceeeeeerereeiesieneenienennens 3,654,379 369,202
Plan fiduciary net position — beginning 22,713,610 26,367,989
Plan fiduciary net position — ending (b) $ 26,367,989 26,737,191
State’s net pension liability — ending (a) — (b)..........cccoovvirinieieiiieene. $ 10,158,286 11,671,465
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total PENSION HADIILY ............oveveveeceeeeeeeceeeeeeeeee e es e nens 72.19% 69.61%
CoVEred PAYTOLL....c.veieiiiieiieiieieeee ettt nae s $ 3,030,525 3,115,287
State’s net pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll..............c........ 335.20% 374.65%

* Restated
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2016° 2017° 2018°
861,694  § 980,897 1,011,482
2,902,900 3,018,186 3,185,628
18,316 (286,527) 354,089
— 2,608,752 (25,104)
(1,822,841) (1,938,027) (2,065,007)
1,960,069 4,383,281 2,461,088
38,408,656 40,368,725 44,752,006
40,368,725  $ 44,752,006 47,213,094
1,265,145 $ 1,427,240 3,068,270
381,185 399,946 421,662
137,927 2,954,170 2,522,044
(1,822,841) (1,938,027) (2,065,007)
114 1,628 (104)
(16,295) (39,395) (45,950)
— — (87,261)
(54,765) 2,805,562 3,813,654
26,737,191 26,682,426 29,487,988
26,682,426  $ 29,487,988 33,301,642
13,686,299  $ 15,264,018 13,911,452
66.10% 65.89% 70.53%
3,241,895 $ 3,416,627 3,557,011
422.17% 446.76% 391.10%
(continued)
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Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability
and Related Ratios (continued)

For the Past Five Fiscal Years'
(amounts in thousands)

2014° 2015
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT
FUND PLANS
CALIFORNIA HIGHWAY PATROL
Total pension liability
SEIVICE COSE .. uviiinriiieueiecteeeeteeeeeee et e et e et eteeeeaeeeeteeeeveeeaeeeeaseeenreeeseeenaeeean $ 191,730 $ 198,665
Interest on total pension LHability.........ccecevverereririnieieieieeeeee e 724,474 764,348
Differences between expected and actual experience..........cceeveeveeeeeeeennnne. — 75,593
Changes Of aSSUMPLIONS. ....c.eeveriirrieieieieieriesie ettt ae e ste e eeeeseeneens — —
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions .................. (460,991) (487,061)
Net change in total pension liability 455,213 551,545
Total pension liability — beginning ..................cccoooevieiiniiiineneeeeeeeee 9,604,872 10,060,085
Total pension liability — ending (2).............c.cccocoeeieieciiiiiieeeeeeeeeee, $ 10,060,085 $ 10,611,630
Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions — €MPLOYET ........c.evieveviviiiiietiieiereeeeet ettt $ 277,702 $ 351,197
Contributions — €MPLOYEE ......c.evverviririeieierierere ettt 83,161 85,791
Net INVEStMENE INCOMIE ......vevereiieerieerieeeteeeeeeeeteeeeteeeeeeeeeaeeeeaeeeereeenreeaeaeeeas 1,005,007 146,782
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions .................. (460,991) (487,061)
Net plan to plan resource MOVEMENL ........ccveverueereeieieieienienieseseseeeeeeeens — (214)
AdMINISIIAtIVE EXPEISE...evverrerrererrierieieieeeiestestessesseeseesesessessessessessesseesaens (8,417) (7,600)
Other miscellaneous INCOME/(EXPENSE) .....ververververrerreerieieieieiensesreereeseeeenns — —
Net change in plan fiduciary net position..........cceceeveverieriererereeeeieeenen 896,462 88,895
Plan fiduciary net position — beginning................c.ccoceevevinininieninieeee, 5,759,985 6,656,447
Plan fiduciary net position — ending (b) ................ccccoeviivinininiieeee, $ 6,656,447 $ 6,745,342
State’s net pension liability — ending () — (D) .........cccooviiiiiiiiieieee $ 3,403,638 $ 3,866,288
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total Pension HABIILY ...........cco.eveveeveieeiceeieceeeeceeeee e 66.17% 63.57%
COVEred PAYTOLL ...ttt $ 765,283 $ 809,610
State’s net pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll............ccccc...... 444.76% 477.55%
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2016° 2017° 2018°
210,619  $ 237,064 248,531
809,691 833,062 878,113
125,614 (158,392) 103,283
— 721,972 12,213
(516,723) (543,456) (579,080)
629,201 1,090,250 663,060
10,611,630 11,240,831 12,331,081
11,240,831  § 12,331,081 12,994,141
375,928  $ 426,603 978,060
86,111 91,116 95,482
33,918 747,272 639,591
(516,723) (543,456) (579,080)
292 1,050 330
4,111) (9,923) (11,583)
_ _ (21,997)
(24,585) 712,662 1,100,803
6,745,342 6,720,757 7,433,419
6,720,757  $ 7,433,419 8,534,222
4,520,074 $ 4,897,662 4,459,919
59.79% 60.28% 65.68%
808,032 $ 851,427 884,197
559.39% 575.23% 504.40%
(continued)
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State of California Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability
and Related Ratios (continued)

For the Past Five Fiscal Years'
(amounts in thousands)

2014° 2015
SINGLE-EMPLOYER PLANS
JUDGES’
Total pension liability
T 4 (01 o1 <] SRR $ 27,581 $ 27,841
Interest on total pension Hability..........cccoeoeriririineiieneee e 140,256 133,181
Differences between expected and actual eXperience.........ocevevervevevevennens — 57,568
Changes Of aSSUMPLIONS. .......coveuirieiriieiirieieiee et — 158,646
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions .................. (193,935) (201,868)
Net change in total pension liability..........cccoireerennineinieeeeene (26,098) 175,368
Total pension liability — beginning......................cccocoovivinininiiiceee, 3,383,310 3,357,212
Total pension liability — ending (2)...............cccoeoiiiiiiiiiiiceeeeeeeee $ 3,357,212 $ 3,532,580
Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions — €MPLOYET ......oveuruerireeieieieieiiirie ettt $ 191,148 $ 180,910
Contributions — MPIOYEE .....c.ccuerueriruirieiirieirieteerteee et 7,248 3,877
Net INVEStMENt INCOME ......eoviueeuiieiiriiieeieteicetee ettt e e eenea 59 88
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions .................. (193,935) (201,867)
AdMINISTIAtiVe EXPEISE....euvereivirtirtieuieieiententeeteeteeteeieetetesse e seeseesaeeseeseeeens (1,141) (1,227)
Other miscellaneous INCOME/(EXPENSE) ...c.verververrerririeieieienieniesreeieeieeeeeens — 2,198
Net change in plan fiduciary net position...........cecuevvererereneneneneeneeeennes 3,379 (16,021)
Plan fiduciary net position — beginning 53,820 57,199
Plan fiduciary net position — ending (b) $ 57,199 $ 41,178
State’s net pension liability — ending (a) = (D) .........cccooevviviiiiieiceeee $ 3,300,013 $ 3,491,402
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total PENSION HADIILY ..........ceveveeerveeeeceeeeeeee et enees 1.70% 1.17%
COVETEA PAYTONL ...ttt $ 163,574 $ 28,770
State’s net pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll........................ 2017.44% 12135.56%
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2016° 2017° 2018°
29314 $ 22,733 19,131
107,514 115,067 109,395
(59,421) (366,200) (121,259)
384,306 (107,670) (20,879)
(199,349) (200,440) (207,823)
262,364 (536,510) (221,435)
3,532,580 3,794,944 3,258,434
3,794,944  $ 3,258,434 3,036,999
192,287  § 204,475 199,241
3,559 3,398 3,061
193 424 846
(199,349) (200,440) (207,823)
(642) (1,771) (2,106)
2,568 2,395 (1,863)
(1,384) 8,481 (8,644)
41,178 39,794 48,275
39,794 § 48,275 39,631
3,755,150  $ 3,210,159 2,997,368
1.05% 1.48% 1.30%
23537 $ 26,102 24,007
15954.24% 12298.52% 12485.39%

(continued)
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Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability
and Related Ratios (continued)

For the Past Five Fiscal Years'
(amounts in thousands)

2014° 2015°
SINGLE-EMPLOYER PLANS
JUDGES’ 11
Total pension liability
SEIVICE COSE ..viviviiririeeeieeteeteteetet ettt et ese et s etee s e s e eaessesesteasetensesesseneeneneens $ 78,670 $ 79,641
Interest on total pension Hability..........cccoeoeriririineiieneee e 61,044 69,128
Differences between expected and actual eXperience.........ocevevervevevevennens — (17,319)
Changes Of aSSUMPLIONS. .......coveuirieiriieiirieieiee et — (16,619)
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions .................. (8,950) (14,041)
Net change in total pension liability..........cccoireerennineinieeeeene 130,764 100,790
Total pension liability — beginning....................c.cccooiiii, 837,198 967,962
Total pension liability — ending (2)...............cccoeoiiiiiiiiiiiceeeeeeeee $ 967,962 $ 1,068,752
Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions — €MPLOYET ......cueueurururueeeirieieieieieeeieieeieeeeseeseiesesesesesesssesesenas $ 57,027 $ 65,629
Contributions — MPIOYEE .....c.ccuerueriruirieiirieirieteerteee et 20,413 22,242
Net INVESEMENT INCOIMIE ...ovvevveveeeieeiereeieietessesreeseeeeeseessessesessessesseeseessessessenes 150,168 (2,402)
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions .................. (8,950) (14,041)
AdMINISTIAtIVE EXPEINSE...euvirrirrierierrerieieiesiessesseeseeseeseesessessessessessessesssessessenes (785) (1,127)
Other miscellaneous iNCOME/(EXPENSE) ...cververrerrerrreieieierierresreereeeeeseseessens — —
Net change in plan fiduciary net poSition...........cccceeeererereneneieneenenenens 217,873 70,301
Plan fiduciary net position — beginning..................c.cccoooevininiiiiicciiie, 795,967 1,013,840
Plan fiduciary net position —ending (b) ...............ccocoiiiiiiiiniiiiee, $ 1,013,840 $ 1,084,141
State’s net pension liability/(asset) — ending (2) = (b) .......cocoveveieirreienne. $ (45,878) $ (15,389)
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total PENSION HADILILY ..........oceveveiereereiceceeteeeecte e 104.74% 101.44%
CoVered PAYTOLL ......coueviiiriiiriiicirtcieee et $ 40,476 $ 180,230
State’s net pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll............ccc.c....... -113.35% -8.54%
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2016° 2017° 2018°
86,635 97,679 95,843
78,412 85,654 91,418
(4,546) (26,382) (26,875)
— 69,233 (41,763)
(21,704) (22,406) (31,795)
138,797 203,778 86,828
1,068,752 1,207,549 1,411,327
1,207,549 1,411,327 1,498,155
65,839 67,102 79,699
24,598 25,076 27,514
20,810 115,057 101,820
(21,704) (22,406) (31,795)
(732) (1,682) (2,370)
_ _ (5,451)
88,811 183,147 169,417
1,084,141 1,172,952 1,356,099
1,172,952 1,356,099 1,525,516
34,597 55,228 (27,361)
97.13% 96.09% 101.83%
192,739 192,786 202,433
17.95% 28.65% -13.52%
(continued)
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State of California Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability
and Related Ratios (continued)

For the Past Five Fiscal Years'
(amounts in thousands)

2014° 2015
SINGLE-EMPLOYER PLANS
LEGISLATORS’
Total pension liability
SEIVICE COSEvvvurririririniiiiiiteet et ss s sss e ssssssssssssssnsens $ 732 $ 769
Interest on total pension Hability.........cccoverieereinennenee e 6,465 6,268
Differences between expected and actual experience..........ccvevvereeeeeereenennnn — (4,246)
Changes Of aSSUMPLIONS. .......cviuirieeirieieierieieriee et — (2,654)
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions .................. (7,482) (9,087)
Net change in total pension liability..........cccverirereineneireeeeeeene (285) (8,950)
Total pension liability — beginning .....................ccooooiiiiiie, 115,806 115,521
Total pension liability — ending (a)...............cccooouieiiiiinieieeeeeeeee e $ 115,521 $ 106,571
Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions — €MPLOYET ......cueveueueverereiereieieieieieieieieteieie et teseseseesesesesesenas $ 565 $ 590
Contributions — EMPLOYEE .....c.ceuerveriruiireirieiirieieeiee ettt 113 105
Net INVESTMENT INCOIME ...vvevveveeiieiieieeeieieiesiestesteseeeseeseeseessessessessessesseeseessenes 15,372 (94)
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions .................. (7,482) (9,087)
AdMINISIrAtiVE EXPENSE...cuverirrirrierierieieieriesiestessesseeseeseessessessessessessessessessenes (362) (399)
Other miscellaneous iNCOME/(EXPENSE) ...c.ververrerrerreeriereerieieiessesresreeseeseesens — —
Net change in plan fiduciary net poSition...........ccccveeerereiereieienecneenens 8,206 (8,885)
Plan fiduciary net position — beginning..................c..ccccovivinininiiiciee, 122,148 130,354
Plan fiduciary net position —ending (b) ...............ccocoeiviiiiiiieiieee, $ 130,354 $ 121,469
State’s net pension liability/(asset) — ending () — (b) ........ceoevervririnrennns $ (14,833) $ (14,898)
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total PenSion HADIIILY ...........cceviveveviceeieteeeceere e eneeaes 112.84% 113.98%
Covered PAYTOLL ......coueiiuiriiiiiiiicrictee ettt $ 1,471 $ 1,397
State’s net pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll.............c..c....... -1008.36% -1066.43%
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2016° 2017° 2018’

608 $ 639 $ 542
5,978 5,291 4,987
(3,530) (5,998) (2,061)

— 7,857 (2,529)
(7,407) (7,249) (6,918)
(4,351) 540 (5,979)

106,571 102,220 102,760

102,220 § 102,760  $ 96,781

549§ 517 $ 467

96 94 82

4,545 5,047 5,486
(7,407) (7,249) (6,918)
(202) (575) (670)

— — (1,454)

(2,419) (2,166) (3,007)
121,469 119,050 116,884
119,050 § 116,884  § 113,877
(16,830) $ (14,124) $ (17,096)
116.46% 113.74% 117.66%
1298  $ 1270 $ 1,121
-1296.61% -1112.13% -1525.07%
(concluded)
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State of California Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

Schedule of State Pension Contributions

For the Past Five Fiscal Years'
(amounts in thousands)

2015 2016
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT
FUND PLANS

STATE MISCELLANEOUS®
Actuarially determined CONtribUtion.............ccoeveeievirieieienieieieieeee e $ 2,421,157 $ 2,718,895
Contributions in relation to the actuarially

determined CONIIDULION. .......evververieetieieieieieteste ettt eeeeeae e steseeseeseeeseeneens (2,583,400) (2,814,126)
Contribution deficiency (€XCeSS) .........cccoverrirririeieieieieriesese e se e eeeeeeenens $ (162,243)  $ (95,231)
Covered PAYTOLL .......c.eeiiieiiieeeeeee e e $ 10,655,117 $ 11,197,607
Contributions as a percentage of

COVETEd PAYTOLL....viiiiieiieiieieeee ettt 24.25% 25.13%
STATE INDUSTRIAL?
Actuarially determined contribution.............ccceeeeeirieieenieisieceeee e $ 92,024 $ 103,293
Contributions in relation to the actuarially

determined CONIIDULION. .......evververiereieieieieietesteete ettt eeea et sae e seeseeseeeseeneens (104,769) (116,594)
Contribution deficiency (€XCeSS) .........cccoverrirririeieieieierierese e e eeeeeeenens $ 12,745) $ (13,301)
COVEred PAYTOLL ...ttt enan $ 577,713 $ 625,220
Contributions as a percentage of

COVETEd PAYTOLL....eiiiiieiiiiieieeee e 18.14% 18.65%
STATE SAFETY’
Actuarially determined contribution............cccooeeeeireriiinieeneeeeeeeeseeees $ 341,509 $ 368,444
Contributions in relation to the actuarially

determined CONIIDULION. .......ccueevuieiiieiieiieie ettt (387,508) (404,595)
Contribution deficiency (€XCess) ...........cceciiviieiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee e $ (45,999) §$ (36,151)
CoVEred PAYIOLL ...ttt $ 2,003,716 $ 2,100,289
Contributions as a percentage of

COVEIed PAYTOLL.....iiiiiiiiieiiiee s 19.34% 19.26%
STATE PEACE OFFICERS AND FIREFIGHTERS®
Actuarially determined contribution............ccceeeveerieireneinieeeecee e $ 1,086,102 $ 1,197,160
Contributions in relation to the actuarially

determined CONIIDULION. .......evuerveriereieeieieieieiete ettt ettt eeeeneens (1,148,597) (1,263,436)
Contribution deficiency (€XCess) .........cccovevviriirinieieieieieene e $ (62,495) $ (66,276)
COVEred PAYTOLL ...ttt $ 3,115,364 $ 3,241,763
Contributions as a percentage of

COVEIed PAYTOLL.....iiiiiiiiieiiiee s 36.87% 38.97%

! This schedule will be built prospectively until it contains ten years of data.

% This schedule includes amounts attributable to related organizations, fiduciary component units, and discretely presented component units, which are not
part of the primary government.
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2017 2018 2019
3,078,232 3,397,736 3,631,721
(3,098,305) (3,482,291) (3,794,379)

(20,073) (84,555) (162,658)
11,591,576 12,254,527 12,913,195
26.73% 28.42% 29.38%
116,880 131,131 134,969
(123,789) (141,832) (148,790)
(6,909) (10,701) (13,821)
643,295 695,014 728,609
19.24% 20.41% 20.42%
400,379 435,662 466,765
(431,991) (481,479) (531,360)
(31,612) (45,817) (64,595)
2,167,429 2,339,642 2,468,018
19.93% 20.58% 21.53%
1,343,177 1,462,630 1,581,049
(1,431,851) (1,573,299) (1,667,839)
(88,674) (110,669) (86,790)
3,416,627 3,557,011 3,676,854
41.91% 44.23% 45.36%
(continued)
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Schedule of State Pension Contributions (continued)

For the Past Five Fiscal Years'
(amounts in thousands)

2015 2016
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT
FUND PLANS
CALIFORNIA HIGHWAY PATROL
Actuarially determined contribution............ccceeeveerieireneinieeeecee e $ 323,393 $ 363,634
Contributions in relation to the actuarially
determined CONIIDULION. .......evverviriirtiriieiieieieieet ettt (352,139) (377,534)
Contribution deficiency (€XCess) ...........c.coieviiiviiiiiiiiiieeeccre et $ (28,746) $ (13,900)
COVETE PAYTONL ...ttt $ 809,610 $ 808,032
Contributions as a percentage of
COVETEd PAYTOLL....viiiiieiieiieieeee ettt 43.49% 46.72%
SINGLE-EMPLOYER PLANS
JUDGES’
Actuarially determined CONtIIDULION. .......ccuevuerrerieriiriiriieieieieierie e $ 1,884,555 $ 463,073
Contributions in relation to the actuarially
determined CONtIIDULION. .......ceeuirieirieieiiie s (3,598) (3,252)
Contribution deficiency (€XCess) ..........ccccevviiriiieieieieierierese e eee e $ 1,880,957 $ 459,821
COVETEd PAYTOLL ..ttt b b sesebesenas $ 167,542 $ 29,771
Contributions as a percentage of ) .
COVEIed PAYTOLL.....iiiiiiiieiiiee e 2.15% 10.92%
JUDGES’ I
Actuarially determined contribution............ccccoeeeeerieineneineieeece e $ 63,193 $ 58,362
Contributions in relation to the actuarially
determined contribution................ (59,982) (60,476)
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ 3,211 $ 2,114)
COVEred PAYTOLL ..ottt $ 41,458 $ 186,505
Contributions as a percentage of
COVETEd PAYTOLL..c.iiiiiiiiiiiiieiee e 144.68% 32.43%
LEGISLATORS’
Actuarially determined contribution.............ccceeeeeerieieenieisieceeee e $ 260 $ 141
Contributions in relation to the actuarially
determined CONtIIDULION. .......ccceirieiriiiiiriccieccee e (544) (549)
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ 284) $ (408)
COVETE PAYTONL ...ttt $ 1,397 $ 1,298
Contributions as a percentage of
COVETEd PAYTOLL....viiiiieiieiieieee ettt 38.94% 42.30%
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2017 2018 2019
414,975 447,376 484,056
(426,014) (478,354) (514,683)
(11,039) (30,978) (30,627)
851,427 884,197 933,689
50.04% 54.10% 55.12%
448,636 438,156 415,110
(202,368) (197,017) (194,189)
246,268 241,139 220,921
23,822 27,003 25,748
849.50% 729.61% 754.19%
66,951 79,181 75,862
(55,965) (73,916) (76,155)
10,986 5,265 (293)
195,066 199,438 217,112
28.69% 37.06% 35.08%
(516) (467) (261)
(516) (447) (261)
1,270 1,121 684
40.63% 41.66% 38.16%
(continued)
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Schedule of State Pension Contributions (continued)

For the Past Five Fiscal Years'

(amounts in thousands)

Notes to Required Supplementary Information for the most recent fiscal year presented:

Public Employees’ Retirement Fund (PERF) and Single-Employer Plans

Actual contribution amounts:

Covered payroll:

Valuation date:

Based on statutorily required contributions as outlined in California Government Code
section 20683.2, which dictates that any excess employer contributions due to increased employee
contributions must be allocated to the unfunded liability.

Pensionable earnings provided by the employer.

Actuarially determined contribution rates were calculated as of June 30, 2017.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method
Amortization method
Asset valuation method
Inflation

Salary increases

Payroll growth

Investment rate of return

Retirement age

Mortality

200

Entry age normal
See each plan’s June 30, 2016 Actuarial Valuation Report.
Market value of assets; for details see plan’s June 30, 2016 Actuarial Valuation Report.
2.75%
PERF — varies by entry age and service
Judges’ —3.00%
Judges’ 11 — 3.00%
Legislators’ — varies by entry age and service
3.00%
Net of pension plan investment expenses and administrative expenses; includes inflation:
PERF — 7.375%, which is used for contribution purposes
Judges’ —3.25%
Judges’ 11 - 6.50%
Legislators’ — 5.00%

The probabilities of retirement are based on the 2014 CalPERS Experience Study for the period from
1997 to 2011.

Mortality rates are based on the 2014 CalPERS Experience Study for the period from 1997 to 2011
adopted by the CalPERS Board and post-retirement mortality rates include 20 years of projected
mortality improvements using Scale BB published by the Society of Actuaries.

(concluded)
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State of California Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

Schedule of the State’s Proportionate Share of
Net Pension Liability — CalSTRS

For the Past Five Fiscal Years'
(amounts in thousands)

2014’ 2015°
State’s proportion of CalSTRS’ net pension liability ..........ccccooveveninininennnne. 37.65% 34.59%
State’s proportionate share of CalSTRS’ net pension liability .........cccceceeeneeee. $ 22,001,531 $ 23,289,391
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension
THADTTIEY ..o ee s s e e eees e eeeae 76.52% 74.02%

! This schedule will be built prospectively until it contains ten years of data.

% The date in the column heading represents the end of the measurement period of the net pension liability, which is one year prior to the reporting period.

Schedule of the State’s Contributions — CalSTRS

For the Past Five Fiscal Years'
(amounts in thousands)

2015 2016
Statutorily required CONrIDULION ......c.evveireiiieiiiieieieeee e $ 1,486,004 $ 1,935,288
Contributions in relation to the statutorily required contribution...................... 1,486,004 1,935,288
Annual contribution deficiency/(excess).............c.coorvereiininniineiieee $ — 3 —

" This schedule will be built prospectively until it contains ten years of data.

Notes to Required Supplementary Information for the most recent fiscal year presented:
State’s Participation in CalSTRS

Actual contribution amounts: Based on statutorily required contributions as outlined in California Education Code sections
22954, 22955 and 22955.1, as well as California Public Resources Code section 6217.

Additionally, 2019 state contributions include the one-time, supplemental contributions
resulting from SB 90.

Valuation date: Actuarially determined contribution rates were calculated as of June 30, 2017.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal

Amortization method/period Level percent of payroll, closed/open period, 30 years remaining amortization period
Asset valuation method Adjustment to market value

Consumer price inflation 2.75%

Payroll growth 3.50%

Investment rate of return For calculating the actuarially determined contribution:

7.00%, net of pension plan investment and administrative expenses
For calculating total pension liability:
7.10%, net of pension plan investment expenses, but gross of administrative expenses

Interest on accounts 3.00%
Post-retirement benefit o
increases (COLAs) 2.00% simple
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2016° 2017° 2018
36.28% 37.17% 36.41 %
29,343,626 34,374,816 33,462,419
70.04% 69.46% 70.99 %
2017 2018 2019
2,472,993 2,790,444 3,082,316
2,472,993 2,790,444 3,082,316
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Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability

and Related Ratios

For the Past Fiscal Years'

(amounts in thousands)

RETIREE HEALTH BENEFITS PROGRAM

BARGAINING UNIT 5 PLAN

Total OPEB liability

SEeIrvVICE COSt..iivuriiiiiiiiiieeiieetee e

Interest on total OPEB liability

Differences between expected and actual experiences’

Changes in assumptions

Benefit payments..........ccceeeeeeieienienieneniens
Net change in total OPEB liability

Total OPEB liability — beginning
Total OPEB liability — ending (a)

Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions — employer...
Contributions — prefunding

Contributions — employee ...........ccceceeveueneee.
Net investment inCome............cceecerverrennene
Benefit payments..........ccceeeeveevieienienienienene
Administrative eXpense..........ecveververuereennens
Other eXPenses .......c.ccccvveuervereeereeneneeennenes
Net change in plan fiduciary net position
Plan fiduciary net position — beginning

Plan fiduciary net position — ending (b)

State’s net OPEB liability — ending (a) — (b)

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability ............c.ccocceevievinennen.

Covered payroll ........cceeveveerenenenieieieieiennen

State’s net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll...........cccccoveeoenirieeeniniecnenne

" This schedule will be built prospectively until it contains ten years of data.

20172 2018>
168,057 $ 146,042
179,397 195,713

— (108,271)
(474,646) (137,150)
(95,517) (77,897)
(222,709) 18,437
4,764,812 4,542,103
4,542,103 $ 4,560,540
95517  $ 77,897
77,454 59,697
12,783 4,089
21,109 20,988
(95,517) (77,897)
(95) (144)
(290) —
110,961 84,630
135,701 246,662
246,662 $ 331,292
4295441  $ 4,229,248
5.43% 7.26%
866,040 $ 895,430
495.99% 472.31%

% The date in the column heading represents the end of the measurement period of the net OPEB liability, which is one year prior to the reporting period.

® This schedule includes amounts attributable to related organizations, fiduciary component units, and discretely presented component units, which are not
part of the primary government.

* The valuation groups that comprise the Unfunded and Other Funded plans shifted from the prior year.

3 Includes differences between projected pay-as-you-go contributions, based on expected benefit payments, disclosed in the State of California Retiree
Health Benefits Program — GASB No. 74 and 75 Actuarial Valuation Report as of June 30, 2018, and the actual pay-as-you-go contributions allocated to
plans.
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Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability
and Related Ratios (continued)

For the Past Fiscal Years'

(amounts in thousands)

RETIREE HEALTH BENEFITS PROGRAM

BARGAINING UNIT 6 PLAN
Total OPEB liability

SEIVICE COSL....uviiiniiiiciieiee ettt
Interest on total OPEB liability .........cceoeveneneneninencneee
Differences between expected and actual experiences’ ......
Changes in assUMPLiONS ........coeeveeeeieieneenieneneneneseeeenean
Benefit payments........cccooevererenenenieieeeeeeeeeee
Net change in total OPEB liability........cccccccevivininennnne.
Total OPEB liability — beginning...................c..ccooeviennnn.

Total OPEB liability — ending (a)...........c.cccoovevervnerennnnnnns

Plan fiduciary net position

Contributions — emploYer.........ccceeeeeeienienieneneneneneeeenes

Contributions — prefunding .....
Contributions — employee .......
Net investment income.....
Benefit payments........cccooeverenenenenieieeeeeeeee
AdMINIStrative EXPENSE ......evverververrereeierierierienienressesseeeenns
Other EXPENSES .....eeuveuiiiiriiniiniieiieieeitet et
Net change in plan fiduciary net position..............cc.c.......
Plan fiduciary net position — beginning ....................c.........

Plan fiduciary net position — ending (b)...............c.cocccoee.

State’s net OPEB liability — ending (a) — (b)......................

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability.............ccccooeireiinininennnns

Covered payroll.........cccceeieierienieieeieeeee e

State’s net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll

2017° 2018°
609,551 § 531,916
574,853 634,360
— (1,186,530)
(1,637,897) (164,236)
(325,344) (327,604)
(778,837) (512,094)
15,990,189 15,211,352
15211,352 $ 14,699,258
325344 $ 327,604
146,933 65,245
23,181 65,245
15,089 17,235
(325,344) (327,604)
(48) (128)
185,155 147,597
— 185,155
185,155 $ 332,752
15,026,197 $ 14,366,506
1.22% 2.26%
2,653,404 § 2,726,616
566.30% 526.90%
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Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability
and Related Ratios (continued)

For the Past Fiscal Years'

(amounts in thousands)

RETIREE HEALTH BENEFITS PROGRAM

BARGAINING UNIT 9 PLAN®

Total OPEB liability
SEIVICE COSE ..ottt ettt
Interest on total OPEB liability.........ccccooevinenenenenieienns
Differences between expected and actual experiences”.......
Changes in asSUMPLIONS .....cc.eeueeuieierierienienieneneneneeeeeeeens
Benefit payments........cccoeeeeeireeieienienenieneneseeeeeee
Net change in total OPEB liability .........ccccvcerenencninnnene
Total OPEB liability — beginning......................c..ccooevenene

Total OPEB liability — ending (a)...........c.ccccoevevveincieiennnn.

Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions — emplOYeT.........cccuevvevieriereneneneneneeeeeeens
Contributions — prefunding
Contributions — employee..........c.ccceeueee
Net investment income......
Benefit payments........cccceeeeeerieieienieneneneseseseeee e
AdMINiStrative XPENSE.......ceueeueeureeerieriereerieniessenieeeeeeeeneas
Other EXPENSES ...oveieieriiriieiieiieiieieie ettt
Net change in plan fiduciary net position.........c..cc.ccceeuueee
Plan fiduciary net position — beginning...............................

Plan fiduciary net position — ending (b) .................c.occ....

State’s net OPEB liability — ending (a) — (b).......................

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability.............cccooevirinieiiriinieinne

Covered payroll..........cceeieieieieieieeeere e

State’s net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll
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20172 20182
166,173 142,954
154,495 174,062

— (334,650)
(475,991) (200,549)
(82,449) (85,278)
(237,772) (303,461)

4,640,159 4,402,387

4,402,387 4,098,926

82,449 85,278
35,210 5,688
— 5,688
3,630 3,246
(82,449) (85,278)
11 (22)
38,829 14,600
— 38,829
38,829 53,429
4,363,558 4,045,497
0.88% 1.30%

1,366,302 1,376,743
319.37% 293.85%
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Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability
and Related Ratios (continued)

For the Past Fiscal Years'

(amounts in thousands)

2017 2018’
RETIREE HEALTH BENEFITS PROGRAM
BARGAINING UNIT 12 PLAN?
Total OPEB liability
SEIVICE COSE .vviiuriiteeetieeteeete et et e et et e et e eteeeteeeteeese e st eaeeseeneeeaseeseeessesseeessenseeseenseeneeenseeneeeneas $ 167,689 146,732
Interest on total OPEB LHability ......c..cceieiiiirieieieeeseeeneeeeeeee et 154,036 172,744
Differences between expected and actual eXperiences” ..............co.ovvveveereeeeosveenesesresennnns — (362,455)
Changes N aSSUMPLIONS ....c.eeueeuieierterierierteeteettetie e ete st e st st sbeste ettt e e ntestesbesbeebeeseeneeneensensennes (433,966) (166,573)
Bene it PAYIMENLS ....c.uoiuiitiiiiiieiieee ettt b e sb bt ettt nte e (110,860) (114,235)
Net change in total OPEB Habilify .........ccceoiiiirerinininieieeeeeeesieeeee e (223,101) (323,787)
Total OPEB liability — be@inning.................ccccoooiiiiiiiniiie e 4,540,951 4,317,850
Total OPEB liability — ending (2) ...........cccooveiieiieieeeeeececeeeeeeee e $ 4,317,850 3,994,063
Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions — EMPLOYET ......c.eetiriiriiriiriirtieteetiee ettt ettt sttt ettt e e benes $ 110,860 114,235
Contributions — prefunding ...... 1,076 8,280
Contributions — employee ........ 1,076 8,280
Net investment income...... . 872 1,051
Bene it PAYIMEILS ....c.viitiitiitiiiieiieieee ettt sb e bt ettt (110,860) (114,235)
AdMINISTIAIVE EXPETISE ...cuveevierinienienietenteeteeieettettestestestestestesbeebeestestestensesbesbesbeebeeseensensensensenee @) 9
OLRET EXPEIISES ..ottt ettt ettt ettt et e et e b e s bt s bt sb e e bt e st et et e s besbe s bt ebeeseeneeneensenbennes — —
Net change in plan fiduciary net POSTHON .....cc.everirereririeiee e 3,020 17,602
Plan fiduciary net position —beginning .......................occoiiiiiiiiiiiii s 7,186 10,206
Plan fiduciary net position — ending (b)...........c.cccooeririiiiiiniicee e $ 10,206 27,808
State’s net OPEB liability — ending (2) — (D).........cccooooiiiiieiiicceeeeeeeeee e $ 4,307,644 3,966,255
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability...............cccoevvevvevvienennen. 0.24% 0.70%
COVETEA PAYTOLL....c.eiiiiieiieieeeee ettt ettt et et et et beeseeseensensensensentenes $ 627,283 676,752
State’s net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll ...........c.ccocoeivveivieciiirieinieeenenee 686.71% 586.07%
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Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability
and Related Ratios (continued)

For the Past Fiscal Years'

(amounts in thousands)

RETIREE HEALTH BENEFITS PROGRAM

OTHER FUNDED PLANS>*

Total OPEB liability
SEIVICE COSt...viniiiiiieiiieiiriee ettt
Interest on total OPEB liability.........cccceoevenenenenencncnen.
Differences between expected and actual experiences’.......
Changes in assumMpPLions.........coceeereereeienienienenereseeeeeenea
Benefit payments ........c.ccoevuereneneninieeeeseeeeeeee
Net change in total OPEB liability .........ccccccevvenininennnnne.
Total OPEB liability — beginning.......................ccocoeiin.

Total OPEB liability — ending (a)..........c.cccooevieieieinrnnne,

Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions — emplOYer .........cocevereeierieneneneneneseeeenen
Contributions — prefunding......

Contributions — employee.....
Net investment income......

Benefit payments ..........coevererineninieieeeeeeeeeee
AdmINiStrative EXPENSE .......evververeerrerueeeerierienieniesresreeseeeens
Other EXPENSES....c.eeueeuieieierienienierieeit ettt
Net change in plan fiduciary net position...........c..ce.ee......
Plan fiduciary net position — beginning..................c..c.........

Plan fiduciary net position — ending (b) ...............c.c..c.c....

State’s net OPEB liability — ending (a) — (b) ......................

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability.............ccccoceveeirnnnnne.

Covered payroll.........cccvevererereninieieeee s

State’s net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll

* Restated
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2017° 2018’
92,991 501,028
74,923 523,258

— (1,033,520)
(197,059) (304,299)
(46,820) (288,774)
(75,965) (602,307)
2,116,405 12,699,917
2,040,440 12,097,610
46,820 288,774
10,442 32,759
2,323 32,759
1,589 5,578
(46,820) (288,774)
@) 47)

14,347 71,049
4,836 57,956
19,183 129,005
2,021,257 11,968,605
0.94% 1.07%
851,868 3,469,855
237.27% 344.93%
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Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability
and Related Ratios (continued)

For the Past Fiscal Years'

(amounts in thousands)

2017 2018’
RETIREE HEALTH BENEFITS PROGRAM
UNFUNDED PLAN**
Total OPEB liability
SEIVICE COSE ..vviiuriitietieteeee et e et e et e et e ete e et e eeteeaeeteeateeseeeseeesseeseeessenseessenseenssenseenseeaseeseesasenns $ 2,805,040 $ 2,008,794
Interest on total OPEB Habilify ........cccceiieriiriiiiiiiieieieieeees st 2,112,139 1,959,522
Differences between expected and actual eXperiences’ ...............oo.vvveveevereerevsreerenesrennens — (4,164,211)
Changes N aSSUMPLIONS .....eeueeueeuieuieiieieterte ettt et e et et e ste st sbeebe et eatestesbebesbesbesbesbeereane (6,610,919) (1,766,620)
Bene it PAYIMEILS. .....c.eeieieiirierieeieeeet ettt ettt st et ettt ae bbb (1,457,705) (1,352,652)
Net change in total OPEB Hability.......ccccoceieriiiiinieieieieeeeesceetceeee e (3,151,445) (3,315,167)
Total OPEB liability — be@inning.................cccooooiiiiiiiiiiieeee e 64,144,931 50,334,009
Total OPEB liability — ending (2) ............cccoeviriirieiiieeeceeeceeeeee e $ 60,993,486 $ 47,018,842

Plan fiduciary net position
CoNtribUtIONS — EIMPLOYET....cviuieuiieiiitiietieteit ettt eteet ettt sttt sbe e teseeseese e ebeseeseeseneenens $ 1,457,705 $ 1,352,652
Contributions — prefunding

Contributions — employee ..... — —
Net investment income....... — —
Bene it PAYIMEILS. .....ceeieieierierieeieeeet ettt ettt sttt ettt ae bbb nean (1,457,705) (1,352,652)
AdMINISTIAIVE EXPEIISE ..uvenverveteriieiteitetentertestesteeteettettestestestestestesbessesseestestensensensessessessesseas — —
ONET EXPEIISES ....ceveutiniititiettett ettt ettt st sttt ebt e st et et e s be st sbe e bt ebeeates s et ebenbesaesbesbeereane — —
Net change in plan fiduciary Nt POSItION ........cc.eeueeieieiienieniniereneeeet et — —
Plan fiduciary net position —beginning .....................cccooviiiiiiiiiii e — —
Plan fiduciary net position — ending (b).............c.cocooviiiiiniiiin e $ — 8 —
State’s net OPEB liability — ending (2) — (D).........ccccoeviviiiiiiiiicccceeeee e $ 60,993,486 $ 47,018,842
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability...........c..ccccceeveevennnen. —% —%
COVETEA PAYTOLL....cueiiiiiiieiieiieee ettt ettt ettt ettt s et e b e b e bestessessesseeneens $ 12,525,617  $ 10,825,049
State’s net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll ...........cccccoveveivieinieineeenenn 486.95% 434.35%
(concluded) (concluded)
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Schedule of OPEB Contributions

For the Past Fiscal Years'

(amounts in thousands)

RETIREE HEALTH BENEFITS PROGRAM

BARGAINING UNIT 5 PLAN
Actuarially determined CONtrIBULION ...........ccoirieiiieiriiieieieieeeee et eeas
Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined contribution

Contribution AEfICIENCY .........ceeuieiiieiiiiticticteeteeteee ettt ettt ettt ereese e s e ssesteevesreeseeseessensensas
COVEIEA PAYTOLL ...ttt ettt et e st et e e b s eneebeneenan

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll ..o

BARGAINING UNIT 6 PLAN

Actuarially determined CONIIDULION .....c.evvevviruiriirieieieiesierie ettt
Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined contribution..............cccceeveeeieeennnnee.
Contribution deficiency

COVEIEA PAYTOLL ...ttt ettt ettt ettt b e st b et s s e s baneenan
Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll..........c..cccoceveiininininiiinieniincrccceeee
BARGAINING UNIT 9 PLAN?

Actuarially determined CONITDULION .......c.oouerieuiriiirienieirieeeeee e
Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined contribution ............cccceceeeeireenenenne.
Contribution AEfICIENCY .....eeuerueriieiiiieieriertest ettt ettt ettt be s bbbt e s
COVETEd PAYTOLL.....cuiiniiieeieeiieieeeee ettt ettt st e et ebesbessesseeseeneeneensensan
Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll..........cocooeireiiiiiinenieeeeee
BARGAINING UNIT 12 PLAN®

Actuarially determined CONIIDULION .....c.evvevuiriiriirieieieiesie ettt
Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined contribution..............cccceeeveeeeeeennnnee.
Contribution AEfICIENCY .....ieuirieieieierieriesterteee et ettt ettt stesee e eseetessessesseeseeseeseessensensan

COVEIEA PAYTOLL ...ttt ettt et e st et e e b s eneebeneenan

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll..........c..cccoveveiiiiininiininiincrccceees

" This schedule will be built prospectively until it contains ten years of data.

2018 2019°
204,361 210,625
(184,456) (137,475)

19,905 73,150
915,549 942,765
20.15% 14.58%
743,757 671,262
(503,636) (445,061)
240,121 226,201
2,805,093 2,819,233
17.95% 15.79%
207,027 191,109
(125,471) (102,971)
81,556 88,138
1,444,410 1,502,529
8.69% 6.85%
217,883 197,202
(119,368) (137,758)
98,515 59,444
663,143 723,870
18.00% 19.03%

2 This schedule includes amounts attributable to related organizations, fiduciary component units, and discretely presented component units, which are not

part of the primary government.
® The valuation groups that comprise the Unfunded and Other Funded plans shifted from the prior year.

210



Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of OPEB Contributions (continued)

For the Past Fiscal Years'
(amounts in thousands)

2018 2019°

RETIREE HEALTH BENEFITS PROGRAM

OTHER FUNDED PLANS?

Actuarially determined CONtIIDULION.............oceeveiveieiieiiieeteeeee et eaean $ 109,630 608,960

Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined contribution.............c..c.ccoevveirrenenne (61,064) (366,050)

Contribution dETICIENCY .......cecviuiiviiiiiciiciicie ettt ettt ettt ettt ae s e s e b e esesbesreereereeseens $ 48,566 242,910

COVEIEd PAYTOLL ...ttt ettt ettt s ettt st b eaene $ 900,567 3,595,234

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll.........coccoceoeveiieneiiniineneeeeeeee 6.78% 10.18%

UNFUNDED PLAN’

Actuarially determined CONIIDULION .......ecverviriiriiiiriieiieieee et $ 3,199,223 2,552,923

Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined contribution............cccceevevererereennene (1,547,989) (1,493,023)

Contribution AETICIENCY ....cvvevieieieieieriicieete ettt ettt ettt e e eseessesessessessessessesseesnens $ 1,651,234 1,059,900

COVEIEA PAYTOLL ...ttt ettt ettt e se ettt ne b eaens $ 13,241,681 11,391,811

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll.........c.ccccovecinineiniinenninenenecseeenene 11.69% 13.11%
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Schedule of OPEB Contributions (continued)

For the Past Fiscal Year

(amounts in thousands)

Notes to Required Supplementary Information for the most recent fiscal year presented:

Retiree Health Benefits Program

Covered payroll:

Valuation date:

Pensionable earnings provided by employer

Actuarially determined contribution rates were calculated as of June 30, 2018.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

212

Actuarial cost method
Amortization method
Amortization period
Asset valuation method
Inflation

Healthcare cost trend rates

Salary increases

Investment rate of return
Retirement age

Mortality

Entry age normal

Level percentage of payroll, closed

30 years

Market value of assets; for details see the June 30, 2018 Actuarial Valuation Report
2.50%

Pre-Medicare coverage: Actual rates for 2019, increasing to 7.50% in 2020, then decreasing 0.50%
per year to an ultimate rate of 4.50% for 2026 and later years

Post-Medicare coverage: Actual rates for 2019, increasing to 8.00% in 2020, then decreasing 0.50%
per year to an ultimate rate of 4.50% for 2027 and later years

Dental coverage: 0.26% in 2019 and 4.50% thereafter

Varies by entry age and service

7.00%, net of OPEB plan investment expenses but without reduction for OPEB administrative
expenses.

The probabilities of retirement are based on the 2017 CalPERS Experience Study for the period from
1997 to0 2015.

Mortality rates are based on the 2017 CalPERS Experience Study adopted by the CalPERS Board.
Post-retirement mortality rates include 15 years of projected on-going mortality improvements using
the Society of Actuaries 90% Scale MP 2016.

(concluded)
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Infrastructure Assets Using the Modified Approach

Pursuant to Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 34, the State uses the
modified approach to report the cost of its infrastructure assets (state bridges, roadways, and high-speed
rail). Under the modified approach, the State does not report depreciation expense for infrastructure assets
but capitalizes all costs that add to the capacity and efficiency of state-owned bridges, roads, and the high-
speed rail system. All maintenance and preservation costs are expensed and not capitalized.

A. Infrastructure Asset Reporting Categories

The infrastructure assets reported in the State’s financial statements for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019,
are in the following categories and amounts: state highway infrastructure, consisting of completed highway
projects totaling $78.4 billion, land purchased for highway projects totaling $14.3 billion, and infrastructure
construction-in-progress (uncompleted highway projects) totaling $9.5 billion; and high-speed rail system
infrastructure, consisting of construction-in-progress (uncompleted rail construction projects) totaling
$3.0 billion, purchased land totaling $1.1 billion, and land use rights totaling $4 million.

Donation and Relinquishment: Donation and relinquishment activity affects the inventory of statewide lane
miles, land, and/or bridges as adjustments to the infrastructure assets and/or land balance in the State’s
financial statements. For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019, there were no donations of infrastructure
land, and relinquishments were $54 million of state highway infrastructure (completed highway projects)
and $11 million of infrastructure land.

B. Condition Baselines and Assessments

1. Bridges

The federal Fixing America’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act required all states to adopt national asset
management performance measures to establish nationwide consistency for condition reporting of highway
assets. Under the FAST Act, the national performance measure for bridges is total deck area of the structures
in good, fair, or poor condition. The inspection data is based on the American Association of State Highway
Transportation Officials’ Guide Manual for Bridge Element Inspection and the Caltrans Bridge Element
Inspection Manual.

The State’s established condition baseline for fiscal year 2018-19 is to have at least 90% of the State’s
bridge deck area in fair or better condition.
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The following table shows the State’s established condition baseline and actual statewide bridge condition
for the last three fiscal years:

Fiscal Year
Ended June 30 Established Condition’ Actual Condition
2017 90.0% Fair or Better 96.6% Fair or Better
2018 90.0% Fair or Better 95.3% Fair or Better
2019 90.0% Fair or Better 95.4% Fair or Better

! The actual statewide bridge conditions